Troubling Dominance in Sport: Deconstructing Curling Culture(s) through Narrative Inquiry

by

Richard Norman

A thesis presented to the University of Waterloo in fulfillment of the thesis requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

Recreation and Leisure Studies

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2020 © Richard Norman 2020

Examining Committee Membership

The following served on the Examining Committee for this thesis. The decision of the Examining Committee is by majority vote.

External Examiner	Carly Adams Associate Professor Faculty of Kinesiology and Physical Education University of Lethbridge
Supervisor(s)	Katie Misener Associate Professor Department of Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo
	Heather Mair Professor Department of Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo
Internal Members	Ryan Snelgrove Assistant Professor Department of Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo
	Mark E. Havitz Professor Emeritus Department of Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo
Internal-external Member	Mark Seasons Professor School of Planning University of Waterloo

Author's Declaration

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

Abstract

Curling, with its deep history, colonial legacy, and quintessential "Canadianness" (Mair, 2007, 2009) offers a rich context to explore how dominant narratives within a sport may continue to affect diversity and inclusion. For example, one prominent narrative in curling is a commitment to "reflect the changing needs of the cultural mosaic and lifestyles of Canadians" (Curling Canada, 2019b), expressing curling as a sport that is open and welcoming to all Canadians. However, its image continues to present as White, middle-classed, heterosexual, and able-bodied (Curling Canada et al., 2015). The purpose of this inquiry was to explore the role of dominant narratives in curling culture(s) as revealed through the experiences of its participants. Further, the inquiry sought to understand how dominant narratives may reinforce conditions limiting curling's ability to achieve a vision of a fully inclusive and truly diverse sport. The inquiry used semistructured interviews to gather participant accounts, which were then analyzed to detect tensions and stresses. Breaking with traditional practices of representing findings, performance text – a form of creative analytic practice (CAP) (Berbary, 2011; Parry & Johnson, 2007; Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005) – was used to explore the complexity of the issues in a dialogic form. The inquiry revealed that persistent questions of "race", lack of diversity, and of the possibility of decolonizing curling's past continues to affect curling today. Moreover, the lack of discourse regarding those issues emerged as a significant obstacle contributing to curling's continued underrepresentation of Indigenous and people of colour. By deconstructing the personal experiences and repurposing tensions into a performative dialogue, the limitations to inclusion in curling are shown directly related to its cultures, where tradition maintains "whiteness" within a colonial frame, and in opposition to an inclusive vision where all Canadians are welcome and represented.

Acknowledgements

To my son Riel, who has taught me more than any scholar, master, or expert.

To my family, Kath, Steve, and Dad: your support has meant the world. You have given me so much over the years, indulging my pursuits and always having my back.

To Katie Misener and Heather Mair: I couldn't have completed this without your guidance, inspiration, and laughter. It certainly wasn't easy, but you both made the way possible.

To Lisbeth Berbary, whose guidance, mentorship, and friendship helped shape my studies and my mind. Thank you for introducing me to a world that made sense and helped me realize that I wasn't alone in thinking about the world this way. You saved me.

A special thanks to Dan Henhawk: finding a kindred spirit that understands your struggle is rare. Your friendship and counsel have been brilliant.

To all of the faculty and staff in Recreation and Leisure Studies: a warm thank-you for all of the knowledge that you have shared, and support given in getting this *thing* done.

To all of the participants of this inquiry: thank you for sharing your world with me and making all of this possible.

To my committee: I appreciate the time and effort that each of you has given helping me to reach my goal.

To Heather Lash and Kate Lawrie Van de Ven, whose expertise helped take the mess that is my mind and mould my words so others could enjoy the end result.

To all the rest who have supported me along the way: Echo and Coco and Lila, Trommer, Dave, Greg, Rich, Steve, Erin and Doug, Ivan, Earl and Julien, Kim, Maggie, Carrie, Meghan, Becca and Bill, and all the others that are too many to mention.

Peace and love to you all!

Dedication

For Mum, I think this would make you smile... and yes, I am having fun.

Table of Contents

Exa	minin	g Committee Membershipii
Autl	hor's l	Declarationiii
Abs	tract	iv
Ack	nowle	dgementsv
Ded	icatior	- nvi
		contentsvii
1.0	Intro	oduction1
	1.1	Purpose of Inquiry
	1.2	Structure of Dissertation
2.0	Liter	ature Review
	2.1	Sport Tradition and Culture
		2.1.1 Symbols and Artifacts in Sport Tradition
		2.1.2 Notions of Timelessness and Permanence in Sport Tradition
		2.1.3 Control and Conformity in Sport Tradition and Impacts on Inequality 19
		2.1.4 Curling's Tradition and Canadian Identity
	2.2	Community Sport Organizations and Culture
		2.2.1 The Community Sport Club and Diversity
		2.2.2 The Community Sport Club and Community Building
		2.2.3 The Community Sport Club and Organizational Culture
	2.3	Sport and Diversity
		2.3.1 Sport and "Race"
		2.3.2 "Race" and My Identity
		2.3.3 Sport and "Whiteness"
		2.3.4 Sport and Multiculturalism
		2.3.5 Sport and Colonialism
	2.4	Poststructuralism as Theoretical Underpinning
		2.4.1 Introduction to Poststructuralism

		2.4.2 Poststructural Thinking in Sport and Culture	66
3.0	Meth	odology	
	3.1	Narrative Inquiry	
	3.2	Poststructuralism as Macro Theoretical Perspective	
		3.2.1 Subjectivity and Multiplicity	77
		3.2.2 Language and Meaning	80
	3.3	Methods	85
		3.3.1 Research Context	85
		3.3.2 Observation (Club Environment)	87
		3.3.3 Participant Recruitment and Interviews	89
		3.3.4 Photo Elicitation	92
		3.3.5 Personal Journaling / Researcher Interpretation	93
	3.4	Researcher Position, Privilege, and Self-Reflection	
	3.5	Analytic Approach	
	3.6	Performance Text as Creative Analytic Practice	101
		3.6.1 Exploring "Race" and Identity Through Creative Writing	102
		3.6.2 Creative Practices as Political Action	106
		3.6.3 Participants' Experiences – Character Construction	108
		3.6.4 Researcher's Insights – Accounting for My Fragmented Identities	109
4.0	Perf	ormance Text	112
	4.1	Scene I – When the Pipes Come Marching In	114
		4.1.1 Reader Notes	114
		4.1.2 Scene I – Performance Text	115
		4.1.3 Director's Notes – "When the Pipes Come Marching In "	137
	4.2	Scene II – So White	140
		4.2.1 Reader Notes	140
		4.2.2 Scene II – Performance Text	142
		4.2.3 Director's Notes – "So White"	156
	4.3	Scene III – If I Only Had My Way	159
		4.3.1 Reader Notes	159
		4.3.2 Scene III – Performance Text	160

		4.3.3 Director's Notes – "If I Only Had My Way"		
5.0	Disc	ussion	190	
	5.1	Dominant Narratives of Curling Experiences	190	
		5.1.1 Curling's Victorian Legacy	191	
		5.1.2 Curling as Social Connector and Community Builder	196	
		5.1.3 Curling's Grassroots Identity Struggle	202	
		5.1.4 Curling as Canada's Other National Sport	205	
		5.1.5 The Competing Interests of Diversity as Social Good and Financial R	Driver 211	
	5.2	Neglected and Hidden Narratives		
		5.2.1 Curling's Neglect of "Race" and "Whiteness"	217	
		5.2.2 Curling's Indigenous Silence and Hidden Colonialism	225	
6.0	Cone	clusions		
	6.1	Seeing Curling's Narratives Through New Eyes		
	6.2	Exploration Using Counternarratives		
	6.3	Writing as Analysis		
	6.4	Performance Text as Creative Analytic Practice		
	6.5	Scenarios as Construct to Explore Alternative Perspectives		
	6.6	Implications for Practice and Future Inquiry		
7.0	Refe	rences		
8.0	Арр	endices	287	
	Appendix A: Participant Recruitment Letter			
	Appendix B: Consent Letter for Participants 2 Appendix C: Consent Letter for Club President 2			
	App	endix D: Interview Guide		

1.0 Introduction

Sport symbolizes a site of social and cultural exchange, with immense power over and influence on our social arrangements (Donnelly & Kidd, 2003; Kidd, 2013c). The modern sporting landscape exerts influence through economic, political, and social intra-connections with broader society. It can construct our identities, shape our relationships, inform our social exchanges, transform our ways of being, and generate structures imbued with cultural meaning. Sport maintains a privileged position in many countries (Bourdieu, 1978; Edwards, 2010; Hughson et al., 2005). The sentiment of national identity can be seen represented through sport, often by one particular sport. For example, in Canada, the sport of hockey is promoted as a national sport through media and policy discourse (Kidd, 2013b). Sport appears to add to our cultural mosaic and enrich Canadian society.

However, sport also possesses negative or limiting qualities, which are often neglected or ignored, such as the economic burden of mega-events (Donnelly, 2000; Kidd, 2013d; O'Bonsawin, 2010), falling participation rates (Ifedi, 2008), increasingly costly infrastructure investment (Kidd, 1996), as well as changing demographics and the resulting exclusion/lack of opportunity for certain demographics to participate (Brownson et al., 2005; Coakley et al., 2009; Donnelly & Kidd, 2003). These outcomes result in tensions within sporting systems related to access to programming, financial support, and governmental roles and responsibilities.

The inquiry considers how the example of curling demonstrates a valuable context to explore social issues. To begin, a brief description of the sport is offered to contextualize the discussion. Curling is a sport that is played on a rectangular sheet of ice, where two teams made up of four individuals face off against one another (Creelman, 1950; Willoughby & Kostuk, 2004). Each team delivers curling stones or 'rocks', sliding them down the length of the surface towards a target or rings. The object of the game is to place as many rocks as possible closest to the centre of the rings. The target, referred to as the 'house', is represented by four concentric rings (Barrick et al., 2016; Pezer, 2003; Willoughby & Kostuk, 2004). It resembles the target areas for shuffleboard and other simple games that link back to curling's early roots and Victorian tradition (Creelman, 1950; Pezer, 2003; Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001). The teams alternate sending their rocks, which are "circular disks of polished granite" (Willoughby & Kostuk, 2004, p. 117) down the ice surface. Brooms or brushes are used to shape the path that the stone takes down the ice sheet. Accomplished 'sweepers' are able to drastically maneuver each stone into strategic positions helping to keep their teams' stones closest to the centre of the rings (Pezer, 2003; Willoughby & Kostuk, 2004). It is the strategic challenge of directing stones to positions that protect a team's rocks in the house that affords curling a description of "chess on ice" (The Curling News, 2007). The sport also offers a highly social setting where teams often enjoy conversations between throwing rocks; it also maintains a tradition that encourages social interactions after play.

Curling is often characterized as "an accessible sport...often portrayed as smalltown, classless, gender-neutral, and open to all" (Mair, 2007, p. 40) and as being quintessentially Canadian (Barrick et al., 2016; Mair, 2007). The demographic of curling participants is predominantly White, male, English-speaking, and heterosexual (Curling Canada et al., 2015). Curling's legacy aligns with a particular vision of Canadian culture and national identity consistent with images of ice and snow, early European settlers, and a rugged, frontier mentality (Kidd, 1996; Pezer, 2003; Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001).

However, curling is facing an uncertain future. The growth and maintenance of sport participation is of concern for many clubs (Benn & Pfister, 2013; Berger et al., 2008; Long et al., 2005; Mueller et al., 1962; Sawrikar & Muir, 2010; Statistics Canada, 2011a). Curling is grappling with the issue of participation, with some areas and clubs in decline, while others are experiencing a resurgence and steady growth (Mair, 2009; Statistics Canada, 2011a).

Historically, curling is attached to longstanding tradition and legacy, with a strong connection to Scotland, where the sport originated. This strong legacy connects many participants to cultural roots in their ancestry and European origins. However, for new Canadians from non-European countries, a lack of visible representation may deter participation, as they may feel less comfortable in spaces where they don't see themselves reflected. Leaders involved with curling must reconcile its rich legacy with the need to provide a safe, open, and inviting environment for new, diverse membership in order to maintain and grow participation in the sport.

Structurally, curling is governed by Curling Canada, which is the national sport organization (NSO) and administers the sport at the federal level. Additionally, provincial sport organizations (PSOs) exist to help guide a national mandate at a provincial level. Local non-profit and commercial curling clubs purchase membership to the PSO, which provides access to certain privileges, such as group insurance and funding, and competition/league structure. However, curling clubs may also operate independently of both provincial and national administrative bodies, which further complicates establishing a consistent mandate for sport development. The mandate of Curling Canada reflects the initiatives and policies of the Canadian government, such as a commitment to promoting a multicultural, accessible environment that reflects all Canadians (Curling Canada, 2019b). Specifically, Curling Canada's vision states:

In the year 2014 and beyond, curling in Canada – from the grassroots to the highest levels of competitive play – will be strong and vibrant. Curling clubs and Associations in Canada will offer a wide variety of participation opportunities for all residents of their communities. Opportunities to participate will reflect *the changing needs of the cultural mosaic and lifestyles of Canadians*, and allow for a healthy cross section of recreational through competitive play. Furthermore, the management practices of clubs, member associations and Curling Canada will parallel those of successful businesses by always keeping the best interests of curlers in mind."

The challenge for NSOs and PSOs is how to achieve this vision while maintaining tradition and legacies, both of which may appear at odds with advancing a cultural mosaic that may not reflect its history (M. Harris, 2015; S. Harris et al., 2009).

For many NSOs and PSOs in other sports, maintaining and growing participation is also a central objective, particularly as many organized sports in Canada, such as hockey, are experiencing a decline in participation rates (Hockey Canada, 2017; IIHF, 2019a, 2019b; Statistics Canada, 2011a, 2011b). Several factors are implicit in the decline, such as declining birth rates impacting the rate of youth participation, and increasing immigration influencing particular sport preferences and familiarity (Adair, 2011; Chatman et al., 1998; Dashper & Fletcher, 2013), as well as cost – a major factor for the declining participation rates in minor hockey (Ellsworth, 2009; Hockey Canada, 2012, 2017; Therien, 2012). The emergence of alternative forms of leisure pursuits, such as video games, has also marked a shift away from participation in sport overall (Breuer et al., 2011; Casey et al., 2009; Casper & Stellino, 2008; Chun et al., 2012; Dashper & Fletcher, 2013).

For all sports, attracting new participants is important to address attrition and grow the sport overall (Norman et al., 2015). Curling Canada has recognized that one area of possible growth is to attract new populations to the sport that may be considered non-traditional, such as new Canadians or visible minorities (Curling Canada et al., 2015; Mair et al., 2010; Barrick et al., 2016).

The sport of curling offers a rich landscape to explore notions of club culture and how individual stories reveal tensions between the perpetuation of legacy and Canada's changing demographic landscape. This exploration opens up a broader discussion about sport as a reflection of Canadian society: what constitutes Canadian identity or identities, and how might those be expressed through sport? There is a tension

surrounding how legacies are maintained in the face of newer, "non-traditional" participants. This presents an exciting area for research, and an opportunity to generate insights into how sport needs to adapt to accommodate and include all Canadians. Indeed, the curling club represents a location where culture(s) are constructed and expressed, physical and socially. Further, the intensely social nature of curling makes it attractive as a site for research, where longstanding, well-developed social arrangements and culture(s) can be observed (Berger et al., 2008; Breuer et al., 2011). It is also a place where social exchanges occur and are subject to influences from the wider society (Cornforth et al., 2015; Coule, 2015; Stichweh, 2013). The next section reviews the purpose of the inquiry and how curling represents a valuable context for research in sport.

1.1 Purpose of Inquiry

As Canadian society continues to become increasingly diverse, curling and curling clubs face a challenge. If curling presents as a quintessentially Canadian sport yet fails to mirror the growing diversity within Canada, a dilemma emerges: how best can we change the sport so all Canadians can *see* themselves? This change must produce conditions that are sensitive, welcoming, and inclusive for participants (Sawrikar & Muir, 2010; Benn & Pfister, 2013; Dortants & Knoppers, 2013). However, existing tradition, arguably vital to maintain for many people involved in the sport must also be considered (Leipert et al., 2011; Mair, 2007; Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001).

The purpose of the research project was to explore the experiences of curlers and to situate those experiences within a critical investigation of curling club culture(s). Two curling clubs in Ontario served as locations for the inquiry. The participants' stories were collected through interviews where photos selected by the participants seeded discussion and provided a frame to probe their experiences. Overall, the inquiry was guided by the following set of questions:

- (1) What are the experiences of curlers in curling clubs?
- (2) What aspects of organizational culture in curling clubs are revealed through curlers' personal experiences?
- (3) How do notions of curling culture(s) create, maintain, reflect, and/or disrupt dominant cultural narratives regarding this sport?
- (4) How might understandings of organizational culture within curling clubs offer insights into inclusivity within the sport?

1.2 Structure of Dissertation

The dissertation is organized into six chapters. In Chapter One, I review the context and purpose of the inquiry, as well as the structure of? the dissertation. In Chapter Two, I discuss relevant literature related to sport, culture, and diversity. These subject areas are broken down further to explore the intersection of sport tradition and culture, the role of the curling club as a community sport organization, and the relevant discourses regarding sport and diversity. Additionally, I review the tenets of

poststructuralism that framed my philosophical position, and guided the design of the methodology, analysis, and representation for this inquiry.

In Chapter Three, I discuss narrative inquiry as methodology, which was used in the analysis and representation of the findings. This includes a detailed explanation of performance text, which was used to illustrate the narratives identified from the analysis. In Chapter Four, I present the performance text. The text is organized into three scenes, each with an introduction to orient the reader, then the text itself, followed by director's notes, which are designed to spark discussion and interpretations from the reader.

In Chapter Five, I offer my interpretations and insights formulated during the analysis. First, I highlight the dominant narratives that were revealed from the participants' experiences in curling. Additionally, I discuss two counternarratives that emerged. These illustrate a neglect, or an omission of key topics vital for the examination of diversity and sport. Finally, in <u>Chapter Six</u>, I present the substantive and methodological contributions of the inquiry. The chapter concludes the dissertation by highlighting recommendations for further research.

A Note About Language

The word "race" and "whiteness" are enclosed in quotations to draw attention to their reification and taken-for-granted-*ness* in our society (St. Pierre, 2000). It serves as a call to re-examine their meanings as relational and subjective (Derrida, 1976), and force scrutiny of their supposed permanence and the incontestable fixity of their Truths (Berbary, 2017; St. Pierre, 2000). Further, I use the quotations throughout the document to remind the reader of the conflict and tension surrounding these words.

Black and *White* are also used in the document without quotations and as proper nouns. Black is capitalized to convey a meaning that is tangible, identifiable, cohesive and in contrast to White dominant culture. Thus, Black represents a political grouping for resistance against the discrimination and oppression of people of colour (Carrington, 2010; S. Hall & Du Gay, 1996). I capitalize White as an approach to focus on the dominance and privilege "whiteness" occupies in Canadian society (Bonds & Inwood, 2016). It requires interrogation of its meanings, assumed power, and privilege. It calls White out into the open, where it can no longer remain invisible or unexamined. Yet, the use of these terms is problematic and incomplete. As social constructions, they do not properly account for the diversity, variations, and multiplicity inherent in the notion of racial classification, and thus should be persistently challenged.

2.0 Literature Review

The scholarship concerning the role of sport in society is vast and multidisciplinary. Sport represents a pervasive cultural form that deeply affects our ways of being, values, and behaviours. Even at the level of language, colloquialisms taken from sport have become so commonplace, they are seemingly impervious to scrutiny: "drop the ball" "there is no I in team," "down to the wire," or "the gloves are off." It follows that as expressions of culture, sport tradition, symbology, and mythologies shape and reinforce values and beliefs, such as the virtue of competition, rules, and modes of play. Further, the impacts of sport also influence broader societal values (e.g. Coakley, 2007; Coakley & Dunning, 2000), historical legacies persisting in societal conditions at present (e.g., Kidd, 2013a; Hargreaves, 2007), and how systems of sport reinforce dominant cultures in Canada (e.g Hughson, 2009; Hughson et al., 2005; Rail, 1998), particularly implemented through management or administration operations, governance, and organizational cultures (e.g., Barrie, 2004; Shilbury, Ferkins, & Smythe, 2013; Thibault & Babiak, 2005; Slack & Hinings, 1992). Indeed, sports studies draw from various disciplinary traditions, such as History, Sociology, Management, Anthropology, and Psychology, which have all made important contributions to discourses concerning sport, culture, and diversity (Edwards, 2010; Jarvie, 2006; T. Taylor, 2001; Bourdieu, 1988, 1978).

The breadth and range of social science thinking within sports studies reveals that sport and culture research requires interdisciplinarity, which is vital for critical evaluation and exploration of these complex discourses. As such, this literature review

deals with relevant research across different theoretical disciplines, but all of which are related to the discourses of sport, culture, and diversity. The chapter is broken into four sections: sport tradition and culture, community sport organizations and culture, sport and diversity, and postructuralism as theoretical underpinning. I begin with a discussion of key literature relevant to discourses of sport and culture, and of how researchers have assessed the impacts of sport on broader society. The discussion moves on to how scholars have come to understand the role of tradition in sport and how tradition enshrines symbology, mythologies, and narratives vital to maintaining culture(s). Next, I review the community sport club and its involvement in the formation of sport cultures. Then, I explore the discourses of sport and diversity, with attention to how scholars have dealt with the notions of "race," "whiteness," and colonialism as? related to a critical examination of dominant culture(s) in Canada. The final section of this chapter finds these concepts framed within an overview of poststructuralism, which served as an overarching theoretical stance informing the inquiry.

2.1 Sport Tradition and Culture

The compelling relationship between sports traditions and the cultures where they operate is of great importance as to which narratives are constructed and maintained by sport participants. Indeed, tradition forms an inherited continuity between past and present. This section examines the role of tradition and its influence on sport culture. Further, I review how scholars have examined the notion of tradition as

integral to particular organizations and relevant to the broader discourses of sport and culture.

2.1.1 Symbols and Artifacts in Sport Tradition

Sport organizations are decidedly tied to symbols and artifacts within their locations, such as logos on uniforms or trophies and photos on walls. Further, those symbols and artifacts are implicated in a sport's traditions, which in turn shape and maintain the cultures that are experienced within those organizations. Organizational Theory offers explanations appropriate to better understand the relationship between an organization and its symbols, and to evaluate this relationship in a sport setting. As Schmirch (1983) theorized, "socially held ideals and beliefs manifest an organization's values or patterns of belief through symbolic devices such as myths, rituals, stories, and specialized language" (p. 344). For sport researchers, understand how "symbolic devices" informing sport tradition and their relationship to sport culture has received considerable attention, particularly as to how those symbols relate to values and beliefs that impact the sport (Birrell, 1981; Casselman-Dickson & Damhorst, 1993; Massarelli & Terret, 2012). It is the interrogation of the symbols and artifacts as they appear in organizations that is valuable for research, and how those devices construct meaning, instruct behaviours of members, and influence the operations of sport organizations.

Indeed, Birrell (1981) offered a simple explanation of symbols, but with the implication that tradition animates powerful forces within sports cultures, as "[s]ymbols are, simply, things which stand for other abstractions... [t]hey are vehicles encoded

with meanings, which serve as the basic units of meaning in rituals" (p. 357). Casselman-Dickson and Damhorst (1993) linked the symbolic relationship of athletic clothing with notions of competence and higher skill-levels, which reinforced its necessity in sport tradition. Further, Massarelli and Terret (2012) looked at the relationship of symbols and the beliefs that they emphasize for athletes. Thus, probing the symbols used in sport reveals meanings and ways of knowing created and maintained by their use. The use of symbols in sport culture may also epitomize a community's values and beliefs. For example, Birrell (1981) researched the effects of symbols on community related to its athletes, where he was concerned with how the athlete was enlisted to represent the codified morals and values of the community:

Sport has ritual significance when character based on valued social attributes is demonstrated. In such situations, the athlete is an exemplary figure who embodies the moral values of the community and thus serves as a symbol of those values. (p. 373)

The athlete, through their actions and success, becomes not only an actor competing in sport, but a representative symbol of the desires, beliefs, and values that are essentialized in that community's culture. Additionally, symbols are deployed significantly in a sport's rites and rituals. As Yearwood (2018) argued, such rituals both connect people through a sense of community and belonging, but also can hide negative considerations, such as "historical conflicts or discriminatory practices" (p. 680). Thus, the symbols tied to tradition not only provide meaning based on their appearance, but

also may promote the values and beliefs of the community linked to a given sport, even if in less disclosed ways.

The role of artifacts in sport clubs is an important consideration, particularly in the case of curling as curling clubs are often adorned with trophies, banners, and photographs (Mair, 2007; Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001). As Mills and Hoeber (2013) pointed out, more extensive research in this area was necessary; even though artifacts are prevalent in sport clubs, little attention had yet been given to their impact in the sport club setting (p. 484). Their research looked at symbols in the context of skating clubs and, significantly, at the roles of those in positions of power within them, to query how symbols were used and how they affected the clubs' constituency:

It is important that coaches, administrators, and executive members are in agreement about the messages (e.g., promoting club values and goals) they wish to portray with the artifacts, and consciously create, develop, enhance, or remove artifacts to establish an environment that matches the intended messages. (Mills & Hoeber, 2013, p. 494)

However, as Mills and Hoeber make clear, the power of the meanings attached to artifacts and symbols found in sport clubs cannot be underestimated, as their influence on sport culture can inspire emotional bonds, nostalgia, and identification with a sport's history. In Mills and Hoeber' research, artifacts were tellingly displayed, with attention devoted to their association with success in the minds and hearts of many people in the organization. Their prominence was associated with honour, pride, and reputation, as "[a]rtifacts shaped the culture of a local sport club in ways that created a unified sense

of pride and belonging (to the unique arena)" (Mills & Hoeber, 2013, p. 494). Importantly, Mills and Hoeber's (2013) research also offered an understanding of the culture related to organizational culture, as investigating artifacts helped to uncover the values and beliefs of an organization (p. 484), where the symbols invoked pride, prestige, and a sense of belonging to a club.

Moreover, artifacts and their use are linked to sport tradition even when they are encountered outside the confines of the sports club. In Canada, imagery and artifacts related to hockey flow outside arenas and into public life, whereby they reinforce strong connections to tradition and legacy, without requiring direct participation in or viewing of the game, As Gregory (2010) made clear:

Images of outdoor hockey, particularly in Canadian popular culture, are ubiquitous. Representations of ruddy-faced children playing on a mythological frozen farmyard pond/backyard rink/urban community rink are plentiful, be it on a Tim Horton's coffee tin, on a Hockey Night in Canada title montage, or, of course, on the back of a Canadian five dollar bill. (p. 29)

The artifacts that adorn a sport club have a powerful impact, whereby the character or identity of club life is represented and reinforced (Mills & Hoeber, 2013). Further, Mills and Hoeber (2013) noted a connection between artifacts and the notion of club membership. Artifacts supported strong bonds among members, and denoted a mechanism to reinforce their shared values (Mills & Hoeber, 2013, p. 489). Whether it is a photo on the wall, imagery on the table in the lounge, or more mainstream media campaigns, artifacts and tradition are tightly woven into the narratives of sport. As such,

examination of such items requires a critical eye to unpack their relationship to organizations and their cultures.

For curling, a review of the symbols and artifacts in the context of the curling club offers insights into the role a club plays in its community. Mair's (2009) exploration of the role of curling clubs in the lives of members of rural communities shed light on how the club becomes more than a place to recreate. Rather, it embodies a sense of home and comfort for its membership:

The club was fashioned like an old recreation room and reminded me of my family basement. The cool air smelled of old dust. Old worn but comfortable looking couches were placed in one corner with a television and comprised the 'kid's area.' The bar dominated another corner and the walls were covered in pictures, trophies and plaques. (p. 455)

In this excerpt, the depiction of a curling club environment is expertly crafted as familyfriendly, comfortable, but also reminiscent of the member's own childhood residences. As Mair (2009) indicated:

The physical layout of the clubs, described as a 'family rec room,' conveys a comfortable homey atmosphere. Of course, sociability, especially laughter, conversation and storytelling are fundamentally important to club life. The clubs foster an atmosphere of playfulness with a spirit of lighthearted teasing and fun." (pp. 461–462)

However, as Mills and Hoeber (2013) pointed out, although artifacts may be seen by internal members as representative of their values, for others outside a club's

dominant culture, those same artifacts may not elicit the same feelings. In fact, they may hinder the possibility of connection: "by engaging participants with a variety of goals and abilities in discussions about this specific artifact, it was clear some participants were not inspired by the artifact, and in fact some felt left out as a result" (p. 494). Thus, researchers have shown that the artifacts implicated with tradition may produce a welcoming environment, or conversely, serve to deter newcomers from joining or seeing themselves belonging.

2.1.2 Notions of Timelessness and Permanence in Sport Tradition

Sport tradition has temporal and locational references that often assist in the construction of a legacy. Maguire (2011) likened this factor to a 'sense of invented permanence':

The association of sport with a specific place and season also provides a sense of *heimat*, a sense of invented 'permanence'. Think of Wimbledon, Super Bowl Sunday, the US Masters at Augusta and, for the English, test cricket from Australia during a European winter. These sport occasions are counterpoints to change. [emphasis in original] (p. 990)

The consistency of an annual or seasonal event contributes to feelings that such events have always been there and have always been that way. That association of permanence for sport reifies tradition and truncates the possibility of dislodging them to make way for something new.

Troubling Dominance in Sport

In Canadian curling, the national championships for men (the Brier) and women (the Scotties) are annual events that have a temporal reference. They have a strong resonance with curlers and are widely televised, making access nationwide. Both tournaments reinforce the sense of permanence, not only as annual events, but also due to their celebrated and prolific history in Canada (Maxwell, 1980; Pezer, 2003). Indeed, these events have been operating annually for a considerable length of time, The Brier since 1927 (Maxwell, 1980), and the women's annual national championship since 1961, which was renamed Scott Tournament of Hearts in 1982 (Curling Canada, 2019a), and referred to as The Scotties Tournament of Hearts since 2007 (Bailey & Redmond, 2010). Thus, their longevity and annual occurrence entrenches these events in curling lore and popular culture, and influences the feelings and images people associate with them. However, attachment to the permanence of tradition often makes change difficult within sport. As Adams and Leavitt (2018) noted, "fans already have strong emotional connections to the specific names, colors, and insignias of the teams they follow; thus, any changes to them may engender a strong reaction to said change" (p. 378). Their research established that the entrenchment of masculinity in hockey hindered developments with respect to making hockey more accessible for women. Thus, tradition that seems permanent makes delinking the past more challenging, as it is not just the traditions that are forced to change, but also the emotions they invoke for those involved.

However, tradition can also mask changes that do occur, and how current trends have reshaped sport; traditional views or nostalgia often fail to update. For example, the

Troubling Dominance in Sport

strong tradition of viewing hockey with nostalgia for the outdoor rink: this sentiment has been entrenched in hockey's legacy, so much so that even the NHL has several outdoor games as part of their regular schedule (Ellison & Anderson, 2018; Gregory, 2010; Johnson & Ali, 2017). However, the majority of hockey is played in indoor arenas with state-of-the-art equipment, which has shaped the sport into a skills-based, professional, and success-oriented pursuit. As such, the nostalgia for outdoor play may reinforce a cultural expression that no longer is representative of the present state of the sport:

The indoor rink is an integral device within a current Canadian culture that is seemingly captivated by controlled, organized physical activity. With a continued emphasis on competition, skill-building, and year-round specialization, the modern, climate-controlled indoor hockey rink presents a viable route of passage for a generation of Canadian youths guided by dominant principles of individualism that emphasize personal responsibility and hard work. (Johnson & Ali, 2017, p. 263)

Thus, narratives and imagery tied to legacy or the nostalgic sense of a sport's history may cloud new interpretations of it and miss the evolution of new realities, regardless of the desire to retain its history.

2.1.3 Control and Conformity in Sport Tradition and Impacts on Inequality

Sport organizations and their traditions may also serve to deter the advancement of equity practices, and maintain power and control in the hands of those that have organized the sport in the first place (Gruneau & Whitson, 1993; Kidd, 1996; Robidoux,

2002). Notably, Kidd's (1996) research showed that historically, the source of control has been predominantly male and White in the organization of Canadian sport:

While Canadians of every region and background engaged in these practices, it was a very narrow group – urban, middle-class males of British background – that succeeded in controlling the emergence of what became Canadian sports, steering adaptations of British sports to Canada and turning *their* favourite games into the sports everyone played. [emphasis in original] (p. 15)

Kidd indicated that growth in Canadian sport was linked to a particular segment of the population that controlled the organization and regulation of sports. Further, those clubs enforced a rigid adherence to "amateurism," which codified and romanticized exclusionary practices within clubs, and by doing so, established clubs as a site of rites and rituals that reinforced restrictive practices for sport participation (Kidd, 1996, p. 15).

For curling, the grassroots growth of the sport was tied to clubs which, concurrent with the promotion of amateurism, offered a strong tie to Victorian values and beliefs (Pezer, 2003). Amateurism denoted a love of the game and hard work as an aesthetic quality and desired result. Holt (1992) argued that amateurism embodied a set of values that promoted a sense of "gentlemanliness":

[T]he ideals of honourable, dignified and respectable behaviour, not boasting in victory or complaining in defeat, not fanatical nor too partisan; maintaining self-control and dignity; performing stylishly and with courage; the manner of victory as more important than the margin; all this

was more a matter of being a gentleman than of strict compliance with the principles of amateurism. (p. 21)

In curling, the intersection of grassroots clubs (and the Victorian values embedded with their cultures) and the characteristics of amateurism continue to be practiced, even valorized in its tradition. The idea that a small-town team, by competing hard, could in fact represent Canada has been part of curling lore and its history (D. Smith, 1981). The notion of a club team winning the national championship, and thus, representing Canada at the international level, illustrates the degree to which association with grassroots amateurism was valued in the sport (Allain & Marshall, 2018; Barrick et al., 2016). However, as curling has moved toward increased professionalism, the possibility of a club team competing on the national stage or representing Canada at the Olympics has become increasingly unlikely (Barrick et al., 2016). Thus, a new commitment to professionalism has reshaped the sport, and in turn, affected the tradition that was upheld and valued by many.

Additionally, Taylor (2004) showed that the tradition within "monocultural" settings, such as sport, may assist with long-lasting reinforcement of certain structures. In particular, he noted the entrenchment of patriarchal power relations in sport to the detriment of women's advancement and access to opportunities:

The monocultural organization may subtly but powerfully shape and define these women's experience and ways of knowing and may reproduce hegemonic distinctions between mainstream and so-called other cultural life. The production of cultural homogeneity often occurs in policies and

practices that constitute social and organizational life (such as sport). (p. 470)

Taylor (2004) advanced the idea that conformity was the norm and thus adherence to tradition was required to belong: "[c]ultural conformity is expected, and sport organizations are avenues by which existing inequities are reinforced, legitimized, and reaffirmed." (p. 472). Johnson and Ali (2017) also explored the notion of conformity and assimilation in hockey for new, non-White immigrants. They noted the overwhelming "whiteness" of the sport as a potential barrier for participation, and source of inequity: "[m]oreover, what is ignored from the 'mystique' of Canadian hockey narrative is the homogeneity of whiteness that monopolizes such imagination from its historical beginnings" (p. 264). Furthermore, Schinke et al. (2013) dealt with how sport traditions often mask, silence, or erase cultural differences, making it more difficult to clarify causes of inequality, with regards to "each member's intersecting aspects of identity (e.g., age, gender, sexual orientation, race, religion). These aspects are often invisible in sport contexts, and yet, they inform the constituent members" (p. 1686). The research reviewed shows a tension and conflict whereby the role of tradition in sport constructs values and beliefs, but also reinforces cultural structures that render and perpetuate inequalities. As Kidd (2013d) argued, "[w]e must also understand sports as sites of cultural struggle, where different groups with widely varying abilities contend to impose the meanings they prefer" (p. 474). Thus, understanding tradition as a form of power and control provides a vital reflection on broader societal trends that continue to influence their composition and operation.

Troubling Dominance in Sport

Tradition serves to perpetuate cultural dynamics, resulting in serious inequities along with nostalgic feelings. Taking hockey as an illustration, note the cultivated endurance of the masculinity and patriarchy "traditionally" associated with the sport (Allain, 2011). Adams and Leavitt (2018) acknowledged that regardless of the growth of women's and girls' hockey in Canada, there was nevertheless an uphill battle for legitimacy as the longstanding tradition of masculinity in the sport provided little room for new narratives:

Reading the increasing numbers of participants as a simple linear progress narrative assumes a similarity of experience from region to region, access for all, and distorts the reality of many girls and women, a reality that is fraught with discriminatory practices and constant negotiation for access, especially in certain (often rural) areas of the country. (p. 153)

Their research identified the role of sport in the continued production of gender inequity, as well as an overall narrative that hockey remained a male-dominated sport, whereby the lesser offshoot of the game (i.e., hockey played by women) was tolerated and accommodated, but not equal to men's hockey (Adams & Leavitt, 2018, p. 155). Moreover, Lenskyj (1992) was critical of the fact that women were assimilated into hockey through masculinity: "[i]t has been seen that women's entry to traditionally male sports has been achieved, for the most part, on men's terms, and that, rather than women changing sport, sport has, in many instances, changed women" (p. 149). Thus, tradition in hockey has fostered a cultural ethos whereby men are celebrated, and women tolerated, yet "[i]t has proven difficult to meaningfully challenge the historical dominance of men's (and boys') hockey" (Adams & Leavitt, 2018, p. 155). Tradition in

sport largely tends to support inequity, and without critical analysis or attention to how these conditions persist, discriminatory practices are propagated and reinforce hegemonic projects in our society, limiting our capacity for socially just action and change (Adams & Leavitt, 2018).

Indeed, sport traditions are not neutral in their linkage with culture, and therefore must be interrogated in relation to what groups are silenced, marginalized, or underrepresented as a result of promoting one version of the story. My selection of hockey to illustrate how tradition in sport perpetuates inequalities also underscores hockey's importance in Canada as a national sport. The connection between sport and the construction and maintenance of national identity does indeed play a major role in this inquiry, and offers a bridge from the historical past to contemporary applications today.

2.1.4 Curling's Tradition and Canadian Identity

Sport has often demonstrated attributes representative of a national identity or character (Allain, 2011; A. Smith & Porter, 2004; Watson, 2017). Maguire (2011) noted that "[s]pecific sports are seen to embody all the qualities of national character" (p. 980). For curling, tradition is deeply associated with an expression of Canada's colonial past and affiliation with Victorian ideals, which have profoundly influenced the sport. As Pezer (2003) wrote extensively, the history of curling and its vital connection to Canada's Prairies testified to a Victorian heritage and value system brought by colonial settlers from the United Kingdom (p. 2). It rooted curling's growth in Canada as a

Troubling Dominance in Sport

furthering of their tradition and values, as "[i]t would take the Victorian emphasis on adherence to rules, formal organization, and promotion of character development to elevate the reputation of curling" (Pezer, 2003, p. 2). Thus, the Victorian ideals connect curling to a specific colonial past that continues to influence it today, as evidenced in the etiquette that permeates the sport, such as with shaking hands both before and after the game or self-refereeing. Historically, the growth of the sport has also largely been the result of the development of clubs, as "[c]urling acquired a high status because it was organized into clubs and associations... after 1880, the number of sports clubs in Manitoba grew rapidly, and when it came to organizing, Winnipeg curlers led the way" (Pezer, 2003, p. 6). Curling's club-based legacy and association with the character of early Canadian settlers is still evident in the sport today:

Immigrants brought other attitudes and values to Canada...Their belief in self-betterment, combined with their high level of patriotism, created the conviction that the British were the standard-bearers of progress. Victorians believed that an Englishman's ability and strength of character were the true source of his success. (Pezer, 2003, p. 5)

Particular traditional values underpin curling as a "gentlemen's sport" (Allain & Marshall, 2018, p. 124), where observers might hear players saying: "good curling" before a game starts and "good shot" regarding an opponent's achievement. As such, tradition is deeply held and continues to be represented in today's game, where fun and social connections are touted as essential characteristics of the sport (Allain & Marshall, 2018; Mair, 2007; Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001; Willoughby & Kostuk, 2004).

Understanding these Victorian origins invites critical interrogation of curling's continuing connection to Canada's national character or identity.

Further, similar to curling, hockey also embodies Victorian values; "[i]n short, advocating for institutionalized sport served as an important means of reproducing a Victorian social order where young men learned to be honorable and genteel gentlemen" (Robidoux, 2002, p. 212). Thus, participation in the sport systems that were influenced by a colonial legacy that required assimilation into the tradition of the sport, and into a presumed (part of) Canadian culture:

Hockey was uniquely Canadian in origin and character... Play was aggressive and often violent, providing men the opportunity to display emergent notion of masculinity. At a symbolic level, it was played on a frozen scape, perfectly embodying what life as a Canadian colonialist was supposed to be like...By the 1920s hockey had succeeded in becoming Canada's national sport pastime. (Robidoux, 2002, p. 218)

For both hockey and curling, tradition is conjoined with a legacy, which often goes unexamined. Although researchers have explored the history of these sports, there is need for further interrogation of the impacts that the idea of legacy has on sport. To wit, the very linguistic origins of the term legacy as "a body of persons sent on a mission" (Online Etymology Dictionary, 2019) denote an active embodiment of the colonial project. In this case, it is the *mission* of perpetuating the values and beliefs of the Victorian era through the construct of sport.

Troubling Dominance in Sport

The construction of national identity cannot be considered a "natural" process, inevitable, or a historical given (Allain, 2011, p. 7). Sport's connection with national identity is neither benign nor representative of certain historical and social conditions under which both have come to exist. As Allain (2011) observed, "there is nothing natural about the invention of national cultures" (p. 7). As the connection of hockey and nature became so fundamental in Canadian society (Kidd, 2013b), the sport/identity construct of hockey took on an essentializing and mythical connotation: "[t]he myth of hockey as a 'natural' adaptation to ice, snow, and open space is a particularly graphic example of what Barthes is alerting us to how history can be confused with nature" (Gruneau & Whitson, 1993, p. 132). Not only does hockey become rooted in an origin story of Canada's nationhood, but it also connects widely with notions of wilderness, of taming the environment, and mastering nature (Allain, 2011; Johnson & Ali, 2017; Lorenz, 2015). Therefore, Canadian national sport becomes an extension of settler mentality, immortalizing resolve in the face of a bitter harsh climate as people skate on frozen ponds. Thus, such mythology becomes represented by and attributed to a dominant, White settler of Canada, to the exclusion of others (Kennedy et al., 2019, p. 190).

The association of national identity and nature, particularly cold weather, ice and snow, also speaks to curling's prominence as a Canadian winter sport. Thus, national identity, and the stories that surround and support it, become inextricable from the traditions that support dominant cultures: "[t]he discourse and actions of dominant groups within a national culture constructs identities that are ambiguously placed

between past and present" (Maguire, 2011, p. 981). This argument yokes the notions of timelessness and national identity, a constructed identity that is neither completely in the past nor in the present. Thus, curling's historical legacy and connection to a narrative of settler colonialism can be linked with visions of Canadian national identity, and draws attention to the dominant cultures that are comprised by that identity. The association of tradition and culture with dominance is further discussed in relation to "whiteness" and "race" later in this chapter.

Canada's connection between sport and national identity is also formed as a function of success at the international level; for example, the famed and oft-recalled success of Canada' 1972 men's hockey team in beating Russia galvanized Canada's reputation as hockey leaders on the global stage (Holman, 2009). Consequently, Sport Canada's promotion of high-performance success is undeniable in any conversation about Canadian sport development (Arthur, 2012; Barrick et al., 2016; Kidd, 2013b). Thus, curling's inclusion as an Olympic sport (Barrick et al., 2016) contributed to further eminence by increasing the level of professionalism, including athleticism and skill-development (Gruneau, 2017; Kidd, 2013a). Yet, Canada's success on the world stage was established long before its Olympic status. As Wyman (2014) wrote, high achievement in curling has been a constant for Canada:

In Canada's glorious curling history there have been so many brilliant moments, so many world championships and Olympics [sic] medals, but never before has there been a time like February 2014. In that magical month, in the picturesque Black Sea resort of Sochi, Canadian curlers

pulled off a feat that had eluded them for 16 years – they won double gold at the Olympics winter games. (Wyman, 2014)

At the same time, curling's association with national identity is tightly tied to the Olympic factor (Wyman, 2014). With the focus on Olympic success, there has been increased emphasis on skill-development and athleticism, which are closely linked to professionalism. As the sport changes, there is a renewed emphasis on elite athletics focused on physical attributes and skills-development (Allain & Marshall, 2018).

As previously stated, sport cultures shaped by Canada's colonial past and maintained through their tradition erase historical injustices, resulting in continued inequalities today (Henhawk, 2009; Paraschak, 1989). Maguire (2011) examined sport's contribution to the formation of national identity, and the "invention of tradition" (p. 980). Tradition associated with sport upholds a vision and image of the sport whereby a "[n]ational culture and identity are also represented by an emphasis on origins, continuity, tradition and timelessness" (Maguire, 2011, p. 980). However, in the case of a national identity, tradition tied to one version of national history disenfranchises those underrepresented and further papers over historical repression, as in the case of Indigenous Peoples in Canada (McClintock, 1992; Paraschak, 1989, 1995a). Though adequately addressing the critical factors relevant to colonial traditions' effects on Indigenous Peoples is outside the scope of this inquiry, a cursory discussion of some of their impacts helps to contextualize my inclusion of Indigeneity, Reconciliation, and decolonization in the research project. As part of that discussion, examining the intersection of sport and discrimination against Indigenous Peoples contextualizes how

inequities persist and are reinforced through cultural practices formed from a colonial past. Paraschak's (1997) research on Indigenous women and sport highlighted discrimination based on their status as Indigenous Peoples:

Native peoples in Canada (and, more broadly, in North America) live life and play sport within a context of unequal race relations. Often, sport has been used as an assimilative practice by eurocanadians (e.g., government bureaucrats, educators) trying to 'civilize' native peoples. (p. 2)

Paraschak's research pointed to the discrepancy in access to sport, whereby those outside the norm, in this case Canada's national identity, were immediately put at a disadvantage and thus practiced sport in conditions of inequity. As curling's tradition emphasizes its colonial past, and an idealized, settler colonial identity, a critical examination of what impacts persist from that colonial past for Indigenous Peoples today is needed. As part of that examination, the role of the curling club requires scrutiny as a location central to the development of the sport, curling cultures, and ties to a Victorian past.

2.2 Community Sport Organizations and Culture

This section explores how researchers have examined sport cultures in CSOs and their positions on addressing issues of diversity. To begin, Doherty, Misener, and Cuskelly (2014) describe community sports clubs as "a type of membership association largely run by member volunteers who organize and deliver opportunities for recreational and competitive sport participation. These clubs are where people are most

likely to engage in organized sport" (p. 125S). Further, Misener and Doherty (2009) identified CSOs as largely non-profit and as "offering opportunities to a wide and diverse constituency" (p. 457). CSOs are often labelled as grassroots organizations that serve a specific local area, and that identification with public good and community values becomes important in considering the role of culture within the clubs. Local sport clubs are "expected to provide individual and social benefits, such as youth development and community cohesion" (Misener & Doherty, 2009, p. 457). Thus, the CSO represents an ideal location to understand the intersection of sport cultures, diversity, and the organization at the local level.

2.2.1 The Community Sport Club and Diversity

CSOs offer a rich and valuable launching point for research on the intersection of sport and culture. Researchers have explored multiple factors that influence diversity within the CSO. Spaaij et al. (2018) argued that cultural change within CSOs often involved resistance to diversity in sport clubs. Their research noted that diversity work often came up against a barrier that was immoveable, substantial, and tangible for participants (p. 26). Further, barriers were often associated with disrupting normal operations, changing the way things were done, and creating friction with established members of the sport club (Spaaij et al., 2018, p. 293). The researchers revealed how organizational structures and cultures within the club context constitute barriers to changing tradition or activities that continue to reinforce conditions leading to inequality.

Moreover, Dacombe's (2013) research interrogated the intersection of sport provision and inequality within the context of sport clubs as related to dominant groups. He noted that dominant groups have a considerable effect on the participation rates of those from marginalized groups, as in-groups were less likely to interact with others outside their immediate community (Dacombe, 2013, p. 1274). Thus, the in-group tradition presents a barrier for non-dominant people to interact or engage in activities. The implication of the research is that sport cultures inhibit the interest in and awareness of others beyond that dominant culture. The notion of dominant culture is relevant to the discussion of diversity, which will be discussed later in this chapter.

Although CSOs often commit to an idealized vision of diversity and make steps towards that objective (Nichols & M. James, 2008; Spaaij et al., 2018; T. Taylor et al., 2009), beliefs and values deeply held by individuals within organizations may impact success in achieving that end (Spaaij, 2013; Spaaij et al., 2019). For curling, the imperative to maintain or increase participation becomes an important driver for including a more diverse clientele. Given that membership numbers are declining across many organized sports, a renewed source of hope for revitalization comes from the inclusion of non-traditional groups. However, the "diversity mandate" can be seen as a national initiative embedded in the sport systems that govern the local club: "[p]articipation in sport has become highly valued by governments and policy makers… In addition to its physical health benefits, it is often seen as an activity that has a positive social integrative function" (Spaaij et al., 2019, p. 2). Thus, there are multiple

factors that drive a CSO's commitment to diversity and impact the effectiveness of strategies to achieve a higher level of diversity.

2.2.2 The Community Sport Club and Community Building

CSOs serve as primary sites of entry where people first encounter a particular sport (Breuer et al., 2011). Notably, Robinson et al. (2019) used the sport club environment as a site to research the sense of belonging and well-being of new Syrian refugees in Canada. The researchers examined the contribution that sport offered refugees' integration into and creation of community. Further, the researchers identified the role of the sports club in offering opportunities for newcomers "to feel involved and included within their new Canadian community" (p. 9).

Additionally, Tirone et al. (2010) looked at enhancing community involvement through sport and leisure, which increased a "sense of belonging and inclusion within their community" (p. 403). Their research identified that a comprehensive approach involving both immigrants and service staff working together yielded the most beneficial results in terms of community engagement and feelings of belonging, but not without some difficulty in delivery at the local level, regardless of the national policy. Thus, researchers affirm that CSOs have difficulty in introducing and managing national mandates, as their capacity, resources, and expertise may not be adequate to administer such policies. For example, Spaaij (2015) noted this challenge related to diversity work in sport clubs, as "[w]hile there is a strong policy focus on how sport participation helps to integrate people with refugee backgrounds into the host society …

the reality is more complex and ambivalent" (p. 312). A CSO's commitment to diversity may be part of an organizational vision or mission, but achieving the desired result may be challenging.

The curling club represents both a context for the formation of culture and a physical location where those cultural relations can manifest, whereby members interact, behaviours are presented, tradition and rituals observed, rules and regulations enacted, and social exchanges encouraged. Today, the curling club continues as a site where particular cultural forms are perpetuated (Pezer, 2003; Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001). Regardless of changes to the game (Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001), the underlying, permeating sentiment perpetuates attitudes and values that on the surface identify with notions of the sport's benefits, (i.e. fair play), but also expunge its historical formation within a colonial/settler backdrop (Mair, 2007; Pezer, 2003; Kidd, 2013b). Thus, the sport club represents a unique location where tensions can be identified in relation to the cultures that exist, and a site to discover how understanding the local context may offer insights into social issues on a broader scale.

2.2.3 The Community Sport Club and Organizational Culture

To further the discourse on CSOs and their role in the formation and maintenance of cultures, this section assesses relevant research investigating organizations and organizational culture. To begin, the term organization, as used in Organizational Studies, suggests multiple meanings, a wide range of "types," and spans both public and private (non-profit and commercial) sectors (Chan & Clegg, 2002). The

ambiguous definition is relevant, as organizations are often characterized by internal operations, which may leave out influences not tied to these operations, such as social interactions among staff (Clegg, 2009) and external influences from society (Haigh & Hoffman, 2012). For Hinings (1996), the modern organization was tangible, permanent, and taken-for-granted: "organizational structures cannot be thought of as neutral instruments subject to processes of rational design... [r]ather, they are to be conceptualized as representations of the values and interests of organizational and institutional actors" (p. 886). Vitally, it is the social arrangements, interactions and activities involved in an organization that become central to understanding the necessary function of that culture and how it may shape the behaviours of the individuals involved.

Contemporary theories of organizations were developed from Weberian notions of bureaucracy (M. Weber, 1947). Scholars have examined the formal and informal forces exerting pressure on the structured arrangement of people, and on policies, practices, and behaviours. This conceptualization was a vital shift in the thinking of organizations as real and tangible: "[o]rganizations are empirical objects, such that we 'see' something when we see an organization, but each of us may see something different, see that thing seen differently, and see different things at different times" (Clegg & Hardy, 2006, p. 426). Further, it is difficult to assign a rigid boundary to where a given organization begins and ends, and to where an individual's experience is confined. The individual belongs both to the organization and to the rest of society and is affected by drivers – often contradictory – in both places.

Further, the influences of organizational culture are not limited solely to the present, as past tradition, legacies, and histories continue to shape current activities. As Clegg (2009) pointed out: "[o]rganizations are not neutral or apolitical... We should think of an organization as a collective life-world in which traces of the past are vested, recur, shift, and take on new meanings" (p. 50). Thus, researchers of organizational culture examine internal dynamics of an organization focusing on "individuals, their behaviours, values, and practices" (McKinley, 2010, p. 49). An organization's culture (or cultures) is often formed through shared experiences, expressing the character of the organization: "organizational culture offers a shared system of meanings, which forms the basis of communication and mutual understandings" (Martin et al., 1983, p. 65). Moreover, organizational culture is an internal manifestation, driven by external influences acting on the organization (Smircich, 1983). This is to say that social actors (staff, managers, executive, board members) are integral to the creation of an internal culture, but their personal values and beliefs are shaped largely outside the organization (Smircich, 1983).

Indeed, people's internalized values and beliefs are central to the formation of these cultures (Denison, 1990; Girginov, 2010). Further, culture exists within the organization as social arrangements, artifacts, and processes, as well as the behaviours of individuals and internal groups (Smircich, 1983). Simply put, organizational culture refers to "how things work" or are done in an organization (Schein, 2010, p. 158). This statement is relevant to understanding the role of culture, and its attendant tradition. An organization may intentionally perpetuate a specific set of beliefs through policies, or

unwittingly through the informal practices of its members. Individuals may tacitly or overtly accept company policy yet covertly resist full compliance due to an internal conflict with their own beliefs. Thus, the individual's experiences pattern motivations that may be in conflict with the organizational pressures to conform.

As stated in the introduction, if there is indeed a national vision of ensuring sport opportunities for all Canadians (Canadian Heritage, 2019; Curling Canada, 2019b), the implications at the grass-roots level are messy, as implementing a universal mandate may not account for the unique conditions present in each local situation (Shilbury et al., 2013; Shilbury & Ferkins, 2011). As Spaaij, Knoppers, and Jeanes (2019) wrote about adoption of policy, "[s]port policies that focus exclusively on increasing participation amongst diverse and underrepresented groups will rarely lead sports organizations to embrace diversity and alter discriminatory practice" (p. 10). The conflict between organizational direction or mandate and the role of members can limit the effectiveness of implementing new policy, such as programs to increase diversity. Spaaij (2019) noted:

The discourses about the societal benefits of sport participation/sport club membership and about the value of diversity in sport organizations that dominated the macro level seem to be in opposition. (p. 9)

The complexity of implementing change at the local level illustrates that although there may be desire for it, making definitive and substantive change requires more consideration, and implicates the local club's capacity and expertise. Thus, the role of

the community sport club provides a foundation to further the discussion about sport and culture, and the intersection of sport and diversity.

2.3 Sport and Diversity

This section engages relevant scholarship related to issues of sport and diversity. As with the other topic areas, there is a challenge in determining clear boundaries between subject areas. As such, there will be overlap, such that "race" also speaks of dominance and privilege, and notions of "whiteness" are tied to understandings of racialization. This section begins by looking at the notion of "race" in relation to sport and diversity. Associated with notions of dominance, an examination of some tenets related to "whiteness" are then provided. These two subject areas are particularly valuable for the discussion of curling, a sport that is tied both to the Canadian national identity, and where sport participation is still predominantly White. Last, there is a brief review of literature that deals with the notions of sport and colonialism, as well as decolonialization.

2.3.1 Sport and "Race"

As sport is often viewed as a positive force within dominant culture in general, promoting benefits for all that participate (Kidd, 2008, 2013b, 2013e), the darker side of sport is more often neglected. The erasure relates to discussions of "race" and sport visà-vis diversity in Canada (Joseph et al., 2012; Krebs, 2012). Hall (2000) was critical of how "race" (and ethnicity) were erased through the language of multiculturalism and

so-called colour-blind policies (p. 151). Further, Plaut et al. (2018) noted the allure of colourblindness to absolve past discriminatory practices, while promoting equality:

Adopting color blindness lets members of groups associated with perpetrating racism (e.g., Whites) maintain an egalitarian self-image, because it allows them to believe they are nonprejudiced and are selfpresenting as such. (pp. 200–201)

Thus, concealed in the discourses of "race" and diversity, sport has become a location, both subtle and blatant, where traces of dominance are reproduced, and chronic inequalities continue to be experienced by marginalized peoples.

To begin, "race" is a challenging and contested construct, as genetic characteristics are misaligned within an essentializing practice of racialization (Hylton, 2009). "Race," thus, becomes a problematic classification in and of itself. As such, "race" as a social construct has been critiqued as an incomplete rationalization, providing the power of association, while limiting an individual's complex identity of which "race" is only a part. Carrington (2007) theorized that the ambiguity of the term "race" resulted in a problematic area for research:

Part of the problem in trying to think through the politics, salience, and usefulness of identity is the fact that the term [race] itself is so contested. This is especially so within an interdisciplinary field such as sport studies in which the concept has different genealogical trajectories and sometimes very distinctive connotations. (p. 50)

Researchers have used "race" in conjunction with sport to highlight systemic disadvantages that minority groups experience related to their ethnicities (Adair & Rowe, 2010; Carrington, 1998; Cunningham & Melton, 2012; Cunningham & Singer, 2010; Singer, 2005b; Singer & May, 2011). Furthermore, as a political designation, "race" provides a necessary cohesion and categorization to galvanize racialized communities through a common association. It has thus also been valuable in the fight against oppression, racism, and discrimination within society.

As such, "race" cannot be simply removed as a problematic characterization of people's identity, as there still is real value in its deployment in research and practice. For example, Singer's (2008) exploration of "race" in collegiate sport provided meaningful insights into both the positive and negative impacts of African American athletes' participation in sport. His research used "race" as a lens to identify how athletes experience a range of impacts from participating in sport. It indicated that athletes associated positive benefits with playing college football, some identifying that it offered a way to manage the difficulties and challenges that they would encounter in society (p. 402). Furthermore, Singer (2008) found that Black athletes, as opposed to their White counterparts, were viewed primarily as athletes and not as students. This factor led to Black students having to make a choice to devote more time to their sport rather than concentrate on education and the experiences surrounding their academics (p. 405). Thus, "race" offers a lens through which to examine disadvantages wrought by sport tied to racial privileging and inequities due to the racialization of participants.

Researchers concerned with the discourse of "race" and sport have also examined various aspects of struggle, activism, and social justice. For Carrington (2007), the usefulness of understanding "race" as an attribute of Black British subjects revealed their active resistance against oppressive power and a struggle for equal rights and privileges:

The struggle to self identify as "black British" was and is a political struggle that simultaneously engages and critiques essentialist notions of race, the history of British capitalist imperialism, and the violence – symbolic and real – of the British State against black communities while providing a basis for the desires for freedom and emancipation found within the expressive cultures of the black Atlantic world. (p. 52)

For Carrington (2007), identity tied to racial categorization was viewed as a political position, whereby "identity needs to be understood as a strategic intervention by marginalized communities for cultural, political, and economic recognition" (p. 52). Thus, identifying with "race" provided power and privilege through grouping and the strength in numbers. It offered protection against potential oppression as well as a means to centralize ideas and articulate a common objective.

In sports studies, "race" is used to interrogate the structure of racism and inequality (Carrington, 1998; Glover, 2007; Hylton, 2005, 2009). Hylton's (2009) research called attention to how "race" had been associated with performative identities as a means to manage rampant discrimination against Black football players in the United Kingdom. Black players would act differently in the presence of a White coach:

...how black football players developed a '*performance*', a certain socially determined role, tailored to the fluctuating demands of white coaches and managers. [emphasis and font change in original] (p. 14)

For racialized people, being of colour required a relational construction malleable to circumstances. An individual's racial identity, therefore, was constructed in relation to other people with whom they were interacting. Again, "race" can be expressed as a source of action and strength relevant to political and social change. However, it can also be a construct whereby assimilation into dominant cultural forms requires the performance of identity in a particular way as to seem less threatening, or more palatable for those in power. Further, Carrington (1998) was concerned with the role of sport as a means to defend against racism for Black cricketers. Carrington's research complemented the groundbreaking work by C.L.R. James in *Beyond a Boundary* (1963), which also teased out the alliance between Black resistance and cricket. Carrington's (1998) research was centred on the cricket club as a site where expressions of resistance were located. It also provided an important location where Black players could congregate without fear of White racism and oppression (p. 275). Hence, the political role of "race" in the context of sport allowed not only for resistance against oppression, but also served as a means to form connections and community.

2.3.2 "Race" and My Identity

The previous section identified the challenges the notion of "race" has for the exploration of sport and diversity. However, the implications of "race" in my own identity construction needed to address additional complexities. My background as a bi-

racial, transracially adopted individual needed to be reconciled as it informed my notions of identity, in particular, the complexity of "race." Transracial adoption (TRA) is described as "an adoption that involves the placement of children in families that are racially and culturally different from them.... [i]n modern western societies, this practice largely involves the placement of minority ethnic children in white adoptive families" (Barn, 2013, p. 1273). Many strong objections to the practice of transracial adoption have been raised over the years. On one side, ethnic minorities see the adoption of children outside their ethnic or cultural group as a form of "cultural genocide" (Barn, 2013, p. 1274). Other studies have also pointed to the issues related to transracial adoption regarding "children's identity, belonging, and culture" (Barn, 2013, p. 1274), leading to a generalized sense that TRA is problematic in practice. It is important to point out that both proponents (of which there are few) and adversaries are agreed that TRA should be a last resort, and that White adoptive parents must acquire the appropriate knowledge and skills to help children develop a positive racial/ethnic identity" (Barn, 2014, p. 1276). Regardless of the recommendations proposed by scholars within transracial adoption research, issues of identity, particularly racially or culturally formed connections, are thorny. It is from this standpoint that I needed to negotiate my own relationship to "race," identity, and belonging.

Further, I also needed to negotiate an incomplete classification of "bi-racial" to account for my genetic make-up being part African-Caribbean-Canadian and part White. Being visually categorized in public as Black discounted any connection to my "whiteness" (Butler-Sweet, 2011a, 2011b):

Because they don't 'look' white, mixed race children are pressured to accept and embrace their blackness despite having a legitimate claim (such as one white parent) to membership of the white group. (Butler-Sweet, 2011b, p. 749)

Thus, my identity formation was perhaps more malleable to allow for the need to associate as Black in certain contexts, but also provide a level of comfort being in White spaces, as well as a legitimate claim to my own "whiteness." Yet, in broader society, my identification as being White was negated, as my blackness superseded any other racial classification. Thus, exploring the notion of "race" becomes troubled in relation to identity, and in my case, it necessitates a denial or at least refusal of the part of my identity that is White. Hence, understanding the role of "whiteness" in Canadian society is valuable to reveal how it maintains a privileged position, and how it is often obscured in discourses of "race" and sport.

2.3.3 Sport and "Whiteness"

Further to the notion of "race," I became aware of that which was in an oppositional relationship to my blackness: "whiteness." In the context of Canada, the notion of "whiteness" is inextricably connected with Canada's colonial legacy, whereby dominant culture was violently imposed on existing Indigenous Peoples. This colonizing force becomes salient in interrogating the sport of curling as its structures (via clubs) and its proliferation has been tightly linked with settler expansion, associated Victorian values, and British ancestry (Pezer, 2003). The role of colonialism will be discussed in more detail later in this chapter; however, it is the implication of

"whiteness" emanating from Canada's colonial legacy, and the privilege it continues to endow that will be the focus for this section. Accordingly, decolonizing theories are of particular value as they identify how "race" was used within the colonial project and how the concept of White emerged in relation to the Othering of Black. As Mignolo (2005) wrote:

The rule of colonial difference structured modern/colonial power in one specific way: racism operated not as a question of skin color, but as a way of ranking human beings and as a means of taking away their human dignity. (p. 384)

Moreover, in *Black Skins, White Masks*, Frantz Fanon (1952) wrote about this relational accounting of Othering: "[o]ntology does not allow us to understand the being of the black man, since it ignores the lived experience... For not only must the black man be black; he must be black in relation to the white man" (p. 90). Thus, the notion of "whiteness" requires critical understanding to uncover its operations in our present-day society and its expressions through dominant culture(s), including sport.

Within cultural studies, examining "whiteness" has led to the development of two particularly influential ideas: White privilege and White supremacy. In relation to White privilege, "whiteness" becomes a means to express being part of dominant society and hegemonic systems that not only reinforce such privilege but also normalize and naturalize White as the true form of humanity, against which all others are juxtaposed. Long and Hylton (2002) cast the role of "whiteness" and dominance as follows:

The processes of defining a white identity, however, are rather different because of the dominance of whiteness in our society. The discursive power that is embodied through the 'discourse of othering'... causes whiteness to be 'inside', 'included', 'powerful', the 'we', the 'us', the 'answer' as opposed to the problem, and most important of all, unspoken. (p. 89)

Hence, "whiteness" as a reified centre becomes taken-for-granted and normative, and assumes a natural state where "whiteness" is afforded a privilege whereby it is not necessary to define: "white skin privilege affords racial obliviousness" (Bonds & Inwood, 2016, p. 717). Bonds and Inwood (2016) called attention to the simultaneous invisibility and ubiquity of "whiteness" as a racial non-position, such that the notion of 'race' is applied almost exclusively to non-white people: "[i]t reveals how whiteness acts as the unseen, normative category against which differently racialized groups are ordered and valued" (Bonds & Inwood, 2016, p. 717). However, the notion of White privilege has been critiqued as insufficient to understanding the systemic inequality that continues to shape a system that affirms qualities of "whiteness" (Bonds & Inwood, 2016; C. King et al., 2007; Long & Hylton, 2002). Thus, the privilege afforded to "whiteness" maintains a structural disadvantage for non-White people.

Furthermore, as Bonds and Inwood (2016) theorized, employing the concept of privilege was insufficient to understand the role "whiteness" holds in society, and the notion of White supremacy should be used instead, believing that "privilege and racism were just symptoms [that] indicated a more insidious issue" (p. 720). The systems of dominance that reinforce the centrality of "whiteness" in Canadian society bestow privilege and continue to disenfranchise non-White groups. Thus, it is difficult to

imagine redressing inequities with changes that fail to address the position that "whiteness" continues to be afforded. Moreover, Bonds and Inwood (2016) posited that moving beyond a focus on privilege requires interrogating the systemic dimensions of "whiteness":

The concept of white supremacy forcefully calls attention to the brutality and dehumanization of racial exploitation and domination that emerges from settler colonial societies... An emphasis on white supremacy rather than white privilege is more than just semantics... Rather, white supremacy more precisely describes and locates white racial domination by underscoring the material production and violence of racial structures and the hegemony of whiteness in settler societies. (p. 716)

Thus, conceiving of diversity in relation to "race," "whiteness," and dominance requires a greater degree of interrogation of a colonial past, and how it continues to reinforce privilege and dominance. Thus, dealing with the role of "whiteness" in Canada requires scrutiny of our social institutions, including sport.

Modeling criticism turning on "whiteness" dislodges discourses of "race" beyond the perspectives of people who have been marginalized. In particular, it engages a discourse that accounts for the role of dominant forms that often remain invisible in discussions of "race" and racism. By the same token, "whiteness" and its influence within sport systems *produce* racialization and the impacts it has on people who have been marginalized. As King, Leonard, and Kusz (2007) noted, "sporting worlds afford media and fans alike powerful sites within which to account for and make sense of race

and racism" (p. 7). Additionally, Long and Hylton (2002) called for scholars to continue working with the subject matter:

Examining 'whiteness' more closely should allow researchers to make it visible and open to discussion and challenge. Moreover, an understanding of its construction generates the possibility of a clearer understanding of the processes and practices of racism, hence a better chance of disrupting them. (p. 100)

Furthermore, King (2005) called for renewed vigilance toward exploring "whiteness" as a construct in sport, and away from some of the overused terminology currently in fashion: "but rather than speak of whiteness, sport scholars have talked about race, racism, and racialization using terms like stratification, prejudice, exclusion, bias, oppression, and dominance" (p. 400).

Reframing the discourse of "race" to include "whiteness" opens up space for a critique of privilege and power from the dominant centre, rather than always from the location of the relational outsider. It helps draw attention to the systems implicated in its sustained dominance, and also challenges perceptions of equality that rely on a neutral place in supposedly colour-blind societies (Apfelbaum et al., 2012; Cho et al., 2018; Plaut et al., 2018). The next section furthers the discussion by assessing how multiculturalism is an essential tenet of Canadian policy as well as its implications for sport.

2.3.4 Sport and Multiculturalism

Canada's national policy promotes "multiculturalism"¹ as a fundamental and positive quality of its historical legacy. Canada's ratification of the Multiculturalism Act in 1971 (updated in 1988) codified an ideology valuing the contributions of multiple ethnic groups in the formation, development, and future of Canada (Government of Canada, 1988). As such, multiculturalism has been upheld in the mandates of sport bodies in Canada (Day, 2000; Frisby et al., 2013; Kidd, 2013b, 2013d).

Sport Canada promotes a vision of sport where access and opportunities to participate are open to all Canadians (Sport Canada, 2008, 2016a). However, the continued inequity of access to sport has caused criticism to be leveled against a colourblind multiculturalism that, some have argued, has yet to live up to its promise (Y. Brown, 2008; Day, 2000; Frisby, 2014). Further, national institutions are expected to advocate for and produce mandates to ensure sport is accessible for all Canadians. This involves ideals of multiculturalism, whereby access also guarantees support for diversity in the access to opportunities and provision of sport (Kidd, 2013c; Sport Canada, 2016a). However, sport in Canada still suffers problems of inequality that are further complicated by sport systems with a White, Eurocentric legacy. The following

¹ Multiculturalism is a term used to describe multiple cultures operating in harmony (Bannerji, 2000; Day, 2000). However, this is conflicted in the context of Canada, as Western European culture dominates Canadian society (Fish, 1997). It is important to leave this terminology intact related to sport, as it is core principle guiding access to participation (C. Harris, 2001; Hatzigeorgiadis et al., 2013). Yet it should also be looked at with skepticism and contested, which is beyond the scope of this project.

section provides a brief review of how the notion of multiculturalism has been taken up in sport with a view to understanding its impacts on diversity.

Federal ministries and institutions, including Sport Canada, uphold acceptance and celebration of cultural diversity as core values. Inclusivity and access for all Canadians to participate in sport are guiding principles: "[t]he mission of Sport Canada is to enhance opportunities for all Canadians to participate and excel in sport" (Sport Canada, 2016b). Sport Canada represents a system of sport development promoting both grassroots and elite development, where all Canadians have access to sport, whether that be at the local club or the international, high-performance level: "[o]ur sport system allows Canadians from all segments of society to get involved in sport activities at all levels and in all forms of participation" (Sport Canada, 2016a). The expressed motivation proclaims: "[f]rom childhood to adulthood, sport is part of a healthy, active lifestyle" (Sport Canada, 2016a). As sport embodies (or is meant to embody) the values and beliefs sewn into the notion of multiculturalism, it also becomes of a site for critical analysis.

The notion of multiculturalism is fraught with challenges, which problematize the efficacy of promoting other ethnicities and cultures within the context of a national identity. Official mandates are designed to promote racial tolerance, acceptance of immigrant cultures, and inclusivity of racialized ethnicities. However, the result may produce effects that in fact increase discrimination, ethnic separation, and reification of racial classification. One criticism relates to how multiculturalism fosters an essentialized view of racial and ethnic characteristics in order to separate different

cultures within society. As Wilton et al. (2019) argued, multicultural approaches tend to reinforce an essentializing position on racial classification: "multiculturalism reinforces the belief that racial differences reflect not only a valid and consequential – *but essential* – human difference" [emphasis in original] (p. 682). Further, Plaut et al. (2018) also recognized that policies promoting multiculturalism had more beneficial outcomes related to racial tolerance, but indicated tensions that arise as "dominant, white culture is threatened" (p. 203) and lead to adherence to stereotypes and caricatures of ethnic and racial minorities (p. 204). Thus, the normative or essentializing effects of multicultural policies need to consider how "race" is addressed as a method of classification.

Additionally, Nakamura and Donnelly (2017) noted that examining multiculturalism in relation to barriers to participation, and the multiplicity of identity were valuable in the discourses of sport and diversity (p. 112). Further, Taylor and Toohey (1998) investigated the relationships among sport participation, ethnicity and barriers to inclusion for women in Australia. Their research pointed to continued gender inequality in participation, as "[p]articipation data indicate that females in general have lower participation rates in sport than males" (p. 76). They noted that the structural barriers to participation for ethnic groups paralleled those facing the general population; however, ethnic groups continued to experience inequality in access:

There is a need for many mainstream sport providers to change or adapt their current methods of operation. The system at present is designed primarily to meet the needs of Anglo-Australian males, while women from

ethnically diverse backgrounds appear to be at the bottom of the priority list. (T. Taylor & Toohey, 1998, p. 85)

Taylor and Toohey recognized that while multiculturalism was supported as an underlying ethos, and access was officially open to all, the opportunities offered still focused on delivery that was based on White, Eurocentric models, as "[e]xisting sporting structures and institutions promote the obsolete ethos of assimilation, rather than providing opportunities for cultural diversity, cultural identity and social justice" (T. Taylor & Toohey, 1998, p. 88). The potential for structural barriers erected by national policy was echoed by Frisby (2014), who noted that the implementation of such mandates can be problematic "at the provincial, regional, and local levels" (p. 356). Further, Lee and Funk (2011) pointed to acculturation practices being challenging as the emphasis always defaulted to assimilation into dominant cultures (p. 12). Thus, the implementation of multicultural policies must recognize the difficulty in fitting marginalized, racialized minorities, who already experience discrimination based on their physical appearance, into existing sport structures.

Pertaining to "race" and immigration, C.L.R. James (1963) considered sport in Britain as the setting for practices of assimilation and conformity, as well as a location to identify discrimination, inequality, and racism affecting non-White participants. Yet in the same text, there was a celebration of sport, its transformative qualities, and its capacity to create a hero (C. James, 1963). His work shows the contradiction in sport, where it serves to valorize athletic accomplishments in a society that continues to deny Black people their inalienable rights. Further, although Black athletes did compete in

sport, their opportunities were limited and they were subjected to abuse and discrimination. Additionally, Raman (2015) traced the diasporic effects of sport in the South Asian community in Britain. The research, in this case, centred on cricket, and the complex negotiations participants of South Asian background undertook both to identify with a new life in Britain while maintaining (and enhancing) connections to their country of origin's heritage; "cricket also became a way of narrating diasporic selves, complex identities that expressed transnational linkages and routings. For many, the sport made their migrant worlds 'homely'" (p. 227). This research was reminiscent of Carrington's (1998) examination of Caribbean Blacks in Britain. He noted that Blacks needed to balance their belonging as British citizens, and their celebration of their cultural past (Carrington, 1998).

Moreover, Carrington (2015) called on scholars to engage in the notion of diaspora, "[t]hinking about questions of identity and race through the conceptual lens of diaspora has enabled critical race scholars to problematize the often Eurocentric and teleological underpinnings of globalization theory" (p. 394). Importantly, Ramen, C. L. R. James, and Carrington all cast sport as a microcosm of society, where social issues, such as "race," discrimination, and oppression could be illustrated in a simple, accessible, universal context familiar to most people. Further, the role of the sport club as a location where social issues come into resolution was important to contextualize their research in "race" and multiculturalism. Thus, the above-mentioned research is relevant to a study of curling, as the club setting serves as a site to interrogate issues of inequity, such as diversity.

For curling, there is both a moral and financial impetus to embrace multicultural ideals, thereby encouraging a more diverse membership. Weimar (2015) indicated membership as a significant financial driver for sport clubs through payment and fees, as well as federal government support based on membership numbers (p. 418). As many sports and sport clubs are experiencing a decline in participation (Casper & Stellino, 2008; Statistics Canada, 2011a), non-traditional populations, including new immigrants and/or people of colour, are seen as a potential growth area for membership, especially if they have been underrepresented thus far. As such, Spaaij's (2018) study on diversity in sport clubs pointed to declining membership and the influx of new immigrants in particular neighbourhoods as an impetus for clubs to seek out programs to engage diversity as a means to "counter attrition and decline" (p. 284). Ultimately, Spaaij's (2014) research identified a business case for diversity, as sport clubs looked to encourage diversity for internal reasons, rather than for the sake of a moral good (p. 355). Noon (2007) pointed to the liabilities of implementing diversity policy solely as a business consideration, as just focusing on a financial benefit lessened or removed the moral justification to address "issues of diversity and equality of opportunity" (p. 781).

Thus, scholars have identified how addressing issues related to diversity in sport, moral values and beliefs, such as equal access and multiculturalism, may not be necessarily altruistic in application, as self-interest and financial stability may fuel movement toward a more diverse membership. As sport and sport clubs consider programs to address inequalities, historical factors may also be important considerations in assessing how barriers to access persist. The next section discusses the relationship of

sport and diversity, examining the legacy of colonialism in relation to "whiteness" and "race."

2.3.5 Sport and Colonialism

As noted previously, curling's legacy is tied with the expansion of settlements throughout Canada, especially in the West (Pezer, 2003). The connection of curling's tradition and values with the Victorian origins of early settlers has been discussed previously. However, as Bonds and Inwood (2016) identified, certain countries, such as Canada, Australia, and the United States, have not experienced decolonization, and practiced and continue to practice a colonization that is violent and repressive, yet remain affixed to notions of "settler colonialism" (Bonds & Inwood, 2016, p. 716). It is the imagining of a vacant land where settlers tamed their environment as an idyllic notion of Canada's heritage that erases the violence, racism, and discriminatory repression of Indigenous Peoples in Canada. As such, the institutions that maintain Canada's dominant culture, including sport, are not only tethered to that settler colonial legacy, but also to notions of "whiteness":

As a project of empire enabled by white supremacy, settler colonialism is theoretically, politically, and geographically distinct from colonialism. Rather than emphasizing imperial expansion driven primarily by militaristic or economic purposes, which involves the departure of the colonizer, settler colonialism focuses on the permanent occupation of a territory and removal of indigenous peoples with the express purpose of building an ethnically distinct national community. (Bonds & Inwood, 2016, p. 716)

Moreover, in *Black Skin, White Masks*, Fanon (1952) wrote about the Othering that occurred as part of the colonial project, whereby his identity, worth, and categorization as Black were all in relation to the White colonial Other. For Fanon (1952), hidden within "whiteness" was the assumed privilege and superiority to categorize and demonize the non-White: "[1]et us have the courage to say: *It is the racist who creates the inferiorized*" [emphasis in original] (p. 73). Further, Lopez (2005a) noted that "whiteness" persisted as a "cultural norm for colonial societies," whereby its status solidified the position of White as superior: "[it] is their common dependence upon – and complicity with – the ideology of whiteness, or more specifically of white (hence Western) superiority" (p. 4). In Canada, that superiority of "whiteness" is in a relationship of mutual dependence with settler colonialism (McClintock, 1992).

The alignment of "whiteness" within a colonial heritage masks the racism, the removal, relocation and cultural genocide of Indigenous Peoples, and the privileging of White, Eurocentric culture in Canada. Thus, "whiteness" offers a conceptual tool to interrogate dominant culture and colonial heritage in an effort to decolonize sport. Researchers may identify the perpetuation of barriers or limitations to inclusion aided by the role of "whiteness" in Canadian society. For example, Mignolo (2005) considered "race" the critical concern within the colonial project: "[t]he basic assumptions are the following: the modern/colonial world is structured by the colonial matrix of power, and that colonial matrix of power has race (in the sense of racism) and not class (in the sense of classism), as the key concept that enables and justifies oppression and exploitation" (p. 382). Thus, the discourse of "whiteness" not only

opens up discussions of Canada's settler legacy, but also accounts for the inherent notion of "race."

The reliance on the wholesome images and tropes of a settler legacy in Canada distracts from the reality of an intentional invasion, purveyed via the myth of an empty landscape, as "empty land can be settled, but occupied land can only be invaded. So the land must be emptied so that it can be filled, in turn, with both discourse and cattle" (Lawson, 1995, p. 3). Further, McClintock (1992) theorized "[t]he United States, South Africa, Australia, Canada, and New Zealand, remain, in my view, breakaway settler colonies that have not undergone decolonization, nor, with the exception of South Africa, are they likely to in the near future" (p. 89). Thus, Reconciliation requires Canada to grapple with the messiness of its distorted legacy in relation to cultural forms, such as sport. Grande (2004) noted that awareness and recognition are unsatisfactory end goals, as colonialism continues to permeate everyday life:

Despite these achievements and the overall aim of *recognition* to fetter the damage of *non*recognition... such models ultimately sustain colonial systems of power and undermine Indigenous sovereignty by keeping intact the asymmetric relations of power whereby the dominant agent (settler state) retains the authority to "recognize" the subjugated polity (Indigenous peoples). [emphasis in original] (p. 6)

Thus, awareness and recognition, such as public and ceremonial statements of acknowledgement of land rights for Indigenous Peoples is insufficient to address the wider repression that continues to characterize colonialism in Canada (Grande, 2004; Mignolo & Escobar, 2010).

Paraschak's (1989, 1990, 1997, 2014), research on "race," sport, and Indigeneity has been highly critical of existing Indigenous sport research in Canada and the United States, as it has intentionally neglected the discourse of decolonialization, which would ensure "all aspects of the All-Indian system are in the hands of native people. They can thus choose the type of competitive format they prefer - be it invitational or league structure" (Paraschak, 1990, p. 75). Hence, decolonization would represent full and complete control over Aboriginal sport, in all capacities. Yet the notion of Canadian decolonialization is further by an official stance of multiculturalism where governmental policy, generations of immigration, and its embrace of multiculturalism as part of the national character (Day, 2000; Goldberg, 2002; Venn, 2000), but continue to deny the full expression of Indigenous sovereignty and self-expression. As Fanon argued, the process of decolonization must be violent and encompassing, as "decolonization is quite simply the substitution of one 'species' of mankind by another.... [t]he substitution is unconditional, absolute, total, and seamless" (Fanon, 1961, p. 2). Thus, there is need to deconstruct Canada's narrative about its past and its settler heritage as it becomes a contentious site denoted by repressive forces subjugating Indigenous Peoples. Canada's on-going relationship with First Nations, Métis, and Inuit is fraught with historical subjugation, continued oppression, and limited resolution. As such, viewing Canada as decolonized is misleading (J. Armstrong & Ng, 2005). Perhaps there is need to consider of Fanon's view that true decolonization cannot occur without the violent upheaval of colonialism, and what would that mean for Canada. Lastly, French Canada's self-representation as a distinct and founding nation within Canada

further complicates equity amongst "multiple" cultures and intentions of honouring distinct cultural legacies (Day, 2000).

In relation to sport in general and curling in particular, tradition must be critically examined to expose lingering malignant effects. For curling, as Pezer (2003) noted "[t]he real growth of curling on the Prairies coincided with the surge in settlement that occurred after Manitoba became a province in 1870, but the seeds of the game were sown much earlier.... [s]ome references mention curling in the Red River settlement from early in the century" (p. 2). However, there is no mention of the significance of this related to the encroachment on Indigenous landholdings. Thus, the focus of this inquiry involves examining the connection between curling's past and its present commitment to move towards a vision of diversity, within a context of colonialism. As with much of Canadian society today, the lingering effects of colonialism are chronic, and cannot be disassociated from ongoing manifestations within our cultural expressions, including sport.

Furthermore, the intersection of "race" and colonialism for people of colour is an area that requires more research. Often, overarching narratives of American slavery dominate discourses (Hylton, 2009) along with Canada's subjugation of Indigenous Peoples in Canada (Grande, 2004; Paraschak, 1989, 1995a). This configuration of "race" and colonialism is also complicated by the viewpoint that "people of colour" are also settlers (Lawrence & Dua, 2005). Indeed, and as Lawrence and Dua (2005) noted, there has been a remarkable lack of appreciation of the complex situation, whereby

Black people benefitted materially from the results of colonialism, and simultaneously experienced oppression at the hands of the colonizers:

[Academia]...fails to explore how the ongoing colonization of Aboriginal peoples shapes contemporary modes of 'race' and racism in settler nations (including those in the Caribbean, where people of African and Asian descent have established political authority). Rather, the relationship between colonialism and the articulation of 'race' is limited to the ways in which the colonial past is rearticulated in the present. (p. 128)

Conversely, Sharma (2008) critiques the recognition of "people of colour" as complicit in the colonial project. The relationship of people of colour and early colonialism has been problematic, as the oppressive forces used in colonialization that subjugated Indigenous Peoples also directed repressive and discriminatory actions against other racialized people (Carrington, 1998; S. Hall, 1996; Sharma & Wright, 2008).

Although Black history vis-à-vis colonialism in Canada has been broadly explored by scholars (Day, 2000; Fleras, 2014; Henry, 2000; Mensah, 2002), little attention has been given to the complication of Black migration and Indigeneity in Canada. Further, as movement towards Reconciliation has brought attention to Indigenous struggles and the troubled colonial legacy of Canada (Cairnie, 2019; Paraschak, 2015; Sharma & Wright, 2008), efforts to decolonize Canadian society must recognize additional complexities in relation to other ethnicities, further troubling an already contentious situation (Ministry of Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada, 2019a, 2019b). As such, using sport as a conceptual tool may offer insights and a fresh setting for exploration. Thus far, within the discourses of colonialism, "race" and racism

are often neglected as characteristic of the colonial project beyond considerations of Indigenous Peoples (Bonds & Inwood, 2016; Long & Hylton, 2002).

The previous three sections have contemplated the intersections of sport and culture, the community sport club, and sport and diversity. The discourses span tradition, national identity, multiculturalism, "race," "whiteness," and colonialism, as well as the implicit conditions thereof. Interdisciplinary analysis troubles boundaries among theoretical viewpoints and shows these boundaries as flexible, permeable, and overlapping. Adhering to a single theory or epistemological perspective introduces a rigidity that this inquiry actively seeks to dislodge. The next section provides a brief overview of poststructuralism as a macro theoretical perspective that underpins the design and practice of the present research inquiry.

2.4 Poststructuralism as Theoretical Underpinning

The following section details tenets from poststructuralism related to notions of subjectivity and multiplicity, furthering and adding more nuance to the discussion concerning identity. Poststructuralism² is employed as a macro-level theory guiding and framing the thinking and understandings of the current research. The philosophical considerations for discourses concerning "posts-" critique previous understandings,

² "Poststructuralism" is used in this context to refer to a "group of thinkers and perspectives that are loosely organized into a coherent category" (Andrews, 2000), named poststructuralism. Although the collection of poststructural thinkers and theories share some similar tenets, their approaches to the notions of truth, self, meaning, knowledge and power relations are diverse, and largely cannot be reduced to a single categorization (Williams, 2005; Belsey, 2002). The theories and thinkers do not necessarily follow each other; often the commentary from a given thinker serves as a critique of aspects of structuralism and post-positivist scientific pursuits (Lather, 1996, 1993; Whitburn, 2016).

including their epistemological claims to meaning and truth, their structuring of subject/object relations, and their positioning or privileging of human beings. Poststructuralism offers a way to *think differently* (St. Pierre, 2000, 2011) and 'do things differently' (Berbary, 2011; Berbary & Boles, 2014; Lather, 2013) as regards research design, the claims that are made, and 'what becomes of' (Berbary, 2011), especially in its representation(s) of research. Poststructuralism also provides a useful critique of previous theoretical and epistemological assertions, aiming not to replace or supplant them, but rather to open them up so researchers can reach new, valuable understandings that add to existing discourses (Berbary & Boles, 2014; St. Pierre, 2011).

Scholars identified as poststructuralist are diverse and offer a variety of philosophical perspectives. Poststructuralism explores the onto-epistemological relations questioning "what things are" (Berbary, 2017; Butler, 2011; St. Pierre, 2000; Ahmed, 1998), as well as how human beings understand the world or epistemology (Belsey, 2002; Barad, 2003; Davis, 2004). It is this emphasis on onto-epistemological contentions that makes poststructuralism so valuable within this research context. It helps us to catch sight of and dislodge our assumptions and engage in new (re)framings of often well-studied subject matter (St. Pierre, 2011; Lather, 1993). The following discussion is organized into two parts. First, relevant tenets taken up by poststructural thinkers are introduced. The second part suggests ways poststructuralism was used in the current inquiry into sport and culture, and in its examination of organizational culture through participants' subjectivities.

2.4.1 Introduction to Poststructuralism

Poststructuralism emerged as a multiplicity: a vast array of theories and critiques expressed as reactions or challenges to – or indications of perceived limitations to – structural theories (Coakley, 2007; Andrews, 2000). Such a varied body of scholarship makes trying to articulate a consistent or definitive taxonomy of "poststructural theory" unproductive. However, there are a number of tenets commonly associated with this set of theories. Poststructural thinking emphasizes the tension inherent to subjectivity, the importance of language as a cultural form, and the *practice* of deconstruction to displace commonly held notions of stable meanings, value, or essential truth. St. Pierre notes, "[p]oststructuralism offers critiques of the scientistic pretensions of structural tendencies in all disciplines – linguistics, anthropology, psychology, economics, and so forth" (St. Pierre, 2011, p. 616). Poststructuralism is not a denial of structure; rather, it seeks to question the naturalized assumption that all structures have a quality that is beyond what is perceived from the interactions, environment, and cultural forms that interact on them (Lather, 1996; St. Pierre, 2000, 2011). It arose as a critique of the Structuralist thinking proposed by notable scholars such as Levi-Strauss, Habermas, and Saussure (Habermas & Lawrence, 2007; Kelly et al., 1994).

Within Structuralist philosophies, "meaning" was assigned an essential or universal truth derived from the essence of a given object (Kaufmann, 2011; Lévi-Strauss, 1984). This normative attribution could be wholly accessed through objective observation. Poststructural thinking troubled the notion of essential meaning and challenged the idea that meaning was somehow stored in a reified object – a tendency

for Humanistic thinking (Besnier & Brownell, 2012; Habermas & Lawrence, 2007; S. Hall, 2011). As St. Pierre (2013) recounted, normalizing objects allowed for categorization and characterization of the observed world. Dominion over the process of assignment amounted to power, as whoever controlled categorization controlled its meaning:

Their identity politics [western epistemological projects] were often grounded in essentialist descriptions of gender, race, sexuality, and so on and so remained within Enlightenment humanism's enclosure. One of their ['post' theories] first tasks was to recover knowledges of the oppressed that had been suppressed. (p. 648)

Further, notions of gender, race, and sexuality had been fixed, rigid, and permanent via such categorization, with each assigned cultural locations and roles. The tendencies and taken-for-granted meanings thus also relate to the narratives attending our cultural forms, such as in the sport of curling.

However, the poststructural critique of the tendencies of Humanism are not meant as a denial of its use and scope; rather, it is leveled at the normative and essentializing tendency itself (Berbary, 2011; Kaufmann, 2011; St. Pierre, 2000). It is not a condemnation of what has come before, but a call to rethink or bring awareness to how philosophical perspectives have been formed (Foucault & Rabinow, 1984, p. 44). Poststructuralism brings things to the surface, or more aptly, recognizes that everything happens at the surface (Lather & St. Pierre, 2013; St. Pierre, 2000, 2013). There is no deeper truth that can be established or found somehow outside that which is under

consideration, and as such, it is the intentions, power relations, and interactions among individuals that provide meaning as a relational exercise. It is the becoming of meaning, rather than the stability of meaning or the question of whether it is really *real*, that is of interest. It is the act of deconstructing with a critical eye, in order to rework constructs and meanings (Berbary, 2017), and is perhaps one of the most useful practices that poststructural thinking provides to all research and analysis (Kumm & Berbary, 2018; Belsey, 2002).

The 'taken-for-granted-ness' central to Structuralism and post-positivist inquiry could now be opened up by interrogating its assumptions and commonly held beliefs around meaning, knowledge, and truth (Andrews, 2000; Belsey, 2002). Additionally, poststructuralism posits that *structure* is not objectively observable; rather, it can be apprehended through human experience (St. Pierre, 2011; Guttorm et al., 2015). Poststructuralism uses the subject's own relationships and ways-of-knowing to bring structures "to the surface" (St. Pierre, 2013, p. 649), to show a facet of the whole, from a single individual perspective that can illuminate the structure's entirety, "thereby flattening assumed hierarchies, allowing structures to become visible and known" (Foucault & Gordon, 1980, p. 114). Poststructuralism seeks to break those privileges apart in order to destabilize power relations and redress their imbalances through a critical treatment of where, who, and why such privileges were given – or taken – originally.

2.4.2 Poststructural Thinking in Sport and Culture

Poststructural theories provide a useful philosophical frame through which cultural forms – language, customs, behaviours – can be identified, and the structures that hold them in place can be interrogated (Bell, 1998; Linstead, 2004; St. Pierre, 2011). Notably, language is used to construct cultures, form tradition, and preserve legacy. As such, the language used in the description of sport culture may appear positive, well intentioned, and beneficial. However, deconstruction of this language can expose unintentional silences or hidden meanings. Further, each individual perspective contains aspects important in understanding the whole structure. The whole cannot be understood separately from or outside those experiences, and therefore, each unique position contributes value to the discourse. Further, each unique experience is subjective yet complete, more like a facet of a diamond.

When combined, the assemblage of experiences offers a richer depiction of the structure. For example, each participant's experiences help to form a more complete grasp of the cultural forms that are present in the case of the curling club. As such, valuing personal experiences and the subjective understandings each person maintains helps to dislodge the privilege of research knowledge by elevating what 'they' know or experience to show 'what is'. Interrogating accepted truths while valuing personal perspectives helps to examine the institutions associated with the sport. It questions the permanency and necessity of legacy and its role in perpetuating power relations aligned with hegemony.

Troubling Dominance in Sport

Poststructural thinking has proven useful in exploring subjectivities – gender, sexuality, race, class, or ability – in sport. In sport, social constructs are relevant insofar as binary designations rely on incomplete assurances of essential truth. The regulatory bodies of sport, which enforce the rules governing participation, divide sport activities into male and female. However, enforced gender categorizations are neither precise nor permanent. Further, self-identification on the matter is largely disregarded, forcing many individuals to choose to participate as a gender that does not represent their identity. As Larsson (2014) highlighted:

If objects, in all their materiality, cannot be separated from the formal frameworks through which we come to know them... then regulatory gender separation in competitive sport contributes to the materialisation of sex differences, sexed bodies and embodied gendered subjectivities, as well as to the hierarchical order between genders. (p. 12)

Indeed, sport scholars have demonstrated various degrees of willingness to tackle unsettling tensions and conflicts within the field. The critical intersections of multiple identities, genders, and sexualities introduce complexities that poststructuralism can help to open, creating new discursive and critical examinations.

Poststructuralism is the theoretical base that frames and delineates the approach to the entire research process for the current inquiry. As theory, it informs not only the methodology, but also the analysis and design of the representation. As a way of thinking, it helped with my comprehension of "race" and how I could reconcile not only being bi-racial but also being transracially adopted. I began the project with an

expectation that I might erase remove myself, and my complexity from the process. "If I don't engage in the question of 'race', I thought, I don't have to step into the troubled topics of 'race' and identity." However, poststructural thinking allowed me to explore the complexity of identity, whereby I straddle the onto-epistemological greyness between a world socially constructed, and one describing "what things are."

For me, the orthodoxy of prevailing Race Theories was insufficient to account for the complexity of identity, or rather my multiple identities. However, poststructural thinking accounted for notions of subjectivity and multiplicity (Butler, 1992, 2006; St. Pierre, 2011). Social Construction allowed political forms to be solid enough to be used as means to address social ills (S. Hall, 1989, 1997). However, I struggled with identity politics; it still felt constricting, even though there was an understanding that categorizations of "race" were troubled, incomplete, and contested (Delgado & Stefancic, 1997; Ladson-Billings, 1998; Omi & Winant, 2015). Poststructural thinking opened up possibilities as to how we, as researchers, might account for the methods being used, claims being made, and knowledge being formed:

Poststructuralism, then, permits – even invites or incites – us to reflect on our method and to explore new ways of knowing... it directs us to understand ourselves reflexively as person writing from particular positions at specific times... it frees us from trying to write a single text in which everything is said at once to everyone. (Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005, p. 962)

Thus, this inquiry is neither purely poststructural, nor socially constructed. There is a "hybridity of epistemologies" (Goldberg, 2002, p. 30) that encourages ambiguity,

Troubling Dominance in Sport

tension, and questioning. That freedom assumed a frame to look at my identities, my

"race," my position, and myself *differently*.

3.0 Methodology

The design of this research project centres on the use and analysis of narrative. It interrogates and relays the knowledge gained from personal experiences in the context of curling. Thus, the methodology employs qualitative inquiry to structure the collection, analysis, and representation. Further, qualitative inquiry demonstrates an active space to lead provocative, innovative research that challenges practice and disrupts entrenched scholarship (Berbary, 2011; Clandinin & Connelly, 2000; Denzin, 2000, 2008, 2017; A. Jackson, 2013; St. Pierre, 2000). Within qualitative inquiry, the use of narrative challenges traditional forms of knowledge creation, as the story offers a construct where meaning forms relations among storyteller, inquirer, and finally the intended audience. Thus, our understandings are extended through layered reinterpretations, where insights are offered in multiple interactions throughout the course of the research. The inquiry's purpose is to explore curlers' experiences and situate those experiences within a critical investigation of curling club culture(s); narrative inquiry offered an exciting approach to gather these accounts through stories. My inquiry also draws from scholars, such as Elizabeth St. Pierre, whose legacies have reshaped qualitative inquiry, offering novel approaches that open up scholarship to add new voices to our understandings (Berbary & Boles, 2014; Lather, 1996; Lather & St. Pierre, 2013; Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005; St. Pierre, 2000). Using narrative inquiry approaches qualitative research differently and offers an innovative way to understand the roles of dominance and of diversity by accessing and understanding participant experiences through story.

Troubling Dominance in Sport

As a researcher, I was confronted by my own background, and how best to account for my "race" and upbringing. I found the political ramifications of "race" were reductive, restrictive, and problematic in relation to my upbringing. Subsequently, I found the tenets of poststructuralism to better align with my notions of identity, where subjectivity, multiplicity and contextual relations could better express my situation. As such, the inquiry was informed by understandings of "race" through Stuart Hall (1997, 1996, 1998), Kevin Hylton (2005, 2009), and Ben Carrington (1998, 2008, 2010, 2015), who provided a solid grounding in the issues related to racial inequality as played out in society and sport. However, I also relied on poststructural thinkers to inform an approach wherein the complexity of identity construction could be considered (Butler, 2003, 2006; St. Pierre, 2000) and qualitative methodologies could be troubled (Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005; St. Pierre, 2011, 2018).

Goldberg (2002) wrote about straddling the epistemological line and submitted that "[e]pistemological hybridity suggests new forms of thinking, new categories of knowing rather than resting (in)secure in settled ways of seeing and comprehending the world" (p. 30). For this inquiry, I borrowed this approach in order to reconcile aspects troubling my perspective on scholarship, and a method to explore internal tensions and challenges about myself and my role as inquirer. Goldberg's "epistemological hybridity" suggests an approach to reconcile onto-epistemological liabilities of "race," subjectivity, relational formations of identity, and my own relationship to dominant cultures. I placed myself firmly within the inquiry, as "poststructuralism is a practice...

[i]t is not about abstract arguments or detached observations, but about a practical expression of the limits in a given core" (Williams, 2005, p. 6).

The inquiry design, although influenced by poststructural thinking, was structured using traditional methods for qualitative data collection. However, analysis and representation were areas that lent themselves to creative approaches such as performance text as a means to do things differently. Throughout the inquiry, I approached the process in an iterative and reflexive manner, whereby each interview informed the analysis, and analysis and interpretations were in turn integrated into subsequent interviews. These methodological considerations disrupt the traditional relationship between researcher and participant by challenging the nature of our association. For me, the participants were the architects of the inquiry; they were "provocateurs" (St. Pierre, 2011, p. 620). It was through their accounts that the content emerged. My role was to analyze their experiences and rework the themes, tensions, and desires into a format that would be compelling for scholars and the general public.

The use of creative practices opens up traditional ways of knowing toward new possibilities for analysis and representation. Berbary and Boles (2014) suggested creative practices as a vital part of disruption that leads to social change:

[N]ewer approaches have allowed us to be more inclusive; have provided more accessible representations; have illuminated the need for and provide suggestions for social justice and social change; and have opened up traditions that have previously shut down definitions of research, science,

truth, and knowledge in ways that are less than useful in our communities, societies, cultures, and existences. (p. 402)

Therefore, although the participant accounts provided a rich source of collective knowledge concerning the socio-cultural forms informing curling, their narratives also indicated alignment with dominant and hegemonic structures that preserve privilege, often difficult to see and even harder to dislodge (Gittings, 1995; Lawson, 1995, 2004; Sharma & Wright, 2008). The use of performance text, as a creative analytic approach, is highly productive in exploring issues within curling related to dominance and inclusivity from the perspectives brought by the participants. The participants' stories about their experience in curling opened up unique perspectives related to dominant culture, and broader narratives or meta-narratives about sport, culture, and diversity (Gittings, 1995; Kim, 2013; Trinh, 1989).

This chapter provides an outline of the steps taken in the inquiry. It begins with an overview of the methodology, narrative inquiry, which structured the design followed by a description of the specific methods deployed in the inquiry. Personal narratives were the primary source for the inquiry, collected through interviews with all participants. The interviews were mostly free-flowing, introducing a freedom for the participants to offer their authentic accounts of and insights on their connection to curling. Detailed analytical processing of the participants' stories resulted in the production of a creative form referred to as performance text, which represents the findings of the study. Each of these methodological considerations are described in more detail in the next section.

3.1 Narrative Inquiry

Narrative inquiry is concerned with the *narrative* as an expression of lived phenomena (Pinnegar & Daynes, 2007). Clandinin (2007) wrote about the use of narrative inquiry as a methodological approach to understanding how an articulation of one's life may be examined to reveal deeper insights into broader societal arrangements:

We are the storytelling species. Storytelling is in our blood. We think in story form, speak in story form, and bring meaning to our lives through story. Our life stories connect us to our roots, give us direction, validate our experience, and restore values to our lives. (p. 225)

As such, narrative inquiry has a compelling appeal for research, particularly qualitative inquiry, as it supports the analysis of peoples' stories. In sport research, narratives as a primary form of investigation have been used by scholars such as C.L.R. James (1989), Douglas (2009; Douglas & Carless, 2015), Spencer (2012) and Popovic (2010, 2012a, 2012b). Narrative inquiry allows for exploration of narrative as data, and for the practice of collection to be a space where language and meaning are produced (Chase, 2005). Narrative inquiry lends itself to a critically discursive analysis of story, as portrayals of lived experience are revealed layer by layer, showing details in the story itself, as well as complex meanings through its language and choice of words (Clandinin & Rosiek, 2007; Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). The narrative or story becomes the primary source material for the inquiry (Clandinin & Rosiek, 2007). Through narrative analysis, language is interrogated, and taken-for-granted meanings can be contested. Language has power; language is power (Derrida, 1976). When

language is employed under the sway of dominant discourses, aspects of their authority are reinforced (Derrida, 1976, p. xlv). By deconstructing language and meaning, an avenue of unsettling these permanent forms opens up, and thus they can be dismantled but then reconstituted anew (Derrida, 1976).

I used narrative inquiry as the methodological approach, where participant experiences, expressed through their stories, were the focal point. Their *stories* served not only as informative accounts of personal connections to notions of inclusivity and diversity in curling, but also as broader metaphors illustrating how social themes play out in the face of dominant cultural forms (Pinnegar & Daynes, 2007, p. 5). Additionally, I was interested in how such language helped shape participant values and behaviours, whereby commonly understood words and phrases also indicated deeper, contradictory, or at least more complex meanings that perhaps were not readily apparent (Bellou, 2013; Derrida, 1978). For me, these multiple meanings pointed to locations where power resided (Foucault & Deleuze, 1977, p. 208) and where inequality could be linked back to dominant cultural forms (Derrida, 1976; Spivak, 1976).

It was important to remember that I, as inquirer, was not merely an observer during the interviews, nor was I acting alone during analysis. Both roles were performed in concert with the participant (Clandinin & Rosiek, 2007; Connelly & Clandinin, 1990). Thus, the process honours the participants as co-architects, whose contributions are integral to creating new forms of knowledge and understanding. In this case, narrative inquiry helped to challenge the hierarchy of the 'researcher/researched' (Lather & St. Pierre, 2013; St. Pierre, 2000) as I became a contributor to the inquiry and

not just an objective observer. Further, using performance text, which wove my insights into a form of discussion, troubled the idea that my interpretations, analysis, and insights were somehow objective, separate or removed from the material supplied by participants or from my interactions with them during interview sessions. Thus the stories were reformed, reconstituted, and reshaped into something else, allowing new understandings to surface through the process of writing (Richardson, 2018; Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005; St. Pierre, 2000).

Narrative offered an alternative to traditional scientific methodologies that are often more rigid in the process of collecting, analyzing, and representing. This approach emphasized the story as central, and the construction of performance text as a creative expression of the analysis to offer flexibility in developing and presenting the insights and interpretations of the analysis. This flexibility of the methodological approach was informed by tenets of poststructuralism, which offered a pathway to reconcile multiplicity of my identity, the challenge of language, and the taken-for-granted reification of meaning. The next section discusses relevant tenets of poststructuralism that were employed in the design of the inquiry.

3.2 Poststructuralism as Macro Theoretical Perspective

The introduction to poststructuralism in the Literature Review chapter outlined how poststructuralism can be applied within sport studies as a valuable macro theoretical perspective for research. Furthermore, its tenets invite a critique that contests the rigidity of structure, which often essentializes and gives permanence to the

methodology and interpretations of qualitative inquiry, whereby results become de facto givens devoid of criticism, interrogation, or questioning. The following two sections briefly introduce two tenets that contribute to the overall theoretical perspective underpinning the inquiry: subjectivity and multiplicity, and language and meaning.

3.2.1 Subjectivity and Multiplicity

Poststructuralism introduces noteworthy considerations for human-centred research. Questioning the commonly accepted notions of "self"₃ and "subject" suggests a tension for the research process, as to which participant is actually represented in the process. Does the language used by a participant attend to hidden or presumed meanings? Exploring poststructural thinking concerning notions of self, subjectivity, identity, and "truth" troubles conventional research design and approaches to participant involvement. Subjectivity forms the basis for each individual's relationship to reality, the meanings that are understood, and the social arrangements that are implicated (Bell, 1998; Deleuze, 1991; Dreyfus et al., 1983).

From a poststructural perspective, structures are revealed through a relational, subjective lived experience, which exposes a particular aspect or facet of the entire whole. However, there are questions as to what self or what "subject" is recounting knowledge or understandings (Derrida, 1991, p. 100). The individual experience

³ The following section discusses "self" in order to dislodge Humanistic tendencies to essential the subject. Positioning self within quotations serves as a means to draw attention to its contested understanding. It is assumed that self is always under scrutiny and contested.

exposes the whole of the structure from an individual or subjective point-of-view. Unlike other theoretical perspectives, poststructuralism presumes that a structure can be knowable in its entirety from a subjective position (Berbary, 2017; Andrews, 2000; St. Pierre, 2000). Nothing remains "outside the experience of the individual" and in fact, the structure can only be known through the interactions of human beings in concert (Deleuze & Guattari, 1988, p. 4).

Poststructuralism paves a path of knowing where individuals are not seen only as actors with agency, but also as constructors, where the interactions are within the practice, and substantively form meaning (Belsey, 2002). Poststructuralism offers the perspective that respects participant experience – a relative and momentary event – as a truthful interpretation of the structural influences, bringing the ability to know to the surface experience of the individual (Barad, 2003; Spivak, 1992). Privileging the interactions of individuals and how these relations create meaning helps to dislodge Humanistic tendencies towards a self that is permanent or possessed of an essential nature (Butler, 2010; Derrida, 1991; St. Pierre, 2000).

Poststructuralism accomplishes a shift towards a momentary, relational subject, where interpretations of the self are multiple, performative, and no longer contained solely by subjectivity (Butler, 2010, p. 150). By destabilizing the very notion of self, interactions and artifacts emanating from that self can also be interrogated – in particular its use of language. Thus, the self can be understood as performative and relational, and embedded in each context, which further troubles our conceptualization of the identities with which each self identifies. Identity can be imagined as features

thrust onto the individual (Althusser, 2001), and as a function of the language maintaining that identity. As Mansfield (2000) noted, "[1]anguage, if you like, inhabits the body as the subject... [t]here is no simple individual, operating its body like the ghost in the machine" (p. 44). The question of who the subject is, how is it presented, and how the subject creates meaning presents challenges for research and how methodology is designed to accommodate this tension.

As subjectivity becomes distressed, contested, and deferred, claims of meaning and knowing are also in question: "[s]ubjectivity is attained only at the end of a process which has many complex and dangerous passages... Subjectivity is always, therefore, problematic" (Mansfield, 2000, p. 44). Thus, researching any "subject" is caught between the challenge of re-essentializing a subject as solid, real, or permanent, and the uncertainty that attends to re-presenting that subject (Gibson, 1996; Rusk, 2002). Methodologically, analysis based on categories, themes, and characterizations leads too readily to normalizing individuals, confining them to a few prominent characteristics. As Scott (1991) questioned:

How have categories of representation and analysis – such as class, race, gender, relations of production, biology, identity, subjectivity, agency, experience, even culture – achieved their foundational status? What have been the effects of their articulations? (p. 797)

The deferred identity tests assumptions about what can be known of any person, and what is signified by/in their own experience. As Taylor (2006) stated: "[s]ubject position, can be understood as a temporary identity which is conferred on or taken up by a speaker and which becomes both who she or he is seen to be, by others, and the

perspective from which she or he sees the world" (p. 96). Deconstructing the language of personal narratives reveals, revisits, and redefines our understandings of all stories and our connections to meaning.

3.2.2 Language and Meaning

Another key tenet of postructuralism relevant to this inquiry is its understanding of language and of meanings. Language alludes to history, legacy, and dominance within structures, maintaining taken-for-granted understandings. Through the interrogation of texts, and the language presented, what is missing/absent/invisible alludes to other possibilities contained in what is not said (A. Jackson, 2012, p. 17). The data gathering took into consideration that a participant's accounting of their experience was a fragmented recollection of event. Each participant interpreted, made meaning, and explored interrelations in the recalling of the event that has occurred. Often, the attention to the participant's recollection can be traced to notions of an "authentic voice" (A. Jackson, 2012, p. 4), where the participant's experience represents a *more* faithful account without need for reinterpretation or inscription.

For me, honouring participants' authenticity was central to forming a vibrant, rich, and meaningful performance text. Richardson and St. Pierre (2005) explored the connection of language, writing, and subjectivity. They theorized that language was integral to the construction of subjectivity and identity: "[1]anguage is how social organization and power are defined and contested and the place where one's sense of self – one's subjectivity – is constructed" (p. 962). Further, the subject could not be

Troubling Dominance in Sport

contained as a singular entity; rather, there was multiplicity inherent within an individual's subjective perspective:

The individual is both the site and subject of these discursive struggles for identity and for remaking memory. Because the individual is subject to multiple and competing discourses in many realms, one's subjectivity is shifting and contradictory – not stable, fixed, and rigid. (Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005, p. 962)

Humanist approaches to knowledge and truth assume depth: knowledge can be found outside the individual; a universal or essential "truth" exists, perhaps in the ether (Crotty, 2003b), socially constructed (Burr, 1995), or internally formed as a "natural" inclination or tendency (Freud, 1989). Meaning, knowledge, and "truth" are seen as essential, knowable, and definite (Spivak, 2004, p. 545). However, poststructural notions of "self" disrupt this tendency as the "self" is constituted through subjective, relational, performative activities (A. Jackson, 2004; St. Pierre, 2011).

Additionally, the linguistic turn associated with Derrida disrupted stable assurances of knowing, as any word does not come with an inherent, essential meaning (Derrida, 1976; Morison & Macleod, 2013). In "post-" theories, the decentering of the subject plays a crucial role in inscribing an alternative view of the individual, history, and importantly the experience of the colonized. It is the subjective position forwarded by postructuralism(s) that allows for a different reading of "truth" and how we understand our relationship to what is considered to be true:

The deconstruction of language also serves to set doubt into much that humanism holds dear, such as, ideas of 'freedom, truth, resistance, agency, power' – as things that are within each human's grasp and as such are a fundamental 'right' to which all are equally subscribed. (St. Pierre, 2013, p. 647)

Such deconstruction of language applied to an organization sheds light on those internalized, common meanings or cultural norms that are seen as natural, fixed, and real.

The linguistic turn⁴ ushered in an interrogation of where meaning is posited and maintained (Gaston & Maclachlan, 2011). As the word itself has no essential or inherent meaning, only the meaning formed through the interactions of individuals is able to solidify what a given object refers to (Derrida, 1976; Spivak, 1976). Each situation is referential, and the meaning therefore is never permanent or accessible, it only maintains that meaning in the context where it is presented. Saussure (1966) postulated "that there is no direct connection between a word and meaning that it describes, rather it is relational" (discussed in Weedon, 1987, p. 23). As such, meaning is not natural, intrinsic, or inherent, but rather is thrust upon a thing through the association of language, and through its context. It follows that meaning can never be exact, always known, but is always transitional. As St. Pierre (2013) noted, "[s]ince meaning must always be deferred, we can never know exactly what something means, we can never

⁴ Linguistic turn is a phrase attributed to philosopher Gustav Bergmann (Rorty, 1992, p. 9). It signaled the movement toward a linguistic philosophy whereby the notions of *language* and *meaning* were not arbitrary, or separate from, the constructions of human reality (Butler, 2010; St. Pierre, 2013). Rather, the linguistic interplay between subject/object and meanings were dynamically engaged in an exchange (Spivak, 1976), which itself constructed the meanings language was designed to signify (Gaston & Maclachlan, 2011).

get to the bottom of things" (pp. 481–482). Poststructuralism allows researchers to deconstruct existing understandings of knowledge: to differently (St. Pierre, 2013) understand meaning by questioning presupposed interpretations.

The notion of "absent presence" (A. Jackson, 2012, p. 21) presented as another useful approach to deconstruct the language used within participant narratives. Absent presence references Derrida's exploration of "trace" (Derrida, 1976, p. 18), whereby the *concrete* meaning of a word invariably leaves "traces" of other possible meanings. This multiplicity forces the construction of meaning towards relational context, rather than a permanent, fixed and taken-for-granted essential quality. For Derrida, the notion of trace was creatively expressed using the strikethrough or marking of text, "... the mark [strikeout with 'X' in original text] of the absence of a presence, an always already absent present, of the lack at the origin that is the condition of thought and experience" (Spivak, 1976, p. xvii).

My thinking around "race" similarly gravitated to "always something else," as what was stated presented one way of knowing, yet there were always other possibilities, seemingly just below the surfaces, that could be uncovered by scratching away at the subsoil. Through those traces – "tracks, footprints, imprints" (A. Jackson, 2012, p. 21) – new formations of meaning could be achieved. As such, the notion of White becomes so through the presence of what is not White, and therefore is the opposite: Black, but not created through its own designation. "White" becomes as an

"absent *presence*," [emphasis added] (A. Jackson, 2012, p. 21) in relation to Black.⁵ This approach was useful to look at the sport of curling, and its overall "whiteness." and what that implied for the participants' experiences. By remaining open to the instability of meanings in language, it made "room for a new concept" (A. Jackson, 2012, p. 21).

The discussion of the above tenets illustrates how poststructural thinking provides a useful and beneficial approach in dealing with some of the challenging aspects of "race," multiple identities, and the subjectivities denoting identity construction. These tenets are relevant both for understanding the relation of participants and their stories and meanings, as well as understanding the complexity of perspective derived from their subjectivity. Further, the macro-theoretical perspective informs the design of the inquiry by employing (more) flexible forms of analysis and representation to contend with the position of researcher, participants, and the active role of reader. This brief discussion illustrates how poststructural thinking informs and underpins the inquiry and is useful in dealing with the challenges of intersecting notions of "race," "whiteness," and colonialism.

⁵ The examination of "race" and blackness is complex, with roots within colonial conquest. Prior to that era, Black was not an established categorization, but became necessary as a means to vilify, dehumanize, and separate African slaves. As the designation became rooted, so did the notion of White and "whiteness" as a counter to those meanings associated with Black: vile, darkness, subhuman and the like. This discussion requires more attention than is possible within the scope of this paper. However, it serves an important consideration for the long-lasting effects of colonialism in the formation of dominant cultural forms and the impact of "race" in sport.

3.3 Methods

The two main methods used in the inquiry were observation and semi-structured interviews. I relied on aspects of poststructural thinking to guide my design, approach, and perspective. Thus, observation was used to gain a cursory grasp of the curling club environment; in short, to get a sense of what was going on. However, observation is problematic in relation to poststructuralism as the method tends to set the researcher outside of the study and present findings as objective, taken-for-granted, and assumed Truth (Butler, 2006; St. Pierre, 2000). Thus, observation informed my data collection in order to better perform the practice. It did not, however, become a primary source for the analysis and representation. Again, my interest for the inquiry was squarely centred on stories, their impact, and language. I also acknowledged my role within the inquiry. I was not an objective bystander, rather I was someone integrated into the research. I became another contributor along with the participants, not separate but intimately involved in the entire process. The chosen methods conveyed my commitment to engaging participants in a compassionate, intimate process of collecting their stories, honouring their active input into the inquiry, and enacting a practical self-reflection to continually assess, redress, and re-envision my practice throughout the inquiry lifecycle.

3.3.1 Research Context

Two curling clubs in Ontario were chosen as sites for the research. The selection of the clubs occurred organically through personal connections, facilitating the access and approval by senior leadership and club presidents. Each club structure represents a

CSO, with volunteers driving many of the operations and activities (Doherty et al., 2014), an active membership, and a range of activities including league play, bonspiels₆, and social events. The first site was a curling club in the Greater Toronto Area (GTA) that had a large membership, but only 8 sheets of ice, which thus limited the capacity for growth. Its facilities were run by a combination of volunteers (i.e., league officials, fundraising, social events) and some paid staff (i.e., general manager), with infrastructure administered by the municipality. The majority of the participant interviews were conducted here (11 out of 16 interviews).

The second club was located in a small town in rural Ontario. The club's facilities were smaller than that of the first (4 sheets compared to 8 sheets) and privately run. The club's membership was stable, but growth was needed to continue to remain financially viable, as noted by its club president. As such, the second site represented a club where an increase in membership was necessary and diversity was a consideration for that growth model. Also, the demographic breakdown of the community surrounding the club was predominantly White, and lack of diversity an issue for its members. The participants from both sites were a varied cross-section in terms of exposure to the sport, from newcomers to people that had played all their lives, to those that had played for many years but picked up the sport later in life. Many of the participants volunteered at the club in different capacities as league conveners, coaches,

⁶ A bonspiel is a curling tournament, which organizes teams in a competition that plays down until there is an eventual winner. Depending on the size of the tournament, teams are bracketed into draws, which organizes the schedule of play, and guarantees each team plays a minimum number of games. (Library and Archives Canada, 2019; Pezer, 2003).

Troubling Dominance in Sport

and social activity organizers. Two of the participants represented senior leadership, including a general manager and club president. The participants ranged in age from 35 to 75 and had were notably evenly split between men and women. The participants were mostly White, with one participant of Asian descent. Using two sites offered a demographic variation in order to explore possibilities in both an urban and rural setting. However, the purpose of the study was not to contrast the two sites; rather, it was to ensure a rich variety of experiences to draw from in order to better understand the dynamics of cultures operating in club environments and their impacts on diversity.

3.3.2 *Observation (Club Environment)*

Observations were to be conducted at two curling clubs in Ontario. Club presidents were contacted in order to receive approval to be onsite. However, due to time constraints and the stage of the inquiry, observations only occurred at one site, which was an established club in the Greater Toronto Area (GTA). After approval was granted by the club president, the observations were conducted. An information letter was distributed to membership as well as posted in a visible location as required by the University of Waterloo Office Research Ethics. The observations involved attending a number of club activities, including league play, bonspiels, and non-member events. I was also present for social activities, in particular, post-game conversations amongst players.

The observations assisted in two capacities. First, they provided me familiarity with the curling club and its surroundings. They allowed for informal interaction with

members and were designed to be safe, familiar, and inviting (Crotty, 2003a). Through many of these conversations, I was able to gain a better understanding of how the club operated, as well as to collect some interesting anecdotes regarding the operations and history of the club. As hoped, I was able to make a number of interpersonal connections and candidates for interviews were referred to me through those interactions. All informal interactions observed University of Waterloo Office of Research Ethics protocols, and consent for any further conversations was ensured prior to any dialogue. The initial, informal conversations served to acquaint me with the club environment and its operations. The observations were not meant to be a prescriptive or a definitive assessment, nor did they explicitly serve as an "objective" perspective from which to draw conclusions (Creswell, 2007; Tedlock, 2003). Rather, the observations proved to be simply another source of material to incorporate into the performance text, in concert with the narratives collected via the semi-structured interviews. My view was that the observations were another facet to help sketch a version of the whole.

This initial activity proved informative. For example, my observation of a club bonspiel provided insight into membership's commitment to volunteerism at the club and into how many of the leadership roles within the club were performed by volunteers. During the observation process, I spoke informally to members in the lounge, gaining deeper understanding as they described their activities both on the ice and during what was happening between and after games while relaxing in the lounge. I took notes and recorded memos to document insights as they occurred throughout the process. The memos and notes allowed me to remember aspects of my initial

impressions and inform my interpretations, which in turn were useful when conducting the interviews. Thus, the observations provided a basic understanding whereby those topics could be interrogated further during the interview and then analyzed in relation to broader concerns within sport scholarship.

3.3.3 Participant Recruitment and Interviews

Participant interviews were conducted on-site at the two curling clubs, with a few exceptions as requested by participants. At the large, urban club, participants were recruited through an internal newsletter emailed to each member that called for candidates to participate in a research study. The information letter approved by University of Waterloo Office of Research Ethics was attached to the newsletter with the contact information of the primary investigator. Additionally, snowball sampling recruited further candidates through personal recommendations. Overall, there was a high degree of interest in the inquiry.

Each participant was required to sign a consent form that provided information about the inquiry, including their ability to remove consent in accordance with University of Waterloo Office of Research Ethics' guidelines. All candidates were asked to share 2-3 personal photographs related to their experience in curling to serve as a connecting point-of-interest for the interview. Photo elicitation is a technique that complements narrative inquiry as the photos often invoke memories of experiences associated with the imagery, people, or event depicted (Bendiner-Viani, 2016; Clark-Ibáñez, 2004; Epstein et al., 2006). Largely, participants' photographs were provided to

me in advance via email; I was able to print them and have them available for discussion. There were several interviews where participants opted not to supply photographs. However, as the photos were primarily a "conversation starter," those dialogues followed a similar line of questioning

The interviews were semi-structured, as a number of guiding questions were used to orient the discussion. The semi-structured interviews focused on the following subject areas:

- 1. Participant experience represented in the photographs;
- 2. Symbols and artifacts contained in the photographs;
- 3. Narratives and emotional responses to the photographs or experiences;
- 4. Participant language assessing tensions, gaps, and/or taken-for-granted meanings.

The interviews were open-ended and probed relevant topics related to their experiences with and relationships to curling. Although I maintained a stable set of questions, the dialogue was meant to be free-flowing and often it delved into areas that were brought forward by the participant. It provided flexibility and latitude for discussion and for participants to explore their experiences. The interviews lasted 45 to 90 minutes. Prior to beginning, I briefed the participant on the context of the inquiry and my ethical obligations as inquirer. Regardless of where the interview occurred, I was cognizant of

Troubling Dominance in Sport

providing the most welcoming, safe, and respectful environment possible. Again, my goal was to ensure the participants felt at ease and able to share their stories.

Interviews, however, are not a benign interaction. There are power relations acting on the exchange between researcher and participant that must be considered in all qualitative research (Atkinson & Delamont, 2006; Barinaga, 2009; Byrne, 2015; Clandinin et al., 2007). An interview resembles a "normal" conversation but the exchange represents a divide between interviewer and interviewee: "there are power dynamics that act unequally during the exchange" (Kenway & McLeod, 2004, p. 527). Even with an established protocol that adheres to ethical standards, the interview process still "asks much of the participant" (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000, p. 170). Throughout the duration of the inquiry, I reflected on this critical issue, and much of that thinking guided the construction of the performance text. I was aware that outcomes of any given research most often benefit and privilege the researcher (Byrne, 2015, p. 8). As such, I actively reflected on that condition to acknowledge my own background in sport, and how it shapes my analysis, interpretation, and representation. I needed to sift through my challenges with identity and consider how these informed my interviews. For example, I needed to reconcile being bi-racial, from an African-Caribbean father and White, English mother, but recognized only as a Black man. That racialization was produced by a dominant cultural reflection on my appearance and not an internal identification I maintained. I was not trying to eliminate these biases, which would be impossible, but rather I sought to raise my awareness of these tensions, bringing them to the surface and sincerely reflecting on my relationship to them.

3.3.4 Photo Elicitation

Photo elicitation can seed discussion as well as elicit narratives from imagery, rather than from memory and recollection alone. As modern culture is dominated by the use of image (Collier & Collier, 1986; Jenks, 1995b), I believed that the use of image in conjunction with dialogue about sport – another important cultural form – would prove meaningful. As Jenks (1995b) identified:

We daily experience and perpetuate the conflation of the 'seen' with the 'known' in conversation through the commonplace linguistic appendage of 'do you see?' or 'see what I mean?' to utterances that seem to require confirmation, or, when seeking opinion, by inquiring after people's 'views' (p. 3).

Photos can be used to spark discussion, as well as to better understand what participants find important, beyond content based solely on a premeditated set of questions (Strong & Wilder, 2009, p. 23). For the inquiry, photos provided a micro-context for discussion. We were able to shift our conversation to participant experiences related to the photo or to artifacts or situations represented therein.

Although there are multiple techniques associated with photo elicitation, it was more interesting for this inquiry to allow participants to select their photos prior to our interviews (Collier, 1957; Holm, 2008; Ketelle, 2010). I did not offer any direction as to what the content might be, only that they represent their experience with curling. The curation of photographs by the participants did reduce the participatory nature of the inquiry; however, the main purpose of the photographs was to help the participant feel comfortable speaking about their experiences and to draw out stories that perhaps might

not be offered during a traditional interview. For example, one participant speaking about one of their photos was able to recount a harrowing account of an accident on their way to an event and the emotional response and bond that formed within their team as a result. As such, I saw how the photos served as valuable gateways to their experiences, emotions, and understandings. Participants were able not only to articulate given experiences but they also conveyed their values and emotions in sharing a specific memory (Ketelle, 2010, p. 548). The photos also helped to create a connection between myself and the participant, where the "[p]hotos can lessen some of the awkwardness of interviews because there is something to focus on, especially if the photographs are taken by the interviewee and they are therefore familiar with the material" (Clark-Ibáñez, 2004, p. 1511). Although the intent was to have the photos be integrated into the final representation, it became apparent that their role merely facilitated an initial introduction to the interview process. Thus, what emerged from the analysis were the narratives surrounding the experiences, rather than the photos serving as a focus for the discussion. As such, the photos do not feature in the final representation.

3.3.5 Personal Journaling / Researcher Interpretation

Self-reflection was a continual practice throughout the research process. I used personal journaling to record my actions during the inquiry, particularly during the tightly linked data capture and analysis. Journaling helped me record issues that arose at different stages, and thus allowed for practices and methods to be revisited. For example, I made sure to document my impressions of walking into one of the clubs for the first time:

January 2019:

- Quiet in the lounge
- Place echoes back to its nostalgic roots; photos, trophies, old corn brooms
- A few trophies but fewer than at other places
- Radio for kitchen is playing Neil Young I'm drawn back to memories of my experience in BC; hard being Black out there
- Ontario flag is prominently displayed; colonial roots evident (excerpt from Observation Journal, Richard Norman)

These words were mostly observational, but they also began to reveal underlying themes in the club environment. This entry made me aware of the issue of colonialism and offered an essential motif for the performance text. It also drew my attention during interviews to mentions of colonialism, legacy, and the concept of Canada as a nation state.

In another instance, I found that journaling was a self-reflective practice. By writing, I was able to understand my inner biases related to "race," necessitating a closer, critical look at my own perspective:

January 2019

 Looking again at the same faces in the photos. My perception discarded the Asian individual in one photo. Did I choose not to see them? Maybe I am choosing to see the "club" only from a coloured perspective and not diversity related. But I didn't see them until I had met with an "ethnic." Were my eyes opened as a result? Did I choose to see differently? What was my blind spot? (excerpt from Observation Journal, Richard Norman)

Throughout the inquiry, I returned to the journaling to think through my analysis and challenge my findings. Journaling offered me a means of recalling specific events in my

biography, which helped inform my approach to the interviews. For example, I recalled an instance when I was very young where I painted over an old bike with *white* paint. This indicated deeply held beliefs about the colour *white* and what it represented in Canadian society. To me, White was new, fresh, and better from a child's mind's eye. I was surprised that analyzing my journal entries revealed certain deeply held opinions I had formed in my childhood. In recalling these stories and considering them in relation to "race" and diversity, I was better able to interpret my internalization of "race," "whiteness," and the operations of dominance based on my own personal experience.

For me, there was a particular catharsis brought about by the self-reflection required by journaling. It revealed feelings and emotions, but also an emergent pathway to navigate difficult thematic content:

February 2019

What would I do? Again, asking a Black person about "race" comes from a good place, but why me yet again? I just left my last interview. It was again a frank discussion about how to make curling *colourful* and I say that tongue in cheek. We don't talk about race and racism much in Canada. Canada the good. We are multicultural. Hate that term. But there is something deeper going on. I can feel being against it again, whatever it is.

(excerpt from Observation Journal, Richard Norman)

The example above illustrates how I used journaling to begin to decipher my interpretations of "race." It allowed me the freedom to move past *simple* emotions – anger, despondence, fatigue – and move towards a new space where I could hold multiple perspectives together, mix them, fold them over, stretch them apart, and find adequate distance to engage my critical thought. Again, journaling foreshadowed the

performance text to come, but firmly established writing itself as a mechanism to analyze complex tensions related to curling and diversity. I was able to take the content from the journal entries and characterize my thinking within the scene dialogues. For example, my journal entry about the erasure of an Asian individual in a photograph was woven into a section in the performance text about my hidden biases. Journaling provided a basis for that critical examination, where my own taken-for-granted forms of knowledge and relationship to hegemony were deconstructed.

3.4 Researcher Position, Privilege, and Self-Reflection

My own background in sport and my connection to curling were significant to this inquiry. My preconceived notions of curling had benefits, yet also risked introducing tension, as my own knowledge could threaten to supersede that of the participants. Self-reflection and acknowledgment of my position(s) helped mitigate adverse effects or intentions, and through the interactions with participants, my beliefs and interpretations were in fact reshaped. First, my role was not passive nor objective, in so far as it couldn't be removed from the exchange between the participants and myself. As I attended to this actuality, my practice of self-reflection became more pronounced in the latter stages of the inquiry. In particular, the writing of the performance text firmly placed me inside the inquiry as contributor:

red: it is uncomfortably "white"	in(out)sider: It's January. I walk into the
here.	club: "I'm here to do a job." I
	feel like I'm floating above
	my body. It's that "club-feel"

beige: what do you mean?

red: I mean, take a look around, who do you see? I know who I see out there. It certainly doesn't resemble the city. At least **my city**.

blue: Yeah? I hadn't noticed. I really don't see colour.

again: round tables, trophies, and the photos, always the photos. All those White faces: I check my blackness (Goldberg, 2002) at the door and put on my *researcherface*.

This excerpt vividly illustrates my implication in the study. On the left side, the content is explored by imaginary participants, rooted in the accounts gathered through the interviews. On the right, insights from my perspective demonstrate my wrestling with notions of "race" and "whiteness" related to dominance. It also indicates the struggle with my position as inquirer and the privileges this role affords. For the inquiry, the performance text includes self-reflection both to illustrate difficulties with representing identity and "race" as well as the power negotiations that are always relevant to qualitative inquiry. Thus, self-reflection was vital to the data collection, analysis, and representation for the inquiry. Regardless of the critiques of reflexivity as being simply part of the practice (Clayton, 2013; Colombo, 2003; McKenna, 2007; T. Weber, 2003), it was important for me to trouble my privileging of scholarly discourses and my position as expert.

3.5 Analytic Approach

For the analysis, I relied on both *narrative analysis* and *analysis of narrative*. In narrative analysis, recombining or (re)storying highlights segments that are dissimilar or that indicate a conflict or tension among stories. Re-storying is a creative form that allows for a more co-creative collaboration between researcher and participant, as interpretations from both parties are layered over/under/in/between towards a deeper understanding of the content (McCormack, 2004; Lapum, 2008). Narrative analysis is practiced in many disciplines, but largely taken up by linguists. Analyzing the structure of narrative (narratology) discretely explores the elements of the story itself: author, narrator, plot, text etc. (Barthes, 1975; Daiute & Lightfoot, 2004; Elliott, 2005; Page & Thomas, 2011; Wells, 2011). In analysis of narrative, the language deployed in the stories is interrogated, where specific meanings underlying language are explored and critiqued (Springgay, 2005; Elliott, 2005). Analysis of narrative is a powerful approach when making meaning of the collected testimonies of participants. It focuses attention on the words used that, in fact, have the potential to convey a rich "subtext" to the statements that lie within (Daiute & Lightfoot, 2004; Barthes, 1975).

For the inquiry, both approaches were useful in examining the participant accounts from distinct scales and points-of-view. They also aligned with the central tenets of Deconstruction. The process of deconstructing and interrogating participants' word choices used within their accounts was significant. As the interviews progressed, seemingly innocuous terms, such as "new Canadians," "the city," "multiculturalism," "blue collar," and "our colonial past" were used without overt appreciation of the

weight they may hold in relation to notions of hegemony, and its impact on Others. I utilized deconstruction to play with, confront, and/or assess how these words were used within each response, but also how they pointed to deeper collective assumptions forming their signification and impact. It allowed my analysis to move beyond thematic categorization or alignment with binary constructions – man/woman or Black/White (Larsson, 2014; Butler, 1988; Weldon, 2006) – to look for anomalies, traces, hints of something else within the text. Disrupting my notions of categorization was crucial to ensuring individuals were not silenced outright nor through the act of associating or conforming to one group or another. I attended to how individuals also embody multiple identities, which could be revealed within their narratives.

My data analysis was an iterative, fluid process. It was not linear and there was overlap among source material collection, analysis, and representation; the three activities wove together as they informed one another. During the inquiry, participants shared their stories and their insights; their candour and vibrant storytelling contributed to and shaped much of the performance text. I became aware that the participants were not just speaking to me, but almost talking *asynchronously* with one another; I could hear one person's story commenting on another's, and conversely, revealing a foil or counter opinion valuable to the discussion. It seemed there was a magical, invisible round table at which the participants were all sitting, talking to one another, delving into sensitive material, all in hopes of finding a way forward.

I was struck by the self-awareness and commitment of the participants to talk about a difficult subject. Generally, participants talked freely and openly about their

experiences. During some of the interviews, photos were important to the process; during others, they became a subtle backdrop to the conversation and tangents as the dialogue flowed along. For my part, I helped facilitate or steer the discussion, but in most cases, the participants were the driving force. After each interview session was completed, I documented ideas, thoughts, and feelings that surfaced during or after the session. It seemed that some of the interview sessions had a particular flavour and atmosphere: charged or contented, thoughtful or raw, subdued or jovial:

February 2019

We met in a coffee shop. Not an ideal location but was at the request of [name]. It was an interesting conversation for me. [They] were from the Prairies and had a much different take on curling. Certainly, there was a nostalgia for curling related to Canada. But so much pride. Curling was part of [their] fabric of life. [They] were so charged talking about the photos and their experiences. But the photos weren't specific to them, they were just of curling. [They] *just loved curling*!

(excerpt from Observation Journal, Richard Norman)

All my post-session reflections helped shape my interpretations of the content, of the participants themselves, and of their connection to curling.

The analysis phase of this inquiry sought to compare and contrast among commonly held experiences, in this context with curling. The intention was not to synthesize, generalize, or water down those experiences, but to hold possibilities up against each other and to examine the gaps between. In this way, I wanted to preserve the multiplicity of participants' views (Hollway & Jefferson, 2000). My role was to bring their active voices to the foreground but also go beyond just what was *said*. For example, the passage stating "it's uncomfortably 'white' here" was unique in itself, as it stated a particular point-of-view. However, the sentence alluded to deeper meanings underpinning the concept of "whiteness" and its functions vis-à-vis diversity. The analysis indicates (1) what is said reflects a person's evaluation of diversity, and (2) the discomfort with curling's "whiteness," where the lack of diversity is at odds with Canadian values of multiculturalism and tolerance.

3.6 Performance Text as Creative Analytic Practice

In thinking about my inquiry, I was troubled by how *best* to convey the messiness of new ways of thinking, theoretical positions, internal conflicts, and emotions that I was experiencing as I progressed. Dealing with my positionality presented a particular uneasiness as to how I could both *show* those viewpoints and *use* them effectively to illustrate compelling nuances without it becoming solely *about me*. In addition, I wanted to ensure that the *substance* of the dissertation would be accessible to a wider audience beyond academia, while also unsettling traditional forms of representation. Using performance text as a form of creative analytic practice (CAP) (Adame et al., 2011; Fisher & Phelps, 2006; Richardson, 2018) was suitable to address this nervousness and struggle.

Sport research scholars have used a range of creative techniques, such as poetry and unstructured prose as an analytic approach (Popovic, 2010, 2012a, 2012b), while others have focused on narrative and narrative construction (Dowling et al., 2015; Singer, 2016; Spencer, 2012) or autoethnography (Carless, 2012; Cooper et al., 2017;

Douglas, 2009; Purdy et al., 2008). I liked the idea of using a modified story to present analysis of participant narratives, as "the stories we tell are not only about our lives; they are part of our lives" (Bochner & Riggs, 2014, p. 196). I was drawn to CAP as a means engaging my internal challenges while disrupting discourses through a creative style (Richardson & St. Pierre, 2011, p. 12). Narrative as a creative form and analytic tool has in research – autoethnography, storytelling, poetic representation – allowed for playful interrogation of the content, while the writing opened up new ways of knowing and analysis (Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005). This approach not only allowed me to "get *it* out," but also opened new thinking to dislodge rigidity in the practice. It allowed me to occupy a wide range of philosophical positions to account for my subjectivity and constructed identities, while engaging in complex themes.

3.6.1 Exploring "Race" and Identity Through Creative Writing

I felt conflicted about using socially constructed identity categorization, such as with "race," gender, or sexuality, as a theoretical base for critical examination. Although the association with Black in the text was important, I also needed to account for my own struggles with identity. As a bi-racial, transracially adopted individual, my negotiations of "race" and "whiteness" are fraught with incomplete, fractured ties to being Black and involve a complicated relationship to "whiteness." Hall (1996) wrote about the complexity of identity construction, as "identities are never unified and... increasingly fragmented and fractured; never singular but multiply constructed across different, often intersecting and antagonistic, discourses, practices and positions" (p. 4). Du Bois' (2007) characterization of the 'double consciousness' related to "race"

resonates with me, where the inner dimension of being Black imagined "two souls, two thoughts, two unreconciled strivings; two warring ideals in one dark body" (p. 11). However, this doubling was insufficient to capture the fullness of my conflict. Measuring my blackness against a frame of Black culture left me at odds with reconciling my "whiteness," not to mention the added negotiation of being transracially adopted into a White family.

I was left further fractured and bifurcated from my sense of belonging within a White family, making my identification with "race" problematic, as if my qualifications for *blackness* were in doubt. I sought a way to calm the inner turmoil by using a creative, performative outlet to disrupt my identity construction by splicing my dialogue with the inquiry participants. Hall and Du Gay (1996) wrote that "identities are constructed through, not outside, difference. This entails the radically disturbing recognition that it is only through the relation to the Other, the relation to what it is not, to precisely what it lacks" (p. 4). As such, I felt I was always identifying myself in relation to the Other: "[t]he black is the 'other', the peripheral, while the white commands the centre, if for no other reason than this process of 'normalization'" (Long & Hylton, 2002, p. 90). In fact, my "race" was always contested against the backdrop of the "whiteness" of Canadian society as the dominant position of belonging; anything non-White was considered outside. The difficulty, however, was who or what was the Other to me? This uncertainty had me shifting perspectives to find a position where I reconcile being Black, White, and Other.

Troubling Dominance in Sport

I found representing the "findings" from this inquiry challenging. I hadn't expected to be confronted with internal struggles from my past and present. Throughout the progression of interviews, I was compelled to attend to my own sensibilities about my "race," upbringing, identity, and privilege. It was more than simply "researcher positionality." It dug through my entire being. Being *of colour* in Canada is not a benign designation, and it is naïve to imagine that the severity of racialization, discrimination, and violence to those of us designated as "coloured" only happens south of the border. Writing allowed me to travel through different dimensions of my being, my roles as researcher and scholar, and my complicated background, which I often neglect to consider. Through the art of writing (Denzin, 2000; Fisher & Phelps, 2006; Richardson, 1990), I was able to show not only thematic areas related to curling, but also my internal confusions about my "race," adoption, scholarship, and partial "whiteness." It was the practice of thinking through writing (A. Jackson, 2012; Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005) that reframed the representation, whereby themes were reimagined as a conversation among fictitious or performative actors; created to communicate the complexity of participants' stories in an accessible medium.

The performance text is organized into three scenes as a set of loose connections resembling past, present, and future states. First, tradition and legacy were illustrated, and their continued influence on the sport explored. Second, notions of diversity, "race," and "whiteness" were considered as current issues affecting curling. Last, possible future conditions were explored in an attempt to illustrate how the participants might react to possible futures. Each scene demonstrated the interactions between

Troubling Dominance in Sport

participant actors exemplifying the experiences revealed in the participant interviews carried forward as a perspective on new content.

Additionally, I wrote myself into the story showing my insights, struggles, and interpretations, not as an objective source but as someone complicit in entire the process. I explored my reflections on the inquiry and provided insights through the text, thereby integrating the analysis existing within the representation. My hope was employing performance text would involve the reader in the interrogation of the text as an active interpreter, thereby dislodging my interpretations as the only sources of meaning and knowing. In the process, the reader's insights are validated, and dislodge the prescriptive, reified expert role of the researcher:

[T]he researcher is abandoned, only to be replaced by the reader, who actively and creatively rewrites the research text... the research text will represent a presence, voice, and signature: that of either the writer or the rewriter of the text. (Mantzoukas, 2004, p. 1001)

I hoped that expressing my internal struggles about my "race," and identity might offer an alternative perspective to contrast, critique, and illuminate the complexity of dealing with diversity from the standpoint of a person of colour, and how these issues might be interpreted from that point-of-view.

The performance text addressed my relation to the isolation, discrimination, racism, and barriers to access that I encountered throughout my life in regard to sport. My desire was to demonstrate how these issues continued to challenge the social fabric of our world and reveal how difficult and complex these issues are to dislodge. In my

case, the lasting effects are deeply felt and particularly painful for me as a person of colour; it illustrates the lingering impacts on lives that persist and cannot be denied. By illustrating these conditions through the performance text, the notions of "race," racism, and Othering could be isolated in order to address them in the sport of curling.

3.6.2 Creative Practices as Political Action

The use of performance text as an "alternative" technique for analytic research has been advocated by scholars as a way to challenge essentializing and normative approaches, and open up discourses to other ways of knowing (Butler, 2006; Lather, 2004; Lather & St. Pierre, 2013; Richardson, 1990; St. Pierre, 2011). Performance text lends a style and a consideration of thinking to disrupt reification of meanings, as each reading allows for new reinterpretations to be considered. Thus, in each iteration, the interpretations are relational to the individual and subject to change depending on the subjective perspective held by each person.

There is an interplay between writer and audience, which is often used in arts and literature. For example, the use of "call and response" within a performative setting has longstanding roots within Black and other ethnic communities (Denzin, 2000; Hill & Bell, 1998; Sale, 1992), and deep ties with African cultures, where voice and song served as a political vehicle (Richards-Greaves, 2016). This interplay opens up discourses to consider new sources of knowledge, in particular, those of Black and Othered Peoples. Further, hooks (2015) espoused "the aesthetic of blackness" (p. 103) as a re-turn to arts-based, creative practice meaningful for scholarship. Her writing

raised a cry to contest the racist view of "blackness" as ugly, undesirable, unintellectual, and inartistic:

Whatever African-Americans created in music, dance, poetry, painting, etc., it was regarded as testimony, bearing witness, challenging racist thinking which suggested that black folks were not fully human, were uncivilized, and that the measure of this was our collective failure to create 'great' art. (p. 105)

This denial of Black artistic forms further entrenched the colonial displacement of Black people from a rich past, filled with artistic beauty and culture, and reaffirming a justifiable denial of Black cultural forms (hooks, 2015, p. 105).

Hence, a re-turn towards such artistic representations challenged preconceived assertions as an act of defiance. It dared to smash the norms to re*-present* art, and performance as resistance, critique, intellectualism, and as means for liberation of blackness from oppression (Delgado & Stefancic, 1997; Omi & Winant, 2015). Denzin (2000) made a case for how such practices could be linked with theory to, in turn, transform qualitative inquiry towards a powerful, "political force for change" (Denzin, 2000, p. 216). Further, Denzin (2000) saw the artistic, performative forms as integral shifts in qualitative inquiry towards a political end: "[w]e are searching for representational practices that aspire to higher, sacred goals... In this new moral space, we seek to change the world, to make it a better place to be, a place where democracy and democratic values thrive" (p. 262). It was in that tradition of performative art as

radical cultural critique that informed my approach to *an-Other* style of representing analysis.

3.6.3 *Participants' Experiences – Character Construction*

In order to ground the performance text, the participant experiences were amalgamated but also maintained a certain amount of individuality and varied perspective to account for the multiplicity of participants in the inquiry. However, I still recognized my interpretation of their experiences was subjective and I needed to consider *who* was telling the story (Clandinin & Rosiek, 2007; Spector-Mersel, 2010):

The project of making experience visible precludes critical examination of the workings of the ideological system itself, its categories of representation (homosexual/heterosexual, man/woman, black/white as fixed immutable identities), its premises about what these categories mean and how they operate, and of its notions of subjects, origin, and cause. (Scott, 1991, p. 778)

This acknowledging of an individual's complex identity construction was vital for my analysis. I tried to be sensitive to *who was speaking* in the personal account. By doing so, I could gain deeper insights as to their challenges and tensions.

The result was a collection of characters used to represent the entire data gathered from the participants. These portrayals are referred to as *participant actors*. Each *participant actor* represents a characterization of participant experiences from multiple interviews and are not from one specific participant. For the *participant actors*, I used colours as a method to distinguish each character. The colours were arbitrary but point to an underlying tension about colour and "race" which emerged from the analysis. I also needed to account for the multiplicity of *data* and how they were synthesized, or more relevantly, "put together" (A. Jackson, 2012, p. 1). Deleuze and Guattari's (1988) *assemblage* offered an innovative approach to imagine connecting "fragments of our knowledge" (A. Jackson, 2012, p. 17) to create or recreate newness:

Plugging in to produce something new is a constant, continuous process of making and unmaking. An assemblage wasn't a thing – it was the *process* of making and unmaking the thing. (A. Jackson, 2012, p. 1)

The *participant actors* became such an assemblage where their fragments could be combined to form a coherent narrative illustrating the gaps and tensions that trouble curling.

3.6.4 Researcher's Insights – Accounting for My Fragmented Identities

In order to adequately account for my constructed identity, I employ multiple *selves* to represent my differing perspectives. However, each *self*-expresses a point-ofview that is wholly constructed, but also a fragment of my complete identity. Taken together, they represent my internal world, which is fractured, faceted, and in transition. *They*, my characters, are independent yet intertwined, twisting upon one another. The characters exist on their own, but always are reflective of each other. Hall (2000) wrote about the difficulty with identity construction: ...identity means, or connotes, the *process* of identification, of saying that this here is the same as that, or we are the same together, in this respect ... the degree to which... is always constructed through ambivalence. Always constructed through splitting. Splitting between that which one is, and that which is the other. (pp. 146–147)

For me, this splitting is important. It allows me to explore specific aspects of "who I am" while expressing an *additive* element to the discourse. It allows me to be in defiance of dominant forms, while exploring the discourses from multiple positions. As a person of African descent, I needed to express not a single perspective, but several points-of-view, as holding my identity as just "Black" was incomplete. Even identifying myself as a bi-racial person does not even represent my genetic make-up. I found using the label "bi-racial" only connects to a splitting of my identity into two halves. It further essentialized my "whiteness" and blackness in some form I could separately locate in my being. Thus, any identification of "race" becomes restriction and divisive; rather than additive, whereby my identities could build on each other, to be more than, rather than just a part. To further complicate my situation, my adoption by a White family and upbringing in a transracial adoption environment shaped my relationship to "race," identity, and expression of self. By showing my negotiations of "race" and identity, I was able to reveal the complexity of how dominant culture is interpreted by those *Othered*, and how such intersections are fraught with internal struggle and stresses; where such assimilations have psychological repercussions, and behaviours may severely restrict a person's ability to be themselves.

In the performance text, my identity was expressed through several characters to express my internal world about "race" and transracial adoption, as well as a means to illustrate my self-reflection as an inquirer:

BruthR	my blackness personified
Raconteur	the narrator
In(Out)Sider	my position as outsider to the dominant world explored; both pushed to the margins and drawn inside; comfortable within dominant situations, yet uncomfortable inside that role. It is my negotiation of power and privilege, within an experience being a person of African descent.
The Boy	my historic mind's eye of myself growing up; a reflection on how my identities were formed, constructed, and brought to the surface; a stage for my performance as a bi-racial, transracial adoptee

In the scenes, I did not necessarily use all personifications equally. For example, in the first scene that explores tradition in curling, using the narrator role and the "In(Out)Sider" were more appropriate to explore the relation between my role as inquirer and my position as being part of curling and also not. However, in the second scene, it was useful to use all of the characters to explore the different facets of "race" in relation to diversity. Thus, the characters are expressions and illustrations of my identity; be it from a past mind's eye, contemplative inquirer, or my Blackness.

The next section consists of the performance text organized into three scenes.

4.0 Performance Text

The performance text is organized into three scenes, which were created to trouble the most compelling themes relayed by the participants. The set of scenes was created to illustrate the tensions, challenges, and insights emerging from the inquiry. Each scene provides an introduction to the reader (*Reader Notes*), which offers an explanation of the text to orient the reader. Following the notes to the reader, the performance text is presented. Last, *Director's Notes* are provided to give some background concerning the rationale that was used to construct the scenes. It indicates a thematic landscape that contextualized the scene and underpinned my perspective and insights as author. The scenes' settings resemble the round tables of the curling club, where people congregate after play is finished. There is comfort but it certainly isn't all positive. The stories revolve around the *participant actor*, as they drive the dialogue and explore the peaks and valleys of the issues. So, now, put yourself in their shoes and imagine... ice... winter... curling... Canada.

Another Quick Note About Language

In the performance text, I made a conscious decision to use the proper noun form, *Black* and *White*, any time my characters use language concerning "race." I specifically call out Black as a political form that has been used to categorize and racialize people, which is now normalized in our society. Yet, White is often not capitalized, leaving it 'more' hidden and unnoticed, and thus its position unquestioned. It becomes the 'centre' to which all others are fitted into and Othered.

However, the *participant actors* in the text do not use the proper form of these words, *black* or *white*. Again, this intentionally illustrates that although these words are used in

conversation, their presence and meanings are not interrogated; rather, they are neglected, and indicate a tension to be examined related to the discourse of diversity in sport. However, at the beginning of scene "So White...", I do leave quotations around the first instance of "white" as a reminder to the reader that the meaning of the word still needs attention.

Style Note

In the performance text, I use **bold** to indicate words and language that signify (more) complex meanings that were taken-for-granted or not evaluated by participants. It is an indication that further examination is warranted but left to the reader for consideration. I also use strikethrough (xxx) as a technique to render meaning temporary, employing the notion of Derrida's trace and absent presence (Derrida, 1976), which was discussed in the methodology chapter, in the section entitled Language and Meaning.

4.1 Scene I – When the Pipes Come Marching In...

4.1.1 Reader Notes

The text is intended to be read in the order it appears, but the flow is interrupted by interjections from the narrator, referred to as *the raconteur*. As such, the interjections are meant to temporarily suspend the flow, whereby aspects of the conversation can be explored tangentially from the main conversation. The dialogue is meant to be "participant-centric," as to highlight the complex viewpoints coming from multiple participants. Again, this is not a simple reproduction of transcripts, but a reinterpretation in a creative form in order to serve as a representation of what *types* of ideas surfaced in discussion with participants relating to experiences they have had in and around curling. The scene explores a "conversation" among participants in a fictitious curling club. There is an assumption that the *participant actors* are sitting around one of the typically round tables present in many curling clubs. It is a freeform conversation with interjections supplied by my *character* roles. However, my character interjections mostly act to frame the conversation. The interjections are meant only to freeze the conversation in place, as if the participants were frozen in mid-sentence.

4.1.2 Scene I – Performance Text

"When the Pipes Come Marching In ..." Prologue

It's a bonspiel, the traditional curling tournament. Teams are pitted against each other in competition. The prize: a gift certificate from a local merchant, bragging rights for the year, and your photo on the wall. We are in small-town Ontario, but this situation plays out similarly across Canada. The annual event is a highlight for the year. It galvanizes the membership, eager to put on a party to remember. There are raffles, games for the off-ice time, a meal, and plenty of time to socialize. There are teams from a greater distance, mostly because of the money, but this event has a long history and has become somewhat of a big deal for local curlers in the know.

It's a small club with only 4 sheets of ice, with a vibrant but declining membership. People are getting older and there is a disconcerting feeling that if things don't change, this club might go the way of many of the surrounding area's curling clubs. Not enough people means that there isn't enough income to continue. But for now, there is a festive atmosphere. People are dressed up in costume. The bonspiel theme is a Canada Day event. There is red and white everywhere. The organizing volunteers have outdone themselves, putting in many, many hours to transform the club into a "winter wonderland," harkening back to Canadian heritage. The tournament kicks off with a rousing speech from the club president, thanking all of the organizing team, especially the General Manager. She is singled out as the driving force behind their continued viability, even as membership slowly dwindles. Without her innovative approaches to the club space and facilities, the club wouldn't be holding the bonspiel this year.

The teams are lined up on the side of their sheets in anticipation. Then there is that familiar drone before the attack begins. At the entrance, there he is, decked out in a kilt and traditional pipers' garments. The tartan is blue and green, with sash and Glengarry bonnet. The piper has just returned from vacation in Scotland and rushed to the event in order to give the bonspiel the proper introduction. The shrill sounds of pipes resonate throughout the club. Everyone is at attention, clapping, engaged. Thrilled.

O, *Canada*...*Our home and native land*... *With glowing hearts, we see thee rise, the True North, strong and free*...

It's winter. Snow. Ice. It's Canada. It's bonspiel time. They've gone all out for the annual event. We hear a faint drone of bagpipes coming from the main hall...

(Scene Opens: People Sitting Around Table)

- orange: Wow. I just get chills every time I hear those pipes. It is such an important thing for our sport.
- *red:* Why do you feel it's sooooooo important? I don't see it at all. I mean it's so rare that you actually see a piper anymore.
- *blue:* I didn't even realize it was part of the tradition of the sport until I saw the Brier on TV.
- *beige:* Curling comes from Scotland. I mean they still get the **rocks** from a couple of quarries, don't they? That is something that is so strange to me.
- *red: I* mean the kilt and the connection to Scotland. Does that really matter at all?
- *orange:* For me, it is really important. It connects us back to curling's roots.

raconteur: I'm looking out on the sheets of ice. It seems pretty innocent, just ice and rings and lines. It's what you expect to see at a curling club, at least from all of the clubs I have been to.

Who is she?

There are a few teams out there. They are serious right now, consultation about the next shot.

Why is she there?

The score is tied. It's in the eighth end, last rocks about to be played. It's tense.

She's the Scottish Lassie7.

But no one seems to notice. She's just part of the background. A nondescript face looking out onto the ice.

History. Tobacco. Sponsorship. Legacy. Hidden in plain sight.

blue: I don't know. I just joined. I saw it on TV, the Olympics. I knew about it but never tried. Guess I was one of those converts.

red: Do we really need to keep connecting back to these things? I see it as going backwards.

orange: Oh, it's really important to me. Curling has a rich history. We can't deny that. It connects us to the past and the future

purple: I think it's sort of cute. It doesn't really speak to me personally, but I can see why people like it.

⁷ Scottish Lassie – "In 1935 the Scottish lassie wearing the Macdonald of Sleat tartan kilt became the distinctive trademark of Export cigarettes, a brand produced by the Macdonald Tobacco Company. The Scottish lassie appeared on cigarette packages and then on billboards in curling rinks as Macdonald Tobacco sponsored the Brier from 1927 until 1979, a span of over 50 years. The very name Brier was actually the name of a tobacco brand sold by Macdonald Tobacco. Macdonald Tobacco sponsored the Canadian women's national championship in the 1970s and the championship was called the Lassie. The first Lassie was first played in 1972 and the arrangement lasted until 1979, when Macdonald Tobacco withdrew its support of the event. The Scottish Lassie still remains a recognizable symbol to many curlers" (Library and Archives Canada, 2019).

beige: I love it. It is so unique in the sporting world.

red: You don't see anything problematic about it?

blue: Not really, I mean I joined because I wanted something to do in the winter. Canadian winters are so long. And it is something that links back to our *heritage*.

in(out)sider: There is a such strong colonial connection in curling. Is that problematic? Can we continue to be focusing on tradition in the face of a changing Canadian landscape? At what cost does tradition continue to affirm a problematic history in Canada, made more acute in this climate of decolonization and Reconciliation?

- *purple*: That doesn't matter too much for me. I came here at age 2. My parents didn't even speak English. I just wanted to do something in the wintertime. I wanted to fit in, and what better way than to play a Canadian sport, and a winter sport at that?
- *beige:* I agree. I feel more Canadian when I curl. It's something that connects us with our True North.
- orange: In Winnipeg, they have an Ironman bonspiel for the Heart and Stroke ... it's in February on the river, it's actually at the Forks. It's a really big deal. It's all about really just staying warm and pushing the rocks down the ice with your broom and whatever. To me, that's like celebrating winter with our sport.
- *blue:* I love it. I have such strong memories growing up watching the Brier. I mean it's not like now; we were all gathered around the TV. It was important for us.
- *beige:* For me, it's a family thing. We grew up watching the Brier. It's a pretty big deal for me even now. I always felt a connection to that tradition. We still have a Brier and Scotties pool. You know pick the

winner and all. Everyone plays, puts in a bit of money. It makes it interesting and each year, the entire family looks forward to it, and gets all emotional.

red: And so, we are back to the bagpipes again ...

- green: There's nothing quite like it. If you watch curling finals, they pipe the teams out onto the ice and there's a big procession and this little Scotsman in a kilt playing the bagpipes. It's part of the tradition. Nothing wrong with tradition, for my money it's okay.
- *blue:* It's not a sport like an X Games sport where they're new and radical and stuff. I think curling really wants itself to be connected to its past.
- red: Yeah, I get that. I'm not saying it has to be something different.
- *orange:* It's all about celebrating winter. Remember the Vancouver Olympics? That put curling on the map, and we celebrated it because we are a *winter country*, and we're proud of it.
- *blue:* That blew me away, all the cheering was crazy. So unlike curling, but in another way, so much emotion and craziness.
- orange: I think curling is one of those pieces like hockey and some of the others. Skiing, all those things. Curlers definitely hold an important place in that whole culture of our country that winter culture.
- in(out)sider: I walk out on the ice for the first time. I didn't know that "draw" meant I was about to play, "You mean we aren't drawing for teams?" [laughter], was it mine?

"Dude, get ready, you're going on in five minutes."

Okay. Here we go. It's cold. It's ice dammit. I scan the other sheets, not another Black familiar face. I'm alone on the ice. We shake hands and begin.

- *beige:* Curling is so social though. Where else do you get that sitting around after the game feeling? I used to play hockey, and we might go out for a beer but just with our team.
- *blue:* You wouldn't think about it, I mean having a beer with the other team... unless maybe if you ended up at the same bar.
- *red:* I never would shake hands after playing hockey, I even hated doing it as kid. All I wanted to do was get off the ice, especially if you lost. Fuck, I was done. I was ready to hit someone. No way was I shaking anyone's bloody hand.
- *purple*: It really is something in curling. The whole thing of "buying the other team a round." I appreciate it. You end up talking with everyone. Not all the time, but for sure sometimes. I think it adds a lot to the sport. It's all about being social and courteous.
- *orange:* Not for me. It's so weird. In the Prairies, we don't do that sort of thing. It's an Ontario thing or maybe in the East.
- red: Really? I thought it was universal.
- *orange:* No way, we never did it. I was there for the competition. The social side, not so much. I like having a beer or something, but it wasn't part of our game.
- *purple*: It's interesting now. People are a little wary now. You know because of drinking and driving. Maybe they have one, but not two.

- *blue:* It's a drag, it's not reciprocal, or at least the second round is pop. That isn't how it should be.
- *red:* I guess curling is losing more of that hard drinking, smoking on the ice image [laughs].
- orange: I don't think it's really that important. At least it isn't to me. What if you don't drink? What then? Do you just sit there? Have a pop? I don't see that as being the same thing and it sets you apart at times.
- *red:* I agree. I love having a drink after. I can loosen up and maybe talk to someone that I might not otherwise.
- *purple*: But curling is designed to be social. On the ice, after you're done. I mean the tables are round. Maybe it's hard to talk across the table, but everyone is at the same level.

Interlude

in(out)sider: I'm trying to imagine it. It seems like a bad, off-colour joke that you used to hear.

Twenty-five Muslims walk into a club...

But here we are. Would that really change the culture here? What would the membership do with a set of demands that are well outside the norm?

So, I ask...

- **raconteur:** Well and I'm curious, what do you think the response would be from membership if twenty-five Muslim people came out? What do you think might happen?
- *beige:* I don't see a big issue. We've had Muslims come out for curling in the past. The woman was wearing a headscarf. For me, I was like, "wow." I'm just an old white [person], you know? I'm the establishment.
- *purple*: But do you see any issues? Like what if they needed separate prayer rooms?
- orange: To me, I think it would work.
- *green:* I don't know. Where I come from, it's just such a narrow view of the world. I'm appalled, shocked and appalled at some people's take on what the world should be like.
- blue: Yeah, I get that, but what would be the overall sentiment of the club?
- **raconteur:** The overall feeling is positive, but I can't help but think of what the long-term effects might be. Having such a new influence day after day. It's all well to say, "yes, come in and be part of this." But does it last?
- green: Like some members would be okay with it, but overall? I think it would be hard to accommodate everything, like prayer rooms and stuff. I could be wrong.
- *blue:* It would be a shift for sure. Like drinking, what do we do with that? Sure, there are people that don't drink at the club already, but that is pretty rare.
- in(out)sider: And doesn't the bar help to finance the club? If that revenue dropped off, what would be the result?
- raconteur: "The current form of the discursive theme of diversity... pushes earlier concerns with discrimination and oppression firmly into the background... Difference is not valued outside its potential to

enhance an organization's economic and instrumental performance... the theme of diversity in its current form seems to hold little potential for the empowerment of different social identity groups" (Prasad, 2001, pp. 64–65).

- *beige:* I'm not sure, I think it might take some time. Like, oh they're not staying for a drink because they're Muslim and they don't drink. It might take a few times, but I'm sure most people would be okay with that.
- *purple*: I feel like our community is pretty evolved. I mean we are looking for new blood as well. Can't be too choosey.
- green: Yes, I agree. I think it would be more like "allow me to do what I want to do; I'll respect you if you respect me."
- *purple*: It gets back to the base of curling. Overall, it's pretty inclusive, even if it isn't showing up.
- *red:* Really? Do you really think people would be all, "come on in!" I don't see it.
- *orange:* You can't paint the entire membership with one white brush. People are complex, it isn't so monochromatic anymore, you just can't jump to that conclusion.
- *green:* I don't know. Look at the sexism, I mean it's everywhere, look at volunteering. Who is getting acknowledged? Overall, it's the men, not the women. Equal work, equal recognition? Hardly.
- *red:* Well, it doesn't matter to me. You drink? You drink. You don't drink? You don't drink. Just be happy about each other. It's a really simple world we live in if you just reduce it to that, right?
- *purple*: It's not like we don't have alternatives. We've had to make other accommodations for people's religious or cultural expressions.

red: Yeah, like not everyone eats pork. So, you deal with that. Maybe this is different. Maybe not. Things are just changing. We better change with it.

(Meanwhile, back at the round table)

- *beige:* I feel like curling, the etiquette, the culture, and why everyone's *very polite*, very well-behaved, is because this is sort of a throwback to when people wore suits, basically, to go curling. It was very prim and proper.
- *red:* Where do you think that "prim and proper" comes from? I mean it's hard not to think of the UK influence on us. We can't escape it.
- *blue:* Oh, I love that though. It connects me to **my heritage**. I come from a long, long line of curlers in the UK. It's about observing traditions, being courteous. It's really important to me.
- *beige:* Being polite and courteous are just good manners. I think it teaches young people how to behave. That is why I want more kids to play. I think there are values we can pass on that are important to our society. It's like **how to be Canadian**.
- *red:* Well look at them. They're all dressed up as lumberjacks, red and black flannel and hats and toques. That's what goes for Canadian today?
- *orange: C'mon, that's just having a bit of fun. They are expressing themselves. It's entertaining, no harm, no foul.*
- *purple*: I know friends of mine that are new and want to play because it is a Canadian sport.

red: Even though it comes from Scotland?

purple: It's a Canadian sport though. And if you play, well, you feel a little more connected. At least for some of us.

blue: It's still a gentleman's sport.

raconteur: Haven't I heard that before? What does it mean to participate with *those* gentlemen? Courteous, restrained, reserved, conservative – haven't I been subjected to *that* style of dominance before?

Get on your tennis whites.

Even Arthur (Ashe) had to stand-up against racism in tennis at some point (E. Hall, 2011).

How is this different?

Does framing this as a blue-collar activity mean it operates outside of the notions of power and hegemony?

Well, most certainly, and it just gets a pass.

- orange: You bet it is. We shake hands before the game. No refs, it's just us out there. If you burn a rock, no harm, just take it off, "my bad!" Own up to your mistakes, that's a given.
- *blue:* At the end of the day, that's what you remember. Not if you won or not. But oh baby, I can tell you every time a team didn't own up to their mistakes.

purple: It just leaves a bad taste in your mouth.

red: Ha, like long-distance bad breath.

- orange: It's just a no-no. You don't do that, not in curling. I mean I compete. Like really hard, but I'll be there at the end to shake hands, win or lose. No need for refs at all. Now how Canadian is that?
- **raconteur:** What about Canada's colonial past? What do we do with that in regard to curling? Is it just a benign passing reference that isn't worth exploring? Or can we just *move* beyond our past and feel like everyone is on the same footing?

But what about the power and dominance of colonialism?

"It is necessary to extricate oneself from all the linkages between rationality/modernity and coloniality, first of all, and definitely from all power which is not constituted by free decisions made by free people. It is the instrumentalisation of the reasons for power, of colonial power in the first place, which produced distorted paradigms of knowledge and spoiled the liberating promises of modernity. The alternative, then, is clear: the destruction of the coloniality of world power" (Quijano, 2007, p. 177).

- *red:* Still, we can't escape that our *roots* have shaped this sport in a particular way. It's not basketball or hockey. I mean you can't curl in the local playground.
- *blue:* I agree, and the *club* is all connected to that. I mean it isn't as exclusive as a golf and country club. But clubs are the roots of our sport.
- *orange:* It's a different kinda club through. It's *blue collar*. It comes from a different place.

red: How so? A "club" is a club isn't it?

- *blue:* I don't think so. *Country clubs* are way different. They breed being exclusive. It's a money thing.
- *red:* For sure, it's way different. My first curling experience was at a snooty country club. I was a raggedy-haired teenager and so I didn't fit to begin with. Everyone was just so fussy. We had to learn the etiquette or else. It was just an unwelcoming atmosphere.
- *blue:* You cannot deny that there is a huge variety of types of clubs. I mean look around here. It's tiny. It doesn't have any of that *elite* feeling for me. Maybe I can't see it because I don't curl here. But it's the same at my club back home.
- orange: Out west, clubs are the heart of the sport. It's about small things supporting the rest. Even if you don't see it on TV.
- *beige:* I've been part of this community for 50 years. We have done a lot to reach out to everyone to say, "hey, we're open for business, come and try it out." That's what *this event* is all about.
- orange: All clubs are different. My club, well, it doesn't really have a club feel for me. Like, I don't want to hang out at the club after I'm done. I curl and I leave.

red: What's the difference?

- *orange:* I'm a curler, I started young and kept playing. Most people at my club learned it later in life. It's different.
- *blue:* For sure, so many at our club learned much later in life. But there are good curlers there. I learn a lot from them.
- orange: Not always... I mean learning from curlers here. When I moved here, well, there is this thing in the East about knowing everything. I mean I grew up curling. It's in my blood, my DNA. So, don't tell me how to curl, buddy. I know how to curl, like

really? You're telling me? Check your arrogance at the door please.

- *purple*: Oh, I disagree. I curl there too. I love being with my ladies. The different ages, we all get along. It's such a source of comfort for me.
- orange: Don't get me wrong, there's good people there. And they do a lot, like bonspiels and such. It just is a little bland. Maybe it's the building, not really sure. It's not like back home.
- *red:* I sure don't want to hang out there either. But I love the vibe at *this club*. I'm not even a joiner, but I could see doing something here.

When in Rome, or at least in the vicinity

in(out)sider: I'm in Greece, traveling on a ferry between the islands. It's a typical post-university vacation. I see some other people from Queen's. We start traveling together.

It's hot on deck, so we head down to the café below. Service is slow, so I head to the bar. I order, the bartender says,

"Where you from?"

I answer, "Canada."

"No, where are you from?"

I answer again, "Canada!"

"No, where were your parents born?"

"Canada... well, and Trinidad and Tobago."

The bartender nods, as if to say, "Ah, that makes sense. He couldn't really be Canadian."

- orange: It's different here in the East. When I was growing up, everyone played. It's just what you did. Everyone was connected to the club. If the club wasn't around, I'm not sure what we [our community] would have done. It'd be scary.
- *beige:* Yeah, like in small towns, those four sheeter clubs and only two thousand people in the area, they've got two hundred and fifty people playing. That's ten percent!
- *red:* City to country isn't a fair comparison. I'm here because it's a unique experience. But I can't help feeling that some traditions might be a little bit troublesome.
- blue: What do you mean?
- *orange:* People in a big *city* are a little different. I love living in the city, and all the things a city affords. But you still like to hold on to some of your roots, you know what I mean?
- *blue:* It's like the CFL. In Toronto, Vancouver, not so big, but go to Regina or Winnipeg, even Calgary a bit. I mean, we aren't painting ourselves green and gold. CFL is big, curling is big.
- red: You mean blue and white, right?
- **beige:** I get that. I sort of feel that people watch it on TV and go, "that's looks easy and fun," but they miss the history and legacy of the sport.

- *red:* But is that a bad thing? Maybe the sport just needs to adapt to a new era. I mean it's in *decline*. Facilities are closing up, and we're worried about teaching the history?
- orange: I think people in the Prairies respect everyone that came before them and played, built the club, taught the game, did all the sacrifices to make it better for the next people.
- *blue:* I don't think it's different here. I grew up in a small Southwest Ontario town. My parents curled. Their parents curled. I didn't like hockey, I curled.
- orange: You don't need that legacy, but it sure makes a difference. Like here, you see it on the walls. You can trace things back to the 20s, 30s, everyone in their Scottish tams, you know?
- green: I guess I'm a modern curler then. I don't need any of that stuff. I am here for some fun and a beer. Period.
- in(out)sider: Canada's relationship to and embrace of multiculturalism has become more than a governmental policy, and now is complicated by generations of immigration, and its adoption into notions of national character (Day, 2000; Goldberg, 2002; Venn, 2000).
- **raconteur:** Traditions are part of Canadian history. We cannot simply remove them and hope everything moves forward properly.
- in(out)sider: Isn't that the same for all sport? If we are making it *new*, what does it look like?

You walk out on the ice. There's music playing. It's jock jams! Got to get the audience pumping.

Here comes the shot! The fans are going wild. You can't hear yourself think...

Double raised takeout. It's bedlam.

The face of the *new* curling.

- green: [It's Canada Day] I love this country. It has some great things going on, but it isn't perfect. There's work to do.
- *red:* Well Big Tobacco and alcohol sponsorship are part of our traditions. Does that need to be changed? Oh wait, it already is. Soooo...
- *blue:* You can't compare the history of our sponsors to the traditions in the sport. They aren't the same thing!
- green: Canada has put curling on the map. It's our game sort of now. I know other countries play, but Canada puts so many good teams out there. It's really our game now.
- red: Let's be real about this. Canada and curling is still a big thing.
- beige: It connects us to our past. To the North and our culture.
- *red: Huh? What culture are you talking about? I am sure the Inuit wouldn't be saying that.*
- *blue:* Let's not get into the "Indigenous question." We're just talking about Canada's role in the sport on the international stage.
- red: Right... better not even touch the "Indigenous question"...
- red: [We've got to talk about the "Indigenous question."]

raconteur: I'm in Winnipeg. It's freezing cold.

But it's a dry cold.

Why am I here?

bruthR: Man, it's -30C out. Don't matter if it's dry. It's just plain cold. I hate the cold. Black people don't like the cold.

in(out)sider: Hmm. But this is a different thing.

Can you see it?

in(out)sider: Walking around the stadium, I sense anticipation of the Olympic playdowns. This is for a spot on the national team. It's to be part of the Olympics. It's an athlete's dream, and the fans are there to see curling's best.

It's Canada's game. We own this sport.

I'm walking close to the stadium, people streaming into the building. But no one from the *outside*. It's the same to me, but different. Shades of the same issue, but with layers and layers.

Indigenous Arts for Sale. Native Community Centre. Indigenous Youth Outreach Centre.

"As for aboriginal peoples, I would argue that they have never been decolonized in Canada or elsewhere despite token gestures extended by the Canadian government in the form of promises of self-government and land-claims" (J. Armstrong & Ng, 2005, p. 37).

It's pretty plain. Reminders on whose land we are walking. It's glaring. Inside versus outside. Canada at its most raw. A tension that isn't going away.

"There is no English history without that other history. The notion that identity has to do with people that look the same, feel the same, call themselves the same, is nonsense. As a process, as a narrative, as a discourse, it is always told from the position of the Other" (S. Hall, 2000, p. 147).

O Canada... Our home "On Native Land."

- orange: Listen, I don't deny that that is something that's missing in our sport that we need to address. But right now we're talking about clubs and traditions and community.
- *blue:* I agree. It's about what this sport gives back. The traditions that connect us back with what is important in this sport.
- orange: I remember in a neighbouring community, their club burnt down.

purple: That must have been awful.

- *orange:* My wife is from there. It was traumatic for her. The heart of the community was literally gone.
- red: [You mean figuratively... ah language]
- orange: The new place was stark, like almost unfinished. It was about getting it rebuilt, not making it feel like it did before. She remembers that feeling, "it's just so brand new."
- beige: That must have been hard.
- orange: Absolutely. Absolutely. I just remember her being jealous of those other towns that still had their clubs, and the need to get hers back going on.

- *blue:* But don't you just adapt? Like play other sports, or do something else in the winter?
- purple: I think it is such a focus for those communities. If it isn't there...
- *orange:* Yeah, the community really suffered. People were so wrapped up in club and then it was just gone.
- *beige:* See, you can't deny that these *clubs* are something other than just a sports facility.
- *red:* Even when our country club close to us decided to stop the curling, it was really hard on us.
- blue: What do you mean?
- *red:* Golf and country clubs have this tension. Curling is the poor cousin. Golfers pay high dues and see curlers as not pulling their weight.
- orange: That's a bit rich. I mean, what are golfers doing in the winter?
- *red:* The new push is technology, indoor simulators. Or ice skating. Seems all pretty **high brow** to me. We were lucky to find another club so we could continue curling.
- orange: For me, curling is lower socio-economic, like more blue-collar.
- *red:* There's that word again: "blue-collar." What does that mean today? I mean I don't want to get too deep into it, but blue-collar isn't the same anymore, we have so few real trade jobs. We don't have a manufacturing sector anymore, so what does it really mean?
- orange: Okay, you are sort of right. Maybe it isn't specifically bluecollar, but you don't need a lot of money to curl. That is significant. Perhaps just a class thing?

in(out)sider: I'm on the flight back home. It has been quite a trip.

"You flying home? Where you from?"

I tell him. I ask him what he is doing.

"Going to the National Assembly of First Nations. I am Chief of a local band."

I tell him what I was doing in Winnipeg.

"Hmm, I don't know many of us that curl, at least in the city. Maybe a few up closer to [a northern community]."

I ask him why not? He shrugs,

"The biggest problem is getting into facilities. We can't raise taxes to build anything. So how do you get a new rink? Well, that's why I'm heading to Ottawa."

I didn't know.

"You want us to curl? Let us build our own facilities. Simple, then maybe we will curl."

beige: But let's get back to our Canadian question.

- *purple*: Curling still is seen around the world as a Canadian sport. Just look at the demand for our talent to coach. I know three people that are working in Japan coaching.
- orange: I think Canada owns this sport. Sure, it started in Scotland, but obviously it's a bigger deal in Canada than anywhere and it always has been.

- *beige:* I would hazard to say it might be more of a national sport than lacrosse or hockey, you know what I mean, because of our success at the highest level.
- *blue:* That's the difference. Here, it's about community and grass roots. *We are curling.* It's less about the elites and medals.
- orange: But that's where curling is different. The sport comes from the club, not the other way around. That's why these bonspiels are special. It's the lifeblood of the sport. We don't exist without this.
- *blue:* There's a lot of people who might want to try it in the city, and there's a lot of people there. It's like teaching it in a new country. I always thought that was interesting.

red: What do you mean?

- *blue:* There are people from so many other countries coming to our city. It is so *multicultural*. If you are trying to teach them curling, you might as well be going to somewhere in Africa or South America.
- *purple*: Curling is international. It isn't Canada's game anymore. It's just like hockey. It's time to let that go.
- *blue:* Curling is somewhere in there for Canada as a national sport. I don't know which one it is, maybe hockey is our obsession and curling's our passion?
- beige: But Canada, well, it's unique. We have people at both ends of the spectrum. Professional like 30 teams that could compete for gold. And we have a ton of people just playing, in every city, town. You can't say that in any other country. You can't say it in Sweden, you can't say it in Scotland, you can't say it in Norway. It's just not to that level.

purple: It does have such a deep, deep tradition in Canada.

red: Just like the bagpipes.

orange: Yeah, let's not throw out the baby with the bathwater.

beige: We need to keep them for sure.

purple: Maybe. We cannot deny that it came from a certain place.

red: Yeah, a place that denies itself. Canadian, but really for some. Not all.

It's over. The winners line up for their photos, another addition to the trophy wall. Volunteers buzz around finishing up their duties. Success.

~ End of Scene ~

4.1.3 Director's Notes – "When the Pipes Come Marching In..."

The scene depicts notions of *Canadiana*, colonialism, and "new Canadianism." The conversations shift towards the exploration of Canada both as place and as concept. From the participants, there were many divisions and binary constructions: East/West, North/South, and rural/urban. These binary oppositions served to establish invisible *norms* that were often called out as part of the sport, "we've always done it like that"; "we would never do that here." Many of these customs and traditions are brought under scrutiny in the scene dialogue. Each participant's subjectivity unsettled a narrow conceptualization of issues related to tradition, belonging, and values. The text is a testimony to the complex tensions, oppositions, and divisions found while analyzing stories from the participants as there was little uniformity amongst them.

The scene questions the dominant vision of Canada, wherein holding onto one's heritage is important to some of the *participant actors*. The dialogue reflects back on notions of decolonization, and what might be an appropriate response from the sport. Thus, curling's heritage and tradition need to be interrogated due to the sport's characterization as quintessentially Canadian, or at least as having deep ties to Canadian culture. The dialogue centres on a perspective that associates Canada with "settler mentality." Consider how the notion of "the settler" has been portrayed in popular culture, and in particular, the notion of how "whiteness" engages with Indigenous Peoples:

The figure of the frontiers man who is one with nature saturates the U.S. cultural imaginary, from the Adirondack backwoodsman and the Order of the Arrow of the Boy Scouts of America ..., to Kevin Costner's Dances with Wolves and the most recent expression of the White settler-becoming-Indian, Johnny Depp's characterization of Tonto. (Tuck & Gaztambide-Fernández, 2013, p. 73)

Thus, critically engaging with this challenging subject matter also alludes to the *Othering* of people and the need to break with tradition to move forward. The dialogue is designed to challenge the structures within curling and show how people interact within that space. The importance of tradition underwriting sport is further explored in the discussion. The relationships among colonialism, Canada, and curling point to a

deeper consideration of what is not being talked about when looking at the issue of diversity in the context of curling.

4.2 Scene II – So White...

4.2.1 Reader Notes

The dialogue is visually split. On the left, the *participant actors* are written to expose situations and tensions that relate to the context. The right side explores a self-reflective negotiation of my roles as researcher/inquirer, racialized person, and trans-racial adoptee. For me, it is critical to present these two aspects of the inquiry together. However, it requires the reader to consider both sides of the dialogue in combination, and therefore requires the reader to choose how to read through the text. On both sides, *participant actors* and narrator(s) struggle with multiple perspectives, identities, and representations: "[t]urning toward *otherness*, being responsible to it, listening in its shadow, confused by its complexities" [emphasis added] (Lather, 1996, p. 539).

The scene is constructed with the aim of dislodging a stable researcherresearched binary, and also a typical expression of a text-based analytic practice. Often, traditional scientific writings bring their own histories, epistemologies, and assumptions hidden within. Construction of the performance text allowed me to break with confining forms: "[n]urturing our own voices releases the censorious hold of "science writing" on our consciousness as well as the arrogance it fosters in our psyche; writing is validated as a method of knowing" (Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005, p. 962). The form and language in this scene disrupt or trouble the ease of reading, or, as Lather (1996) suggested, it provides a "rigid confusion" (p. 539). Through the *differently* represented text, the reader must refer to their own insights, where taken-for-granted meanings and

140

knowledge might be disrupted. Each reading of the text allows for a re-interpretation,

where new insights can be formed. Such reading safeguards against fixed, rigid, and/or

permanent interpretations.

The following text is designed as a fractured,

R

disjointed representation of both an

Ľ

internal dialogue and conversation drawn from participants' experiences.

Ы

There is both possibility of reading the text as a coherent dialogue travelling down one column at a time, or, reading it as a conversation with internal dialog, moving back and forth across the page.

The intent is to show the messiness

 \mathbf{V}

within the content and thinking. It is a ruptured conversation in that for me, my role is split, showing my biases and identity formations that are working during the capture and analysis

of participant accounts.

Ы

I am not a neutral, objective interpreter of these events. Rather, my role influences and orchestrates the telling freely given by participants.

 \mathbf{h}

The words render their experiences yet are relational to the situation and conditions that are present. The content is later re-interpreted and "analyzed," through perception and filters that generate this dialogic accounting of notions related to

\mathbf{h}

"race," "whiteness," and dominance.

4.2.2 Scene II – Performance Text

"So White..."

Prologue

The building is nondescript. It resembles many buildings built the in '60s and '70s. It has a flavour of "municipal," and fits with its surroundings. Stale air greets me as I walk in; it has a facility vibe. From the door, you can see the ice: sheets. Each sheet indicates a playing surface for a game, with painted lines to separate them from each other. At each end, there are large concentric circles that resemble a bull's eye: the house. Teams launch their rocks (40lbs circular, smooth stones with a handle on top) from one end, hoping to have them come to rest inside the target. The more rocks in the house the better chances of scoring points: "simple eh?"

To the left and up the stairs is the lounge. There is always a lounge, it seems. The décor isn't contemporary but functional, with circular tables and chairs: it is a "typical" curling club in that sense, the round tables, the lounge chairs, the carpeting, it is all familiar. There is a bar in the corner and there is a smell of fried food. Big glass windows let you see out onto the ice. No one is playing right now. It's the afternoon. There are 8 sheets at this club, which is large in the curling world.

The lounge is empty save a few staff preparing for the day. It is a big space, seems almost too big for the level of activity that is happening: almost holding an expectation of being filled, maybe before or after the game. The round table offers a way for all to be present, perhaps equal, as there is no head, no middle, no upper or lower. Yet, there is distance. Sitting across from one another represents the greatest distance between people.

I sit down in a chair to prepare. I scan the room. There are trophies and all sorts of curling paraphernalia: banners, brooms, shoes, ads for upcoming events. You can't help but notice the photos. All these faces staring back at you. Winners all – they have their picture taken and it is hung on the wall with their accomplishment prominently displayed. People are smiling, happy. You can almost feel a sense of pride. Local bonspiel? Provincials? Nationals? Seniors? Juniors? Men? Women? Mixed? It doesn't seem to matter. One thing jumps out:

Everyone pictured is White (?)

It's *their* club. It's comfortable for everyone. The lounge is full. Noisy. They sit around the table with their beverages...

(Scene Opens: People sitting at a round table in the lounge)	(Scene Opens: Raconteur Reflecting)
<i>red:</i> it is uncomfortably "white" ⁸ here.	in(out)sider: It's January. I walk into the club: "I'm here to do a job."
beige: what do you mean?	I feel like I'm floating above my body. It's that "club-
red: I mean, take a look around, who do	feel" again: round tables,
you see? I know who I see out there.	trophies, and the photos,
It certainly doesn't resemble the	always the photos. All those
city. At least my city .	White faces: I check my
	blackness (Goldberg, 2002)
blue: Yeah? I hadn't noticed. I really	at the door and put on my
don't see colour. Sure, curling has	researcher-face.
a bit of a reputation of being	raconteur: There seems to be an overall
predominantly white, but I, I	perception of curling and
think that's changing.	"whiteness." The sport
	continues to be visibly oriented
red: well, not fast enough for me. Maybe	towards <i>dominance</i> – White,
it is just this club, but	male, English-speaking,
	married, able-bodied (Curling
	Canada et al., 2015)

⁸ The term *white* is enclosed in quotations to indicate its contentious meaning, and that interrogation of its hidden privilege is required. However, it is only quoted in the first instance. Afterwards, it remains just *white*, so as to show how often it remains hidden, and exempt from examination.

The word "race" and "whiteness" are enclosed in quotations to draw attention to their reification and taken-for-granted-*ness* in our society (St. Pierre, 2000). It serves as a call to re-examine their meanings as relational and subjective (Derrida, 1976), and force scrutiny of their supposed permanence and incontestable fixity of their Truths (Berbary, 2017; St. Pierre, 2000). Further, I use the quotations throughout the document to remind the reader of the conflict and tension surrounding these words.

Black and *White* are also used in the document without quotations and as proper nouns. Black is capitalized to convey a meaning that is tangible, identifiable, cohesive and in contrast to White dominant culture. Thus, Black represents a political grouping for resistance against the discrimination and oppression of people of colour (Carrington, 2010; S. Hall & Du Gay, 1996). I capitalize White as an approach to focus on the dominance and privilege "whiteness" occupies in Canadian society (Bonds & Inwood, 2016). It requires interrogation of its meanings, assumed power, and privilege. It calls White out into the open, where it can no longer hide or remain unexamined. Yet, the use of these terms is problematic and incomplete. As social constructions, they do not properly account for the diversity, variations, and multiplicity inherent in the notion of racial classification, and thus should be persistently challenged.

blue: It think it reflects *the city*, at least this neighbourhood.

purple: When I started 30 years ago, I was the only nonwhite at our club, not this one mind you.

beige: Oh really? What was that like?

purple: I see things changing but we have a long way to go. in(out)sider: Holy Shit! I missed it completely. She's in a photo! A lone Asian woman! Was she White enough? Does she pass? I've erased her – not coloured enough to be included? When are you "race(ed)" enough to be considered part of the group? Her erasure happening in my Black-mind's-eye.

Woman/Asian = Disregarded, Invisible

There is always an assumption that "race" is somehow permanent and essential (Adair & Rowe, 2010; Carrington, 2010). But as with all identifications, there is a becoming (St. Pierre, 2013) at some point in someone's history.

- beige: I don't care, everyone is welcome here. It doesn't matter if they are white, beige, black or pink.
- *blue:* What do you mean "a long way to go"?
- purple: I mean, look around. Our membership has changed, there are more Asians playing now. Look at China and Japan, they have really taken to the sport.
- *red:* Well that may be, but c'mon, what do you see here... a bunch of white people, it kind of bugs me.

blue: It's kinda an obscure sport.

orange: But how do we change it to make it perhaps more "representative"

red: Are you talking about what we see on TV? Or are you talking about here at the club?

in(out)sider: I'm sitting at a table now, just waiting for my participant to show up. There is music playing in the background, Neil Fucking Young. (I laugh weep to myself).

bruthR: Yo, when 'you become a nigga?

the boy: What do you mean?

raconteur: (*sighs*) Do you remember *becoming* Black?

bruthR: Ya man! That's what I said!!

the boy: I always knew I was different. I didn't look like my brother or sister.

- **bruthR:** Yeah, but yo, you know, when did *they* get at you?
- **the boy:** Maybe 5? 6? I was walking home. Next thing I know, they were chasing me. I was so scared.

bruthR: What?!?

raconteur: Who was chasing you?

the boy: I don't know, a couple of White boys:

red: I'm not even sure what that means.

"run nigger, run" 'you don't belong here," "we're gonna get you!"

Racial oppression always has the sub-text: "go back to where you are from," "this is ours," and "we *only* allow you to exist here if you conform, but know this: you will never be *of* us" (Fanon, 1952, p. 89).

- orange: Good question, I don't see many "people of colour" on TV. When I was watching the Olympics in Vancouver, well, not a lot of colour there.
- *blue:* So, are you saying that colour doesn't matter at all?

beige: Not in my books.

- *red:* That's a bit naïve. Of course, "race" matters. You can't unsee it. And you ain't seeing it here!
- blue: It's the same as Black Lives Matter. I don't want to see "people of colour" singled out. That's not what curling is about. All Lives Matter, and everyone can play.
- orange: It's very welcoming. Anyone can participate.

- raconteur: There is always a feeling of *othering* hidden in the depths of oppression; it is the alienation of a fellow human. Once affected, the "sub-human" has lost all rights and privileges, and can be manipulated, pushed under, and rendered inert.
- **the boy:** I just ran, my heart was in my throat, just ran. I could barely see I was crying so much.

bruthR: Man...

"*Race*" was thrust upon me with all of the aggression and oppression in the language of power (Hall 1997, Hylton 2009).

the boy: That's all I know. I didn't even know what that *word* meant. I knew it was bad (*that I was bad*). I was just so scared. I guess after, knew I was *Black*, and people didn't like me. Black was bad. I was bad. And for me that's really important.

blue: All are welcome? Hmm. Yeah, but...

- *purple:* It's true, our club is pretty open. But there still aren't a lot of black or brown people at our club.
- orange: I think we have done a pretty decent job of attracting new people. Look at [person's name], they have really been pushing to make sure there are programs to help get "people of colour" in the doors. I think it is working (a bit)...

the boy: A day like any other day; a present for my birthday. It wasn't a new bike, but it was mine. Taking it outside, the air felt closer than usual. The neighbourhood was quiet, were there no kids around today? Where were my friends? Did that matter? It was the bike, not old, not new, but somehow incomplete. Not broken, not missing parts, yet incomplete. So, what was the remedy, the solution? How to make all the parts seem full and whole and "normal"? It was mine, my new old bike, and colour... black. The fix? white paint. And so, paint, and paint, and yet, he cannot make it new, it is still not "right", so paint, again. I didn't want to be Black. I hated my skin. I hated me.

"**Racelessness** is the neoliberal attempt to go beyond – without (fully) coming to terms with – racial histories and their accompanying racist inequities and iniquities" (Goldberg, 2002, p. 221). Do we assume that a sport must have the appearance and representation of a *place*? Can that be accomplished by relying on the motivations and desires of those not represented? Those people pushed to the margins? Again, people participating in dominant cultures assume assimilation is required as part of induction into that sporting culture. It is not without a measure of violence (Butler, 2006; Crenshaw & West, 1995; Goldberg, 2002; Hylton, 2005). Sport participation: a benign process? Canadian multiculturalism?

beige:	Anyone can come here and
	curl. Everyone is welcome.

- red: Sure doesn't seem that way. What if you walked into a club that was 100% black or brown people? How comfortable would you be? Why aren't they here?
- blue: Well, when I started curling, the learn-to-curl sessions were all sorts of different folks. Maybe I don't see it the same because of how I started.
- *red:* I see that. You see a lot more diverse people who maybe are interested in trying it out.
- beige: I bring in kids from one of the most racialized disadvantaged areas of the city. All I can say is "they love it."
- *purple*: Same for me. My company had a "curling day" and we all showed up. Most of us didn't know anything about the sport.

beige: What did you think about it?

raconteur: There is tension here. *They* are challenged by the current situation and have difficulty deciding where to begin. Is there actually a problem with diversity in the sport? What, really, would diversity look like if it were fulfilled? How do we take into account the varied demographics across Canada?

- in(out)sider: Wow, these curlers aren't shying away from this topic. I can almost see them going through their mental gymnastics. But what do they make of me and my role? Are they really able to be *truly* open? Does my presence open a lacuna due to my bi-racial-*ness*, my blackness?
- **bruthR:** Yo man, but you all are sooooo *oreo* man. You know, Black on the outside, with a big ol' White filling.
- in(out)sider: (thinking) I never get to be White, it doesn't matter that it is part of me. I can't express it. It is erased by my blackness. I am forced to exist as Black, or be at risk of not existing at all, but I am comfortable here, in this place, in this situation. I have been here before; it's family familiar.
- **the boy:** I'm 24 and walking into the tennis club; it is "fancy," at least for me. I feel

purple: It was great. Everybody was having a great time, laughing, sliding on the ice.

beige: So, what's your company look like?

purple: All different. Our company
has a strong policy around
diversity and accessibility.We were voted into the
#100 Companies in Canada
promoting diversity in the
workplace.

red: And how many of those people that you curled with curl now?

purple: Well, I'm the only one.

red: See. There it is. So why did you keep curling?

- *purple*: I had a friend in a league here. It took me a while to be able to join.
- *blue:* Why was is hard to get into the club? Isn't curling in decline?
- orange: There are clubs closing all the time. We need more bodies through the door.

"outclassed" already and haven't even hit a ball.

tennis is a White sport.

I am playing soon. I'm nervous in the change-room. There are eyes on me. I walk through to find a place to put on my tennis gear. My tennis *whites*.

you don't belong here.

I look into the mirror. I love this sport. I love to play, to compete. How did I get here? Did Arthur send me? Did Althea? Was it Yanick, James, Serena, Jo-Wilfred, Gaël, Venus? No.

tennis isn't a Black sport

I played with my buddy Steve, the palest Scotsman out there. "You're almost *translucent*," we used to joke.

raconteur: Did the boy imagine continued

colonialization resulting in a hierarchical, administrative structure, formalized through "clubs," and "whiteness," and tennis *whites*, which he needed to wear, to conform, and belong? How was that lost on the people he came into contact with, the fact that outward appearance required suppression of his identity, at odds with his resistance (Hesse-Biber, 2012, p. 6)?

- *purple*: I don't know about that, but here, there was just no room. There aren't that many clubs left in the city.
- *red:* But there it is again, maybe there are "people of colour" curling or wanting to curl, but they sure aren't getting into the club.
- orange: I don't get it. You're all talking about this diversity thing. I grew up in the Prairies, and the only people around are white.
- red: Exactly my point, what even is "diversity" in curling? What would it look like to have a "diverse" or "representative" mirror of our city?

blue: And what about Native people?

orange: Well they just didn't play. We didn't have much interaction with them. They were on the reserve and kept to themselves.

beige: We have such a rich mosaic of people here in our city.

- **bruthR:** Ha, maaaaan, y'all is wack. Tennis. C'mon. No nigga plays that. Except for them Williams.
- raconteur: Is curling really different? There are so many features held in common with tennis. There are clubs. There is membership. There is tradition. What's the difference? Is there really one there?
- the boy: I really loved playing basketball, at least at first. I was good. I got known around the school. There were a couple of other *ethnics* on the team, but no one Black. Where I grew up, not a lot of people that looked like me. I mean five in a high school of 1500. At least that's what it seemed to me. I was good. I made the 2nd team all-stars. I was allowed to be good. I allowed myself to be good. I watched it always. I learned all the players. Magic. Kareem. Worthy. Michael. But I wasn't like them. I didn't grow up like them.

raconteur: He had always been good at sports. Was it "inherent"? Something expressed of his blackness? But sports made him feel good. An expression and extension of "who" he was? He could play basketball well: so why did it trouble him so much? What is a *stereotype*, when it becomes real? ...but he was *a more*. Can't you see that? What stops you from seeing "me"! I am an "AND"... We need to bring that out more.

- *blue:* I like Canada for that. We value multiculturalism. It's even a law or something, isn't it?
- orange: There you go again, citythis, city-that. City, city, city. To me, curling is born 'n' bred in the small towns here.
- blue: Yeah, you can't deny that curling is big in the small towns. I remember a bonspiel I went to in [named small town], it had 64 teams competing! In a town of 2000? What's up with that?
- orange: Exactly. Those events are huge and always have been. You can't deny that curling's roots ain't in the big city.
- *red:* Maybe, but so what? Because it has a certain origin, that's it? We just stop thinking about why it's still so white?
- orange: We can change things, but we can't just lose

an and, and, and, and, and (Deleuze, 1988, p. 25). An assemblage of many, and nothing at all (Deleuze, 1988, p. 9).

- **bruthR:** Ha, no my brother, you ain't from da hood.
- **the boy:** But I stopped playing. I didn't want that "dumb nigger from the projects" feeling.
- raconteur: If there is *blackness*, does our social world not construct it, or is present from the start, from birth? Did he look back to uncover an *authentic* truth hidden away in the recesses of his mind, his soul? Was the sheer physicality of sport his source of anxiety? Did it evoke questions of "race," gender, class structure, human(ness); moving him away from a sport he loved, and into others that challenged the norm? If a "team" presented a tension, a construct that was detrimental to his relationship to sport, would an individual sport deliver what he wished for? Did the mastery of skills, and competency afford his privilege as being captain? Did it call into contention being "marginal"? In that context, how does one associate with *dominance* and non-dominance at the same time? How does sport affect, confuse, and trouble his ability to define himself in those categories?

everything. Traditions mean something.

- beige: I agree. And we can't forget about our history. It's ours and we love our traditions. I don't really care if it offends anyone, it's important, and honestly, I don't see the big deal.
- blue: I don't know, maybe it's the cold. I mean they are coming from warmer climates. Ice isn't something that they're used to. Could that be part of it?
- beige: I don't see that. I mean we bring in kids from the surrounding area, even [named community: poor, visibly brown and black] and they all have a great time. I do it every year. So I don't think that's the issue.
- red: Ah yes, we are good at that. But where does that lead? So you get a bunch of black and brown kids all hyped up about playing. What's next for them? Do their parents join the club so they can play? I don't see that option happening much.

And when – if he did not identify as a category – were categories assigned to him? Without consent or knowledge or protest.

the boy: It is an oppressively humid night; two teams squaring off in a men's league soccer game. We are playing the Portuguese Canadian team. No bitter rivalry here, just a regular league game. As time winds down, however, the collegiality begins to wane:

"Fuck you! You black piece of shit!"

Interestingly enough, I had been waiting for THAT word, that pinnacle of racial taunts; the word that we all are taught to fear. And in the heat of the moment, it doesn't come. Why was it important?

nigger. niggaz. n#@\$r. nigger

in(out)sider: The questions are coming to an end. Do I press more? Is there an answer that would really satisfy this question? They are saying a lot of different things, why is this such a troubling question?

the boy: I hate this feeling.

raconteur: What feeling are you talking about?

the boy: I *always* have to explain. I always have to justify. I didn't ask for this. I didn't know I would *always* have to answer

- beige: What about sponsoring kids? Like scholarships or subsidizing their fees? I've heard that happens in other sports, why not curling?
- orange: I can see that happening maybe. But we don't have a reserve fund. Where does the money come from?
- *red*: That's that then. We are surviving here, and that's where it stops?
- orange: It's just not something we have entertained before. It's not a bad idea.
- *blue:* It's just another piece of the equity pie. How far do we go? Are we responsible for this? Really?
- *purple:* We are so fortunate, why not?
- *blue:* I don't know. There are soooo many good causes. Does this really count?
- *red:* It does if we want to get more diversity in here. We've got to

for this. Being Black. It just sucks sometimes.

bruthR: But that be where it's at. You know, y'all can sit there and talk shit, but when it comes down to it, we the ones that are gonna pay.

raconteur: What do you mean?

- bruthR: Even [in Canada] here, it's our Black bodies that getting hit, shot, and dead. We all gotta pay. Police be hitting us, shooting us. F*ck. Ain't no escaping it. White cops kill Black people... all... the... time.
- **the boy:** [to himself] But it can't be *all* White people, can it? What about my mum and dad? My sister and brother? **They** are my family.

"Much of the existing sociological and psychological literature related to adoption focuses on the initial and long-term development and adjustment of adopted children and families, but there is little emphasis on the cultural development of children who have parents from a different race and culture" (Morden & Hopp, 2007, p. 60).

- **bruthR:** Yo man, doesn't matter. They al' get somethin' out of it.
- **raconteur:** You mean they benefit because of White privilege?

bite the bullet and make some damn room.

orange: I don't know. That might work here in [the City] but I don't think a small club could go that route.

- **bruthR:** Damn straight. Don't matter who. They al' get a piece of it. And they don't have to answer for nuthin'.
- **the boy:** I feel tired. All the time. I wake up thinking about this. I'm always thinking about the next time someone will call me the N-word. Or worse. I'm stressed out

"Typically, modern racists do not perceive either the benefits of White privilege or the specific challenges faced by members of racial minority groups. For example, people of color routinely experience race-related 'microaggressions': subtle insults and put-downs, which may be overlooked by others" (Katz & Doyle, 2013, p. 65).

- *blue:* But is that curling's *responsibility*? Why do we have to change our traditions? It's part of our game.
- *purple*: It's something to think about. I mean feeling part of a culture that has a weight associated with it at least for some people.
- orange: There we go again. We can't please everyone. The way I see it, be part of our sport or don't. We can't go changing things just because.

raconteur: It's all due to you existing as an Other in a White space; regardless of how comfortable you might believe you are, it exacts a toll. White is differently associated with "race," as "the processes of defining a white identity, however, are rather different because of the dominance of whiteness in our society. The discursive power that is embodied through the 'discourse of othering'... causes whiteness to be 'inside', 'included', 'powerful', the 'we', the 'us', the 'answer' as opposed to the problem, and most important of all, unspoken" (Long & Hylton, 2002, p. 89). Being on the outside requires a constant effort to bring oneself back to the interior. To share the benefits

- orange: I get it. There are things that we might not feel okay with today that we did in the past.
- *blue:* It seems that it's all different for different places. I can't see using a one-size-fits-all with this thing.
- red: But that's the whole point. We
 are at the centre. We are it.
 So now what?

that are supposedly open to all but are relinquished thanks to unequal terms.

- **bruthR:** Yo nigga, stop with that school shee*it. It all *be* White. IT ALL BE WHITE.
- **raconteur:** We don't all exercise the same level of power when you can't get access to it (Foucault, 1977).

You are **powerless**...power-less[-than-human].

England, 1974: We are on sabbatical. My dad agrees to an exchange at the University of Warrick, we come along as the *family*. I remember everything: I'm seven. I remember the flight, the green and white VW van we drove away from Heathrow. I remember getting chocolate mousse in the first-class lounge on the 747. It's in that little bubble, you have to go up some stairs. I remember seeing a woman smiling at me as I sat and ate my dessert. Now we are in Oxford. I run hard, and shoes back in those days didn't last. My mum and dad are constantly buying me shoes. "I'm not wearing my school shoes, I want my pumps," I say defiantly. It's England, so it's full school uniform, down to the leather shoes. I've never worn them before. I hate them; I want my pumps, my gym shoes. They make me "go fast." They've got holes though. I need new ones again. My dad stays with my brother and sister. It's just my mum and me on the hunt for new shoes. We find only one open shop in town; I can't remember why. My mum opens the door, the salesman just stares. We are just browsing, not sure if we'll find anything. The salesman comes over to my mum. They are talking. I can't hear it all. "You can't come in here with him." I don't understand. My mum protests but grabs my hand and we walk out. Looking back, I wonder what he thought: Was she my nanny? Was she a do-gooder? Definitely not my *mum*. Doesn't matter, I was still **Black**.

Postlude

Wendt: you will maintain this safe place for yourself, for your art? You don't think you will ever change and uh, write books that incorporate White, White lives into them substantially?

Morrison: I have done.

Wendt: um, in a substantial way?

Morrison: you can't understand how powerfully racist that question is, can you? As you could never ask a White author, when are you going to write about Black people? Whether you did or not. Whether she did or not. Even the inquiry, comes from a position of being in the centre

Wendt: and being used to being in the centre ...

Morrison: and being used to being in the centre, and saying "you know, is it ever possible that you will ever enter the mainstream?" It's inconceivable that where I already am is the mainstream.

Excerpt from interview: "Toni Morrison: Uncensored," (Deans, 1998)

~ End of Scene ~

4.2.3 Director's Notes – "So White..."

In Canada's move toward Reconciliation and decolonization, it is difficult to voice a call to recognize "Others" affected by the colonial process without diluting the true need for Indigenous Reconciliation, reparations, and compensation. Yet, people of African descent also suffer(ed) the colonial experience, from displacement, oppression, and a negotiated presence in relation to dominant European, White society in Canada (Fleras, 2014; Henry, 2000; Sharma & Wright, 2008). This is made more complicated by second wave immigration from the Caribbean, where diasporic effects have shaped migration patterns and the establishment of Black cultures in Canada (Alexander, 2004; Fanon, 1952, 1961). Thus, people of African descent have lost their connection to their roots, and tradition has been replaced with those of a colonial representation (Day, 2000; Greaves, 1998). However, those same people of African descent have been forced into and also have participated in the act of colonization while searching for "place" within dominant colonial culture (Carrington, 2010; Day, 2000; Mignolo, 2011b).

The scene "*So White*..." centres on issues of "race." Calling out "race" as a political strategy – collective power, safety, cohesion, and pride – has been effective in the dialogue concerning discrimination, inclusion, representation, and equality (Hylton, 2009; Omi, 1994; Teelucksingh, 2006). However, the scene also disrupts identity politics by showing the limitations of "race" in relation to identity, where "race" can encapsulate and reify a person as Black, White, Asian, or Other. On the one hand, the narrator (raconteur) is empowered by identifying as Black, yet the association is incomplete and therefore distressing as a means of identification. The plurality of identity necessitates moving beyond "race" towards a relational, subjective negotiation able to reflect the dynamics of being, of being/becoming whole. The narrator's text explores that negotiation: of being both Black and White, or belonging to a White family, and being comfortable in White spaces. These themes are important considerations for analysis and are taken up in detail within the discussion to unpack the

157

difficulties of "race" and sport, as well as how "whiteness" troubles the cultural context of curling.

4.3 Scene III – If I Only Had My Way...

4.3.1 Reader Notes

The next scene explores reactions amongst *participant actors* to three situations that I envisioned based on the participants' stories, and which are projected fifteen to twenty years into the future. The participant actors' commentary was used to explore the implications of the scenarios. The dialogue follows a direction in line with actual participant perspectives now discussing the future of curling. This content gave rise both to the actual text and the inferred or interpreted fiction tied to the multiple perspectives of the *participant actors*. The narrator (raconteur, facilitator) speaks from a range of perspectives that offer insights and shape the dialogue. The interjections are meant only to freeze the conversation in place, as if the *participant actors* were paused in mid-sentence. The scenario text is designed and crafted partially to be provocative, but also to be grounded in possibility, not probability. As a reader, you are encouraged to suspend your internal voice that might discount these scenarios outright as "inconceivable" or say "that would never happen in that way." The scenarios merely offer a system of thinking about *what might be*, and in any event: can we be assured any of these situations might not occur? Here a new character is introduced: *the facilitator*, a role that establishes a seasoned practitioner in future thinking to guide the participants through the possibilities and draw out their insights into how these worlds might come about, what impacts might be felt, and what the implications may be for our world and the sport of curling.

159

4.3.2 Scene III – Performance Text

"If I Only Had My Way..."

Prologue

Raconteur: Overwhelmingly, participants are passionate about curling and want it to succeed. Yet, they also sense that things need to change. Participants are asking for it. They see something that isn't right to them, but there are unanswered questions: how do we go about something that exhibits a complexity of symptoms – race, dominance, tradition, culture, along with impenetrability of scope – individual, local, provincial, national, global? Where do we begin? What structure(s) do we need to address first, second, third? How to include and how to privilege the margins? How to engage allies and how to limit detractors? The complexity of change seems to render us impotent, stymied, and worn down. The overwhelming sentiment is "this situation needs to move, it cannot continue to persist," but where do we start?

> Working in Strategic Foresight and Future Thinking (strategic planning for long-term time horizons) for the past 10 years has left me with the following crucial insight. If people are pressed to entertain possibilities of futures to come, this introduces the ability to suspend those vines of thought that hold us in place, fasten us to a perceived reality, and that which limits our creativity in approach and conceivable resolutions. It is with this in mind that we attempt to push the boundaries through invoking imagined futures. Our actors are in place, ready to engage. They are discussing fresh, possible outcomes that set the stage for real change.

(Scene Opens: White board, table with people sitting patiently. A lone person standing beside a flip chart getting ready to speak)

facilitator: Alright it's time to begin. I appreciate your patience and want to thank each and every one of you for agreeing to participate in this round table discussion about The Future of Curling Moving into 2030. You have all had a chance to read the three scenarios, and what I would like to do now is hear your thoughts on the impacts and implications that might arise in each of the possible futures. Again, these are *possible* futures, so you need to suspend your disbelief and impulse to dismiss, and truly open your perception and allow the narrative to wash over your mind. Our goal is to think beyond our present to understand what might come to pass, in order to prepare us in the event that some of the conditions begin to ring true.

So, let's dive in...

Scenario A: The Return to a New Nationalism

January 10, 2030: The poster read, "Join the 'New Wave': Canada the Strong." There were two White youth staring off toward an imaginary horizon. In the background, mountains and a feeling of connection to the outdoors. It was the calling card of a new politic that had swept the nation. After the riots in the detention camps five years ago, political factions were jockeying for power and prestige, each shifting farther and farther to the "right" as a calculated effort to galvanize the apathetic masses, and firm up their base, was being met with increasing success.

Canada has emerged as a "power broker" on the international stage, with lucrative trade dealings with China and the Pacific Rim. With the collapse of NAFTA, the US closed its borders to the outside world and relied on its clout to carry the day. Increasing domestic unrest has destabilized the political sphere and plunged America into a deep recession that it's not recovered from. Increased tensions between the US and Canada has forced a closure of Canada's borders citing potential threats to national security. The US banked on a pro-American ethos, building up its borders and closing off to everyone else, except the post-Brexit, independent UK. However, ongoing antagonism between the UK and EU and the UK's financial collapse required its government to implement extensive austerity measures, which devastated the region. The UK was in

disarray. Riots, food and labour shortages were just the tip of the iceberg. The UK had become the "new Have-nots."

Canada's strategic protectionism sought partnerships with China to maintain its borders and ensure economic stability through an unprecedented trade agreement, both lucrative and internationally envied. In accordance with China's trade conditions, Canada substantially increased a standing military presence to police economic refugees from the northern States. Canada successfully negotiated water rights for full control of the Great Lakes and annexed their southern shorelines. China's military support mitigated a northern threat from Russia, ensuring the Northwest Passage remained under Canadian sovereignty, but at a cost. Foreign interests own Canada's resources now. First Nations treaties were nullified, and federalism reasserted. Cities became places of increasing disparity between the have and have-nots. Infrastructure was managed largely through corporate interests and municipalities aligned with huge conglomerates to ensure their viability.

Government policy reinforced tight control of entry into the country. The immigration point system that used to rate an immigrant's worth now included a Canadian morals and values assessment. On the surface, Canada was heralded as a model of multiculturalism and acceptance internationally, but the new policies were nuanced. In many ways, it was authoritarian control masquerading as populism. It was a slow build to this state, with the erosion of democratic involvement by the public. "Canada: The Complacent" was the view from outside, and the apathy of the electorate led to successive majority governments with a protectionist, "values"-driven agenda to return Canada to its traditional past. But it was really the response to the physical disasters that provided political interests with all the control they needed. After Hurricane George swept through the East and a tsunami devastated the coast of British Columbia, the public became increasingly concerned with physical safety and looked to the government for stability. Happy to oblige, the spectre of unchecked immigration was slowly raised to distract the public from the selling off of Canada, and ushered in a new political atmosphere of distrust, protection, and exclusivity.

It was the city. Eddie was struck by the "darkness" he felt now. "It didn't used to be this way," he thought to himself. "I used to love this drive along the parkway." Now all he saw was makeshift settlements in between the trees. So many have been displaced to make room for the GoogleMSoft SmartCity₉ community.

Eddie was lucky. His background in engineering was in demand. He now managed the waste reclamation centre that produced most of the bioelectric power in the region. The technological advances were astounding, and the commitment to green technology a boon for Canada's economy. But the economic boost certainly hadn't benefitted everyone. Those on the margins increasingly found themselves more at risk. The atmosphere in the city was one of mistrust and NIMBYism; those without means were scraping to get by. The municipality tried to provide for them, but it was beholden to the new corporate entities: people were now just a line item on a ledger.

9 References - (Bliss, 2019; D'Onfro, 2019; Wakefield, 2019)

Just before the gates, Eddie noticed a group of people sitting by a fire, circled around a drum. He heard the "thump, thump" and the melodic chant coming from the circle. Their protest had been ongoing for three years now. The barricades were down now, as the police forced the group to settle in the gulley beside the road. The thought of "Reconciliation" was long past; this group struggled not to be forgotten. The "club" acquired the land, gifted by the new government in "gratitude" for ongoing support and generous contributions to their campaign. Sacred lands were remembered but access only imagined.

Eddie drove through the gates, where he was biometrically scanned, and given the green light to continue. It was a long laneway, lined with majestic trees, a perfectly manicured boulevard with flowers of every sort. The climate was so much warmer now that the area newly supported semi-tropical plants and vegetation. The lane opened up to sprawling lawns with sculptured shrubs, harkening back to a time period long past. The building was classic, colonial, with white pillars and large double doors.

There was a flurry of activity as the "club" was preparing for an annual event: "The White Forest Party"¹⁰ It was a curling bonspiel and gala, where everyone dresses in white. It was a fundraiser for a local charity that provides scholarships for university to underprivileged kids. The club had gone all out and transformed the space into a winter wonderland, resembling the world outside the train in *Snowpiercer*¹¹. "Looks wonderful, the organizing committee did a great job," Eddie commented to Betty, one of the Elders. "This year will be the best ever. We've even got pins with a white Maple Leaf for the occasion." Eddie moved through the *simulation* room towards the ice sheets.

Curling has become the "poster child" for a new Canadian aesthetic: traditional, colonial, the North, Settled. The sport hasn't changed, if anything it has embraced its roots even more. New technology has allowed for old style corn-brooms to be reintroduced, now as effective as "normal" brooms. Curling now is all *white* clothing or kilts and tams: it's old Scotland with a twist. As Eddie stepped out onto the ice, he felt pride, but with a tinge of guilt.

(An uncomfortable silence grips the group.

"How do I process this? No way this can ever happen... right?")

¹⁰ Reference – The White Party: A benefit for Saratoga Bridges, retrieved from

https://saratogabridges.ejoinme.org/MyEvents/TheWhitePartyGala/tabid/1059163/Default.aspx 11 Snowpiercer – a speculative future in which "a failed climate-change experiment has killed all life except for the lucky few who boarded the Snowpiercer, a train that travels around the globe, where a [new] class system emerges" (IMDb, 2019).

facilitator: Alright everyone, so here we are. I've just read through the first scenario, and now we are going to have a discussion. Remember, the scenario is designed as a *possible* future, not a definite. In fact, our goal is to assess what the impacts of such a situation might be, and if there are parts that we might deem *undesirable*. We are then tasked with trying to decide, if any conditions exist that might resemble what you've heard, how we could chart a different path, so we don't end up at that same place. So, who wants to start?

... Silence ...

- *purple*: [sighs heavily] I certainly don't want to live in a place like that. It is just so... so... dark. You know? Only the "few" get to do the things that they like. I certainly don't think that would ever happen in Canada.
- *beige:* Yeah, like we have our problems for sure, but there is no way that "we" would ever go down that road. Canadians are... well... we're too nice. That would never happen.
- *red:* What are you talking about? We're closer to that reality than you think. I mean look at the rise of [Donald] Trump in the U.S., and [Boris] Johnson across the pond. And what about Trudeau? We're all thinking he is such a nice guy, but just look out west, they hate him, just like his dad. Seems to me, we are in for a rude awakening if things keep going a certain way.
- blue: It can't happen. No way. Full stop.
- **facilitator:** Okay, okay. Remember, we're just asking what if it *did* come to pass? How might we react to these conditions? Think about who benefits and who doesn't. What would our society look like? And how might that be reflected in the sport?
- *red:* Exactly, the idea of wearing whites and curling only existing in a Country Club environment scares me already. I mean curling is supposed to be blue-collar or at least open to everyone.

- orange: But you can see where this might come from. Like look at the closing of all of these clubs in Canada, and if that continues, what if things only exist in a few centralized clubs? I mean look at our club, you can't really get a game, or at least you gotta be on a waiting list for a long time. Isn't that elitism at its best?
- *blue:* I disagree. We aren't elite, and I don't think it could get there. You would have an uprising from the grassroots. At least out west, those small clubs are curling's bread and butter.
- *beige:* But the closings are a factor. We aren't building new clubs. Other clubs are hard to get into. What does that leave?
- *red:* I agree. Those small clubs are an endangered species if we don't revamp them. It's not like there's a huge new swell of folks clamouring to get to the small towns. It's the city or nothing. That's where the opportunities are.
- **facilitator:** But what if? Let's shift a bit, how might things develop to get there? To that situation?
- orange: I think that it's closer than we want to admit. It's not just curling but all sport is suffering from over-organization and elitism. I mean sure curling doesn't cost a huge amount of money, but there are lots of people that don't have an extra \$800.00 to play. And getting to and fro, it's complicated for lots of people. What if you were a single parent? What then? You got no cover, no help, especially if you're new.
- *red:* Exactly! We pride ourselves on being open and inclusive, but does that really play out? I mean again, we come back to being overly white in our sport, so where is the give?
- *purple*: I've played at the country-club style places. There are lots of people that want that comfort and image. I mean, wearing whites seems crazy

to us, but at that place, there was a "White Gala" every year. It was a fundraiser, but what is that selling to the members?

blue: Yeah, that is harsh to me. It goes against our traditions.

- *red:* But isn't that the point? What if some of those traditions close doors rather than open them? If we take it down the road a little, price becomes an issue. Not just in curling but all sports. I mean soccer is pretty inclusive in Canada, but you get to the competitive ranks, and boom, it's about having the means.
- *purple*: I honestly can see it. I mean we will do everything to make sure that doesn't happen, but we do have to pay attention to it.
- *orange:* I kinda like thinking about this. I mean, it isn't happening on its own. What if there are other things that happen?

red: Such as?

orange: I mean the economy, relationship to the US, climate change. Okay, it might not exist in this story [laughs]. But sport reflects society. And if conditions change, well, look at our neighbours. A wall? Really?

facilitator: And what about the protest at the gates? Any thoughts?

- beige: I'm not sure really. But I can see it. There is a lot we need to account for moving forward. 20 years from now? I can't really say. But for me, well, we haven't really been honest with our past, even in this sport. I'm not sure we can rely on our connections to the past moving us forward. What does it say to someone that is fighting for their recognition?
- *red:* It's those damn bagpipes again. Imagine walking in our doors and being reminded that you were colonized and displaced from where you were born, where your ancestors were born, where your whole society existed, and pushed aside. It's crazy to think we are okay with all of this.

- *purple*: But I love so much of the curling mystique. It would be so hard to give it up.
- *blue:* And what is the alternative anyhow? We don't seem to know another way, at least how we could move forward. I mean our city is built on lands that were taken away, but what does that really have to do with sports?
- *red:* That's where I park the bus. Sport is big. It occupies our entire society. We can't leave it out and just play and smile and think everything is okay still. Those days are done. Or at least should be.
- **facilitator:** So, where do you think we, as curlers, where do we go from here? Again, the scenario is set to be provocative. What can we attend to now, so perhaps this situation might not come about?
- orange: For me, it's opening up to others. I think we try to do a good job, but I'm not sure we can say it's really working. Maybe on the social side, like rentals. But membership?
- *red:* I just don't see this place reflecting what is really going on here. It might be the sport. It might be us as members. I'm not sure. But it's got to be different. It's got to change.
- beige: Yeah but how? I come back to where do we start?
- *blue:* Well, like I said, I think curling is inclusive, it's just hard to shift our base. I mean there is no turnover, so how can we get other folks in?
- *purple*: It can't come from on-high. It has to be us. We need to change. Maybe we just aren't creating the opportunities for others to embrace this space, this sport.
- *orange:* I don't think we can just rely on our core tradition as well. Sure, it's fun and social, but there are a lot of things that are fun and social.

- *blue:* We know that if people come in the door, there's usually a good feeling. So, let's get them in the door.
- *orange:* That is the million-dollar question, right? How? Why would someone come in?
- *red:* Why are we the ones talking about this? I just have to ask: are we in the best position to answer that question?

(Again silence. Darting looks between people. Uncertain and sombre. Is that our future?)

facilitator: Okay, let's move onto the next scenario. Everybody ready?

Scenario B: A Tale of a New Centre

February 3, 2030: There was a round of applause as the ribbon was cut with a pair of gold, oversized scissors. It was another successful conversion project come to fruition. This was the tenth of its kind, a new type of curling facility. Converting office space into sports facilities was now commonplace. As employment became more decentralized, mobile and remote, office towers were obsolete, and now empty.¹² Developers and landholders looked for new ways to utilize the space. Some spaces became subsidized housing, while others were targeted for new service provision.¹³

Public engagement in government was now open, transparent, and organized. Municipalities governed through consensus, with plebiscites ruling the day (Chidester,

¹² Conversion of office towers and mixed-up space has been on the rise (R. King, 2018; Liu, 2017; Stevenson, 2019). Although there is commitment to seeing these spaces better utilized and open to mixed service provision, there are issues with these new conversions, including the potential to have these new locations be underserviced and marginalized (Evans, 2018).

¹³ Centralizing services in one complex has the ability to increase *leisure* time, where activities focused on well-being can be maximized (R. King, 2018).

2019; Reber, 2019). OpenGovernment¹⁴ became a reality, where decisions were pushed out to the public and engagement was mandatory. It took a while to gain traction, but once the public got on board, decision-making became quick, efficient and completely inclusive. "Collective, Community, Collaborative: Be the Change" was the slogan of the day. The change was quick, and driven from the arts community, finding creative solutions to the pressing issues. Activism became the order of the day, where everyone was able to see themselves in "a movement of minds." The *WeSustain*¹⁵ movement – an organization that occupied and redistributed space to those in need – was all the rage. All vacant space was sought out converted into multi-use habitats with apartments, retail, and other facilities all within a contained unit.

Technology connected everyone, with Internet access provided by community-based networks. The commitment to media literacy was seeded at a young age, leaving no one behind, as youth were prepped to be active, involved citizens when they came of age. Services became centralized, and downtown towers being revitalized into multi-use dwellings. At the same time, small rural centres went through a renaissance. As urban centres redefined themselves, a simpler, agrarian way-of-life became *en vogue*, with young families opting out and moving away, even in the face of exciting technological change. The resurgence of rural communities saw the rise of multi-ethnic communities, and the sharing of values and traditions invigorated these communities, benefitting from new forms of knowledge and customs. The significance of age was revisited, and elders gained reverence. The community valued the elderly and broke down barriers that had isolated them in the past. Everyone was *neighbourly* again.

In the city, communities engaged with political and social justice, where access and equity were paramount. Corporate interests were balanced with new social interests, while alternative modes of employment and work put citizens at the forefront, reshaping land use. The suburbs were no longer a desirable destination; the escape was inward. Transparent, active engagement ruled the day. As employment structures were reshaped, vacancy in downtown towers skyrocketed. No longer were corporate headquarters the preference, and quickly those properties were seen as an opportunity to solve some of the housing shortages. At the same time, rethinking those spaces coincided with a focus on deep health and wellbeing. Not only technological innovations, such as monitoring and individualized healthcare, but also new spaces dedicated to health and wellbeing appeared, with recreation being a key component. In the rural areas, there was consistent growth, socially, economically, and culturally. Much of the expansion was driven by the needs of *new* Canadians. Canada's new climate reality – a longer growing season in central Canada, and more volatility in other regions – attracted people to the cities and the smaller centres. Canada was all about grabbing hold of a fresh, optimistic world.

¹⁴ The notion of Open Government is not new, but the precepts of transparency, accountability, and public engagement (Chidester, 2019; Maccauly & Trueman, 2019; Reber, 2019) highlight how the public may reshape the access to and operation of government (Reber, 2019).

¹⁵ WeSustain – a political movement centering on sustainability, resilience, and social justice. It started as grassroots, action-oriented movement, building on ideas from the Occupy movement in the early 2010s. The movement is fluid, mobile, reactive, and politically significant. It has pushed for opening government, allowing assess through online services, and is committed to democratizing all aspects of decision-making.

Daphne was getting out of bed. She hadn't been feeling well lately and it was a struggle this winter. Her apartment was modest but had a south-facing exposure that gave her a feeling of warmth, even in the dead of the cold. At 62, she was feeling her age today, but the changes to the community added liveliness. Daphne gazed outside toward the square. There was a flurry of activity as people were preparing for Diwali, the festival of lights. After "the Fall,"₁₆ a large contingent of Hindus had settled in their community. The Indo-Canadian trade agreement saw an exchange of knowledge between Canada and India. Canada's open immigration policy offered a good opportunity of which many Indians availed themselves. Now she can't remember a time when the community didn't feel warm, inviting... whole. Now *they* were the drivers of change. Nobody was left out, and sharing cultures, traditions, and values had reshaped the community into a New Canada: one that was continually redefining itself.

The club held a central role in redefining the community. Before, it was a club in decline. Membership was down, and as the community grew older, finances had become increasingly hard to come by. When the Hindus came, the club leaders saw them as a potential balm for their woes. But it didn't happen. It was like fitting a round peg into a square hole. Even though there were some that wanted to try curling, it didn't really fit with their community. Daphne recalled how Irene changed all of that. She became the bridge between the communities. Daphne recalled a conversation with Irene:

"It was so alien at first, but when you look beneath the difference, we're just the same, two sides of the same coin," Irene commented. "How so?"

"Well, I stopped trying to fit them *into* something, I stopped trying to make them into *our* idea of Canadian and met them where they were." "But *they* came to our country," retorted Daphne.

"And now it's all *our* country! What is it without *them*? Perhaps, making room means we have to *give* way; it's not squeezing them into *our* way."

Daphne chuckled to herself, "it had to be curling." It wasn't like people at the club didn't know they were in trouble and needed help to survive. But reimagining the club was really a stroke of genius. "Now curling is the centre of everything, or at least the club is," she thought.

The club was located in the old shopping plaza. It was an interesting space with windows all around, but the ice was decent. Reclaiming vacant space was a common trend, as office and retail spaces were taken over to provide what the people really needed. Recreation was a priority now, and technology was playing a big role. Tournaments were seen on CommonView17, and new VR simulations allowed for near-

¹⁶ The Fall – Indian economic collapse due to climate change and persistent drought in agricultural areas.

¹⁷ CommonView – a viewing port that connects everyone within the community. It is the next generation screen technology with touch sensors, optical interfaces, and AI (Chadha, 2019; Domenikos, 2019; Foremski, 2019; Symanovich, 2019)

real experiences through VRSpace.18 Teams could even play against each other in virtual space. Location, mobility, and weather were all issues of the past.

It was the social connector for all of us. It was a space to share our traditions, and it became a place to break down barriers. It was Irene that was able to engage some of the leaders from the Hindu community, and simply asked: "what can we do for you?" Simple, but it started a dialogue that led to a new space to learn, socialize, worship and, of course, curl. With one question, the dominos started to fall, and now their club space was not just a curling club, but also a centre for the community.

There was a knock on the door.

"Daphne, it's Ritesh. Just wanted to check in to see if you needed anything. I heard you were a little under the weather."

Daphne opened the door, and there was Ritesh holding his son's hand. Daphne wrapped up Pavan in a warm blanket of a hug: "oh, I've missed you... are you coming over to help me finish my quilting?" The boy nodded slowly, looking at his father for approval. Ritesh beamed a reassuring smile and Daphne led the boy into the living room closing the door.

(One of the groups chuckles,

"Well, now we're getting somewhere." They hope.)

- facilitator: So, what do we think about this one? There seems to be a lot to take in. I know some of you read the scenario in advance. Anyone want to start?
- *beige:* Seems more plausible to me. At least, there are aspects that I can relate to. I mean look at what's happening to our society today. Lots of new immigrants. But Canada has always had that right?

red: Always? Not so sure about that. Sure immigration, but where people are coming from has shifted. And some places are pushing back against that.

¹⁸ VRSpace – a virtual reality simulation that stimulates the body in the same manner as normal activity. The users senses are stimulated and respond to visual, physical, and emotional stimuli (Caddy, 2019; Chillag, 2019; Picard, 2009)

Look at what happened in Quebec19 recently. Is that showing our Canadian tolerance?

- *blue:* I think that was an isolated case. It's complicated in Quebec. I can't see that happening here in Ontario.
- *purple:* I see so many examples of sharing within communities. Look at Brampton, 30 years ago it was all white, now it's such a mix.
- *red:* But does that mean things are changing? Do the "older" residents welcome newcomers with open arms? And tell me what that actually looks like?
- orange: I agree. I think things are different. But in some places, I do see sharing happening. I was amazed travelling around north of Winnipeg and seeing the scale and range of diversity up there. Things are different. Maybe we are closer to things like what is happening in that story than we think.
- **facilitator:** That's a good point. Where do we think we are? If the end result is, let's say, *full* integration between established residents and newcomers and just a little sharing between the two groups, where do we fall now?
- *purple*: I think we're doing a pretty good job at it overall. Canada has a long tradition of this sort of thing. Look at me, I'm living proof that barriers can be overcome.
- orange: But what would have to change to see things really like what we are saw in the story? I don't think we're there yet. I can see a lot of resistance at the same time. Not everyone wants to open Canada's doors wide.

19 References – (Bilefsky, 2019; Kestler-D'Amours, 2019; Syed, 2013)

- **facilitator:** Let's talk about that impact. What would have to happen to, let's say, a small curling club in rural Ontario?
- *blue:* Oh, I think it would take a lot. Like we're seeing, traditions are important. So how do you get away from that? I think there would have to be a big shift in the culture. I still can't see 25 Hindus coming out and curling on a regular basis. Like, what's the incentive for them?
- *purple*: But we're back to the same place. I started curling because I wanted to experience something of Canada. Like a truly Canadian sport.

raconteur: There it is again. A Canadian sport. What *really* does that look like in this day and age? And to whom?

blue: Again, it looks like there is a split between rural and the city here. I'm not sure I can see it outside of the city, but here, it is definitely possible. *At the same time, we aren't really designed for that sort of thing.*

facilitator: How so?

- *blue:* Hmm. I mean we *are open* here. Everyone is open to everyone else, I think. But I am not sure I could see a "bunch" of Hindus coming in and everyone being super comfortable. It just would be such a switch.
- *red:* So, what do we do, have a token or two represent and we all sit back on our laurels?
- *blue:* I don't know. It's an issue. But it can happen; look at basketball, it started as a white sport, but now, it's maybe the best example of an inclusive sport, where anyone can be seen in it? Well, sort of.
- *orange:* Interesting. Things can change. Maybe we need to focus on the next generation?

- red: That's the default solution for all this. The next generation will solve this.
- orange: They at least have the opportunity. I think my daughter experiences "race" etc. differently than I do. I think there is hope.
- purple: We do have to get more youth involved in our sport.
- *beige:* Maybe they just don't see it as cool. I mean it has an older vibe for sure. Kids these days are on their phones all the time. No time for curling.
- *blue:* I don't even know if they want to interact like we do. Is sitting around a table and making friends a reality for them today?
- **facilitator:** What about the idea of the curling club turning into more of a centre? In both examples so far, the idea of the club morphed into more of a social hub.
- *red:* I can definitely see that. In fact, I think we need that in our sport. I look at our club and that atmosphere is partly there, but we could easily promote it. Even look at our social rentals from outside groups. Lots of groups love to come here, try a game and have a good meal. It would be easier to go that route more.
- orange: I agree. I know league play is important for our members, but I think we could open up the ice more. Have more fun and social things happening. And put some work into the space, so it isn't just curling, but other things as well.
- *beige:* I see that in my home club. Where I'm from, it's the place where people meet. Mind you, it is the older generation, but I think that could also be a place for us.
- *red:* I can even see it in the city. I think the converted retail space is a little ways off for me, but why not?

- purple: I can see it happening. There are a lot of underutilized spaces in the downtown, and I'm sure the same is happening outside in rural areas. I think it's a cool concept, I mean you could have all of your shopping, services, and curl in the space place. We don't really think of integrating our spaces much in Canada, but in Hong Kong, there is such limited space, so everything is jammed together. You buy your groceries on the ground floor, have a haircut on another, maybe even go to school. Why not do that in Canada?
- **facilitator:** Well actually, there are cases of vacant spaces being taken over to create curling facilities. Chicago, Fort Wayne, Columbus Ohio, Portland Oregon, Bowling Green all have clubs that have been created out of converting spaces, like warehouses and shopping malls. There are also examples of hockey arenas getting converted into curling clubs.

blue: No way! That's crazy, curling taking over hockey! That's rich.

- **facilitator:** It's out there. One thing you have to think about regarding the future: there are examples of these developments happening out there. Maybe we are aware, maybe not. But the benefit of considering a fully realized scenario is that you, the readers, can see those things *projected* down the road.
- *blue:* Love it! More curling. Curl wherever, break with the old way of looking at the club. Bring it on.
- orange: I think that should happen in more places. We need to think more outside the box in Canada. It is so... so rigid. Traditional.
- beige: Ha. Traditions upon traditions.
- *blue: Might be tough in our city, just look at rents and prices. But maybe.*

- *red:* Yeah, our city isn't the best example. It is still the centre, but small cities maybe, like a city of 300,000 that isn't the centre of the universe.
- *beige*: I don't know, it would be strange to go to curling in a shopping mall. I like the old style. You know? A barn with a few sheets. It's cold. I don't know. It's what I know, it's back to my roots.
- *blue:* But there are lots of gyms and things popping up in malls, some even have pools. So why not a curling rink? It's that we just don't see curling that way.
- *orange:* I think it would be cool. Like imagine if you could play a team virtually. I have no idea how it would actually work. But it would be awesome.
- *beige:* Yeah. I don't know if the virtual reality thing would ever really replace getting out and physically active, but I worry about my kids for sure. They're glued to their screens. It seems more likely that they're going to want an experience through a device than just do things.
- *blue:* Maybe VR is a bit far away, but we do need to think about technology. I'm not sure how it might go, but maybe a return to the "old" might be cooler for kids, in time.
- red: I agree. Curling is old, old, old school.
- *blue:* The idea of having the same sensations as real life freaks me out. I don't think that could happen in 10... 20 years. It seems a little far-fetched.
- *blue:* That technology is coming though. Just look at why country clubs want us out. They want to put in golf simulators, why not Virtual Reality? It's not here yet, but 15 years from now, it's anyone's guess.
- facilitator: Remember, we are talking about *possibility* not *probability*.

- *blue:* Okay, okay. I guess I could imagine that sort of technology coming about. It wouldn't be my cup of tea. And I'm not sure how it would affect our sport. Would curling be the best fit for it? I mean we're social. It's a team thing. It's the bonding.
- orange: But if kids don't bond that way, does it work? I mean my kid might shoot a game of hoops after school, but then he's back to the screens as soon as he can.
- *red:* I don't know. It would be sorta fun. If it was the same experience. All that technology is really close. I just read about the "internet of things." We're gonna have everything connected. Look at Google. They want to test out a totally integrated community right here.20 We're not too far away from that.
- *orange:* Yeah, but people are pissed about that as well21. That's why I am not sure it will happen here.
- *purple*: Gosh, I am really having trouble thinking beyond what I know, what I'm used to. That is part of why it is hard to imagine something different. I can't seem to get outside myself.
- **facilitator:** Okay, how about we move on to the last scenario? We can wrap up the discussion afterwards if anyone has anything else they would like to add.

Scenario C: Toward a New *Ethno*Presence₂₂

July 4, 2030: "Canada Realizes Reconciliation in Full." The headline didn't do justice to the amazing turn of events. The New TRC party swept into power with a mandate that seemed impossible to achieve. It was a stroke of genius as power brokers from different lobby groups decided to form a new coalition and end the dominance of the three established parties, and the ineffectual Greens. The coalition was formed under the stewardship of Indigenous leaders, environmentalists, social justice advocates, and ethnic community leaders. It was a coup for the so-called left, finding a common goal to reshape Canada's future. In an unprecedented move; the new party had used all available forms of technology to engage voters, increase turnout, and appeal to a generation lost in the mire of establishment, patriarchal dogma, and an outdated vision of immigration and multiculturalism.

It was a real catalyst for change, where even the most conservative public saw themselves benefitting. Borrowing from New Zealand's models for Indigenous self-government, a new era of sharing was ushered in. Everyone was at the table and consensus was truly achieved. It was a long and involved process, but in the end, everyone bought into the vision. It helped that *fake news* was a thing of the past, as new forms of journalism now relied on fact-checking and source validation using *myNDCheck*²³ and is the only source of news available for viewing. Corporations saw the quadruple bottom line²⁴ as a real way to ensure their survival, and make sure their assets back only verified, truthful media, leaving little space for nefarious entities to generate enough revenue to exist.

Perhaps the biggest shift was towards a new model for economic sharing. It squarely put the burden of governance and *new* ownership in the hands of those historically oppressed. Models of Indigenous stewardship reshaped the notion of ownership of land, whereby a trust was formed to manage land-based assets, and previous owners became long-term tenants. Revenue was generated and shared among all. It had been a difficult transition as hard-liners from both sides voiced disapproval. In the end, tolerance, sharing, and co-management won the day and a new age for "Canada" was born. It was a realization of the dream for Reconciliation, both in name and practice. As many parts of the world struggled to integrate waves of economic, political, and social refugees, "Canada" became a beacon of hope. All that remained was to rename the country, as the name "Canada" no longer reflected a nation reborn, with a new purpose and reality.

²² *Ethno*Presence – denotes an unpacking of the complex notions of diversity, inclusion, and multiculturalism. It conjures a sense of what has come before, both in physical and cultural form. It reinforces a connection to ethnicity, but it is italicized to locate it under dispute or contested. It is connected to and also separate from its "presence" making it in relation to, adjunct of – with meaning deferred and impermanent.

²³ myNDCheck – a fictional technology that uses AI enhanced blockchain (Nair, 2019) to maintain oversight of author's credentials, news sources, fact checking, and validity of information. It is a monitoring protocol to ensure that news is truthful (Mire, 2018).

²⁴ Quadruple Bottom Line - Sustainable business practices bounded by balancing environmental, social, cultural (including governance), and economic factors in determining viability (Elkington, 1998).

You can't help but admire it. The centre looked down over the town. Built on the Tabletop plateau, it had a sense of majesty as it rose above the trees. It resembled a longhouse, built in the Huron or Haida₂₅ tradition, but this was not an ordinary structure. State-of-the-art, sustainably built, running on geo-thermal power, but that was not the real attraction. It was a powerful, clear message: all are welcome, all are cherished, all come together. The centre was about reconnecting people to the land and represented a new approach to living. The plan was 20 years in the making, with Elders from the Haida Nation reaching out in hopes of finding a new path towards Reconciliation and inclusion. The other local communities at first were hesitant, but the initiative found traction. It was the leaders from the Caribbean community that set the framework of *healing26*. Each group shared their experience: to be heard, to be honoured, and to feel a sense of belonging and connection beyond just their own people.

The centre went well beyond old-style community centres. It was a socio-ethno-cultural manifestation of the desires and hopes the *neighbourhood* brought to bear on a collaborative process. The land itself connected everyone back to millennia of Indigenous ancestry and spirit, honoured past ways of being, embraced a path to heal the violence and oppression that centuries of colonial dominance had inflicted on Indigenous Peoples. Everyone believed in the hope of a redefined a new multiculturalism: an *ethno*Presence to redress the failings of a past Canada, introducing a new approach to self-determination.

Felix was new to the community. His family had travelled from Guatemala during "The Migration."²⁷ Their family had little, but the hope of *something* led his parents here. It was a tough road, especially through America; it had gotten so much worse down there in recent times. They won the immigration lottery to enter Canada. Although the immigration policy was open and welcomed everyone, economic pressures of a failing US economy had seen tighter restrictions circumscribing Canadian borders.

Settling north of Winnipeg seemed to go against the norm, a smaller centre but still with many qualities that were attractive to his family₂₈. The shifting climate and longer growing season meant an agricultural boom in the region. Lots of different folks were congregating there, so much so that it was a posterchild for a new vision of socio-cultural harmony. Again, the centre featured prominently in that new expression, drawing on multiple traditions and possibilities, with honest discussion and acknowledgment before any steps were taken. It was a slow process, but all members perceived the benefits of collaboration acutely, and the centre was no longer served by a hierarchy, but a flattened holacracy.²⁹ This path led to a new vision of a

²⁵ Reference – http://www.sfu.ca/archaeology-old/museum/danielle_longhouse/keepers/housing.html 26 References – (Sutherland et al., 2014)

²⁷ The Migration – a decade long caravan of economic and climate refugee that traveled to Canada from southern regions (Central America, South America).

²⁸ References - (Bonifacio & Drolet, 2017; Editor, 2019)

²⁹ Holacracy – a management style that flattens hierarchy and encourages personal, individual empowerment (Editor, 2014; Groth, 2018; Zappos, 2019)

cultural/community centre, where conversation, learning, healing, and sharing occupied the forefront. The centre was a connector for all. Physical cultural activity was the focus, to reintroduce a new form of sustainability. Stewardship of and integration with the land was key. Curling was adopted as the recreational activity of choice in the winter months. It was played in a hybrid environment with games played both indoors and outside. It was a decision embraced by all as a return to an outdoor aesthetic reminiscent of its roots and connection to winter. The facility's renewable *PowerStack*₃₀allowed for control of the ice in both environments. Laughter, respect, and fun ruled the day, and the break with traditions that had isolated the sport in the past. No more pipes, no more kilts, no more settler-styled photos from a painful past, nothing that resembled the oppressive colonialism from a by-gone age.

Felix was all smiles as he entered the great hall. The warmth seemed to greet him as he came through the doors. His teammates were waiting to go to the outdoor rink: "Hola!"

(The group seems ready and eager to speak on this story. There's a brightness to the mood. Willingly, the group dives in)

purple: Can I start?

facilitator: Absolutely. Go for it.

- *purple*: I want this. It makes me feel happy. I hope we can make this version of the future happen.
- *blue:* Sure. It would be nice to have that come about. But think of what would have to change. I mean isn't it talking about *full* Reconciliation? What are the chances of that happening?
- *red:* Yeah, for certain. Just do a survey of people in the downtown. How many do you think would give up their condos? Their homes? 'Cause that's what we are talking about. All of Canada's major centres would have claims against them.

³⁰ The PowerStack – a new generation geothermal power plant servicing the facility (Brightmore, 2018; Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2006)

blue: No one is going to go for that.

- orange: I grew up close to Winnipeg. There is enough tension around that sort of thing today. I can't imagine what would happen if *full* control is given back. I like the idea, but in reality? Not likely.
- **facilitator:** But what if we could move towards that sort of thing? Are there other models out there? In Vancouver, the Musqueam people have leasehold of properties on their land in one of the richest neighbourhoods in the city. It does show there are different models of ownership that might work.
- *red:* I can't see that. Too many corporate interests in the downtown area of most cities. People won't give up what they have. Not to feel better about what happened hundreds of years ago.
- *blue:* Is it our responsibility to pay for things that our ancestors did? I am on the fence about that. I mean sure, something needs to be done, but to give everything that was taken back? What about what my great-grandfather built? He tamed the land and made it into a successful farm. It's still there. My brother took it over. It's part of who I am.
- *red:* But isn't that one of the issues? Like, sure, things were built and maybe our forefathers...

purple: And mothers...

red: Okay, and fore-mothers made something. But what did they actually *tame* or *settle*? Weren't there *already* people here? Maybe you're right and they did a lot to make Canada what it is today, but there is still... sort of a stench about it. And I hate to say it, but if curling holds onto that sort of stuff, it's almost like we are endorsing that story about *our* country.

orange: How does curling "hold onto" anything?

- *red:* I thought we talked about it already. The Scottish lass? Tartans? Bagpipes? Or the old photos on the wall? Doesn't that continue to show that connection?
- *blue:* But what about *our* heritage? My family tree links me back to the UK, but we have been here for four generations! So, I have to forget about that? I don't agree with that.
- orange: I don't think it's about forgetting.
- *beige:* Canada is all about immigrants. And we have this official language/culture thing going on. Curling fits into that, doesn't it?
- *red:* Yeah, and isn't that problematic? Official languages. Distinct cultures. But how did that get established, at least, at whose expense?
- **facilitator:** But remember we are taking a leap and trying to imagine a situation where *we* have given up our control over Canada as it stands today. What would have to happen for that to occur? And how might that be reflected in curling?
- *orange:* But isn't that the point? I don't see us ever getting there. So why bother with it? To me, it would take a lot to give up the traditions we have. Both in curling, and society.
- *blue:* I don't see it that way. The important things to me are connecting and the fun. So why not change all that to reflect a new reality?
- *beige:* I can see it. It wouldn't take much. I feel that we are making positive strides toward that. I mean the government has acknowledged stuff, Reconciliation etc. It's at least moving somewhere.
- *purple*: It is difficult for sure, I'm not sure there is a good answer, but we are making strides towards that. I just went to see a talk at the university, and the speaker made a land acknowledgment.

- *orange:* Yeah, my kids' school does that every morning on the announcements. I think it's good for the awareness of what happened.
- *red:* But what does it really change? Awareness? After such a long time, and such hardship, we are just saying, "yeah, we get it. We took your land, and you were here first. We aren't giving it back, but we know it's yours?" That seems patronizing to me.
- *blue:* But it's a step. Each step gets us closer. For me, curling could do a lot more to open up. But it might make some of the members a bit cross.
- orange: What do you mean?
- blue: Moving away from the kilts and bagpipes.
- blue: I agree, but we have to start somewhere. I like the idea of a new space. Like in the story. Maybe something we haven't seen before. I know most clubs don't have the money for that type of building, but opening our doors to community may be part of the answer.
- orange: But don't we do that already? Like we aren't stopping people at the gates now, so what does opening up to the public look like?
- *red:* That's what I come back to. How do you do that? We don't have direct connections to other communities, so we open up to the neighbourhood mostly. Or to people that want to play our sport. And let's say we do manage to bridge that gap, do those people live close by? How do they get to our new centre? There is a lot to think about.
- facilitator: Let's look a bit deeper at the scenario. It isn't just First Nations participating; what about other traditions? How might that work?
- *purple*: To me, I can see that happening. I love the mutual respect and it's already part of curling. It is really important.

- orange: We police ourselves. Bad intentions or play isn't tolerated. It's the gentlemanly sport thing again.
- *purple*: We do have to remember that it's a progression. When I started curling, it wasn't the best feeling, but now, I'm just one of the gang. I coach, I do skills development, I volunteer at the leagues.
- *red:* But we are still nowhere near that... I mean what is in the story. We aren't having a bunch of other ethnic groups all getting together and finding a new path for a traditional sport that represents Canada? The winter? The ice and snow? Hard to see that being from the Caribbean. I mean I can't see them liking the cold that much.
- *orange:* Whoa, whoa! Now we are entering *that* uncomfortable place. That's borderline offensive.

bruthR: Damn straight!

- *blue:* But it's sorta what I was feeling, like maybe they don't like the cold when they first come here. And so, coming out and playing on ice isn't a big draw.
- *purple*: But there we go again. I started curling because it was in the winter and connected me to Canada. I think there still is room for that. But maybe we can open things up a little more.

orange: It's hard to get there.

blue: I think it's pretty simple.

orange: How so?

blue: To me, it's the "club." Maybe that is where we start?

orange: I don't see how that is different.

- blue: What I mean is, if we can change from being a "club" to what is suggested in this story, maybe we have a little space to break from the past. "Club" seems sort of exclusive, even though I know curling really isn't. Does someone looking in think that? Especially if they have to join and all that.
- *purple*: I get it. I see that as a good step, and I like what the other story was talking about as well. The curling "centre" as a meeting place, a social venue for the community. I think this story just takes it one more step.
- **beige:** And the whole sustainability thing is also something to keep in mind. Look at where the costs are for our club. It's the ice. And if our winters are more messed up, what then? Sure, if they are colder: great. But if they get warmer? Maybe we can't run the club if we don't look into greening up the place.
- *red:* We could easily do that today. Except the current government took away so many of the incentives.
- orange: I think the city can help as well. But what about the rural aspect? Do they have the same opportunities?
- *red:* A bit more difficult but reasonable to assume they want to lower costs long-term.
- facilitator: So, what do we think about getting there? You mentioned the word "club." Is there anything else that might shift to get there?

red: I still go back to: how do you get enough of it through the door?

orange: Enough of what?

- *red:* Let's call it *diversity*. Our membership is fixed. Topped out. We can't just get rid of people, so if we are going to meet some sort of imaginary target, we need a better plan.
- *orange:* First and foremost, we need our club to survive. I am not convinced it is going to come from new immigrants. Maybe a part, but what if we could get a bunch of other people in here.
- *blue:* Everyone bring someone else out to curl. It still is primary connections that get people to join in.
- *blue:* I agree. We need to look at *all* the changes happening. Less youth, older or aging members, where do we need to focus?
- *red:* Well, that is the billion-dollar question. We have some initiatives in place, but they aren't hitting where we want. I mean to attract people that don't necessarily look like us.
- blue: Ouch, well, that was blunt.
- *red:* Let's be real. If curling were growing like gangbusters let's say, would we have this same push for diversity? Would the question change? Are we just looking at "non-traditional folk" as a way to put a finger in the dike?
- *purple*: I don't know. Sure, there is a financial part, but I don't really think that is where it starts. I think it's more curling is just plain fun. And more people should experience it.
- *red:* I'll play devil's advocate and say, if there was huge growth in the sport, I don't even see us sitting here today. Lots of sports are fun, so why should people care about curling?
- orange: I'm not sure we could ever get to where this story is set, but I want to see curling open up. I think it holds a unique place in our history, even if that is challenging. And it's the social side and the fun that

really is the lasting impression. For me, screw where it came from, curling is more than that now. Curling **can** meet that future from the story. It's up to us. **We** need to get it there.

purple: Remind me, who is the "we" again?

~ End of Scene ~

4.3.3 Director's Notes – "If I Only Had My Way..."

The future state of sport is as uncertain as any other phenomenon. Social, political, environmental, technological, and cultural determinants influence our society, and in turn, affect our constructed social forms, sport being one of these. Sport is under pressure to adapt to and meet the challenges of a shifting demographic landscape in Canada, which can bring notions of tradition within sport under scrutiny. This adaptation requires a "rethinking" of sport, from its delivery to facilities to held traditions. The scene is created to explore that uncertainty by using story-based constructs to imagine different possibilities occurring in our near future. The *participant actors* react to those new worlds from their current, present-day reflections and envision the impact on the world they know. The scene also reflects a typical workshop structure, where participants are asked to suspend their disbelief and engage in the process. From my experience, future thinking often allows people to forget their immediate managerial or operational concerns, and creatively imagine something fresh and novel.

The three scenarios were imagined as a method to represent extrapolations of the current situation in curling. These scenarios were developed based on current trends and

underlying driving forces of change; as such, they do in fact reflect possible future conditions that may come to pass. The value of this method comes not from a prescriptive evaluation of one possibility and means to solve the situation; rather, it is the range of possibilities that provide a flexible, adaptive, and innovative pathway to respond to change. It is via the exposure to *possible* but not necessarily *probable* outcomes that "we" can prepare "in the event of," to respond with an informed, concerted effort as conditions emerge. The notion of change is a given, and embracing uncertainty offers an approach to meet a variety of outcomes, rather than being constrained by one path to manage future developments. The context is drawn from actual trends that are affecting curling today, imagined 15 to 20 years in the future. Although the scenarios were never literally presented to the participants, themes gleaned directly from participant accounts offered the foundation for the dialogue and their voices were thus extrapolated into the narrative.

Adherence to and departure from traditions surfaced often as a theme within the discussions. The participants grappled with letting "go" of part of curling culture and also with what must be held onto for the sport to remain connected to those integral parts of its heritage. In the scene, the discussion often seems circular, returning to ask the same questions, or spinning in place looking at the same issue, over and over again. It is valuable to show that although participant actors express those tensions that come to bear on curling, articulating a resolution is much more elusive. In the scene, the discussions often comes to a head and the path forward, when looked at from the centre of dominance, never offers a simple way out. The dialogue loops back upon itself, and it

generates confusion, ambivalence, and tension. In the end, the text leaves the reader with questions alluding to broader implications for curling. These alternatives are further explored in the discussion related to what themes and criticisms are *not* being spoken about in the context of curling.

5.0 Discussion

The purpose of this research was to explore the experiences of curlers and to situate those experiences within a critical investigation of curling club culture(s). Through participant interviews and the process of writing the performance text, thematic content was explored to reveal conflicts, tensions, and challenges related to the culture(s) surrounding and within curling. The analysis offered insights to better understand the complexities of sport and diversity. This chapter is organized into two sections, Dominant Narratives of Curling Experiences and Neglected and Hidden Narratives, with subsections that focus the discussion. Throughout the sections, passages are taken from the performance text to demonstrate insights generated from the analysis. The analysis links to relevant literature introduced in the literature review. Further, there are cross-references, which hyperlink to relevant segments in the performance text. The hyperlinks are identified with underlined brackets and page numbers, i.e. [xxx],

5.1 **Dominant Narratives of Curling Experiences**

The research emphasizes narratives and their impacts on several discourses dealing with sport and diversity. The following section outlines the most salient narratives that surfaced through the participant interviews. The dominant narratives are (1) Curling's Victorian Legacy, (2) Curling as Social Connector and Community Builder, (3) Curling's Grassroots Identity Struggle, (4) Curling as Canada's Other National Sport, and (5) The Competing Interests of Diversity as Social Good and Financial Driver. These were narratives drawn from the real participants' interview sessions. *Participant actors* are used as characters in the performance text to represent particular points-of-view based on an amalgamation of content derived from the interviews. Although each of the *participant actors* seemingly represents content drawn from participant interviews, none are a direct representation of any one actual participant.

5.1.1 Curling's Victorian Legacy

Curling's cultures are informed by a colonial heritage that expresses a settler mentality (Allain & Marshall, 2018; Creelman, 1950; Pezer, 2003; Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001). As mentioned, curling's culture in Canada is linked to Victorian worldview (Pezer, 2003), the legacy of which informs customs and rituals that are maintained today. During the interviews, participants referred to tradition and cultural artifacts, such as bagpipes, the handshakes before and after games, and particular modes of socializing, such as a drink after the game, where the winners buy the losers a round. Other, subtler, tradition was also evident, such as old photos on the wall depicting historical scenes of early curling and courteous or gentlemanly play. Often, tradition seemed innocent or harmless, as their intent was all in the spirit of the game.

Yet, as elements of framing culture(s) of curling clubs, these aspects of curling add to an aesthetic that largely expresses origins that are White, European, and with a set of values that link to a specific version of Canadian history, i.e. settler motifs and the pioneering of Canada. The reliance on tradition within sport is not unique to curling, as

many sports rely on tradition for validation (Carrington, 2010). However, a critical examination of tradition within the context of Canada and its dominant cultural forms was vital within the context of diversity.

The recurring narrative of the settler mentality was connected to curling's smalltown Canada origins (particularly in the Prairies) and the importance of club life in those communities as a social connector (Mair, 2007, 2009). Participants expressed experiences that generated a narrative enshrining small-town values, such as the bluecollar aesthetic, Protestant work ethic, and "gentlemanly" politeness and fair play (Pezer, 2003). Attendant to that narrative was a tradition that exemplified a small-town, community-focused lifestyle (Mair et al., 2019; Pezer, 2003). Some traditions, such as politeness and courteous play were universal across clubs, while others were regionspecific.

As mentioned in the literature review, the narratives in curling upheld certain aspects of tradition as permanent (Maguire, 2011), and there was effort to maintain these as part of the culture. For example, buying a round of drinks could be considered as a welcoming gesture in a social atmosphere meant to introduce newcomers to the sport. Additionally, the aura of nostalgia was important for some members as it connected them to a deeper sense of belonging, such as family bonds, growing up around the sport, or as related to national pride (i.e. The Brier or Olympics). For others, particularly for newer curlers or those learning to curl later in life, tradition played a lesser role and sometimes led to ambivalence in maintaining certain rites or rituals. For example, although bagpipes came up in multiple interview sessions, the response was

varied from passionate and emotional responses to distaste and feelings that this association kept the sport in the past or painted it as old. This mirrors research by Mills and Hoeber (2013), which identified that tradition and artifacts may in fact function as a barrier to some participating in sport.

In the performance text, this contradiction was brought forward to explore the different perspectives on tradition, related to the narrative of colonial heritage:

orange: Wow. I just get chills every time I hear those pipes. It is such an important thing for our sport.

- *red:* Why do you feel it's soooooo important? I don't see it at all. I mean it's so rare that you actually see a piper anymore.
- *blue:* I didn't even realize it was part of the tradition of the sport until I saw the Brier on TV.
- *beige:* Curling comes from Scotland. I mean they still get the **rocks** from a couple of quarries, don't they? That is something that is so strange to me.
- *red:* I mean the kilt and the connection to Scotland. Does that really matter at all?
- orange: For me, it is really important. It connects us back to curling's roots. [116]

Often in the interviews, participants questioned whether given aspects of tradition were a necessity, or if they could be given up out of the desire to address the more significant issue of lack of diversity in the club. The above passage indicates a conflict between settler heritage/colonialism and its association with curling's beginnings in Canada (Pezer, 2003), and how that might be perceived from outside the dominant culture(s) by new Canadians, immigrants, or minority groups (Bonds & Inwood, 2016; C. King et al., 2007; Spaaij et al., 2019). As Spaaij (2015) wrote: "the social and cultural norms that organised sports embody may potentially lead newcomers or minorities to feel alienated or marginalized" (p. 304). The performance text illustrated the alliance between curling tradition and colonialism, which may run counter to the encouragement of a more diverse participation. It also identifies the challenges for diversity programs in practice, as it suggests a need to balance programs to increase diversity without alienating existing members (Spaaij, 2015).

The symbols that were found in the curling club, such as the iconic Scottish Lassie, tartans, and even vintage photos, have meaning for the participants and offer a historical connection to curling's roots in Scotland as well as in early Canada. However, when asked about these symbols, there was little knowledge of what they actually represented, or moreover, what they might mean to people without any legacy ties to the United Kingdom. Scholars, such as Kidd (2013b) and Allian (2011), considered the significance of such symbols and their association with national identity, as well as how they contribute to the sense of timelessness and permanence so important to sport tradition.

In the participant interviews, there were charged, emotional responses when we discussed removing certain artifacts, rituals, and tradition from the sport. Some saw the removal of the bagpipers as a loss of connection to curling's roots. For others, changing any tradition whatsoever was seen as detrimental to the sport. Thus, the image of the

Scottish Lassie in the curling club resonated with historical legacy, and maintained a

comforting sense of permanence:

raconteur: I'm looking out on the sheets of ice. It seems pretty innocent, just ice and rings and lines. It's what you expect to see at a curling club, at least from all of the clubs I have been to.

Who is she?

There are a few teams out there. They are serious right now - consultation about the next shot.

Why is she there?

The score is tied. It's in the eighth end, last rock's about to be played. It's tense.

She's the Scottish Lassie

But no one seems to notice. She's just part of the background. A non-descript face looking out onto the ice.

History. Tobacco. Sponsorship. Legacy. Hidden in plain sight. [116]

In the performance text, the narrator's self-reflection was deployed as the actual substance of the logo went unnoticed by participants. As a symbol, the logo reinforces both a legacy connection to a colonial heritage in Canada, as well as a roundly ignored association with a now-defunct sponsorship by the tobacco industry. Thus, the symbol illustrates how parts of a historical legacy may be forgotten or hidden yet persist in signifying through their continued use (Reid & Mason, 2017). As Mills and Hoeber (2013) stated, the display of symbols and artifacts often reflect the values and beliefs of those associated with the dominant culture in the club environment. Thus, for curling,

the symbology displayed continues to galvanize colonial tradition, and requires critical evaluation of its impact, in light of how curling clubs seek to encourage a more diverse clientele.

Further, as Pettigrew (1979) stated, the culture in organizations refers to "shared meanings, myths, and assumptions" (p. 576). Thus, for newcomers or minorities, participation involves an implicit imperative to assimilate into curling's dominant culture. However, if that culture represents a colonial legacy that is alienating, participation becomes less attractive and belonging to the sports club objectionable. The Other is required to make a decision to be complicit in the symbology and tradition in order to feel welcomed in that culture (Li et al., 2015; Spracklen et al., 2015).

Further, the impact of sustained use of colonial symbols within Canada requires more attention from scholars considering sport culture as to how their continued use may act as a form of oppression (Reid & Mason, 2017, p. 386). As such, cultural forms associated with the predominantly White sport of curling, along with visual, cultural expressions that do not critique past legacy, constitute a silencing of other ways of attaching to new possibilities and conventions in the sport, and perhaps offering a more complete representation of Canada's demographics.

5.1.2 Curling as Social Connector and Community Builder

Another narrative that surfaced from the interviews was the curling club's role as a social connector and location that promotes community engagement. The performance text demonstrated this narrative related to the positive attributes of sport in general and

its particular benefits for club members. Participants recounted experiences that invoked the fun, enjoyable social activities, and optimism around the ability to play throughout one's lifecycle into old age, whereby they could remain active, mentally engaged, and socially connected (Caldwell, 2005; Crawford et al., 1991; Mair et al., 2019). Participants were aware of and referenced these values as exemplary of the sport. This sentiment was crafted into the performance text to illustrate their importance for curling:

- *beige:* Curling is so social though. Where else do you get that sitting around after the game feeling? I used to play hockey, and we might go out for a beer but just with our team.
- *blue:* You wouldn't think about it, I mean having a beer with the other team... unless maybe if you ended up at the same bar.
- *purple*: It really is something in curling. The whole thing of "buying the other team a round." I appreciate it. You end up talking with everyone. Not all the time, but for sure sometimes. I think it adds a lot to the sport. It's all about being social and courteous. [120]

Thus, participants referred to curling's highly social nature as a foundational tradition of the sport, which was seen as a beneficial quality to attract new membership. This significant attribute shaped the narrative presented in the performance text revealing how curling differs from other sports. The social capacities of the sport were also seen by participants as important aspects driving community in the club. This mirrored Caldwell's (2005) research into the value of sport for community integration. Not only was curling seen as a conduit for that integration, but tradition within the sport also helped facilitate community building, which supported Mills and Hoeber's (2013) findings concerning the importance of artifacts and tradition in community connection. Thus, curling is built on social connections, with tradition, artifacts, and an overall atmosphere that all support community building.

The curling club represents a location where social interactions are encouraged and built into the events. For example, bonspiels not only involve organized on-ice play, but also fun activities, raffles, and promotions for those members off-ice in between games. The value of the curling club as *more than just a place* was recognized in the experiences of participants. As Mair's (2009) research stated: "clubs are not just outlets for physical activity and socializing but also provide informal networks of support" (p. 463). Thus, the club as a site for social connectivity becomes an integral part of the social fabric of a community outside its primary function as a place to participate in the sport (Angeloni & Borgonovi, 2016; Rich & Giles, 2015; Spaaij et al., 2019). It proves to be a place that already supports diversity, albeit more related to aging populations, and not visible minorities (Mair, 2009; Mair et al., 2019). Thus, writing the narrative around community building necessitated the performance text be set in the club environment to show how curling fosters an atmosphere of welcome and social connection to outsiders.

Further, scholars such as Mills and Hoeber (2013) researched sport as a site for opportunities directed at immigrants to acculturate to their adopted community with encouraging outcomes. Spaaij (2019) investigated the role of sport clubs and diversity, and their support of belonging, friendship, and community. Sport and sport clubs demonstrably offer important pathways for newcomers to belong to, and integrate into,

communities (Mills & Hoeber, 2013; Spaaij et al., 2018, 2019). There is, however, a contradiction in the case of curling, as it appears to be a highly social sport that is open and welcoming to outsiders, but is still predominantly White, and unable to attract a higher level of non-White participants. For curling, it is essential to explore the unique characteristics of its tradition and club cultures in relation to how those elements may impede newcomers' ability to participate, and to the associated challenges in assimilating into that dominant culture. As Spaiij's research has shown, this tension around how to move towards greater diversity is challenging (Spaaij et al., 2019), and even as curling offers a culture predisposed to social connection, each sport club requires a concerted effort on behalf of multiple stakeholders to demonstrate real change within their organizational culture(s) (Berry, 2005; Janssens & Verweel, 2014; Spaaij et al., 2018). Ensuring that newcomers and immigrants feel welcomed in the club environment remains vital. The club represents a unique location where community building is fostered, and immigrants have an opportunity to integrate into larger, dominant cultures (Spaaij et al., 2018, 2019).

Furthermore, sewn silently into the narrative of social connection and community was the effect tradition has on the feeling of being welcome or belonging to a club. For many participants, the club represented a means to expand their social networks and form long-lasting relationships (Fader et al., 2019; Spaaij, 2015). From the interviews, some members noted that their immediate group of friends had been developed through playing, while other members met significant partners through social events, such as social nights or dances, fundraising, and volunteering (Byers, 2013;

Doherty et al., 2014; Thiel & Mayer, 2009). However, as Mills and Hoeber (2013) and Doherty and Taylor (2007) argued, a participant's ability to have a positive association or connection with the club was dependent on the environment (p. 24). For Mills and Hoeber (2013), artifacts upheld a specific vision of a club's internal values, such as those of success or prestige. However, for newcomers and immigrants, artifacts had the reverse effect as they did not represent a meaningful value that they associated with connecting to the community in the club (p. 494). The nourishing sense of belonging was equally valuable to existing membership and newcomers; nevertheless, the significance of the artifacts and symbols may have a quite different meaning and impact on newcomers. As such, club leadership needs to be aware of possible adverse effects their symbols represent for Others, and also be sensitive to how negative associations impact outsiders' ability to assimilate into club culture.

The performance text was crafted as a compelling form to illustrate the complexity of the notion of belonging, and how it is not equally shared amongst members. The contrary views indicate places of tension regarding the implementation not only of initiatives related to diversity, but more importantly, the difficulty in enacting change (Spaaij et al., 2018). As Spaaij el al (2019) argued, "change is not necessarily a given, even if the desire to change conditions is present" (p. 10). Traditions in curling may be seen to denote permanence or stability, or to connect those involved to past ways of being; nonetheless, openness and welcome as a tradition in curling is not as simple as one might imagine:

blue: It think it reflects the *city*, at least this neighbourhood.

purple: When I started 30 years ago, I was the only non-white at our club, not this one mind you.

beige: Oh really? What was that like?

purple: I see things changing but we have a long way to go.

beige: I don't care, everyone is welcome here. It doesn't matter if they are white, beige, black or pink. [145]

The text illustrates the sense of curling being a welcoming sport, yet there was no consistency in what that meant for participants. Further, the *participant actors* identify curling's culture as welcoming to all, but the removal of "race" also represents a colourblindness that hides the necessity to address inequalities facing racialized people, and what requirements are essential in addressing a lack of diversity in the club. As Apfelbaum, Norton and Sommers (2012) stated, colour-blind policy often nullifies inequalities experienced by visual minorities and their opportunities to participate in sport. Thus, there is tension between the attitude of openness and welcome in the curling club environment, and how that attitude maintains colourblindness in relation to diversity, which must be deconstructed to expose potential inequalities or barriers to inclusion.

The narrative of social connection and community building points to the challenge for local clubs that seek to encourage diversity; at the same time, it maintains beliefs that may contribute to tensions or barriers to successfully meeting their

expectations. There is also an implication for national institutions that mandate full access and inclusion without addressing the practicality of implementing programs at the local level, including funding considerations, staff expertise, and community support (Canadian Heritage, 2019; Kidd, 2013c; Misener & Doherty, 2009). For many clubs, their willingness to embrace and encourage diversity is reinforced by the very same narrative of social connection; however, existing tradition may introduce conditions that preclude a sense of belonging and connection to community, particularly for new immigrants or visual minorities, due to chronic inequalities.

5.1.3 Curling's Grassroots Identity Struggle

Through the writing of the performance text, a narrative emerged concerning the notion of a grassroots identity, which referenced recurring conversations from participants. The idea of a grassroots identity referenced the roots of curling in small towns and as an expression of a blue-collar attitude. However, the identity also noted a tension, as participants identified changes in the sport towards a professionalism that prioritizes high-performance and Olympic success over local club development. Historically, Pezer (2003) submitted that curling's growth was due to the development of clubs in small towns, particularly across the Prairies. Yet today, although curling still relies on clubs as the main delivery of the sport (Mair, 2007; Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001), the membership, particularly in urban areas, no longer reflects the same blue-collar origins. The performance text illustrated the tradition of the local club as ground-zero for the sport:

- *red*: Still, we can't escape that our roots have shaped this sport in a particular way. It's not basketball or hockey. I mean you can't curl in the local playground.
- *blue:* I agree, and the *club* is all connected to that. I mean it isn't as exclusive as a golf and country club. But clubs are the roots of our sport.

orange: It's a different kinda club through. It's blue collar. It comes from a different place. [126]

In this passage, the role of the club is inextricably connected to grassroots or small-town connotations. Some participants were adamant that the portrayal of curling needed to remain faithful to its grassroots and small-town character, while others embraced the role of the club in urban areas, and even country clubs. Often, participants related that small-town feeling to their upbringing, family tradition, and life in smaller centres. Yet, most participants curled at a club in a large urban centre. This showed a tension in the narrative as it expressed reinforcement of a small-town, grassroots, blue-collar vision of curling, while the material situation expressed a reality that was contradictory (i.e. urban, middle to upper-class); indeed, some participants also had memberships to country clubs. Thus, the narrative indicated a complex relationship between a view informed by legacy and tradition, and yet seemingly contradictory to changes in the sport today.

Another, related tension with regard to curling's identity concerned how to account for country clubs as part of the narrative, and whether or not they represented the tradition that curling (and curlers) wished to promote. Some participants noted that country clubs represented something other than the traditional club, and therefore, were

Troubling Dominance in Sport

not necessarily characteristic of curling overall. That tension was explored in the text

regarding what the true image of curling should be:

- *red*: Exactly, the idea of wearing whites and curling only existing in a Country Club environment scares me already. I mean curling is supposed to be bluecollar or at least open to everyone.
- orange: But you can see where this might come from. Like look at the closing of all of these clubs in Canada, and if that continues, what if things only exist in a few centralized clubs? I mean look at our club, you can't really get a game, or at least you gotta be on a waiting list for a long time. Isn't that elitism at its best?
- *blue:* I disagree. We aren't elite, and I don't think it could get there. You would have an uprising from the grassroots. At least out west, those small clubs are curling's bread and butter. [164]

In the passage, *participant actors* were reluctant to see curling become an elitist sport, where an association with higher socio-economic demographics such as seen in tennis might be incorporated, as curling's image relies on an infrastructure of small-town origins and growth (Bicket, 1982; Pezer, 2003; Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001). Overall, participants were resistant to and downplayed an association with country clubs and lauded the affordability of curling compared with other sports. Again, the narrative indicates a desire for curling to maintain an image of affordability and open to all; ensuring it does not become entangled with elitism, and thus distancing curling from its humble beginnings.

Moreover, participants referred to a conflict between grassroots and elitism, where more resources were directed toward high-performance goals by national

institutions, such as Curling Canada, Own the Podium, and others which aim to foster Olympic and international success. For some participants, this indicated a trend toward professionalism, and contradicted where they saw curling's foundation, (i.e. grassroots, local clubs). Barrick, Norman and Mair (2016) described how curling's trend towards professionalism resulted from the sport receiving Olympic status. Although Canada has had success in international tournaments in the past (World Championships), the sport's Olympic status imposed a new level of professionalism onto the sport. This new professionalism led to the rise of professional teams focused on curling as a year-round job, making it improbable that a local club team could win a national championship or have a chance to represent Canada in the Olympics. Again, the narrative presented in the performance text indicates a tension between the nostalgia of curling's egalitarian approach to national competitions of the past, and the modernization of the sport, which brings a new professionalism and emphasis on high-performance competition, but also increases public awareness of the sport (Barrick et al., 2016). As Canadian curling continues to achieve success at the international level, its grassroots narrative and accompanying tradition requires adjustment to curling's new reality. The international success of curling also reinforces a sense of national pride and expression of Canadian identity (J. Fox, 2014; Wyman, 2014), which is discussed in the next section.

5.1.4 Curling as Canada's Other National Sport

As discussed in the literature review, the association between sport and national identity has garnered a great deal of attention from sport scholars. Arguably, curling has a unique position in Canada's lore and represents an unofficial national sport (Barrick et

al., 2016; Mair, 2007). During the participant interviews, this sentiment arose in relation to curling's prominent position as regards to Canada's national identity: "*maybe hockey is our obsession and curling's our passion*?" [from performance text, Canada's Passion]. The narrative explored the repercussions of such a strong identification with Canada, and the performance text illustrated the recurring notions of curling and winter as expressions of an idealized Canadian essence:

- *blue:* Not really, I mean I joined because I wanted something to do in the winter. Canadian winters are so long. And it is something that links back to our *heritage*.
- *beige:* I agree. I feel more Canadian when I curl. It's something that connects us with our True North.
- orange: In Winnipeg, they have an Ironman bonspiel for the Heart and Stroke ... it's in February on the river, it's actually at the Forks. It's a really big deal. It's all about really just staying warm and pushing the rocks down the ice with your broom and whatever. To me, that's like celebrating winter with our sport. [118]

These excerpts testify to the appeal of curling as a winter sport with a strong reminder of its heritage. Yet, there is no interrogation of what that legacy conceals in relation to a colonial past, and the assumption that there is only one heritage for Canada; that of a settler-colonial, White, European ancestry. Further, curling's assumed winter motif reinforces a settler mentality, as Canada is depicted as wild, empty, and tamed through a resilient, outdoorsy, frontiersman-like determination (Bonds & Inwood, 2016; Lawson, 1995; McClintock, 1992). Thus, the historical image of curling, as played on frozen ponds, harkens back to that ideal, settler portrait, and the depiction of curling as a simple, natural, and benign winter pastime.

However, as Allain (2011) illustrated, the "natural" association of hockey as played outdoors on frozen lakes is constructed and supported by tradition, myths, and lore, and elevates hockey's naturalness as a characteristic of Canadian identity (p. 7). Further, those involved with hockey (particularly at the national level) have promoted the sport as illustrative of Canada's rugged outdoors, winter, and wilderness. The sport, however, is largely played indoors, in climate-controlled facilities guaranteeing hockey is available beyond wintertime. This situation is echoed in curling, which is also romanticized as a winter sport, and which also has less tangible linkage to its outdoor origins. This association of curling with winter begins with its historical roots where the sport was played outdoors on frozen lakes (D. Smith, 1981; Welsh, 1985), yet also benefits from curling's presence as a winter sport. Barrick and Mair's (2019) examination of Learn to Curl Leagues for newcomers to Canada exposed how such leagues are influential in creating social bonds and connections to community. Although the research does not emphasize the natural, outdoor quality of the sport, it supports the notion of curling as a winter activity, with newcomers participating for fun, but also as an expression of being Canadian. The performance text illustrates the contradiction between curling's recognition as a truly Canadian sport and its heritage that relies on specific colonial vision for that Canadian identity.

In addition to its affiliation with Canada's north, ice, and snow, the narrative of national identity is supported by Canada's international success in curling. In the

modern age of sport, curling's Olympic status (Barrick et al., 2016) and Canada's success – notably at the Winter Games in Vancouver (2010) and Sochi (2014) – not only bring a national presence to the sport, but also accords curling national pride from coast to coast (Wyman, 2014). The participants recounted memories of Olympic games and Canada's success as being "proof" that curling was indeed Canada's game as well. These ideas were woven into the performance text:

- orange: I think Canada owns this sport. Sure, it started in Scotland, but obviously it's a bigger deal in Canada than anywhere and it always has been.
- *beige:* I would hazard to say it might be more of a national sport than lacrosse or hockey, you know what I mean, because of our success at the highest level.
- *purple*: Curling is international. It isn't Canada's game anymore. It's just like hockey. It's time to let that go.
- *blue:* Curling is somewhere in there for Canada as a national sport. I don't know which one it is, maybe hockey is our obsession and curling's our passion? [136]

The success of curling at the elite level and its increasing professionalism has pushed curling's presence and appeal as a modern sport in Canada to a level more akin to hockey (Barrick et al., 2016; Creelman, 1950). However, for many associated with the sport, including the participants in the current inquiry, this shift has also betrayed curling's roots, whereby the local club hero can no longer become a national champion, as that is reserved for the professional teams (Allain & Marshall, 2018).

Perhaps of most significance to this research, locating curling as part of Canada's national character exposes its legacy and tradition as complicit in representing a singular, dominant view of Canada's past. Associated with a Victorian, colonial legacy, curling maintains tradition and values that emanate from those historical origins, which continue in the sport today. Again, this does not amount to a total condemnation of that tradition, as polite and courteous play may be desirable traits to promote through practice. Nevertheless, it is the relevance of that legacy related to access and lack of diversity in the sport that requires examination. As such, the performance text explored those themes emphasized by participants, such as values of being polite, courteous, and honourable; these are in turn forwarded as expressions of being Canadian:

beige: I feel like curling, the etiquette, the culture, and why everyone's very polite, very well-behaved, is because this is sort of a throwback to when people wore suits, basically, to go curling. It was very prim and proper.

beige: Being polite and courteous are just good manners. I think it teaches young people how to behave. That is why I want more kids to play. I think there are values we can pass on that are important to our society. It's like how to be Canadian. [124]

This passage illuminates the general overtones of "Canadian values" and how curling expresses and upholds them in the experiences of participants. Again, the performance text demonstrates the linkage between tradition in curling and its roots from Victorian customs (Leipert et al., 2011; Mair, 2009; Pezer, 2003). It presents a tension between curling's lack of diversity, its tradition, and its supposed expression of Canada's values and national character. Hence, as Canada's demographics shift towards an increasingly non-White population, interrogation of what it means to be Canadian is warranted, as is a new vision for how "being Canadian" is represented in curling's tradition and cultures.

Finally, participants discussed values and beliefs related to multiculturalism as a consideration for curling and diversity. In the performance text, these were deconstructed in two ways: multiculturalism as a Canadian ideal, and multiculturalism as barrier to inclusion. Participants were asked about their views on integrating a large group of visual minorities into the club environment. The answers were adapted into the performance text to explore reactions and differences of opinion:

in(out)sider: I'm trying to imagine it. It seems like a bad, off-colour joke that you used to hear.

Twenty-five Muslims walk into a club...

But here we are. Would that really change the culture here? What would the membership do with a set of demands that are well outside the norm?

So, I ask... [132]

- *blue*: There are people from so many other countries coming to our city. It is so *multicultural*. If you are trying to teach them curling, you might as well be going to somewhere in Africa or South America.
- *purple*: That doesn't matter too much for me. I came here at age 2. My parents didn't even speak English. I just wanted to do something in the wintertime. I wanted to fit in, and what better way than to play a Canadian sport, and a winter sport at that? [136]

This passage relays an uncomfortable discussion where notions of "race," prejudice, and attitudes towards immigrants are exposed (Plaut et al., 2011). Although Sport Canada mandates are aligned with the values of a multicultural society, implementation of policy related to "sport for all" (Sport Canada, 2012) at the local level proves challenging. The performance text shows how certain strains of multiculturalism can morph into notions of colour-blindness or racelessness, and the effect can manifest as a barrier to participation, as real, lived inequalities are forgotten in the push to be equitable for all (Plaut et al., 2018). Thus, a tension emerges between the benefits of a multicultural approach to sport (Schinke & McGannon, 2014; Tirone et al., 2010), and how that approach supports access for marginalized peoples, such as new immigrants (Kidd, 1995, 2013b; Stepick & Dutton Stepick, 2009; Tirone et al., 2010). Moreover, notions of diversity must address the impacts of colourblindness in practice, not just from a national level, but also how local clubs are affected.

5.1.5 The Competing Interests of Diversity as Social Good and Financial Driver

As previously described in the literature review, for CSOs, maintaining sustainable operations is part of the mandate for senior leadership (Wicker & Breuer, 2011). For many CSOs, their viability is predicated on membership, which represents a significant financial driver (Doherty et al., 2014; Weimar et al., 2015; Wicker & Breuer, 2013). As mentioned, Weimar, Wicker, and Prinz's (2015) study on membership and CSOs indicated how membership dues are integral to the continued success and viability of the club. Moreover, managing the retention of members has become increasing challenging: "[r]ecent research indicates that recruitment and retention of

members to sport clubs is problematic... These problems represent financial challenges for the organized sport system" (p. 418). Consequently, the shift toward embracing diversity constitutes a means to counter this decline as, identified by Spaaij's (2018) research, clubs are attracted to "the perceived benefits of diversity primarily in terms of increased membership, attracting talent players and reputational benefits" (p. 291). Thus, calls for diversity reflect both an ethical consideration, as well as a financial consideration, especially as is related to membership. Within the performance text, these considerations were identified yet talk of remedying the situation was conflicted:

red: I still go back to: how do you get enough of it through the door?

orange: Enough of what?

red: Let's call it *diversity*. Our membership is fixed. Topped out. We can't just get rid of people, so if we are going to meet some sort of imaginary target, we need a better plan. [185]

In this passage, diversity is set against issues of capacity, and thus an argument is constructed that limited capacity, and not attitude, is the barrier to diversity. Thus, diversity is reduced to a "business case" or "cost benefit analysis" (Spaaij et al., 2014, p. 355), rather than a moral imperative. It moves the discussion away from an ethical or a social justice requirement to address diversity, whereby although desirable, activities to increase diversity must be aligned with the overall sustainability of the club and management of its current membership. The conflict shows that both the diversity of a club and relative level of inclusion also can be limited by the capacity of membership (Balduck et al., 2015; Doherty et al., 2014; Misener & Doherty, 2009; Swierzy et al.,

2018). Thus, a dilemma arises for curling clubs, as there is need to weigh the importance of increasing diversity against the retention and desires of its existing membership, including what sacrifices can be made when there is actual limited capacity at facilities to increase membership.

Additionally, within this narrative, participants also placed an emphasis on attracting youth as necessary for the development of the sport. On the surface, this appears as separate from the overall structure of diversity; however, as club membership ages, youth appear as another group for consideration within a strategy to increase overall diversity. In particular, the level of resources that are directed at programs to engage youth were mentioned by participants:

purple: We do have to get more youth involved in our sport.

- *beige:* Maybe they just don't see it as cool. I mean it has an older vibe for sure. Kids these days are on their phones all the time. No time for curling.
- *blue:* I don't even know if they want to interact like we do. Is sitting around a table and making friends a reality for them today?
- **facilitator:** What about the idea of the curling club turning into more of a centre? In both examples so far, the idea of the club morphed into more of a social hub. [174]

This passage shows the desire to engage more youth to maintain and grow participation within the sport. However, the social nature of curling may in fact not be as attractive to youth, due to the shift towards technology for social connectedness (Stuntz & Weiss, 2010), at least according to assumptions held by participants. As one participant noted

in their interview, the way youth tend to interact via technology may be at odds with curling's belief in its social culture being beneficial to participants (Donnelly & Kidd, 2003; Groom et al., 2011).

Furthermore, attracting youth to the sport that has an image as an old man's game may constitute a further perceptive barrier to increasing youth participation. The performance text also explored engagement and the use of technology as a potential means that needed to be addressed:

The club was located in the old shopping plaza. It was an interesting space with windows all around, but the ice was decent. Reclaiming vacant space was a common trend, as office and retail spaces were taken over to provide what the people really needed. Recreation was a priority now, and technology was playing a role. Tournaments were seen on CommonView, and new VR simulations allowed for near-real experiences through VRSpace. Teams could even play against each other in virtual space. [170]

These words illustrate an alternative to the orthodox physical, social environment that curling promotes and considers its impact on potential connections with young people. In this passage, technology is seen as a beneficial aspect that might be adopted by the sport, rather than a detriment or concern related to falling youth participation (Donnelly & Kidd, 2003).

Although the overwhelming perspective from participants was that the game still represented a perfect opportunity to be social and make new friends, there were still questions about the relevance of focussing on youth participation as a way to counter an overall decline in curling participation (Berger et al., 2008; Breuer et al., 2011; Canada Fitness & Lifestyle Institute & Sport Canada, 2010). One further challenge related to the

notions of diversity and membership growth is the interpretation of what diversity implies for a club. For some clubs, diversity is found in the inclusion of aging populations and women. Hence, clubs must define what constitutes success related to an increase in diversity. For example, achieving greater diversity may constitute increasing non-White participants, or it may be achieved through an increase in the number of women participating in the club. Regardless, increasing diversity in small, local community clubs represents a challenge as they often have limited resources, or no expertise nor capacity to address issues of diversity satisfactorily (Byers, 2013; Doherty et al., 2014; Spaaij et al., 2019). Thus, a club's senior leadership is required to address any deficiency, knowledge gaps, sensitivity training, and resourcing in order to achieve greater diversity (Jenkin et al., 2017; Spaaij et al., 2018, 2019).

Thus, diversity presents a troubling and complex area for club programming. There is inconsistency in regard to how to address the growth of diversity in CSOs, as both an operational concern, and a values-based objective. Therefore, the vision and definition of diversity complicate its implementation at the club level. Of course, the complexity of diversity also requires attending discourses around "race" and its implications, which will be discussed in the next section.

5.2 Neglected and Hidden Narratives

Apart from the dominant narratives that emerged within the inquiry, the research identified other considerations related to the participants' experiences; however, these narratives were formulated via omission, not directly through conversations with

participants related to their experiences. These emerging narratives are considered counternarratives, as they run counter to the overall impressions gained through participant experiences. In lieu of the authority of dominant narratives, Harper (2009) used the notion of counternarratives as "a method of telling the stories of people who are often overlooked in the literature, and as a means by which to examine, critique, and counter majoritarian stories (or master narratives) composed about people of color" (p. 701). It offers a powerful, critical analytic tool that generates an alternative, provocative story in order to draw attention to conditions within the dominant narrative to be scrutinized. Other researchers, such as Solórzano and Yosso (2002), used counternarrative as an important research method to deepen their analysis of "race." They noted that counternarratives are based on context, analysis, and discourse, and although they employ creative elements, are not merely fictious:

Counter-storytelling is different from fictional storytelling. We are not developing imaginary characters that engage in fictional scenarios. Instead, the "composite" characters we develop are grounded in real-life experiences and actual empirical data and are contextualized in social situations that are also grounded in real life, not fiction. (p. 36)

Thus, counternarratives are not only drawn out based on dominant themes, such as "race" and "whiteness," but also used in the construction of the scenarios set up to probe alternative views of colonialism offered in the third performance text, "If I Only Had My Way...". The follow section explores the presence of counternarratives, as a neglected narrative entitled "Curling's Neglect of "Race" and "Whiteness", and a

hidden narrative entitled "<u>Curling's Indigenous Silence and Hidden Colonialism</u>" as part of the discussion of diversity and curling.

5.2.1 Curling's Neglect of "Race" and "Whiteness"

The notions of "race" and "whiteness" emerged as both a narrative concerning curling's lack of diversity, as well as a counternarrative related to the seemingly innocuous notion of colour-blindness. Exemplifying Hall's (2000) criticism of multiculturalism and policies leading to a form of colour-blindness, participants in the inquiry were aware of the lack of diversity being at issue, and the low participation rates of people of colour. However, their attitudes toward opportunities for non-White participation expressed a colour-blind quality by failing to identify the possibility of barriers related to "race" in the sport (Apfelbaum et al., 2012; Bimper, 2015; Goldberg, 2002). Hidden within the narrative and related to notions of colour-blindness, sport was persistently expressed as neutral, beneficial, and an inclusive environment where everyone can belong, participate, and thrive. As noted by Donnelly and Kidd (2003), "[m]ost Canadians believe that participation in sport and physical activity can bring significant individual and social benefits" (p. 25).

Of particular relevance to curling, "whiteness" holds a privileged position in Canada (Bonds & Inwood, 2016; Long & Hylton, 2002), resting on a historical legacy of colonialism (Bonds & Inwood, 2016; McIntosh, 1990). As mentioned in the literature review, curling's tradition has a deep kinship with colonial heritage and Victorian values (Creelman, 1950; Pezer, 2003); thus, examining the concept of "whiteness" is

crucial to understanding its impacts on diversity, especially "race," which includes Indigeneity (C. King et al., 2007; Long & Hylton, 2002). In doing so, the narrative reveals a hidden assumption of colour-blindness that places "whiteness" at the dominant centre, chronically underpinning curling's cultures.

Within the performance text, the concepts of colour-blindness were expressed in multiple ways, such as "open to everyone" and "that doesn't happen at our club." These statements illustrate how "race" was seemingly a non-issue and although discussed was not necessarily interrogated:

- *blue:* Yeah? I hadn't noticed. I really don't see colour. Sure, curling has a bit of a reputation of being predominantly white, but... I, I think that's changing.
- *beige:* I don't care, everyone is welcome here. It doesn't matter if they are white, beige, black or pink. [145]

blue: So, are you saying that colour doesn't matter at all?

beige: Not in my books.

- *red:* That's a bit naïve. Of course, "race" matters. You can't unsee it. And you ain't seeing it here!
- *blue:* It's the same as Black Lives Matter. I don't want to see "people of colour" singled out. That's not what curling is about. All Lives Matter, and everyone can play. [146]

This passage exposed an assumption that by being welcoming, accepting, and being colour-blind, a particular Canadian value was expressed, and that valued aesthetic was presumed attractive to Others outside of the dominant culture. Bimper (2015) argued

that sport is often used as a site to promote a "post-racial" state, where opportunities are available regardless of "race." The argument indicates that by removing "race" as a political action, inequalities due to "race" became subsumed in a narrative of providing opportunities for all in sport. This echoes national mandates as Canada's sport policy embraces a commitment to multiculturalism (Kidd, 2013c), whereby ethnic diversity is encouraged, but does not necessarily reflect the inequality minority groups experience related to access (Donnelly & Kidd, 2003; Kidd, 2013c).

Thus, the narrative indicates an appreciation for the morality associated with increased diversity, without addressing how statements like "welcome to all" and "race doesn't matter" might reinforce structural barriers to achieving increased diversity. The counternarrative, articulating the neglect of "race," calls for "race" to be included in discourses between diversity and sport (Carrington, 1998, 2004, 2010; Spaaij et al., 2019, 2019). Further, the narrative expresses the privileged position White occupies, where White represents the centre and all Others the outside [156]. Thus, the invitation to participate in curling required a degree of assimilation into an established culture (Abdel-Shehid & Kalman-Lamb, 2015; Marvasti & McKinney, 2011; T. Taylor & Toohey, 1998). Conversely, the lack of diversity apparent in the club was not experienced as a desirable condition by "red:" who acknowledges that, "it is uncomfortably 'white' here [143]", as the first line of dialogue in "So White...". This statement shows the tension and uneasiness, and amounts to a call-to-action to challenge the persistent lack of diversity. Within the discussion, diversity is brought forward as something Other to be integrated into the dominant, White centre (Long &

Hylton, 2002). As such, in the view from the centre, there were no perceived issues limiting racial minorities from attending and participating in the sport or belonging to the club.

Addressing issues of "race" and diversity is further confused by the trope of "exceptions to the rule," particularly regarding "people of colour" excelling in sports designated as White sports:

The achievements and failings of high-profile celebrity athletes such as Serena Williams, Jeremy Lin, and Tiger Woods, for example, are frequently invoked as embodied morality tales concerning the potential to overcome racial barriers. (Carrington, 2013, p. 380)

This notion was also evinced by participants who spoke (in the interviews) of others with different racial or ethnic backgrounds who played or belonged to the curling club. It was this tension between evidence of change, and the persistence of a dominant White culture surrounding curling that was presented. Here again, curling – and sport more broadly – proves to be a vital and appealing context in which to discuss challenging topics such as "race," while implicating broader discourses for Canadian society. The use of sport to reveal inequitable conditions in society has been widely researched by scholars, such as C. L. R. James (1963), Ben Carrington (1998, 2010), and John Singer (2005a, 2005b). These scholars used sport as a microcosm to explore racism and discrimination, whereby inequities could be identified both within sport and more poignantly in society. Additionally, sport represents a space whereby emancipation through equality of access and the accomplishments achieved by racialized peoples can

be celebrated (Adair & Rowe, 2010; Carrington, 2010, 2015). Moreover, Carrington (2013) explored the unique connection of sport as an expression of society, such that "[a]s a form of physical culture, sport has a particular corporeal resonance in making visible those aspects of social life that often remain hidden and submerged in other domains" (p. 2). Thus, in examining "race" and diversity, sport and curling represent an important research context, where curling's monotone appearance can be interrogated against its history and values, and its association with broader social constructs.

The performance text showed how notions of "race" are often discounted as only relevant in the past, not part of the present-day arrangement of Canadian society (Spaaij et al., 2018). Racial issues weren't said to a problem in the club or sport (Bimper, 2015; Cunningham, 2009; Hughey, 2014), presenting the situation in curling as post-racial, where colour no longer mattered (Bimper, 2015; Brummett, 2017; Meghji & Saini, 2018). For the *participant actors*, there was a concerted effort to distance themselves from "racism," perceived or actual, especially in comparison to the degree of racial injustice occurring *south of the border*. Sport provided a partial inoculation from racial tension and appeared to be a space where a benign vision of Canada's racial tolerance and celebration of difference could be achieved. Here sport is colour-blind, fair, and equitable in opportunity for all, with barriers to access nullified and the vision of a fully inclusive, multicultural society achieved. However, in exploring "race" in the performance text, this assumption of the beneficial and neutral nature of sport was challenged:

the boy: I really loved playing basketball, at least at first. I was good. I got known around the school. There were a couple of other *ethnics* on the team, but no one Black. Where I grew up, not a lot of people that looked like me. I mean five in a high school of 1500. At least that's what it seemed to me. I was good. I made the 2nd team all-stars. I was allowed to be good. I allowed myself to be good. I watched it always. I learned all the players. Magic. Kareem. Worthy. Michael. But I wasn't like them. I didn't grow up like them.

bruthR: Ha, no my brother, you ain't from da hood.

the boy: But I stopped playing. I didn't want that "dumb nigger from the projects" feeling. [150]

This text shows how that belief in Canadian values expressed through sport culture(s) continues to mask psychological and structural barriers for non-traditional groups (Crawford et al., 1991; E. Jackson, 1988; Kalemis, 2012). The passage shows the internal negotiation of "race" and identity that was stirred up when I played basketball, a sport whose racial image is assumed to be Black. But my struggle with being Black, while identifying both as bi-racial and transracially adopted, pushed a latent self-hatred and internalized racism to the surface; maybe sport was in fact an unsafe and challenging environment.

However, the internal distress was not the only trauma that I experienced related to sport. Again, sport was the context for one of the few times I have been racially abused through a verbal assault:

the boy: It is an oppressively humid night; two teams squaring off in a men's league soccer game. We are playing the Portuguese Canadian team. No

bitter rivalry here, just a regular league game. As time winds down, however, the collegiality begins to wane:

"Fuck you! You black piece of shit!"

Interestingly enough, I had been waiting for THAT word, that pinnacle of racial taunts; the word that we all are taught to fear. And in the heat of the moment, it doesn't come. Why was it important?

nigger. niggaz. n#@\$r. nigger [152]

This passage not only shows the trauma the event caused at the time, but also the lasting psychological effects that such events have on people of colour (Carrington, 2004, 2010; Collins, 1998; Hoberman, 1997). Thus, opening up the discussion to account for "race" and the effects of racism helped to push notions of diversity beyond simply balancing visual representation towards attending to hidden trauma and internal barriers that sport itself has created.

The analysis forced self-reflection on my own blind spots and biases related to "race." In the performance text, the following passage treats the erasing of the Other, in this case a person of Asian descent. The passage explores the discourses around "race" as subjective and biased, and expresses a need to acknowledge blind spots as diversity programs are integrated into sport systems:

in(out)sider: Holy Shit! I missed it completely. She's in a photo! A lone Asian woman! Was she White enough? Does she pass? I've erased her – not coloured enough to be included? When are you "race(ed)" enough to be considered part of the group? Her erasure happening in my Black-mind's-eye.

Woman/Asian = Disregarded, Invisible [144]

This passage illustrates how such discussions are negotiated for a person of colour, and also indicates how they are subjective and incomplete, opening up space for further discussion. In my role as inquirer, the text allowed me to explore my biases to highlight the potential prejudices and assumptions that can cloud research. Being a Black man did not absolve me of discrimination through erasure of another racialized person. Even when sport research embraces approaches such as intersectionality (Anderson & McCormack, 2010; Hancock, 2007; Walker & Melton, 2015) to consider multiple subjectivities – "race," gender, ability, age, and sexuality – in combination, there are still potential exclusions that can arise for the researcher. The performance text illustrated my own biased relation to "race" and curling, where "race" and diversity for me was associated with colour – Black or Brown – and did not lend themselves to other possibilities of "race" or other subjectivities.

The narrative (and counternarrative) related to "race" and "whiteness" involves explicit statements about "race" while veiling notions of colourblindness. I refer to the narrative as neglected as there is some discussion of "race," but it is incomplete. It also highlights the ambiguities of my role where "race" is present in my reality, and how "race" influences my perceptions and biases. The counternarrative also emphasizes the notion of "whiteness," as it was not identified in conversations with participants. "Whiteness" infers a normality and privilege in relation to curling as it exists as a sport that is predominantly White, and Others (non-Whites) must assimilate into the dominant culture in order to participate in the sport. As such, "whiteness" represents the centre, and everything (and everyone) else is peripheral to that privileged position. Therefore,

Others must break into that centre in order to be recognized or be part of that culture. The privilege and centrality of "whiteness" in society also pertains to Canada's colonial past, and what that means for people of colour and Indigenous Peoples, which is discussed in the next section.

5.2.2 Curling's Indigenous Silence and Hidden Colonialism

I referred to a *hole* in the performance text as "the Indigenous question." I meant to be patronizing, imperfect, and abstruse by not expanding on the topic. However, the phrase also represents a hidden narrative of the erasure of Indigeneity in the discourses of diversity in sport. Participants discussed the role of diversity in curling, but the exclusion of Indigeneity was not addressed in their interviews. It was also absent from the discussions concerning "race" and multiculturalism. The lack of acknowledgement pointed to how issues of Indigeneity are mostly absent from discourses of Canadian diversity in general (Grande, 2004; Paraschak, 1989), and the need for sport scholars to examine the ongoing implications within Canada's sport systems (Cho et al., 2018; Marvasti & McKinney, 2011; Rios & Wynn, 2016). Such a forgetful omission [132] illustrated the troubling nature of Indigeneity in curling, related to its history based on a settler motif, "whiteness," and the impacts of colonialism's ongoing legacies on the sport. Further, the silence on the topic also highlighted that "whiteness" still occupies a privileged position within the sport's culture, which is reflected in its formation, organization, and tradition (Allison, 2000; Kidd, 1996; Pezer, 2003). Thus, the erasure of Indigeneity speaks to the continuing inequality of Indigenous Peoples within the context of sport, and disturbingly, their absence from discussions of sport and diversity.

The image depicted by participants was of a sport that was fun, social, and that fostered an atmosphere where people felt welcomed in their curling club environment. The impact of Victorian values on curling has already been discussed at length (refer to *Curling's Victorian Legacy*). For curling, the legacy of Victorian values is codified in its rules (such as self-refereeing of games) as well as characterizing its rites and rituals, such as politeness as a construct of Victorian adherence to gentlemanliness. However, the impact of colonialism manifests beyond curling's culture, as the legacy of the colonial project still affects Indigenous populations in abject ways. As such, another counternarrative was constructed to explore how the role of Indigeneity might be taken up in the discourse of diversity (refer to "*lf1Only Had My Way…*"). Further, the lack of existing critical analysis pointed to the intersection of "whiteness" and colonialism as important conditions that reinforce White as privileged (Bonds & Inwood, 2016; McClintock, 1992).

These complex topics were introduced within the performance text (refer to "*When the Pipes Come Marching In...*"), which recounted an encounter with a First Nations chief that I had on a returning flight from Winnipeg after the 2010 Olympic Curling Trials. The conversation disclosed concerns about Canada's responsibility to Indigenous communities, and how sport and opportunities to participate are affected by financial and social neglect:

in(out)sider: I'm on the flight back home. It has been quite a trip.

"You flying home? Where you from?" I tell him. I ask him what he is doing.

"Going to the National Assembly of First Nations. I am chief of a local band."

I tell him what I was doing in Winnipeg.

"Hmm, I don't know many of us that curl, at least in the city. Maybe a few up closer to [a northern community]."

I ask him why not? He shrugs,

"The biggest problem is getting into facilities. We can't raise taxes to build anything. So how do you get a new rink? Well, that's why I'm heading to Ottawa."

I didn't know.

"You want us to curl? Let us build our own facilities. Simple, then maybe we will curl." [135]

The conversation offers an introduction but requires deeper critique of the issues and challenges Indigenous Peoples face as regards to participating in sport. For example, Paraschak (1997) examined how sport was complicit in the ongoing discrimination against Indigenous Peoples as well as sport's collusion in reinforcing a repressive, dominant culture that affected Indigenous communities. Further, the role of Canada's sport policy around dealing with inequalities for Indigenous communities not only needs to be scrutinized in relation to providing funding for facilities, but also critiqued as to the subtle reinforcement of the ways sport is organized and administered, which reinscribe colonial constructs (Henhawk, 2009; Paraschak, 1989, 1995a, 2015).

The performance text highlighted tensions around Canada's financial obligations to Indigenous communities, including funding for recreation and sport. Although the Troubling Dominance in Sport

Canadian government has made some strides in the process of Reconciliation, more work is required, including capital investment in Indigenous communities related to sport (Henhawk, 2009; Ministry of Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada, 2019a). Even with the presence of agencies and policies, such as the Aboriginal Sports Circle and Sport Canada's Policy on Aboriginal Peoples' Participation in Sport (Canadian Heritage, 2015, 2019), a wide range of factors continue to limit sport opportunities for Indigenous Peoples (Henhawk, 2009, 2018; Paraschak, 1995a, 2015).

The hidden narrative of Indigenous invisibility implicated the notion of decolonization, where Indigenous ways-of-being were juxtaposed against the history and legacy of curling. The notions of *change* and *progress [171]* in curling reflected how the participants felt about diversity and current cultural conditions. Phrases such as "things are better now than..." or "I can't see that happening here in Ontario" identified a certain optimism about the present, but also a hope for a new, more diverse future:

- *beige:* I can see it. It wouldn't take much. I feel that we are making positive strides toward that. I mean the government has acknowledged stuff, Reconciliation etc. It's at least moving somewhere.
- *purple*: It is difficult for sure, I'm not sure there is a good answer, but we are making strides towards that. I just went to see a talk at the university, and the speaker made a land acknowledgment.

orange: Yeah, my kids' school does that every morning on the announcements. I think it's good for the awareness of what happened. [182]

This passage centres on the discussion of Reconciliation and the strides that *people* are making. One serious risk, however, is that the action and activism around

Reconciliation stop at awareness as an end, rather than a point-of-departure. Further, the practice of acknowledgement remains suspect, as Grande (2004) wrote that the act of recognizing (in this case Indigenous rights) is performed from the dominant centre, where the power and authority to do the recognizing is maintained (p.5). This argument also implicates the notion of "whiteness" and the privilege of the dominant centre. Again, the dominant centre has the privilege; in this case, it is if and when the rights of Indigenous Peoples will be attended to by the greater authority, which has power and dominion over the Others. Thus, the performance text conveys a hope in the role of awareness leading to Reconciliation, but hides the weight of colonialism still at work in the sport, which acts to limit representation of or address inequity for Indigenous Peoples (Buck, 2012; C. King et al., 2007). Further, the privilege of "whiteness" complicit in the erasure of Indigeneity means the impact is doubly felt from the legacies of colonialism and "whiteness" as expressed in Canada's unexamined dominant cultural forms.

The performance text also opens up to a consideration of Canada's colonial project as actively ongoing, influencing social and cultural forms. In the scene "*If I Only Had My Way...*," three scenarios explored how forms of colonialism might manifest in Canada and the extent to which Canada embraces decolonization: "The Return to a New Nationalism", "A Tale of a New Centre", and "Toward a New *Ethno*Presence." Each suggested a different outcome for Reconciliation in Canada, from complete denial of Indigenous sovereignty and land claims, to full recognitions, self-governance, and

compensation. The first scenario imagines what a rejection of Reconciliation might involve where all the rights of Indigenous Peoples are denied:

Just before the gates, Eddie noticed a group of people sitting by a fire, circled around a drum. He heard the "thump, thump" and the melodic chant coming from the circle. Their protest had been ongoing for three years now. The barricades were down now, as the police forced the group to settle in the gulley beside the road. The thought of "Reconciliation" was long past; this group struggled not to be forgotten. The "club" acquired the land, gifted by the new government in "gratitude" for ongoing support and generous contributions to their campaign. Sacred lands were remembered but access only imagined. *[163]*

This passage imagines the complete refusal of decolonization not only as a denial of the Reconciliation process, but also as a reversal of land claims where traditionally held lands were gifted to friends of the ruling elite. In the second scenario, the situation gestures towards greater inclusivity and social justice, but Indigeneity is not referenced specifically. This silence helps represent a situation where the current climate has been taken a step further:

In the city, communities engaged with political, social justice, where access and equity were king. Corporate interests were balanced with new social interests, while alternative modes of employment and work, putting citizens at the forefront and reshaping land use. [169]

Finally, the third scenario presents a situation where Reconciliation and a fully realized vision of multiculturalism is manifest in Canada:

"Canada Realizes Reconciliation in Full." The headline didn't do justice to the amazing turn of events. The New TRC party swept into power with a mandate that seemed impossible to achieve. [178]

The performance text prompts a discussion, but also points to the need to have the narrative relate to Indigeneity at present, as the issue was not discussed at all by

Troubling Dominance in Sport

participants. Further, the role of the "club" is prominently featured as the setting in all three scenario treatments depicting possible states of social and political decolonization.

As enacted by the performance text, the hidden narrative provides a counternarrative to narratives about curling's legacy (refer to Curling's Victorian Legacy). Through the counternarrative, curling's association with Canada's colonial past can be critiqued and investigated as to where tradition might meaningfully be challenged. There is considerable territory to review, from Victorian ideals of values and behaviour, to the legacy of settler colonialism, to British origins. In fact, the performance text traverses these areas in order to illustrate their intersections and sites of tension. However, apart from the text in the scenarios themselves, the issue of how curling's legacy might silence or make it impossible to recognize the ongoing struggles of Indigenous Peoples and colonialism is otherwise absent from participant discussion. In fact, the narrative invites a question regarding the appropriateness of the discussion:

red: Why are we the ones talking about this? I just have to ask: are we in the best position to answer that question? [168]

Again, the centre or privileged position within the dominant culture (and curling club culture) is the location of the discussion, and the above text points to one current discourse whereby some are rightly asking whether the voices driving the conversation should belong exclusively to the privileged, White centre, and not include Indigenous Peoples themselves. The text thereby identifies a placeholder for further discussion that implicates the discourses of "whiteness" and decolonization (Bonds & Inwood, 2016; Mignolo, 1993). As such, the notion of dominance (expressed through the participants

Troubling Dominance in Sport

in the narrative) can be troubled while examining conditions of colonialism that persist today, and lead to inequity, especially (and in unique ways) for Indigenous Peoples.

However, the impacts of colonialism are not limited to Indigenous Peoples, and the impacts of Canadian colonialism on "people of colour" has not received sufficient attention by sport scholars. Although Bonds and Inwood (2016) called for examination of the relationship between "white supremacy" and "race" within settler colonial nations as a "process that continues to create common sense understandings of race within settler societies" (p. 722), the context of sport has not been used to analyze that particular relationship. The performance text allowed exploration of the notion of "race" through the eyes of a person of colour, as well as, a look at "race" within a context of colonialism and sport. The scenarios enlisted Reconciliation as a central construct for the stories. There was also mention of "race" related to immigrants new to Canada, and of how colonialization also damaged all people of colour through a system of repression reliant on "whiteness." However, the legacy of Black people in Canada has largely and unjustly been associated with complicity with the colonial project, rather than with subjugation within its structures (Day, 2000; Fleras, 2014; Henry, 2000; Mensah, 2002). Thus, the complexity of the issue of colonialism in Canadian sport requires further study. The current work submits counternarrative as a vital method to explore different and conflicting perspectives and possibilities.

The narratives discussed in this section surfaced persistent themes – identified and not identified – though the experiences of curlers. The interviews opened discussions regarding diversity that highlighted existing patterns of behaviour

illustrative of the cultures within curling clubs. The performance text in turn revealed counternarratives that are demanded within a critical analysis of curling in order to better understand the way "race," "whiteness," and colonialism operate on diversity. Throughout the process, I reflected on my own position as inquirer and on my background regarding "race," bringing a vigilance and curiosity to how that informed this inquiry. The performance text invited discussion of complex discourses to examine gaps and tensions that require more attention. The entire project sought to deepen understanding of dominant narratives that, when carefully and courageously examined, reveal valuable insights to consider in shaping the future of sport and diversity.

6.0 Conclusions

There is no English history without that other history. The notion that identity has to do with people that look the same, feel the same, call themselves the same, is nonsense. As a process, as a narrative, as a discourse, it is always told from the position of the Other.

– Hall, 2000, p. 147

The focus of this inquiry centred on the narratives that are maintained within sport related to diversity (Spaaij et al., 2018, 2019). The narratives became known through the process of analysis and representation of participants' experiences, where their knowledge and insights revealed the stories that are told within the cultures of curling. Throughout the inquiry, I acknowledged that my role was implicated in the process of gathering, analyzing, and representing the narratives. My involvement was not only that of inquirer, but also as contributor. As such, I offer my story of how I was introduced to curling as a Black man with no previous links to the sport. The story goes something like this:

I came to know curling through a friend but in an uncommon way: I agreed to participate in a *celebrity bonspiel* – a pro-am event, where professional players are matched with amateur players. I was green and naïve. So much so that I mistook *draws* for the selection of teams (draws actually refer to the schedule of play). I remember taking my first tentative steps onto the ice, and my world was irrevocably changed. But it was the afterward, post-game that solidified my fascination with the sport. Sitting amongst curling's royalty, I couldn't help but be struck by how down-to-earth all the players were. It seemed that there was no hierarchy, just regular people sharing a drink. Yet, the experience was also disquieting. Here I was, the only Black man on the ice or in the club house. Again, I was forced to accept my Other*ness* while playing a sport that was predominantly White.

So, what was I to make of my experience in this social, fun sport that also reaffirmed the tensions and challenges that "race" poses for my participation? My interest in curling was piqued as it forced a reconciliation of my enjoyment, my biography as a Black man, and deeper concerns that are implicated in the sport. This chapter explores the main contributions of the inquiry, in regard to theory, methodology, representation, and practice. Further, I provide consideration for the significance of the research for the academic world, as well as for those outside of academia. Ultimately, I provide some considerations for further inquiry.

6.1 Seeing Curling's Narratives Through New Eyes

To begin, there is relatively little scholarship written on curling in sport studies. It remains a unique sport representing a *Canadianness* (Barrick et al., 2016; Mair, 2007) that connects curling to other national sports, such as hockey and lacrosse. Sport scholars have researched these more extensively, particularly hockey (Adams & Leavitt, 2018; Kidd, 2013b; Nixon, 1976; Paraschak, 2015). Yet, curling represents a rich terrain for examination of club-based cultures, and their impact on community members who participate. This inquiry provides a contribution to the scholarship concerning curling, and how diversity can be examined from the point-of-view of the centre, or dominant culture. As curling's image and current membership is predominantly White, male, English-speaking and heterosexual (Curling Canada et al., 2015; Pezer, 2003), it represents a prevailing assertion of Canadian society. Often, scholars researching issues of diversity investigate the conditions of inequity from the point-of-view of those

peoples that are marginalized. This inquiry flips that investigation to focus on what hidden barriers might be present inside the cultures of curling clubs, as revealed from the experiences of those already involved in the sport.

In Canada, the notion of "whiteness" is associated with a dominant culture, and the privilege that it holds in our society (Bonds & Inwood, 2016). The inquiry examined the role of "whiteness" as present in the cultures of curling clubs, where there continues to be strong connection to its past. Through interrogating the role of White privilege (Bonds & Inwood, 2016), we can begin to unravel the complexity of dominance, and how that centre exerts influence to the detriment of achieving a more diverse population (Spaaij et al., 2018, 2019). Further, it is from this centre location (of privilege and power) that Others are invited into the sport, and as such, deciphering the factors that continue to limit opportunities for people of colour, Indigenous Peoples, and those people marginalized in sport are important in combatting potential inequalities. Within the discussion, the role of tradition in curling was identified as an integral component of club cultures, and thus deserved attention as to what impacts it had in relation to diversity.

One contribution of the inquiry relates to the association of tradition and symbols, with the culture(s) in the curling club (Birrell, 1989; Mills & Hoeber, 2013). As was noted in the discussion, tradition supports a value structure in curling that is based on Victorian values still practiced in the sport today, such as polite, courteous play, and self-refereeing (Pezer, 2003). These all link to a historical view of sport as being gentlemanly, orderly, and respectful (Pezer, 2003), values considered benign and

positive by participants. However, those values also point to an connection with settler colonialism in Canada (Bonds & Inwood, 2016), and thus a conflict can be found related to diversity. The spread of curling within these "settler communities" – small towns in Canada's Prairies – is touted as crucial in the historical development of the sport (Pezer, 2003; Wieting & Lamoureux, 2001), yet it also represents the silencing and erasure of the oppression experienced by Indigenous Peoples as a result of that colonial expansion (Grande, 2004; Paraschak, 1996).

Thus, curling's legacy association with settler colonialism requires further examination as to how the history, legacy, and ongoing culture impacts projects designed to increase diversity in the sport (Bonds & Inwood, 2016; Spaaij et al., 2018). The inquiry introduced and examined how the sport may respond to notions of Reconciliation and decolonization, and what possible outcomes might be experienced. Further, Canada's valuing of multiculturalism, despite expressing a beneficial tolerance of difference, may also lead to colourblindness, as notions of "race" and racial inequality are subsumed in the quest for equity for all that has fallen short in in Canada (Bimper, 2015; Bonilla-Silva, 2006; Carrington, 2007). The inquiry used narratives as a vehicle to explore some of these complex relationships between concepts such as "whiteness, "race," and colonialism. Through the analysis, the dominant narratives that were found expressed multiple perspectives related to these theoretical areas. The narratives reinforced cultural forms and actions and as such were valuable to identify barriers, tensions, and challenges.

6.2 Exploration Using Counternarratives

As mentioned in the previous section, identifying the dominant narratives in curling facilitated a discussion of the impacts that are perceived by their persistence. The neglect of certain topical areas, such as "race" or "whiteness," exposes a gap related to diversity that required interrogation. As such, counternarratives were used as they offered a means to look at these topics, and their intersections (Baker-Lewton et al., 2017; Harper, 2009). By using counternarratives, the notion of "race" could be introduced as a counter to the main narrative of dominant "whiteness." Hence, the intersection of "race" and diversity was opened up to explore different perspectives that were not realized directly from the participants. Further, it introduced a self-reflexive accounting of my "race" and biography, and what implications it might have for the inquiry.

When it came to discussions of diversity, there were oppositional views, where some participants stated how welcoming and open curling was for all people and conversely how others noted that, although curling might appear open to all, diversity was still an issue. I was struck by how engaged participants were and excited about speaking to issues related to curling. It can be uncomfortable to speak about "race" and diversity, but those who chose to contribute took on the task with blunt and striking frankness. Describing a Canadian sport as White immediately creates tensions in the exploration of diversity, as it seems at odds with a national character of tolerance of new Canadians and appreciation for a multicultural society (Burdsey, 2008; Day, 2000). Yet, I was surprised and encouraged by the candour and self-awareness participants

exhibited, recognizing many of the challenges facing the sport, including its history, legacy, and position in the Canadian sport landscape.

When I began this inquiry, I tried at first to distance myself from notions of "race" and my blackness. This action served as a defense on two fronts: (1) I no longer would be required to define my identification with "race", and (2), I believed I could move beyond "race" as a classification for myself both as a racialized individual and as a scholar. As such, I relied on a *more* poststructural approach to research, whereby I might distance myself from the matter of "race," and present an *objective* yet subjective treatment of the content. However, in fact, I was unable to achieve any distance from notions of "race," identity, and "whiteness." In actuality, for me to proceed with the analysis, I needed to recognize and more importantly reconcile my identification with "race" and moreover, find a way to be at peace with my multiple identities. Resolving my issues with "race" in context of curling seemed like a strange place to begin the process of my understanding and ultimate my healing.

However, the exploration of the curling narratives offered insights into how the dominant centre needs to critically examine legacies of tradition to gain an awareness in order to counter historical inequities. Perhaps, in the process, curling may reconcile its history and move towards the more socially just vision for diversity in the sport. The complexity of the inquiry required me to embrace an approach which engrained "thinking with theory" (A. Jackson, 2012) as a means to unpack the messiness of the content. It offered a means to entertain multiple, subjective points-of-view, while committed to a deeper, critical exploration of the role of dominance within sport.

The outcome also pointed to a need for a creative approach to present the findings. Through performance text, the notions of "race" and "whiteness" could be continually troubled. It allowed for my role as inquirer to also express my struggles being categorized as Black, and the implications that classification has had on my life. Again, I am unable to escape "race." It was *thrust* onto me from an early age *[145]*. Yet, my identity continually reflects my ongoing re-evaluation of "race," what it means, and how it affects my lived experience *[155]*. There is nothing straightforward about using the intricacy of "race" as a frame to investigate diversity. I explored how creative practices, such as performance text as a method of analysis, could offer a valuable vehicle to manage the many issues relevant to the discussion, and to illustrate the messiness.

Further, the use of the counternarrative allowed interconnections between "race," and diversity in the context of sport to be illustrated, such as recognizing that marginalized people do not have a neutral or equal starting point when it comes to opportunities to access sport (Beamish, 1990; Kidd, 1995). Therefore, solutions must address these inequities prior to implementing universal mandates designed as equal access for all (Collins, 1998; Cunningham, 2009; Spaaij et al., 2018, 2019). Further, using a counternarrative was useful to explore those topics that were not discussed by participants, such how a commitment to multiculturalism and colourblind national policies lead to erasing "race" from our discourses about sport, diversity, and inclusion (Adair & Rowe, 2010; T. Brown et al., 2003; Hylton, 2005; King et al., 2007) [145]. The narratives provided a space to challenge this aspect, where the privilege of

"whiteness" is also implicated not only in broader Canadian society, but also within sport (C. King et al., 2007; Long & Hylton, 2002) [143].

Moreover, the omission of Indigeneity within the discourses of sport and diversity required attention, as well as the challenge of intersecting notions of "race" and Indigeneity together in the research of sport culture(s) and diversity. Although a brief discussion of Indigeneity and sport was provided in the literature review, I am not positioning myself as expert. However, I do believe that it is vital for scholarship to move beyond a reliance on Indigenous thinkers to discuss and find solutions to this complicated subject area in Canada. The impacts of colonialism continue to affect our society today. I referred to the fatigue felt by people of colour as they are persistently required to defend and call for action to address racism, discrimination, and inequity. Indigenous scholars surely experience a similar fatigue as they attend to the inequities, silencing, and dismissal of Indigeneity in discourses about sport and culture in Canada. My attempt was to articulate the need to explore Indigenous issues related to curling and diversity, and to align this inquiry with a demand for social justice for all marginalized groups in Canadian society.

This inquiry offers a contribution to the discourses by examining the relationship between "race" and colonialism (Bonds & Inwood, 2016; Boucher et al., 2009; López, 2005b) and the effects of "whiteness" in dominant cultural forms in curling, as expressed through the continuing narrative of Canadian colonial legacy at the expense of any other version of history (López, 2005b; Mignolo, 2002, 2011a). For curling, exploring its histories and heritage is a vital component of critical analysis and opens up

possibilities for research (Bannerji, 2000; Besnier & Brownell, 2012; K. Fox, 2006; Mignolo, 2005; Spivak, 1988). Further, sport scholars need to consider how narratives about Canada's heritage perpetuate detrimental mythologies, such as settler histories and colour-blind multiculturalism (Apfelbaum et al., 2012; Bonds & Inwood, 2016; Carrington, 2010) and how those stories affect diversity, and the neglect of Indigenous cultures, ways-of-being, and self-determination (Paraschak, 1995b; Paraschak & Morgan, 1997; Paraschak & Thompson, 2014).

6.3 Writing as Analysis

One methodological contribution from the inquiry is the benefit of writing as a method for analysis. Richardson (1990) wrote "language does not 'reflect' social reality but rather produces meaning and creates social reality" (p. 961). The importance of language cannot be understated, and as I wrote the performance text, a powerful connection between experiences and meanings became apparent. Throughout the data collection process, words and phrases were used that indicated a space where more scrutiny would be a benefit as they were often loaded with cultural references to be deconstructed. For the performance text, some of these words were highlighted – [city], [club], [heritage], ["blue collar"], ["gentleman's sport"] – as they indicated a gravity and loaded-ness that needed to be called out. Yet, the taken-for-granted assumptions with aspects of tradition and its cultural forms was evident from the analysis. The participants often reflected on tradition, and while some meanings seemed to be

commonly held, there were different points-of-view as to what the implications of those meanings were for the sport.

I found that my writing offered a path to better understand what participants were saying, and I was able to examine my reaction, emotions, and behaviours that surfaced in relation to each interview. For Richardson (1990), "knowing the self and knowing about the subject are intertwined, partial, historical local knowledges" (p. 962). In this context, curling offered a common space for understanding. Further, the analytic process and final representation through performance text also invited the reader into the analysis, where they could form their own opinions and interpretations of what was valuable for them in the inquiry. Barthes (1987) wrote about readers' active involvement in the process of interpretation, which must be considered as supplanting or reducing the influence of the author. As such, the reader reinscribes meanings and truths through their active role. It is the action and involvement of the reader that becomes so vital to the process, whereby:

The reader, by deconstructing the writer's presence, signature, and voice, which are included in the text, disembodies the text from the author but not to leave the text void. This disembodiment is concurrently replaced by the embodiment of the reader within the text, thereby creating the text anew. (Mantzoukas, 2004, p. 1001).

I constructed the performance text to address this active role of the reader. My hope for this inquiry was that there would be an audience beyond academia, which would benefit from the narratives depicted in the text. I hoped that the result could engage a

multiplicity of interpretation, and lead to new courses of action to increase diversity in curling. The performance text explored the content without leaving prescriptive pathways or solutions. The text engages the reader and leaves *space* for new possibilities and emergence for future investigations. I imagined a *space*, or rather, through writing creatively, a space that could be *opened*, where interpretations could lead elsewhere. Such openness was designed to allow for critique, as each reading demonstrated an opportunity for alternatives to be explored, entertained, and perhaps discarded. Together, participants, writer, and reader might construct new perspectives on the role of diversity in sport, and fashion new ways of knowing and understanding.

6.4 **Performance Text as Creative Analytic Practice**

As mentioned, a challenge for this inquiry was how best to represent the findings of the analysis. In the Methodology chapter, the theoretical underpinnings of poststructuralism and narrative inquiry were discussed in order to open towards new and more creative approaches for representation of such challenging subject matter. Performance text offered a flexible, creative style, whereby the text and writing became analysis, and thinking was done through the expression of the text itself (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005). Performance text, as a form of creative analytic practice (CAP) (Berbary, 2011; Richardson & St. Pierre, 2005), troubled reification often tied to thematic categorization, as the role of expert becomes inscribed in the findings. The performance text countered this by inviting new insights and interpretations from the reader.

Troubling Dominance in Sport

Further, performance text offered a method to explore multiple conceptual areas, such as "race," "whiteness," and colonialism, all within the context of curling and diversity, all within one form of representation. The performance text allowed the dialogue between *participant actors* to illustrate tensions that emanated from the participant interviews and represented multiple perspectives on a particular topic. Further, the creative format permitted a deep exploration of themes as the writing allowed for insights to be written into the *participant actors* to respond to and seed further discussion. Performance text also provided a medium to implicate my own biography relevant to issues of diversity and inclusion, particularly in regard to "race," with a freedom to illustrate the multilayered analysis, with self-reflexive interpretations of identity, not separated to remove my role as researcher from the process.

The process of writing and presentation in the performance text allowed for my insights concerning "race," othering, and disenfranchisement to be imagined while conducting interviews with participants in a predominantly White space (Arai, 2006; K. Armstrong, 2011; Carrington, 2007). I was able to identify tensions related to identity and my belonging, which were brought to the surface and contrasted with the congenial feelings of welcome offered by participants and the club environment. The text illustrated the conflict and tensions that I felt as a person of colour operating in a White, dominant culture, where my experience of living as a Black man entered into the conversation, both as an immediate consideration as well as the historical weight of my lived experience as a Black man in Canada. That experience can never be isolated nor removed (Fanon, 1952), and as such, informs my very being.

Troubling Dominance in Sport

The impact of "race" in and of itself is complex, however, it is further compounded by my bi-racial identification and transracial adoptive background. My story about painting my bike white illustrated the degradation often held by transracial adoptees negotiating their identification with "race" (Baden et al., 2012; Briggs, 2012; Butler-Sweet, 2011a, 2011b). Thus, the performance text allowed my background to be expressed alongside the *participant actors* to contrast the view from the centre and the possibility of how that discussion might be challenging for someone pushed to the margins.

One possible limitation for this inquiry was the selection of participants from only two clubs. However, when analyzed, the stories gathered from a multitude of participant experiences revealed a similarity of key narratives, common across all participants. As such, the value of introducing additional clubs would not guarantee any additional contributions to the narratives. Further, the notion of multiplicity as it is taken up in poststructuralism highlights that the perspectives of those involved in the study all contribute to the formation of the whole. Thus, each participant's experiences provided a facet of the complete structure, in this case the cultures in the club. The narratives related to those cultures became known as a collection and amalgamation of the experiences of all participants. The inquiry was not comparative; rather, it was cumulative, whereby each story or participant experience brought further clarity to the overall depiction of the narrative.

6.5 Scenarios as Construct to Explore Alternative Perspectives

Along with the performance text, the development of scenarios offered a complimentary approach to explore sport and diversity by imagining future conditions and their impacts on sport and society. Scenarios are often used within strategic planning to help organizations mitigate risk and remain viable within dramatic, uncertain conditions (Ainslie, 2007; Börjeson et al., 2006; Chermack, 2004, 2005; Wilson, 2000). The scenarios designed for the inquiry illustrated a set of possible futures to challenge the reader's imagination, and depict multiple possible states in the future (Baldwin, 1979; Cuhls, 2003; Schwartz, 1996). The scenarios were meant to be provocative and written in such a way as to draw out issues referenced by participants in their interviews and rewritten into conditions, situations, and possibilities relevant to the discourses of curling clubs, Reconciliation, and impacts on diversity. The experiences of the participants formed the basis for the narratives which were then projected into the future.

The combination of scenario development and performance text offered a unique approach to explore possible directions curling might take to remedy issues related to diversity in the sport. In the performance text, "If I Only Had My Way...," the scene imagined how a future thinking workshop might operate and what responses might be offered from the participants. The scenario format allowed exploration of the notions of Reconciliation and decolonialization, as a counternarrative challenging the omission of Indigeneity from the discussion of diversity. I used the *participant actors* to formulate possible points-of-view and provide discussion around the future states aligned with the

perspectives that were established in previous passages. The result grounded future considerations within the messiness of "race," colonialism, and silencing of Indigeneity in Canada, and what changes are required to address that omission in curling. Thus, the use of scenarios in combination with performance text offers a powerful medium to expand analytic practices by engaging counternarratives, probing future considerations and possibilities using scenarios, all leading to opening new insights to further the discourses of sport and diversity.

6.6 Implications for Practice and Future Inquiry

I began this inquiry with the purpose of better understanding notions of diversity and curling club culture(s) through the experience of participants. Yet, the process resulted in the emergence of other considerations that required examination to understand the issues surrounding diversity within curling. There seemed a simplicity to solving the issue of how to get more diversity into curling, yet the application in the club environment was challenging. Curling offered a context rich with legacy to its tradition, continuity of rites and rituals linked to a Victorian past, and desire to change its image of "whiteness" toward a diversity resembling Canada's cultural mosaic. The curling club represented a valuable expression of a CSO, where the pressures and tensions could be explored as a site that is under pressure to change. Finally, curling as Canada's other national sport presented a fascinating manifestation of a cultural form that embodies Canadian values, both past and present.

Troubling Dominance in Sport

The inquiry was designed to explore and present ideas, tensions, and challenges to provoke conversations and interpretations by the reader. I wanted to ensure that in reading the performance text, there was an accessible form that illustrated the relevant issues but did so in such a manner that the reader becomes involved in the inquiry, as an active, insightful member of the project. The narrative form allowed for an iterative, interpretative process whereby the reader could develop and revisit their insights over and over again. The combination of scenarios within performance text showed a valuable approach to present possible areas for discussion that could not be fully explored within a traditional research study. The result offered a look into curling's dominant narratives and the impacts those narratives have on holding tradition and cultures in place.

Further, research into diversity surely benefits from using the construct of "whiteness" to examine privilege in dominant culture, national identity, and what impacts that may have on opportunities for access in sport. Curling has a unique connection to Canadian heritage that requires additional critique regarding the role of settler colonialism and Indigeneity where sport researchers can examine the impact of that legacy on Canadian sport. This also opens up possible avenues for research regarding strategic implications. Finally, the role of the curling club in this inquiry identified the beneficial aspects of the club as it builds social connections and can serve as another type of space; thus further research into the role of CSOs continues to offer an important entry point for sports research. It also requires critical examination within frames of "race," "whiteness," and settler colonialism to better contextualize the unique

situation in Canada, where the values of multiculturalism offer hope for equality, yet still suffers from the colourblindness implied. The performance text sets a stage where others may be able to further dialogues into the topics covered in the inquiry to inform practices, national policy, and local implementations.

One gap identified in the inquiry relates to the assumed complicity of people of colour in colonialization of Canada. As Canada grapples with its road to Reconciliation and attempts to decolonize our society, the role of people of colour within the colonial project demands attention, as does the associated question of how that may be experienced with the context of sport. I believe that creative analytic practice, including performance text, offers an approach to examine greater complexity in sports research. Performance text combines an approach to analytics and creative freedom to trouble the rigidity of traditional scientific research, and the possibilities of expanding perspective through counternarrative is a useful technique to challenge our dominant narrative tied to our cultures.

For me, this inquiry was challenging. I struggled with issues of my racial identity and my place as a Black man in this world and as a scholar. As a person of colour, I inherently assume that notions of "race" are self-evident and disenfranchisement, discrimination, and inequality are givens in our society. However, this inquiry allowed for the multifaceted intersection of conceptual areas to be explored in curling, and its cultures. Considering notions of diversity, "race," and colonialism within a frame of dominance, "whiteness," and Canadian heritage offers valuable insight for sport research, deepening the discussion through intersection and interconnections. My desire

was to contribute to the scholarship in sports studies, using curling as a context to better understand our complicity with Canadian heritage, and what its implications are for sport. My hope was to open up our discussion of diversity and move towards a more socially just society for all Canadians.

7.0 References

- Abdel-Shehid, G., & Kalman-Lamb, N. (2015). Multiculturalism, Gender and Bend it Like Beckham. Social Inclusion, 3(3), n, a. International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS).
- Adair, D. (2011). Building global understanding: Ethnocultural diversity and sport. *Sport in Society*, *14*(6), 737–740. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2011.587287
- Adair, D., & Rowe, D. (2010). Beyond boundaries? "Race", ethnicity and identity in sport. International Review for the Sociology of Sport, 45(3), 251–257. sph.
- Adame, A. L., Leitner, L. M., & Knudson, R. M. (2011). A Poetic Epiphany: Explorations of Aesthetic Forms of Representation. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 8(4), 370–379. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780880903304519
- Adams, C., & Leavitt, S. (2018). 'It's just girls' hockey': Troubling progress narratives in girls' and women's sport. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 53(2), 152–172. https://doi.org/10.1177/1012690216649207
- Ahmed, S. (1998). *Differences that matter: Feminist theory and postmodernism*. Cambridge University Press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511489389
- Ahmed, S. (2012). *On being included: Racism and diversity in institutional life*. Duke University Press.
- Ainslie, G. (2007). Foresight has to pay off in the present moment. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *30*(03), 313–314. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X07001987
- Alexander, B. K. (2004). Black Skin/White Masks: The Performative Sustainability of Whiteness (With Apologies to Frantz Fanon). *Qualitative Inquiry*, 10(5), 647–672. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800403257640
- Allain, K. A. (2011). Kid Crosby or Golden Boy: Sidney Crosby, Canadian national identity, and the policing of hockey masculinity. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 46(1), 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/1012690210376294
- Allain, K. A., & Marshall, B. (2018). 'Buff boys' with brooms: Shifting representations of masculinity in Canadian men's curling. NORMA, 13(2), 119–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/18902138.2017.1400148
- Allison, M. T. (2000). Leisure, diversity and social justice. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 32(1), 2–6.
- Althusser, L. (2001). On Ideology and Ideological State Apparatuses. In B. Brewster (Trans.), *Lenin and philosophy, and other essays* (pp. 127–173). Monthly Review Press (originally published in 1968).

- Anderson, E., & McCormack, M. (2010). Intersectionality, Critical Race Theory, and American Sporting Oppression: Examining Black and Gay Male Athletes. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 57(8), 949–967. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2010.503502
- Andrews, D. (2000). POSTING UP: FRENCH POST-STRUCTURALISM AND THE CRITICAL ANALYSIS OF CONTEMPORARY SPORTING CULTURE. In J. J. Coakley & E. Dunning (Eds.), *Handbook of sports studies* (pp. 106–138). SAGE.
- Angeloni, S., & Borgonovi, E. (2016). An ageing world and the challenges for a model of sustainable social change. *The Journal of Management Development*, 35(4), 464–485. ABI/INFORM Global.
- Apfelbaum, E. P., Norton, M. I., & Sommers, S. R. (2012). Racial Color Blindness: Emergence, Practice, and Implications. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 21(3), 205–209. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721411434980
- Arai, S. M. (2006). Where does social control end and social capital begin? Examining social space, conflict, and the politics of difference. *Leisure/Loisir*, 30(2), 329–339. https://doi.org/10.1080/14927713.2006.9651355
- Armstrong, J., & Ng, R. (2005). Deconstructing Race, Deconstructing Racism. In J. A. Lee & J. S. Lutz (Eds.), Situating "race" and racisms in space, time, and theory: Critical essays for activists and scholars (pp. 30–45). McGill-Queen's University Press; Combined Academic [distributor].
- Armstrong, K. L. (2011). Lifting the veils and illuminating the shadows': Furthering the explorations of race and ethnicity in sport management. *Journal of Sport Management*, 25(2), 95–106.
- Arthur, B. (2012, August 8). Canada's failed Olympic gold rush heartbreaking but we're OK / canada.com. Canada.Com. http://o.canada.com/2012/08/08/owning-the-podiumtougher-in-deep-olympic-summer-field/
- Atkinson, P., & Delamont, S. (2006). Rescuing narrative from qualitative research. *Narrative Inquiry*, *16*(1), 164–172. https://doi.org/10.1075/ni.16.1.21atk
- Baden, A. L., Treweeke, L. M., & Ahluwalia, M. K. (2012). Reclaiming Culture: Reculturation of Transracial and International Adoptees. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 90(4), 387–399. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2012.00049.x
- Bailey, P., & Redmond, G. (2010, May 9). *Curling*. The Canadian Encyclopedia. https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/curling
- Baker-Lewton, A., Sonn, C. C., Vincent, D. N., & Curnow, F. (2017). 'I haven't lost hope of reaching out ... ': Exposing racism in sport by elevating counternarratives. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 21(11), 1097–1112. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2017.1350316

- Balduck, A. L., Lucidarme, S., Marlier, M., & Willem, A. (2015). Organizational Capacity and Organizational Ambition in Nonprofit and Voluntary Sports Clubs. *VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 26(5), 2023–2043. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-014-9502-x
- Baldwin, T. (1979). Foresight and Responsibility. *Philosophy*, 54(209), 347–360. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031819100048750
- Bannerji, H. (2000). *The dark side of the nation: Essays on multiculturalism, nationalism, and gender*. Canadian Scholars' Press.
- Barad, K. (2003). Posthumanist Performativity: Toward an Understanding of How Matter Comes to Matter. Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society, 28(3), 801–831. https://doi.org/10.1086/345321
- Barinaga, E. (2009). A Performative View of Language—Methodological Considerations and Consequences for the Study of Culture. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 10(1). http://www.qualitativeresearch.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/1226/2668
- Barn, R. (2013). 'Doing the right thing': Transracial adoption in the USA. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *36*(8), 1273–1291. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2013.770543
- Barn, R. (2014). Somebody's children: The politics of transracial and transnational adoption. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 37(5), 857–859. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2013.847201
- Barrick, S. J., & Mair, H. L. (2019). Understanding the experiences in adult introductory sport programmes: A case study of learn-to-curl leagues. *Qualitative Research in Sport*, *Exercise and Health*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1673467
- Barrick, S. J., Norman, R., & Mair, H. (2016). Rethinking Our Story: Curling and the Olympic Effect. *Journal of Sporting Cultures and Identities*, 7(3), 13–30.
- Barrie, H. (2004). Sports Globalisation, the State and the Problem of Governance. In T. Slack (Ed.), *Commercialization of Sport* (pp. 82–102). Routledge. http://site.ebrary.com/lib/oculocad/docDetail.action?docID=10162769
- Barthes, R. (1975). An Introduction to the Structural Analysis of Narrative. *New Literary History*, 6(2), 237–272. https://doi.org/10.2307/468419
- Barthes, R., & Heath, S. (1987). The Death of the Author. In *Image, music, text* (pp. 142–148). Fontana Press.
- Beamish, R. (1990). The Persistance of Inequality: An Analysis of Participation Patterns Among Canada's High Performance Athletes. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 25(2), 143–155. https://doi.org/10.1177/101269029002500204

- Bell, J. A. (1998). *The problem of difference: Phenomenology and poststructuralism*. University of Toronto Press.
- Bellou, T. (2013). *Derrida's deconstruction of the subject: Writing, self and other* (1 Edition). Peter Lang.
- Belsey, C. (2002). Post-structuralism: A very short introduction. Oxford University Press.
- Bendiner-Viani, G. (2016). Bringing their worlds back: Using photographs to spur conversations on everyday place. *Visual Studies*, 31(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/1472586X.2015.1120942
- Benn, T., & Pfister, G. (2013). Meeting needs of Muslim girls in school sport: Case studies exploring cultural and religious diversity. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 13(5), 567– 574. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2012.757808
- Berbary, L. A. (2011). Poststructural Writerly Representation: Screenplay as Creative Analytic Practice. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 17(2), 186–196. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800410393887
- Berbary, L. A. (2017). Thinking Through Post-structuralism in Leisure Studies: A Detour Around "Proper" Humanist Knowledges. In Karl Spracklen, B. Lashua, E. Sharpe, & S. Swain (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Leisure Theory* (pp. 719–741). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-56479-5_41
- Berbary, L. A., & Boles, J. C. (2014). Eight Points for Reflection: Revisiting Scaffolding for Improvisational Humanist Qualitative Inquiry. *Leisure Sciences*, 36(5), 401–419. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2014.912169
- Berger, I. E., O'Reilly, N., Parent, M. M., Séguin, B., & Hernandez, T. (2008). Determinants of Sport Participation Among Canadian Adolescents. *Sport Management Review*, 11(3), 277–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1441-3523(08)70113-X
- Berry, J. W. (2005). Acculturation: Living successfully in two cultures. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 29(6), 697–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2005.07.013
- Besnier, N., & Brownell, S. (2012). Sport, Modernity, and the Body. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 41, 443–459. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-anthro-092611-145934
- Bicket, J. (1982). The Canadian curler's manual, or, An account of curling as practised in Canada: With remarks on the history of the game. Toronto Curling Club.
- Bilefsky, D. (2019, June 17). Quebec Bans Religious Symbols in Some Public Sector Jobs [News, Information]. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/06/17/world/canada/quebec-religious-symbolssecularism-bill.html
- Bimper, A. (2015). Lifting the Veil: Exploring Colorblind Racism in Black Student Athlete Experiences. *Journal of Sport & Social Issues*, 39(3), 225–243. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193723513520013

- Birrell, S. (1981). Sport as Ritual: Interpretations from Durkheim to Goffman. *Social Forces*, 60(2), 354. https://doi.org/10.2307/2578440
- Birrell, S. (1989). Racial relations theories and sport: Suggestions for a more critical analysis. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 6(3), 212–227.
- Bliss, L. (2019, June 25). Toronto's Alphabet-Powered Smart City Is Growing [Technology, Promotion]. CityLab. https://www.citylab.com/solutions/2019/06/alphabet-sidewalk-labstoronto-quayside-smart-city-google/592453/
- Bochner, A., & Riggs, N. (2014). Practicing Narrative Inquiry. In P. Leavy (Ed.), *The Oxford* handbook of qualitative research (pp. 195–222). Oxford University Press.
- Bonds, A., & Inwood, J. (2016). Beyond white privilege: Geographies of white supremacy and settler colonialism. *Progress in Human Geography*, 40(6), 715–733. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132515613166
- Bonifacio, G. T., & Drolet, J. L. (Eds.). (2017). Canadian perspectives on immigration in small cities. Springer.
- Bonilla-Silva, E. (2006). *Racism without racists: Color-blind racism and the persistence of racial inequality in the United States* (2nd ed). Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Börjeson, L., Höjer, M., Dreborg, K.-H., Ekvall, T., & Finnveden, G. (2006). Scenario types and techniques: Towards a user's guide. *Futures*, 38(7), 723–739. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2005.12.002
- Boucher, L., Carey, J., & Ellinghaus, K. (Eds.). (2009). *Re-orienting whiteness* (1st ed). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bourdieu, P. (1978). Sport and social class. *Social Science Information*, *17*(6), 819–840. https://doi.org/10.1177/053901847801700603
- Bourdieu, P. (1988). Program for a Sociology of Sport. Sociology of Sport Journal, 5(2), 153–161.
- Breuer, C., Hallmann, K., & Wicker, P. (2011). Determinants of sport participation in different sports. *Managing Leisure*, 16(4), 269–286. https://doi.org/10.1080/13606719.2011.613625
- Briggs, L. (2012). Somebody's children: The politics of transracial and transnational adoption. Duke University Press.
- Brightmore, D. (2018, January 5). *From ash to cash: The future of geothermal energy* [Energy, News]. Energy Digital. https://www.energydigital.com/sustainability/ash-cash-future-geothermal-energy

- Brown, T., Jackson, J., Brown, K., Sellers, R., Keiper, S., & Manuel, W. (2003). There's No Race On The Playing Field. *Journal of Sport & Social Issues*, 27(2), 162–183. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193732502250715
- Brown, Y. (2008). Ghosts in the Canadian Multicultural Machine: A Tale of the Absent Presence of Black People. *Journal of Black Studies*, *38*(3), 374–387. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934707306572
- Brownson, R. C., Boehmer, T. K., & Luke, D. A. (2005). Declining rates of physical activity in the United States: What are the contributors? *Annu. Rev. Public Health*, *26*, 421–443.
- Brummett, E. A. (2017). "Race doesn't matter": A dialogic analysis of interracial romantic partners' stories about racial differences. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 34(5), 771–789. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407516658790
- Buck, P. D. (2012). Whither Whiteness? Empire, State, and the Re-Ordering of Whiteness. *Transforming Anthropology*, 20(2), 105–117. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1548-7466.2012.01155.x
- Burdsey, D. (2008). Contested conceptions of identity, community and multiculturalism in the staging of alternative sport events: A case study of the Amsterdam World Cup football tournament. *Leisure Studies*, 27(3), 259–277. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614360802127235
- Burr, V. (1995). What is Social Constructionism [Introduction]. In An introduction to social constructionism (pp. 1–15). Routledge.
- Butler, J. (1988). Performative Acts and Gender Constitution: An Essay in Phenomenology and Feminist Theory. *Theatre Journal*, 40(4), 519. https://doi.org/10.2307/3207893
- Butler, J. (1992). Contingent Foundations: Feminism and the question of "postmodernism." In J. Butler & J. W. Scott (Eds.), *Feminists theorize the political* (pp. 3–21). Routledge.
- Butler, J. (2003). Imitation and Gender Insubordination. In S. Salih & J. Butler (Eds.), *The Judith Butler reader* (pp. 119–137). Blackwell Pub.
- Butler, J. (2006). Gender trouble: Feminism and the subversion of identity. Routledge.
- Butler, J. (2010). PERFORMATIVE AGENCY. *Journal of Cultural Economy*, *3*(2), 147–161. https://doi.org/10.1080/17530350.2010.494117
- Butler, J. (2011). Bodies that matter: On the discursive limits of "sex." Routledge.
- Butler-Sweet, C. (2011a). "A healthy Black identity". Transracial adoption, middle-class families, and racial socialization. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 42(2), 193– 212. International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS).

- Butler-Sweet, C. (2011b). 'Race isn't what defines me': Exploring identity choices in transracial, biracial, and monoracial families. *Social Identities*, *17*(6), 747–769. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504630.2011.606672
- Byers, T. (2013). Using critical realism: A new perspective on control of volunteers in sport clubs. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, 13(1), 5–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/16184742.2012.744765
- Byrne, G. (2015). Narrative inquiry and the problem of representation: 'giving voice', making meaning. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 1–17.
- Caddy, B. (2019, July 1). *Can you get fit in virtual reality?* TechRadar. https://www.techradar.com/news/can-you-get-fit-in-virtual-reality
- Cairnie, J. (2019). Truth and Reconciliation in Postcolonial Hockey Masculinities. *Canadian Literature*, 237, 103. Gale Academic Onefile.
- Caldwell, L. L. (2005). Leisure and health: Why is leisure therapeutic? *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 33(1), 7–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/03069880412331335939
- Canada Fitness & Lifestyle Institute, & Sport Canada. (2010). Sport Participation in Canada— Assessing Population Trends, 2004-2009. Sport Canada, Canadian Heritage.
- Canadian Heritage. (2015). Sport Canada's Policy on Aboriginal Peoples' Participation in Sport. *Aboriginal Policy Studies*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.5663/aps.v4i1.24295
- Canadian Heritage. (2019). *Sport in Canada*. https://www.canada.ca/en/canadianheritage/services/sport-canada.html#a2
- Carless, D. (2012). Negotiating sexuality and masculinity in school sport: An autoethnography. *Sport, Education and Society*, *17*(5), 607–625. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2011.554536
- Carrington, B. (1998). Sport, Masculinity, and Black Cultural Resistance. *Journal of Sport & Social Issues*, 22(3), 275–298. https://doi.org/10.1177/019372398022003004
- Carrington, B. (2004). Introduction: Race/Nation/Sport. *Leisure Studies*, 23(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1080/0261436042000182272
- Carrington, B. (2007). Merely identity: Cultural identity and the politics of sport. SOCIOLOGY OF SPORT JOURNAL, 24(1), 49–66.
- Carrington, B. (2008). "What's the Footballer Doing Here?" Racialized Performativity, Reflexivity, and Identity. *Cultural Studies* <=> *Critical Methodologies*, 8(4), 423–452. https://doi.org/10.1177/1532708608321574
- Carrington, B. (2010). *Race, sport and politics the sporting black diaspora*. SAGE. http://www.myilibrary.com?id=279497

- Carrington, B. (2013). The Critical Sociology of Race and Sport: The First Fifty Years. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *39*, 379–398. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-071811-145528
- Carrington, B. (2015). Assessing the sociology of sport: On race and diaspora. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 50(4–5), 391–396. https://doi.org/10.1177/1012690214559857
- Casey, M. M., Payne, W. R., & Eime, R. M. (2009). Building the health promotion capacity of sport and recreation organisations: A case study of Regional Sports Assemblies. *Managing Leisure*, 14(2), 112–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13606710902752588
- Casper, J. M., & Stellino, M. (2008). Demographic Predictors of Recreational Tennis Participants' Sport Commitment. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 26(3), 93–115.
- Casselman-Dickson, M. A., & Damhorst, M. L. (1993). Use of Symbols for Defining a Role: Do Clothes Make the Athlete? *Sociology of Sport Journal*, *10*(4), 413–431.
- Chadha, A. (2019, April 15). *The Future is Hyper-Connected* [Technology, News]. Iotevolution. https://www.iotevolutionworld.com/m2m/articles/441915-future-hyperconnected.htm
- Chan, A., & Clegg, S. (2002). History, Culture and Organization Studies. *Culture and Organization*, 8(4), 259–273. https://doi.org/10.1080/14759550215613
- Chase, S. E. (2005). Narrative Inquiry—Multiple lenses, approaches, voices. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research* (3rd ed, pp. 651–675). Sage Publications.
- Chatman, J. A., Polzer, J. T., Barsade, S. G., & Neale, M. A. (1998). Being Different Yet Feeling Similar: The Influence of Demographic Composition and Organizational Culture on Work Processes and Outcomes. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 43(4), 749–780. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393615
- Chermack, T. J. (2004). Improving decision-making with scenario planning. *Futures*, *36*(3), 295–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-3287(03)00156-3
- Chermack, T. J. (2005). Studying scenario planning: Theory, research suggestions, and hypotheses. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 72(1), 59–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2003.11.003
- Chidester, B. (2019, May 28). *Open Government revolves around accountability and citizen engagement* [Open Government, News]. OpenText. https://blogs.opentext.com/opengovernment-revolves-around-accountability-and-citizen-engagement/
- Chillag, A. (2019, March 21). *Bored with exercise? Virtual reality, immersive fitness could help* [News, Information]. CNN. https://www.cnn.com/2019/01/17/health/virtual-reality-fitness-staying-well/index.html

- Cho, J., Tadmor, C. T., & Morris, M. W. (2018). Are All Diversity Ideologies Creatively Equal? The Diverging Consequences of Colorblindness, Multiculturalism, and Polyculturalism. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 49(9), 1376–1401. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022118793528
- Chun, S., Lee, Y., Kim, B., & Heo, J. (2012). The Contribution of Leisure Participation and Leisure Satisfaction to Stress-Related Growth. *Leisure Sciences*, *34*(5), 436–449. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2012.714704
- Clandinin, D. J. (Ed.). (2007). *Handbook of narrative inquiry: Mapping a methodology*. Sage Publications.
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2000). *Narrative inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research*. Jossey-Bass.
- Clandinin, D. J., Pushor, D., & Orr, A. (2007). Navigating Sites for Narrative Inquiry. *Journal* of Teacher Education, 58(1), 21–35. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487106296218
- Clandinin, D. J., & Rosiek, J. (2007). Mapping a Landscape of Narrative Inquiry. In D. J. Clandinin (Ed.), *Handbook of narrative inquiry: Mapping a methodology* (pp. 35–76). Sage Publications.
- Clark-IbáÑez, M. (2004). Framing the Social World With Photo-Elicitation Interviews. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 47(12), 1507–1527. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764204266236
- Clayton, K. A. (2013). Looking beneath the surface: A critical reflection on ethical issues and reflexivity in a practitioner inquiry. *Reflective Practice*, *14*(4), 506–518. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623943.2013.808180
- Clegg, S. (2009). Foundations of organization power. *Journal of Power*, 2(1), 35–64. https://doi.org/10.1080/17540290902760873
- Clegg, S., & Hardy, C. (2006). Representation and Reflexivity. In S. Clegg, C. Hardy, T. B. Lawrence, & W. R. Nord (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of organization studies* (2nd ed, pp. 425–443). Sage Publications.
- Coakley, J. J. (2007). Socialization and Sport. In G. Ritzer (Ed.), *The Blackwell Encyclopedia of Sociology*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405165518.wbeoss198
- Coakley, J. J., Donnelly, P., & Coakley, J. J. (2009). Sports in society: Issues and controversies. McGraw-Hill Ryerson.
- Coakley, J. J., & Dunning, E. (Eds.). (2000). Handbook of sports studies. SAGE.
- Collier, J. (1957). Photography in Anthropology: A Report on Two Experiments. *American Anthropologist*, *59*(5), 843–859.

- Collier, J., & Collier, M. (1986). *Visual anthropology: Photography as a research method* (Rev. and expanded ed). University of New Mexico Press.
- Collins, T. (1998). Racial minorities in a marginalized sport: Race, discrimination and integration in British rugby league football. *Immigrants & Minorities*, *17*(1), 151–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619288.1998.9974933
- Colombo, M. (2003). Reflexivity and Narratives in Action Research: A Discursive Approach. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research; Vol 4, No 2* (2003): Subjectivity and Reflexivity in Qualitative Research II. http://www.qualitativeresearch.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/718/1555
- Connelly, F. M., & Clandinin, D. J. (1990). Stories of Experience and Narrative Inquiry. *Educational Researcher*, 19(5), 2–14. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X019005002
- Cooper, J. N., Grenier, R. S., & Macaulay, C. (2017). Autoethnography as a critical approach in sport management: Current applications and directions for future research. *Sport Management Review*, 20(1), 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2016.07.003
- Cornforth, C., Hayes, J. P., & Vangen, S. (2015). Nonprofit-Public Collaborations: Understanding Governance Dynamics. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 44(4), 775–795. https://doi.org/10.1177/0899764014532836
- Coule, T. M. (2015). Nonprofit Governance and Accountability: Broadening the Theoretical Perspective. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 44(1), 75–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/0899764013503906
- Crawford, D. W., Jackson, E. L., & Godbey, G. (1991). A hierarchical model of leisure constraints. *Leisure Sciences*, 13(4), 309–320. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490409109513147
- Creelman, W. A., 1868-. (1950). Curling, past and present, by W. A. Creelman.
- Crenshaw, K., & West, C. (1995). Forward & Introduction. In K. Crenshaw (Ed.), *Critical race theory: The key writings that formed the movement* (pp. xi–xxxii). New Press : Distributed by W.W. Norton & Co.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (2nd ed). Sage Publications.
- Crotty, M. (2003a). Introduction: The Research Process. In *The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process* (pp. 1–18). Sage Publications.
- Crotty, M. (2003b). Positivism. In *The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process* (pp. 18–41). Sage Publications.
- Cuhls, K. (2003). From forecasting to foresight processes—New participative foresight activities in Germany. *Journal of Forecasting*, 22(2–3), 93–111. https://doi.org/10.1002/for.848

- Cunningham, G. B. (2009). Understanding the Diversity-Related Change Process: A Field Study. *Journal of Sport Management*, 23(4), 407–428. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.23.4.407
- Cunningham, G. B., & Melton, N. (2012). Prejudice Against Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Coaches: The Influence of Race, Religious Fundamentalism, Modern Sexism, and Contact with Sexual Minorities. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 29(3), 283–305. https://doi.org/10.1123/ssj.29.3.283
- Cunningham, G. B., & Singer, J. N. (2010). "You'll Face Discrimination Wherever You Go": Student Athletes' Intentions to Enter the Coaching Profession: STUDENT ATHLETES AND DISCRIMINATION. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 40(7), 1708–1727. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2010.00636.x
- Curling Canada. (2019a). *History of Curling*. Curling Canada. https://www.curling.ca/aboutcurling/the-history-of-curling/
- Curling Canada. (2019b). *Our Mandate and Mission*. Curling Canada. http://www.curling.ca/about-curling-canada/what-we-do/our-mandate-and-mission/
- Curling Canada, Potwarka, L., & Wilson, A. W. (2015, January 10). PROFILE: THE CANADIAN CURLER (2015). Curling Canada. http://www.curling.ca/about-the-sport-ofcurling/business-of-curling/profile-of-the-canadian-curler-2015/
- Dacombe, R. (2013). Sports clubs and civic inclusion: Rethinking the poverty of association. *Sport in Society*, *16*(10), 1263–1278. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2013.821252
- Daiute, C., & Lightfoot, C. (Eds.). (2004). Narrative analysis: Studying the development of *individuals in society*. Sage.
- Dashper, K., & Fletcher, T. (2013). Introduction: Diversity, equity and inclusion in sport and leisure. *Sport in Society*, 16(10), 1227–1232. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2013.821259
- Davis, C. (2004). After poststructuralism: Reading, stories and theory. Routledge.
- Day, R. J. F. (2000). *Multiculturalism and the history of Canadian diversity*. University of Toronto Press.
- Deans, G. (1998). *Toni Morrison: Uncensored*. Princeton, NJ: Films for the Humanities & Sciences. https://search.library.wisc.edu/catalog/999939523102121/cite
- Deleuze, G. (1988). Introduction. In *A thousand plateaus: Capitalism and schizophrenia* (pp. 3–25). Athlone Press.
- Deleuze, G. (1991). A Philosophical Concept... In E. Cadava, P. Connor, & J.-L. Nancy (Eds.), *Who comes after the subject?* (pp. 94–95). Routledge.

- Deleuze, G., & Guattari, F. (1988). A thousand plateaus: Capitalism and schizophrenia. Athlone Press.
- Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (1997). Rodrigo's eleventh chronicle: Empathy and false empathy. In *Critical white studies: Looking behind the mirror* (pp. 614–618). Temple University Press.
- Denison, D. R. (1990). Corporate culture and organizational effectiveness. John Wiley & Sons.
- Denzin, N. K. (2000). Aesthetics and the Practices of Qualitative Inquiry. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 6(2), 256–265. https://doi.org/10.1177/107780040000600208
- Denzin, N. K. (2008). The new paradigm dialogs and qualitative inquiry. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 21(4), 315–325. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390802136995
- Denzin, N. K. (2017). Critical Qualitative Inquiry. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23(1), 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800416681864
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). (2011). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (4th ed). Sage.
- Derrida, J. (1976). *Of grammatology* (1st American ed). Johns Hopkins University Press (originally published in 1967, by Les Editions de Minuit).
- Derrida, J. (1978). Writing and difference. University of Chicago Press.
- Derrida, J. (1991). "Eating Well," or the Calculation of the Subject: An Interview with Jacques Derrida. In E. Cadava, P. Connor, & J.-L. Nancy (Eds.), & P. Connor & A. Ronell (Trans.), Who comes after the subject? (pp. 96–119). Routledge.
- Doherty, A., Misener, K., & Cuskelly, G. (2014). Toward a Multidimensional Framework of Capacity in Community Sport Clubs. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 43(2), 124S-142S. https://doi.org/10.1177/0899764013509892
- Doherty, A., & Taylor, T. (2007). Sport and physical recreation in the settlement of immigrant youth. *Leisure/Loisir*, *31*(1), 27–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/14927713.2007.9651372
- Domenikos, S. (2019, July 13). *The next generation Internet is coming, and you can touch it: The era of the Tactile Internet* [Technology, Blog]. Tactai. https://www.tactai.com/2019/07/13/the-next-generation-internet-is-coming-and-you-cantouch-it-the-era-of-the-tactile-internet/
- D'Onfro, J. (2019, June 24). *Google Sibling Sidewalk Labs Unveils 'Smart City' Plans For Toronto Waterfront* [News, Information]. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/jilliandonfro/2019/06/24/alphabet-google-sidewalk-labssmart-city-plans-for-toronto-waterfront/#6e67abaa3ca7

- Donnelly, P. (2000). *Taking sport seriously: Social issues in Canadian sport*. Thompson Educational Pub.
- Donnelly, P., & Kidd, B. (2003). Realizing the expectations: Youth, character, and community in Canadian sport. *The Sport We Want (Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Ethics in Sport, 2003)*, 34.
- Dortants, M., & Knoppers, A. (2013). Regulation of diversity through discipline: Practices of inclusion and exclusion in boxing. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 48(5), 535–549. https://doi.org/10.1177/1012690212445279
- Douglas, K. (2009). Storying my self: Negotiating a relational identity in professional sport. *Qualitative Research in Sport and Exercise*, *1*(2), 176–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/19398440902909033
- Douglas, K., & Carless, D. (2015). Life story research in sport: Understanding the experiences of elite and professional athletes through narrative. Routledge.
- Dowling, F., Garrett, R., lisahunter, & Wrench, A. (2015). Narrative inquiry in physical education research: The story so far and its future promise. *Sport, Education and Society*, 20(7), 924–940. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2013.857301
- Dreyfus, H. L., Rabinow, P., & Foucault, M. (1983). *Michel Foucault, beyond structuralism and hermeneutics* (2nd ed). University of Chicago Press.
- Du Bois, W. E. B., & Edwards, B. H. (2007). The souls of Black folk. Oxford University Press.
- Editor. (2014, January 31). *Holacracy: Pros and cons of a radical challenge to the traditional organisation* [Human Resources]. HReview. https://www.hrreview.co.uk/hr-news/strategy-news/holacracy-pros-and-cons-of-a-radical-challenge-to-the-traditional-organisation/50404
- Editor. (2019). *Is Immigration to Rural Areas in Canada's Future? FWCanada* [Immigration]. FW Canada. https://www.canadianimmigration.net/news-articles/is-immigration-to-rural-areas-in-canada-s-future/
- Edwards, H. (2010). Social change and popular culture: Seminal developments at the interface of race, sport and society. *Sport in Society*, *13*(1), 59–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430430903377854
- Elkington, J. (1998). *Cannibals with forks: The triple bottom line of 21st century business*. New Society Publishers.
- Elliott, J. (2005). *Using narrative in social research: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. SAGE. http://srmo.sagepub.com/view/using-narrative-in-social-research/SAGE.xml
- Ellison, J., & Anderson, J. (2018). *Hockey: Challenging Canada's Game Au-delà du sport national*. Ottawa: University of Ottawa Press.

- Ellsworth, J. (2009, January 3). *Canada Is Losing Hockey As Its National Game | Suite101*. Suite 101. http://suite101.com/article/canada-is-losing-ice-hockey-as-its-main-gamea87526
- Epstein, I., Stevens, B., McKeever, P., & Baruchel, S. (2006). Photo Elicitation Interview (PEI): Using Photos to Elicit Children's Perspectives. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 5(3), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690600500301
- Evans, J. (2018, December 26). 'Slums of the future'? UK office-to-homes policy sparks fears [News, Information]. Financial Times. https://www.ft.com/content/48fbe55c-ffb2-11e8ac00-57a2a826423e
- Fader, N., Legg, E., & Ross, A. (2019). The relation of sense of community in sport on resilience and cultural adjustment for youth refugees. *World Leisure Journal*, 61(4), 291– 302. https://doi.org/10.1080/16078055.2019.1661105
- Fanon, F. (1952). *Black skin, white masks* (1st ed., new ed). Grove Press ; Distributed by Publishers Group West.
- Fanon, F. (1961). *The wretched of the earth* (R. Philcox, Trans.). Grove Press (Originally published: Damnés de la terre. Paris : F. Maspero, 1961).
- Fish, S. (1997). Boutique Multiculturalism, or Why Liberals Are Incapable of Thinking about Hate Speech. *Critical Inquiry*, 23(2), 378–395. https://doi.org/10.2307/1343988
- Fisher, K., & Phelps, R. (2006). Recipe or performing art?: Challenging conventions for writing action research theses. Action Research, 4(2), 143–164. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476750306063989
- Fleras, A. (2014). *Racisms in a multicultural Canada: Paradoxes, politics, and resistance.* Wilfrid Laurier Univ. Press.
- Foremski, T. (2019, June 4). *The Internet of Things enables a floating city of pleasure... And a vision of hell* [Technology, News]. ZDNet. https://www.zdnet.com/article/the-internet-of-things-enables-a-floating-city-of-pleasure-and-a-vision-of-hell/
- Foucault, M. (1977). *Discipline and punish: The birth of the prison* (1st American ed). Pantheon Books.
- Foucault, M., & Deleuze, G. (1977). Intellectuals and power. *Language, Counter-Memory, Practice*, 205–217.
- Foucault, M., & Gordon, C. (1980). *Power/knowledge: Selected interviews and other writings*, 1972-1977 (1st American ed). Pantheon Books.
- Foucault, M., & Rabinow, P. (1984). The Foucault reader (1st ed). Pantheon Books.

- Fox, J. (2014, March 28). *Curling with Pride: Looking back and moving forward*. Curling Canada. http://www.curling.ca/blog/2014/03/28/curling-with-pride-looking-back-and-moving-forward/
- Fox, K. (2006). Leisure and Indigenous Peoples. *Leisure Studies*, 25(4), 403–409. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614360600896502
- Freud, S. (1989). The ego and the id (J. Strachey, Ed.). Norton.
- Frisby, W. (2014). Moving from multiculturalism to interculturalism through leisure. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 17(4), 354–358. https://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2014.965803
- Frisby, W., Thibault, L., & Cureton, K. (2013). Multiculturalism and federal sport policy in Canada. In *Routledge Handbook of Sport Policy* (pp. 106–116). Scopus. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203807217
- Gaston, S., & Maclachlan, I. (Eds.). (2011). Reading Derrida's Of grammatology. Continuum.
- Gibson, A. (1996). Towards a postmodern theory of narrative. Edinburgh University Press.
- Girginov, V. (2010). Culture and the Study of Sport Management. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, *10*(4), 397–417. https://doi.org/10.1080/16184742.2010.502741
- Gittings, C. (1995). Canada and Scotland: Conceptualizing "postcolonial" spaces. *Essays on Canadian Writing*, 56, 135–161. CBCA Complete.
- Glover, T. D. (2007). Ugly on the Diamonds: An Examination of White Privilege in Youth Baseball. *Leisure Sciences*, 29(2), 195–208. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400601160895
- Goldberg, D. T. (2002). The Racial State. Blackwell Publishers.
- Government of Canada. (1988). *Canadian Multiculturalism Act*. https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/c-18.7/page-1.html
- Grande, S. (2004). *Red pedagogy: Native American social and political thought*. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Greaves, G.-A. (1998). Call-Response in Selected Calypsoes of Political Commentary From the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago. *Journal of Black Studies*, 29(1), 34–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/002193479802900103
- Gregory, R. (2010). Remembering the rink: Hockey, figure skating and the development of community league recreation in Edmonton. *Prairie Forum*, *35*(2), 27–42. Scopus.
- Groom, R., Cushion, C., & Nelson, L. (2011). The Delivery of Video-Based Performance Analysis by England Youth Soccer Coaches: Towards a Grounded Theory. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 23(1), 16–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/10413200.2010.511422

- Groth, A. (2018, October 9). *What is holacracy? The management approach tested by Google and Zappos* [News, Information]. Quartz. https://qz.com/work/1397516/is-holacracy-the-future-of-work-or-a-management-cult/
- Gruneau, R. S. (2017). Sport and modernity. Polity Press.
- Gruneau, R. S., & Whitson, D. (1993). *Hockey night in Canada: Sport, identities, and cultural politics*. Garamond Press.
- Guttorm, H., Hohti, R., & Paakkari, A. (2015). "Do the next thing": An interview with Elizabeth Adams St. Pierre on post-qualitative methodology. *Reconceptualizing Educational Research Methodology*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.7577/rerm.1421
- Habermas, J., & Lawrence, F. (2007). *The philosophical discourse of modernity: Twelve lectures* (Reprinted). Polity Press.
- Haigh, N., & Hoffman, A. J. (2012). Hybrid organizations. *Organizational Dynamics*, 41(2), 126–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2012.01.006
- Hall, E. A. (2011). "I guess I'm becoming more and more militant": Arthur Ashe and the black freedom movement, 1961-1968. *The Journal of African American History*, 96(4), 474+. Academic OneFile.
- Hall, S. (1989). CULTURAL IDENTITY AND CINEMATIC REPRESENTATION. Framework: The Journal of Cinema and Media, 36, 68–81.
- Hall, S. (1996). When was 'the post-colonial'? Thinking at the limit. In I. Chambers & L. Curti (Eds.), *The post-colonial question: Common skies, divided horizons* (pp. 242–260). Routledge.
- Hall, S. (Ed.). (1997). *Representation: Cultural representations and signifying practices*. Sage in association with the Open University.
- Hall, S. (2000). Old and New Identities, Old and New Ethnicities. In L. Back & J. Solomos (Eds.), *Theories of race and racism: A reader* (pp. 144–153). Routledge.
- Hall, S. (Ed.). (2011). Formations of modernity (Reprinted). Polity Press.
- Hall, S., & Du Gay, P. (Eds.). (1996). Questions of cultural identity. Sage.
- Hall, S., & Schwarz, B. (1998). Breaking Bread with History: C. L. R. James and "The Black Jacobins Stuart Hall Interviewed by Bill Schwarz." *History Workshop Journal*, 46, 17– 31.
- Hancock, A.-M. (2007). Intersectionality as a Normative and Empirical Paradigm. *Politics & Gender*, *3*(02). https://doi.org/10.1017/S1743923X07000062
- Hargreaves, J. (2007). Sport, power and culture: A social and historical analysis of popular sports in Britain (Reprinted). Polity Press.

- Harper, S. R. (2009). Niggers no more: A critical race counternarrative on Black male student achievement at predominantly White colleges and universities. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 22(6), 697–712. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390903333889
- Harris, C. (2001). Beyond multiculturalism? Difference, recognition and social justice. *Patterns* of *Prejudice*, 35(1), 13–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/003132201128811043
- Harris, M. E. (2015). Organizational Challenges of Community Associations: Applying Nonprofit Research to Real-World Problems. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 44(4), 796–813. https://doi.org/10.1177/0899764014533996
- Harris, S., Mori, K., & Collins, M. (2009). Great Expectations: Voluntary Sports Clubs and Their Role in Delivering National Policy for English Sport. VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 20(4), 405–423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-009-9095-y
- Hatzigeorgiadis, A., Morela, E., Elbe, A.-M., Kouli, O., & Sanchez, X. (2013). The Integrative Role of Sport in Multicultural Societies. *European Psychologist*, 18(3), 191–202. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040/a000155
- Henhawk, D. (2009). Aboriginal participation in sport: Critical issues of race, culture and power. http://hdl.handle.net/10012/4826
- Henhawk, D. (2018). A war between stories: Leisure, colonialism and my struggles to reconcile my Indigeneity. http://hdl.handle.net/10012/14159
- Henry, F. (Ed.). (2000). *The colour of democracy: Racism in Canadian society* (2nd ed). Harcourt Brace Canada.
- Heo, J., Lee, I. H., Kim, J., & Stebbins, R. A. (2012). Understanding the Relationships Among Central Characteristics of Serious Leisure: An Empirical Study of Older Adults in Competitive Sports. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 44(4), 450–462. ABI/INFORM Global.
- Hesse-Biber, S. N. (Ed.). (2012). *Handbook of feminist research: Theory and praxis* (2nd ed). SAGE.
- Hill, P. A. L., & Bell, B. W. (Eds.). (1998). *Call and response: The Riverside anthology of the African American literary tradition*. Houghton Mifflin.
- Hinings, C. R. (1996). Values and Organizational Structure. *Human Relations*, 49(7), 885–916. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872679604900702
- Hoberman, J. M. (1997). *Darwin's athletes: How sport has damaged Black America and preserved the myth of race*. Houghton Mifflin Co.
- Hockey Canada. (2012). *Funding Source and Use* [Hockey Canada]. http://www.hockeycanada.ca/en-ca/Corporate/About/Basics/Funding.aspx

- Hockey Canada. (2017). *Hockey Canada—Annual Report 2016-2017* (Annual Report No. 2016–2017; p. 30). International Ice Hockey Federation. https://cdn.hockeycanada.ca/hockey-canada/Corporate/About/Downloads/2016-17-annual-report-e.pdf
- Hollway, W., & Jefferson, T. (2000). *Doing qualitative research differently: Free association, narrative and the interview method.* SAGE.
- Holm, G. (2008). Photography as a Performance. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research; Vol 9, No 2 (2008): Performative Social Science. http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/394/857
- Holman, A. C. (Ed.). (2009). *Canada's game: Hockey and identity*. McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Holt, R. (1992). Amateurism and its interpretation: The social origins of british sport. *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research*, *5*(4), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/13511610.1992.9968318
- hooks, bell. (2015). *Yearning: Race, gender, and cultural politics*. http://public.eblib.com/choice/publicfullrecord.aspx?p=1813115
- Hughey, M. W. (2014). White backlash in the 'post-racial' United States. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *37*(5), 721–730. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2014.886710
- Hughson, J. (2009). Science, culture and the sporting body. *Sport in Society*, *12*(1), 36–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430430802472285
- Hughson, J., Inglis, D., & Free, M. (2005). The uses of sport: A critical study. Routledge.
- Hylton, K. (2005). 'Race', sport and leisure: Lessons from critical race theory. *Leisure Studies*, 24(1), 81–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614360412331313494
- Hylton, K. (2009). "Race" and sport: Critical race theory. Routledge.
- Ifedi, F. (2008). *Sport Participation in Canada, 2005*. Statistics Canada. http://site.ebrary.com/lib/oculocad/docDetail.action?docID=10227603
- IIHF. (2019a). IIHF Annual Report 2018-2019 (Annual Report No. 2018–2019; p. 40). International Ice Hockey Federation. https://iihfstorage.blob.core.windows.net/iihfmedia/iihfmvc/media/downloads/annual%20report/annualreport2019.pdf
- IIHF. (2019b). IIHF Season Summary 2018-2019 (Summary Report No. 2018–2019; p. 144). International Ice Hockey Federation. https://iihfstorage.blob.core.windows.net/iihfmedia/iihfmvc/media/downloads/annual%20report/annualreport2019.pdf
- IMDb. (2019). *Snowpiercer* (2013) [Movies, News]. IMDb. https://www.imdb.com/title/tt1706620/?ref_=nv_sr_1?ref_=nv_sr_1

- Jackson, A. Y. (2004). Performativity Identified. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *10*(5), 673–690. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800403257673
- Jackson, A. Y. (2012). *Thinking with theory in qualitative research: Viewing data across multiple perspectives* (1st ed.). Routledge.
- Jackson, A. Y. (2013). Spaces of Power/Knowledge: A Foucauldian Methodology for Qualitative Inquiry. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 19(10), 839–847. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800413503803
- Jackson, E. L. (1988). Leisure constraints: A survey of past research. *Leisure Sciences*, 10(3), 203–215. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490408809512190
- James, C. L. R. (1989). *The Black Jacobins: Toussaint L'Ouverture and the San Domingo Revolution*. Vintage Books.
- James, C. L. R. (1963). Beyond a boundary. Pantheon Books.
- Janssens, J., & Verweel, P. (2014). The significance of sports clubs within multicultural society. On the accumulation of social capital by migrants in culturally "mixed" and "separate" sports clubs. *European Journal for Sport and Society*, 11(1), 35–58. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1080/16138171.2014.11687932
- Jarvie, G. (2006). Sport, culture and society: An introduction. Routledge.
- Jenkin, C. R., Eime, R. M., Westerbeek, H., O'Sullivan, G., & van Uffelen, J. G. Z. (2017). Sport and ageing: A systematic review of the determinants and trends of participation in sport for older adults. *BMC Public Health*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4970-8
- Jenks, C. (Ed.). (1995a). The centrality of the eye in Western culture. In *Visual culture* (pp. 1–25). Routledge.
- Jenks, C. (Ed.). (1995b). Visual culture. Routledge.
- Johnson, J., & Ali, A. E. (2017). Skating on thin ice? An interrogation of Canada's melting pastime. World Leisure Journal, 59(4), 259–271. https://doi.org/10.1080/16078055.2016.1216889
- Joseph, J., Darnell, S., & Nakamura, Y. (2012). *Race and sport in Canada: Intersecting inequalities*. Canadian Scholars' Press.
- Kalemis, K. (2012). Ethnic Immigrants and Elite Sports Participation. The Education System and the Present Situation in Greece and its Neighbors Countries. *The Online Journal of Recreation and Sport*, 1(4), 11–17.
- Katz, J., & Doyle, E. K. (2013). Black and White Thinking? Understanding Negative Responses to Transracial Adoptive Families. *Adoption Quarterly*, 16(1), 62–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926755.2012.754812

- Kaufmann, J. (2011). Poststructural Analysis: Analyzing Empirical Matter for New Meanings. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 17(2), 148–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800410392336
- Kelly, M., Foucault, M., & Habermas, J. (Eds.). (1994). *Critique and power: Recasting the Foucault/Habermas debate*. MIT Press.
- Kennedy, L., Silva, D., Coelho, M., & Cipolli, W. (2019). "We Are All Broncos": Hockey, Tragedy, and the Formation of Canadian Identity. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 36(3), 189– 202. https://doi.org/10.1123/ssj.2019-0006
- Kenway, J., & McLeod *, J. (2004). Bourdieu's reflexive sociology and 'spaces of points of view': Whose reflexivity, which perspective? *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 25(4), 525–544. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142569042000236998
- Kestler-D'Amours, J. (2019, June 16). *Quebec Bans Religious Symbols* [News, Information]. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2019/07/quebec-bans-religious-symbols/593998/
- Ketelle, D. (2010). The Ground They Walk On: Photography and Narrative Inquiry. *The Qualitative Report*, 15(3), 547–568. ProQuest Sociology Collection.
- Kidd, B. (1995). Inequality in Sport, the Corporation, and the State: An Agenda for Social Scientists. *Journal of Sport & Social Issues*, 19(3), 232–248. https://doi.org/10.1177/019372395019003002
- Kidd, B. (1996). The struggle for Canadian sport. University of Toronto Press.
- Kidd, B. (2008). A new social movement: Sport for development and peace. *Sport in Society*, *11*(4), 370–380. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430430802019268
- Kidd, B. (2013a). A new orientation to the Olympic Games[†]. *Sport in Society*, *16*(4), 464–471. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2013.785745
- Kidd, B. (2013b). Canada's 'national' sport†. *Sport in Society*, *16*(4), 351–361. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2013.785747
- Kidd, B. (2013c). The Canadian state and sport: The dilemma of intervention[†]. *Sport in Society*, *16*(4), 362–371. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2013.785758
- Kidd, B. (2013d). The culture wars of the Montreal Olympics[†]. *Sport in Society*, *16*(4), 472–481. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2013.785759
- Kidd, B. (2013e). Critical support for sport. *Sport in Society*, *16*(4), 341–350. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2013.785749
- Kim, M. (2013). Weaving Women's Agency into Representations of Marriage Migrants: Narrative Strategies with Reflective Practice. Asian Journal of Women's Studies, 19(3), 7–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/12259276.2013.11666155

- King, C. R. (2005). Cautionary notes on whiteness and sport studies. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 22(3), 397–408.
- King, C. R., Leonard, D. J., & Kusz, K. W. (2007). White Power and Sport: An Introduction. Journal of Sport and Social Issues, 31(1), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193723506296821
- King, R. (2018, September 25). Co-living spaces are on the rise, showing mixed-use housing is the future [News, Information]. Quartz. https://qz.com/1381118/well-spend-less-timecommuting-and-more-time-relaxing-in-the-neighborhoods-of-the-future/
- Krebs, A. (2012). Hockey and the Reproduction of Colonialism in Canada. In J. Joseph, S. Darnell, & Y. Nakamura (Eds.), *Race and sport in Canada: Intersecting inequalities* (pp. 81–105). Canadian Scholars' Press.
- Kumm, B. E., & Berbary, L. A. (2018). Questions for Postqualitative Inquiry: Conversations to Come. *Leisure Sciences*, 40(1–2), 71–84. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2017.1376014
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1998). Just what is critical race theory and what's it doing in a nice field like education? *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 11(1), 7–24.
- Lapum, J. (2008). The Performative Manifestation of a Research Identity: Storying the Journey Through Poetry. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research; Vol 9, No 2 (2008): Performative Social Science. http://www.qualitativeresearch.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/397/863
- Larsson, H. (2014). Materialising bodies: There is nothing more material than a socially constructed body. *Sport, Education and Society*, 19(5), 637–651. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2012.722550
- Lather, P. (1993). Fertile Obsession: Validity after Poststructuralism. *The Sociological Quarterly*, *34*(4), 673–693.
- Lather, P. (1996). Troubling Clarity: The Politics of Accessible Language. *Harvard Educational Review*, 66(3), 525–545.
- Lather, P. (2004). This is Your Father's Paradigm: Government Intrusion and the Case of Qualitative Research in Education. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *10*(1), 15–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800403256154
- Lather, P. (2013). Methodology-21: What do we do in the afterward? *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 26(6), 634–645. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2013.788753
- Lather, P., & St. Pierre, E. A. (2013). Post-qualitative research. International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 26(6), 629–633. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2013.788752

- Lawrence, B., & Dua, E. (2005). Decolonizing Antiracism. *Social Justice*, *32*(4 (102)), 120–143. JSTOR.
- Lawson, A. (1995). Postcolonial theory and the "settler" subject. *Essays on Canadian Writing*, 56, 20–36. CBCA Complete.

Lawson, Alan. (2004). Postcolonial Theory and the "Settler" Subject. In C. C. Sugars (Ed.), *Unhomely states: Theorizing English-Canadian postcolonialism* (pp. 151–164). Broadview Press. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=rnsKM8QAD8AC&oi=fnd&pg=PR9&d q=unhomely+states&ots=N2AQy5t-3J&sig=KGAycYX2esHlitRk3mbeaLd14sY#v=onepage&q=unhomely%20states&f=fals e

- Lee, Y.-S., & Funk, D. C. (2011). Recreational sport participation and migrants' acculturation. *Managing Leisure*, 16(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/13606719.2011.532595
- Leipert, B. D., Plunkett, R., Meagher-Stewart, D., Scruby, L., Mair, H., & Wamsley, K. B. (2011). "I Can't Imagine My Life Without It!" Curling and Health Promotion: A Photovoice Study. *CJNR (Canadian Journal of Nursing Research)*, 43(1), 60–78.
- Lenskyj, H. (1992). Whose sport? Whose traditions? Canadian women and sport in the twentieth century. *The International Journal of the History of Sport*, 9(1), 141–150. https://doi.org/10.1080/09523369208713786
- Lévi-Strauss, C. (1984). Tristes tropiques. Atheneum.
- Li, K.-C. W., Sotiriadou, P., & Auld, C. (2015). An examination of the role of sport and leisure on the acculturation of Chinese immigrants. *World Leisure Journal*, 57(3), 209–220. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1080/16078055.2015.1066603
- Library and Archives Canada. (2019). *Burned Stones: Curling Lore*. Library and Archives Canada. https://www.bac-lac.gc.ca/eng/discover/sports/bonspiel-history-curling-canada/Pages/burned-stones-curling-lore.aspx#b
- Linstead, S. (2004). Organization theory and postmodern thought. SAGE. http://public.eblib.com/choice/publicfullrecord.aspx?p=254658
- Liu, R. (2017, October 4). *The Third Place » Converting Office to Residential Is Complicated* [Planning]. Montgomery Planning. http://montgomeryplanning.org/blogdesign/2017/10/converting-office-to-residential-is-complicated/
- Long, J., & Hylton, K. (2002). Shades of white: An examination of whiteness in sport. *Leisure Studies*, 21(2), 87–103. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614360210152575
- Long, J., Robinson, P., & Spracklen, K. (2005). Promoting Racial Equality within Sports Organizations. *Journal of Sport & Social Issues*, 29(1), 41–59. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193723504269883

- López, A. J. (2005a). Introduction. In *Postcolonial whiteness: A critical reader on race and empire* (pp. 1–30). State University of New York Press. http://site.ebrary.com/id/10579104
- López, A. J. (2005b). *Postcolonial whiteness: A critical reader on race and empire*. State University of New York Press. http://site.ebrary.com/id/10579104
- Lorenz, S. L. (2015). Constructing a Cultural History of Canadian Hockey. *The International Journal of the History of Sport*, 32(17), 2107–2113. https://doi.org/10.1080/09523367.2016.1152265
- Maccauly, T., & Trueman, C. (2019, August 14). *How the UK government uses open data* [Technology, News]. ComputerWorld. https://www.computerworld.com/article/3427838/what-is-the-uk-government-s-opendata-strategy.html
- Maguire, J. A. (2011). Globalization, sport and national identities. *Sport in Society*, *14*(7–8), 978–993. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2011.603553
- Mair, H. (2007). Curling in Canada: From gathering place to international spectacle. International Journal of Canadian Studies/Revue Internationale d'études Canadiennes, 35, 39–60.
- Mair, H. (2009). Club life: Third place and shared leisure in rural Canada. *Leisure Sciences*, 31(5), 450–465.
- Mair, H., Leipert, B. D., Scruby, L. S., & Meagher-Stewart, D. (2019). Making health and wellbeing: Sport and women's care in rural Canada. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 65, 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.11.004
- Mair, H., Ng, Y., Gebhardt, A., & Gould, L. (2010). *Exploring issues of diversity in Toronto's curling culbs* (Final; p. 35). University of Waterloo.
- Mansfield, N. (2000). Subjectivity: Modern and postmodern theories of the self. Allen & Unwin.
- Mantzoukas, S. (2004). Issues of Representation within Qualitative Inquiry. Qualitative Health Research, 14(7), 994–1007. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732304265959
- Martin, J., Feldman, M. S., Hatch, M. J., & Sitkin, S. B. (1983). The Uniqueness Paradox in Organizational Stories. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 28(3), 438–453. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392251
- Marvasti, A. B., & McKinney, K. D. (2011). Does Diversity Mean Assimilation? *Critical Sociology*, 37(5), 631–650. https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920510380071
- Massachusetts Institute of Technology (Ed.). (2006). *The future of geothermal energy: Impact of enhanced geothermal systems (EGS) on the United States in the 21st century.* Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Massarelli, R., & Terret, T. (2012). Images and symbols in ancient and modern sport. Sport, Ethics and Philosophy, 6(3), 376–392. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1080/17511321.2012.689322

Maxwell, D. D. (1980). The first fifty: A nostalgic look at the Brier. Maxcurl Publications.

- McClintock, A. (1992). The angel of progress: Pitfalls of the term" post-colonialism". *Social Text*, *31/32*, 84–98.
- McCormack, C. (2004). Storying stories: A narrative approach to in-depth interview conversations. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 7(3), 219–236. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570210166382
- McIntosh, P. (1990). Unpacking the knapsack of white privilege. *Independent School*, 49(2), 31–36.
- McKenna, S. (2007). Deconstructing a personal "academic"/"practitioner" narrative through self-reflexivity. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 2(2), 144–160. https://doi.org/10.1108/17465640710778539
- McKinley, W. (2010). Organizational Theory Development: Displacement of Ends? Organization Studies, 31(1), 47–68. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840609347055
- Meghji, A., & Saini, R. (2018). Rationalising Racial Inequality: Ideology, Hegemony and Post-Racialism among the Black and South Asian Middle-Classes. *Sociology*, 52(4), 671–687. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038517726645
- Mensah, J. (2002). Black Canadians: History, experiences, social conditions. Fernwood Pub.
- Mignolo, W. (1993). Colonial and Postcolonial Discourse: Cultural Critique or Academic Colonialism? *Latin American Research Review*, 28(3), 120–134. https://doi.org/10.2307/2503613
- Mignolo, W. (2002). The geopolitics of knowledge and the colonial difference. *The South Atlantic Quarterly*, *101*(1), 57–96.
- Mignolo, W. (2005). On subalterns and other agencies. *Postcolonial Studies*, 8(4), 381–407. https://doi.org/10.1080/13688790500375082
- Mignolo, W. (2011a). Epistemic Disobedience and the Decolonial Option: A Manifesto. TRANSMODERNITY: Journal of Peripheral Cultural Production of the Luso-Hispanic World, 1(2). http://www.escholarship.org/uc/item/62j3w283
- Mignolo, W. (2011b). *The darker side of Western modernity: Global futures, decolonial options*. Duke University Press.
- Mignolo, W., & Escobar, A. (Eds.). (2010). *Globalization and the decolonial option* (1. publ). Routledge.

- Mills, C., & Hoeber, L. (2013). Exploring Organizational Culture Through Artifacts in a Community Figure Skating Club. *Journal of Sport Management*, 27(6), 482–496. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.27.6.482
- Ministry of Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada. (2019a). *Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada*. Government of Canada - Ministry of Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada. https://www.rcaanc-cirnac.gc.ca/eng/1450124405592/1529106060525
- Ministry of Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada. (2019b). United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. Government of Canada - Ministry of Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada. https://www.aadncaandc.gc.ca/eng/1309374407406/1309374458958
- Mire, S. (2018, December 3). *Blockchain For Journalism: 8 Possible Use Cases* [Blog]. Disruptor Daily. https://www.disruptordaily.com/blockchain-use-cases-journalism/
- Misener, K., & Doherty, A. (2009). A Case Study of Organizational Capacity in Nonprofit Community Sport. *Journal of Sport Management*, 23(4), 457–482. bth.
- Morison, T., & Macleod, C. (2013). A Performative-Performance Analytical Approach: Infusing Butlerian Theory Into the Narrative-Discursive Method. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 19(8), 566–577. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800413494344
- Mueller, E., Gurin, G., & Wood, M. (1962). Participation in Outdoor Recreation: Factors Affecting Demand Among American Adults: Report to the Outdoor Recreation Resources Review Commission. US Government Printing Office.
- Nair, V. (2019, April 8). What Will The Fourth Generation of Blockchain Look Like? By Vinay Nair [News, Information]. Hackernoon. https://hackernoon.com/what-will-the-fourthgeneration-of-blockchain-look-like-daa5a4e90c59
- Nakamura, Y., & Donnelly, P. (2017). Interculturalism and Physical Cultural Diversity in the Greater Toronto Area. *Social Inclusion*, 5(2), 111. https://doi.org/10.17645/si.v5i2.891
- Nichols, G., & James, M. (2008). One size does not fit all: Implications of sports club diversity for their effectiveness as a policy tool and for government support. *Managing Leisure*, *13*(2), 104–114. https://doi.org/10.1080/13606710801933461
- Nixon, H. L. (1976). Growing up with Hockey in Canada. *International Review of Sport* Sociology, 11(1), 37–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/101269027601100103
- Noon, M. (2007). The fatal flaws of diversity and the business case for ethnic minorities. *Work, Employment and Society*, 21(4), 773–784. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017007082886
- Norman, R., Barrick, S. J., & Mair, H. (2015). Future Thinking: Club Development in 2030 Strategic Planning (2-day Workshop Curling Canada) (pp. 1–52) [Report presented to Curling Canada]. Curling Canada.

- O'Bonsawin, C. M. (2010). 'No Olympics on stolen native land': Contesting Olympic narratives and asserting indigenous rights within the discourse of the 2010 Vancouver Games. *Sport in Society*, *13*(1), 143–156. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430430903377987
- Omi, M. (1994). *Racial Formation in the United States: From the 1960s to the 1990s*. Psychology Press.
- Omi, M., & Winant, H. (2015). *Racial formation in the United States* (Third edition). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Online Etymology Dictionary. (2019). *Legacy | Origin and meaning of legacy*. https://www.etymonline.com/word/legacy
- Page, R. E., & Thomas, B. (Eds.). (2011). New narratives: Stories and storytelling in the digital age. University of Nebraska Press.
- Paraschak, V. (1989). Native sport history: Pitfalls and promise. *Canadian Journal of History of Sport*, 20(1), 57–68.
- Paraschak, V. (1990). Organized sport for native females on the Six Nations Reserve, Ontario from 1968 to 1980: A comparison of dominant and emergent sport systems. *Canadian Journal of History of Sport*, 21(2), 70–80.
- Paraschak, V. (1995a). Invisible But Not Absent: Aboriginal Women in Sport and Recreation. *Canadian Woman Studies*, 15(4), 71–72. CBCA Complete.
- Paraschak, V. (1995b). The Native Sport and Recreation Program, 1972—1981: Patterns of Resistance, Patterns of Reproduction. *Canadian Journal of History of Sport*, 26(2), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1123/cjhs.26.2.1
- Paraschak, V. (1996). Historical and Cultural Foundations of Women's Sport in Women and Sport: Interdisciplinary Perspectives. Sport History Review, 27(1), 87–89. https://doi.org/10.1123/shr.27.1.87
- Paraschak, V. (1997). Variations in Race Relations: Sporting Events for Native Peoples in Canada. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 14(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1123/ssj.14.1.1
- Paraschak, V. (2015). Stickhandling Through the Margins: First Nations Hockey in Canada. Sociology of Sport Journal, 32(4), 474–477. https://doi.org/10.1123/ssj.2015-0130
- Paraschak, V., & Morgan, W. (1997). Variations in race relations: Sporting events for native peoples in Canada. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 14(1), 1.
- Paraschak, V., & Thompson, K. (2014). Finding strength(s): Insights on Aboriginal physical cultural practices in Canada. Sport in Society, 17(8), 1046–1060. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2013.838353

- Parry, D. C., & Johnson, C. W. (2007). Contextualizing Leisure Research to Encompass Complexity in Lived Leisure Experience: The Need for Creative Analytic Practice. *Leisure Sciences*, 29(2), 119–130. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400601160721
- Pettigrew, A. M. (1979). On Studying Organizational Cultures. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24(4), 570–581. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392363
- Pezer, V. (2003). The stone age: A social history of curling on the Prairies. Fifth House.
- Picard, R. W. (2009). Future affective technology for autism and emotion communication. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 364(1535), 3575–3584. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0143
- Pinnegar, S. E., & Daynes, J. G. (2007). Locating Narrative Inquiry Historically: Themetics in the Turn to Narrative. In D. J. Clandinin (Ed.), *Handbook of narrative inquiry: Mapping a methodology* (pp. 3–34). Sage Publications.
- Plaut, V. C., Garnett, F. G., Buffardi, L. E., & Sanchez-Burks, J. (2011). "What about me?" Perceptions of exclusion and Whites' reactions to multiculturalism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(2), 337–353. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022832
- Plaut, V. C., Thomas, K. M., Hurd, K., & Romano, C. A. (2018). Do Color Blindness and Multiculturalism Remedy or Foster Discrimination and Racism? *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 27(3), 200–206. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721418766068
- Popovic, M. L. (2010). A VoIce in the Rink: Playing with Our Histories and Evoking Autoethnography. *Journal of Sport History*, *37*(2), 235–255.
- Popovic, M. L. (2012a). Figures from Her rINK. Journal of Sport History, 39(3), 445–461.
- Popovic, M. L. (2012b). Moksha Rose From the Heart: A Prosaic and Poetic Embodiment of Yoga Autoethnography <sup/>. *Cultural Studies* ↔ *Critical Methodologies*, 12(1), 30–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/1532708611430484
- Prasad, A. (2001). Understanding Workplace Empowerment as Inclusion: A Historical Investigation of the Discourse of Difference in the United States. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 37(1), 51–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886301371004
- Purdy, L., Potrac, P., & Jones, R. (2008). Power, consent and resistance: An autoethnography of competitive rowing. *Sport, Education and Society*, 13(3), 319–336. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573320802200693
- Quijano, A. (2007). Coloniality and Modernity/Rationality. *Cultural Studies*, 21(2), 168–178. https://doi.org/10.1080/09502380601164353
- Rail, G. (Ed.). (1998). Sport and postmodern times. State University of New York Press. https://books.google.ca/books?hl=en&lr=&id=7KI1a6Z3ouYC&oi=fnd&pg=PA3&dq=p oststructuralism+sport&ots=dEm-PCYW_D&sig=7pr3Ixi-_wXzM4EfJp7x1CIKPHA#v=onepage&q=poststructuralism%20sport&f=false

- Raman, P. (2015). It's because we're Indian, innit?' Cricket and the South Asian diaspora in post-war Britain. *Identities*, 22(2), 215–229. https://doi.org/10.1080/1070289X.2014.887566
- Reber, R. (2019, January 9). Open Government in Switzerland: Challenges, risks and opportunities [Government, News]. Apolitical. https://apolitical.co/solution_article/open-government-in-switzerland-challenges-risks-and-opportunities/
- Reid, P. A., & Mason, D. S. (2017). Sport signifiers and symbols: An ideographic analysis of the 1990 women's world ice hockey championship. *Managing Sport and Leisure*, 22(5), 374–389. https://doi.org/10.1080/23750472.2018.1484259
- Rich, K. A., & Giles, A. R. (2015). Managing Diversity to Provide Culturally Safe Sport Programming: A Case Study of the Canadian Red Cross's Swim Program. *Journal of Sport Management*, 29(3), 305–317. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.2013-0160
- Richards-Greaves, G. R. (2016). "Say hallelujah, somebody" and "i will call upon the lord": An examination of call-and-response in the black church. *The Western Journal of Black Studies*, 40(3), 192+. Gale Academic Onefile.
- Richardson, L. (1990). *Writing Strategies*. SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412986526
- Richardson, L. (2018). So, Why Poetry? *Qualitative Inquiry*, 24(9), 661–663. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800417734013
- Richardson, L., & St. Pierre, E. A. (2005). Writing: A Method of Inquiry. In *The Sage* handbook of qualitative research, 3rd ed (pp. 959–978). Sage Publications Ltd.
- Richardson, L., & St. Pierre, E. A. (2011). Writing as a Method of Inquiry. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (4th ed). Sage.
- Rios, K., & Wynn, A. N. (2016). Engaging with diversity: Framing multiculturalism as a learning opportunity reduces prejudice among high White American identifiers: Multiculturalism as learning. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 46(7), 854–865. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2196
- Robidoux, M. A. (2002). Imagining a Canadian Identity through Sport: A Historical Interpretation of Lacrosse and Hockey. *The Journal of American Folklore*, 115(456), 209. https://doi.org/10.2307/4129220
- Robinson, D. B., Robinson, I. M., Currie, V., & Hall, N. (2019). The Syrian Canadian Sports Club: A community-based participatory action research project with/for Syrian Youth Refugees. *Social Sciences*, 8(6). Scopus. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci8060163
- Rorty, R. (Ed.). (1992). *The Linguistic turn: Essays in philosophical method*. University of Chicago Press.

- Rusk, L. (2002). *The life writing of otherness: Woolf, Baldwin, Kingston, and Winterson.* Routledge.
- Sale, M. (1992). Call and Response as Critical Method: African-American Oral Traditions and Beloved. *African American Review*, 26(1), 41. https://doi.org/10.2307/3042075
- Saussure, F. de, Bally, C., Sechehaye, A., Riedlinger, A., & Baskin, W. (1966). Course in general linguistics. McGraw-Hill Book Co.
- Sawrikar, P., & Muir, K. (2010). The myth of a 'fair go': Barriers to sport and recreational participation among Indian and other ethnic minority women in Australia. *Sport Management Review*, 13(4), 355–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2010.01.005
- Schein, E. H. (2010). Organizational culture and leadership. Jossey-Bass. http://www.books24x7.com/marc.asp?bookid=36500
- Schinke, Robert J., & McGannon, K. R. (2014). The acculturation experiences of (and with) immigrant athletes. *International Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 12(1), 64– 75. https://doi.org/10.1080/1612197X.2013.785093
- Schinke, Robert Joel, McGannon, K. R., Battochio, R. C., & Wells, G. D. (2013). Acculturation in elite sport: A thematic analysis of immigrant athletes and coaches. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 31(15), 1676–1686. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2013.794949
- Schwartz, P. (1996). The art of the long view: Paths to strategic insight for yourself and your company. Random House LLC.
- Scott, J. W. (1991). The Evidence of Experience. *Critical Inquiry*, *17*(4), 773. Periodicals Archive Online.
- Sharma, N., & Wright, C. (2008). Decolonizing Resistance, Challenging Colonial States. Social Justice, 35(3), 120–138. ProQuest Political Science; ProQuest Sociology Collection.
- Shilbury, D., & Ferkins, L. (2011). Professionalisation, sport governance and strategic capability. *Managing Leisure*, 16(2), 108–127. https://doi.org/10.1080/13606719.2011.559090
- Shilbury, D., Ferkins, L., & Smythe, L. (2013). Sport governance encounters: Insights from lived experiences. *Sport Management Review*, 16(3), 349–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2012.12.001
- Singer, J. N. (2005a). Addressing epistemological racism in sport management research. *Journal of Sport Management*, 19(4), 464–479.
- Singer, J. N. (2005b). Understanding racism through the eyes of African American male student-athletes. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 8(4), 365–386. https://doi.org/10.1080/13613320500323963

- Singer, J. N. (2008). Benefits and Detriments of African American Male Athletes' Participation in a Big-Time College Football Program. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 43(4), 399–408. https://doi.org/10.1177/1012690208099874
- Singer, J. N. (2016). African American Male College Athletes' Narratives on Education and Racism. Urban Education, 51(9), 1065–1095. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916669749
- Singer, J. N., & May, R. A. B. (2011). The career trajectory of a Black male high school basketball player: A social reproduction perspective. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 46(3), 299–314. https://doi.org/10.1177/1012690210378283
- Slack, T., & Hinings, B. (1992). Understanding Change in National Sport Organizations: An Integration of Theoretical Perspectives. *Journal of Sport Management*, 6(2), 114–132. bth.
- Smircich, L. (1983). Concepts of Culture and Organizational Analysis. Administrative Science Quarterly, 28(3), 339–358. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392246
- Smith, A., & Porter, D. (Eds.). (2004). Sport and national identity in the post-war world. Routledge.
- Smith, D. B. (1981). Curling: An illustrated history. Donald.
- Solórzano, D. G., & Yosso, T. J. (2002). Critical Race Methodology: Counter-Storytelling as an Analytical Framework for Education Research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 8(1), 23–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/107780040200800103
- Spaaij, R. (2013). Cultural diversity in community sport: An ethnographic inquiry of Somali Australians' experiences. Sport Management Review, 16(1), 29–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2012.06.003
- Spaaij, R. (2015). Refugee youth, belonging and community sport. *Leisure Studies*, *34*(3), 303–318. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614367.2014.893006
- Spaaij, R., Farquharson, K., Magee, J., Jeanes, R., Lusher, D., & Gorman, S. (2014). A Fair Game for All? How Community Sports Clubs in Australia Deal With Diversity. *Journal* of Sport and Social Issues, 38(4), 346–365. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193723513515888
- Spaaij, R., Knoppers, A., & Jeanes, R. (2019). "We want more diversity but...": Resisting diversity in recreational sports clubs. Sport Management Review. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2019.05.007
- Spaaij, R., Magee, J., Farquharson, K., Gorman, S., Jeanes, R., Lusher, D., & Storr, R. (2018). Diversity work in community sport organizations: Commitment, resistance and institutional change. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 53(3), 278–295. https://doi.org/10.1177/1012690216654296

- Spector-Mersel, G. (2010). Narrative research: Time for a paradigm. *Narrative Inquiry*, 20(1), 204–224. https://doi.org/10.1075/ni.20.1.10spe
- Spencer, D. C. (2012). Narratives of despair and loss: Pain, injury and masculinity in the sport of mixed martial arts. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 4(1), 117–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2011.653499
- Spivak, G. C. (1976). Translator's Preface. In J. Derrida, Of grammatology (1st American ed, pp. i–lxxxvii). Johns Hopkins University Press (originally published in 1967, by Les Editions de Minuit).
- Spivak, G. C. (1988). Can the subaltern speak? In C. Nelson & L. Grossberg (Eds.), *Marxism* and the Interpretation of Culture (pp. 271–313). University of Illinois Press.
- Spivak, G. C. (1992). Post-structuralism, Marginality, Post-Coloniality and Value. In P. Collier & H. Geyer-Ryan (Eds.), *Literary theory today* (pp. 219–244). Polity Press.
- Spivak, G. C. (2004). Righting wrongs. The South Atlantic Quarterly, 103(2), 523–581.
- Sport Canada. (2008, November 27). Sport Canada—Mission. Sport Canada | Canadian Heritage. http://www.pch.gc.ca/pgm/sc/mssn/index-eng.cfm
- Sport Canada. (2012). Canadian Sport Policy, 2012 (p. 22). Canadian Heritage.
- Sport Canada. (2016a, March 9). *Sport in Canada* [Government Agency]. Sport Canada | Canadian Heritage. http://canada.pch.gc.ca/eng/1414151906468
- Sport Canada. (2016b, August 16). *Role of Sport Canada* [Government Agency]. Sport Canada | Canadian Heritage. http://canada.pch.gc.ca/eng/1414510019083#a3
- Spracklen, K., Long, J., & Hylton, K. (2015). Leisure opportunities and new migrant communities: Challenging the contribution of sport. *Leisure Studies*, 34(1), 114–129. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614367.2014.939989
- Springgay, S. (2005). A/r/tography as Living Inquiry Through Art and Text. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *11*(6), 897–912. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800405280696
- St. Pierre, E. A. (2000). Poststructural feminism in education: An overview. International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 13(5), 477–515. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390050156422
- St. Pierre, E. A. (2011). Post qualitative research: The critique and the coming after. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (4th ed, pp. 611–626). Sage.
- St. Pierre, E. A. (2013). The posts continue: Becoming. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 26(6), 646–657. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2013.788754

- St. Pierre, E. A. (2018). Writing Post Qualitative Inquiry. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 24(9), 603–608. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800417734567
- Statistics Canada. (2011a, August 30). *Active participation rates in the top ten sports, 1998 and 2005*. Statistics Canada. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-595-m/2008060/t-c-g/c-g9-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2011b, August 30). *Most practised sports by Canadians, 2005 (By Gender)*. Statistics Canada. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-595-m/2008060/t-c-g/tbl6-eng.htm
- Stepick, A., & Dutton Stepick, C. (2009). Diverse Contexts of Reception and Feelings of Belonging. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research; Vol 10, No 3 (2009): Biography and Ethnicity. http://www.qualitativeresearch.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/1366/2863
- Stevenson, A. (2019, July 26). Empty Calgary office building transformed into rental apartments in first-of-its-kind project [News, Information]. Calgary Herald. https://calgaryherald.com/business/local-business/empty-calgary-office-buildingtransformed-into-rental-apartments-in-first-of-its-kind-project
- Stichweh, R. (2013). Sport as a function system in world society. *European Journal for Sport* and Society, 10(2), 87–100. https://doi.org/10.1080/16138171.2013.11687913
- Strong, M., & Wilder, L. (Eds.). (2009). *Viewpoints: Visual anthropologists at work*. University of Texas Press.
- Stuntz, C. P., & Weiss, M. R. (2010). Motivating Children and Adolescents to Sustain a Physically Active Lifestyle. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 4(5), 433–444. https://doi.org/10.1177/1559827610368779
- Sutherland, P., Moodley, R., & Chevannes, B. (Eds.). (2014). *Caribbean healing traditions: Implications for health and mental health*. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Swierzy, P., Wicker, P., & Breuer, C. (2018). The impact of organizational capacity on voluntary engagement in sports clubs: A multi-level analysis. *Sport Management Review*, 21(3), 307–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2017.08.001
- Syed, I. U. B. (2013). Forced Assimilation is an unhealthy policy intervention: The case of the hijab ban in France and Quebec, Canada. *The International Journal of Human Rights*, 17(3), 428–440. https://doi.org/10.1080/13642987.2012.724678
- Symanovich, S. (2019). *The Future of IoT: 10 Predictions about the Internet of Things* [Technology, Blog]. Nortons | Symantec Corporation. https://us.norton.com/internetsecurity-iot-5-predictions-for-the-future-of-iot.html
- Taylor, S. (2006). Narrative as construction and discursive resource. *Narrative Inquiry*, *16*(1), 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1075/ni.16.1.13tay

- Taylor, T. (2001). Gender and cultural diversity in sport organisations. *World Leisure Journal*, 43(3), 31–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/04419057.2001.9674236
- Taylor, T. (2004). The Rhetoric of Exclusion: Perspectives of Cultural Diversity in Australian Netball. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, 28(4), 453–476. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193723504269881
- Taylor, T., Lock, D., & Darcy, S. (2009). The Janus face of diversity in Australian sport. Sport in Society, 12(7), 861–875. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430430903053083
- Taylor, T., & Toohey, K. (1998). Negotiating Cultural Diversity for Women in Sport: From assimilation to multiculturalism. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 1(1), 75–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/1361332980010106
- Tedlock, B. (2003). Ethnography and Ethnographic Representation. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Strategies of qualitative inquiry* (2nd ed, pp. 165–213). Sage.
- Teelucksingh, C. (2006). *Claiming space racialization in Canadian cities*. Wilfred Laurier University Press. http://www.deslibris.ca/ID/407366
- The Curling News. (2007, June 22). *The Curling News: Chess on ice*. http://curlnews.blogspot.com/2007/06/chess-on-ice.html
- Therien, E. (2012, January 4). *The future looks bleak for Canadian minor hockey—Thestar.com*. The Toronto Star. http://www.thestar.com/opinion/editorialopinion/article/1110649--the-future-looks-bleak-for-canadian-minor-hockey
- Thibault, L., & Babiak, K. (2005). Organizational Changes in Canada's Sport System: Toward an Athlete-Centred Approach. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, 5(2), 105–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/16184740500188623
- Thiel, A., & Mayer, J. (2009). Characteristics of Voluntary Sports Clubs Management: A Sociological Perspective. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, 9(1), 81–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/16184740802461744
- Tirone, S., Livingston, L. A., Jordan Miller, A., & Smith, E. L. (2010). Including immigrants in elite and recreational sports: The experiences of athletes, sport providers and immigrants. *Leisure/Loisir*, 34(4), 403–420. https://doi.org/10.1080/14927713.2010.542887
- Trinh, T. M.-H. (1989). Woman, native, other: Writing postcoloniality and feminism. Indiana University Press.
- Tuck, E., & Gaztambide-Fernández, R. A. (2013). Curriculum, replacement, and settler futurity. *Journal of Curriculum Theorizing*, 29(1).
- Venn, C. (2000). Intellectuals, Power and Multiculturalism. *Theory, Culture & Society*, 17(1), 91–95. https://doi.org/10.1177/02632760022051022

- Wakefield, J. (2019, May 18). *The Google city that has angered Toronto* [News, Information]. BBC News. https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-47815344
- Walker, N. A., & Melton, E. N. (2015). The Tipping Point: The Intersection of Race, Gender, and Sexual Orientation in Intercollegiate Sports. *Journal of Sport Management*, 29(3), 257–271.
- Watson, S. D. (2017). Everyday nationalism and international hockey: Contesting Canadian national identity: Everyday nationalism and international hockey. *Nations and Nationalism*, 23(2), 289–308. https://doi.org/10.1111/nana.12163
- Weber, M. (1997). *The theory of social and economic organization* (T. Parsons, Trans.; 1. pbk. ed., reprint). Free Press (originally published in 1947).
- Weber, T. (2003). There Is No Objective Subjectivity in the Study of Social Interaction. Forum Qualitative Socialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research; Vol 4, No 2 (2003): Subjectivity and Reflexivity in Qualitative Research II. http://www.qualitativeresearch.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/716/1551
- Weedon, C. (1987). Feminist practice and poststructuralist theory. B. Blackwell.
- Weimar, D., Wicker, P., & Prinz, J. (2015). Membership in Nonprofit Sport Clubs: A Dynamic Panel Analysis of External Organizational Factors. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 44(3), 417–436. https://doi.org/10.1177/0899764014548425
- Weldon, S. L. (2006). The Structure of Intersectionality: A Comparative Politics of Gender. *Politics & Gender*, 2(02). https://doi.org/10.1017/S1743923X06231040
- Wells, K. (2011). Narrative inquiry. Oxford University Press.
- Welsh, R. (1985). International guide to curling. Pelham.
- Whitburn, B. (2016). Voice, post-structural representation and the subjectivity of 'included' students. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 39(2), 117–130. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2014.946497
- Wicker, P., & Breuer, C. (2011). Scarcity of resources in German non-profit sport clubs. Sport Management Review, 14(2), 188–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2010.09.001
- Wicker, P., & Breuer, C. (2013). Understanding the Importance of Organizational Resources to Explain Organizational Problems: Evidence from Nonprofit Sport Clubs in Germany. *VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 24(2), 461–484. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-012-9272-2
- Wieting, S. G., & Lamoureux, D. (2001). Curling in Canada. *Culture, Sport, Society*, 4(2), 140–156. https://doi.org/10.1080/713999820

Williams, J. (2005). Understanding poststructuralism. Acumen Pub.

- Willoughby, K. A., & Kostuk, K. J. (2004). Preferred Scenarios in the Sport of Curling. *Interfaces*, *34*(2), 117–122.
- Wilson, I. (2000). From Scenario Thinking to Strategic Action. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 65(1), 23–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-1625(99)00122-5
- Wilton, L. S., Apfelbaum, E. P., & Good, J. J. (2019). Valuing Differences and Reinforcing Them: Multiculturalism Increases Race Essentialism. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 10(5), 681–689. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550618780728
- Wyman, T. (2014). Ice Gold: Canada's Curling Champions. ECW Press.
- Yearwood, G. M. H. (2018). Heritage as hate: Racism and sporting traditions. *Leisure Studies*, 37(6), 677–691. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614367.2018.1497683
- Zappos. (2019). *Holacracy & Self-Organization—About/Insights* [Retail]. Zappos. https://www.zapposinsights.com/about/holacracy

8.0 Appendices

Appendix A: Participant Recruitment Letter



Date:

INFORMATION LETTER TO PARTICIPANTS

Exploring Curling Culture Through Stories University of Waterloo

My name is Richard Norman and I am a PhD student at the University of Waterloo, in the Recreation and Leisure Program under the supervision of Dr. Katie Misener and Dr. Heather Mair. I am writing to you as someone who is involved with your local curling club. I would like to invite you to participate in a study about curling club culture and the experiences of people who curl. I would like to provide you with more information about this project and what your involvement would entail if you decide to take part.

The purpose of the study is to better understand peoples' experiences of curling club culture. Curling offers a unique environment that invites people to connect and socialize through the power of play and sport. As Canadian society becomes more diverse, curling clubs are responding with new programs and initiatives to serve their communities and widen their membership base. The study will help us understand how club culture may influence sport participation for all curlers as well as newcomers entering the sport. The intent of this study is not to evaluate or critically appraise your club, activities, or members. Rather, the intent of the research is to gather new insights to benefit the sport of curling as it faces contemporary challenges.

The study involves two different forms of data collection. First, I am planning to spend time around the club to observe events and interact informally with members. I am interested in observing curling specific activities, such as your league play and bonspiels. I would also like to be present for some social activities. These may be being present before and after competitions or at other social gatherings. I would also like to chat to members informally to ask questions about the activities that I am observing. Questions will centre on the activity and how that activity is valued in the club. I hope to better understand the activities and how club members interact to give me a better sense of aspects of curling culture within the club.

Second, I am also inviting approx. 15 club members to participate in one-on-one interviews about your experiences at the curling club. If you choose to be involved, you will be asked to select two or three photographs that represent your connection or experience in curling for the interviews. The photos serve as discussion points for the interview. The photos will only be included in the study with your consent. Each interview will last approx. 45 minutes and will help me to understand personal motivations and insights about curling's importance in your life. The interview will take place at a time and place that is convenient for you. With your permission, the interview will be audio recorded to facilitate collection of information, and later transcribed for analysis. In appreciation of your time, interview participants will receive a \$10 gift card for Tim Horton's. The amount received is taxable. It is your responsibility to report this amount for income tax purposes. There are no known or anticipated risks associated with participation in this study.

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You can end the conversations or interviews at any time and you may decline to answer any question(s) you prefer not to answer. Any information

concerning your identity will be confidential. All information that could identify you will be removed from the data that is collected and stored separately. Alternatively, you may choose to allow your photos to be used to illustrate study findings in papers and presentations resulting from this research. In these, your name will not be used but your face may be seen. This means that your participation would no longer be confidential. Anonymous quotations and the use of photos will only be used with your consent. If other people are involved in the photos, their consent will also be required. ORE advises against using photos with other people visible, as it may not always be possible/practical to gain their consent. If photos do contain others, they should be cropped out and/or have identifying features blurred. You can withdraw your consent to participate and have your data destroyed by contacting me up until data analysis begins in February 2019. Data will be stored for a minimum of 7 years in an encrypted folder on my password-protected computer. Only authorized researchers, including my supervisors and myself, will have access to study data. All records are destroyed according to University of Waterloo Policy. I am happy to share some preliminary findings at an appropriate point during the study, as well as a copy of the final dissertation for your records.

This study has been reviewed and received ethics clearance through a University of Waterloo Research Ethics Committee (ORE#40001). If you have questions for the Committee contact the Office of Research Ethics, at 1-519-888-4567 ext. 36005 or ore-ceo@uwaterloo.ca.

If you are interested in participating in this study, please email me at r2norman@uwaterloo.ca or by phone at (416) 993-3017. I hope you will agree to be part of this project. In the meantime, if you have any questions about participation in this study, I would be pleased to answer any questions you might have and can provide you with additional information to assist you in reaching a decision about participation. Additionally, please feel free to contact my supervisors (Dr. Katie Misener and Dr. Heather Mair) with any questions or concerns. Their contact information is provided below.

I hope that the findings generated together through this process will be of benefit to those organizations directly involved in the study, as well as to the broader curling community. I very much look forward to speaking with you and thank you in advance for your involvement in this project.

Sincerely,

Richard Norman, Ph.D (c) Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo T: (416) 993-3017 E: r2norman@uwaterloo.ca

Katie E. Misener, PhD Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo T: 519-888-4567 ext. 37098 E: k.misener@uwaterloo.ca Heather Mair, PhD Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo T: 519-888-4567 ext. 35917 E: hmair@uwaterloo.ca

Appendix B: Consent Letter for Participants



Date:

INFORMATION LETTER TO PARTICIPANTS

Exploring Curling Culture Through Stories University of Waterloo

My name is Richard Norman and I am a PhD student at the University of Waterloo, in the Recreation and Leisure Program under the supervision of Dr. Katie Misener and Dr. Heather Mair. I am writing to you as someone who is involved with your local curling club. I would like to invite you to participate in a study about curling club culture and the experiences of people who curl. I would like to provide you with more information about this project and what your involvement would entail if you decide to take part.

The purpose of the study is to better understand peoples' experiences of curling club culture. Curling offers a unique environment that invites people to connect and socialize through the power of play and sport. As Canadian society becomes more diverse, curling clubs are responding with new programs and initiatives to serve their communities and widen their membership base. The study will help us understand how club culture may influence sport participation for all curlers as well as newcomers entering the sport. The intent of this study is not to evaluate or critically appraise your club, activities, or members. Rather, the intent of the research is to gather new insights to benefit the sport of curling as it faces contemporary challenges.

The study involves two different forms of data collection. First, I am planning to spend time around the club to observe events and interact informally with members. I am interested in observing curling specific activities, such as your league play and bonspiels. I would also like to be present for some social activities. These may be being present before and after competitions or at other social gatherings. I would also like to chat to members informally to ask questions about the activities that I am observing. Questions will centre on the activity and how that activity is valued in the club. I hope to better understand the activities and how club members interact to give me a better sense of aspects of curling culture within the club. Second, I am also inviting approx. 15 club members to participate in one-on-one interviews about your experiences at the curling club. If you choose to be involved, you will be asked to select two or three photographs that represent your connection or experience in curling for the interviews. The photos serve as discussion points for the interview. The photos will only be included in the study with your consent. Each interview will last approx. 45 minutes and will help me to understand personal motivations and insights about curling's importance in your life. The interview will take place at a time and place that is convenient for you. With your permission, the interview will be audio recorded to facilitate collection of information, and later transcribed for analysis. In appreciation of your time, interview participants will receive a \$10 gift card for Tim Horton's. The amount received is taxable. It is your responsibility to report this amount for income tax purposes. There are no known or anticipated risks associated with participation in this study.

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You can end the conversations or interviews at any time and you may decline to answer any question(s) you prefer not to answer. Any information

concerning your identity will be confidential. All information that could identify you will be removed from the data that is collected and stored separately. Alternatively, you may choose to allow your photos to be used to illustrate study findings in papers and presentations resulting from this research. In these, your name will not be used but your face may be seen. This means that your participation would no longer be confidential. Anonymous quotations and the use of photos will only be used with your consent. If other people are involved in the photos, their consent will also be required. ORE advises against using photos with other people visible, as it may not always be possible/practical to gain their consent. If photos do contain others, they should be cropped out and/or have identifying features blurred. You can withdraw your consent to participate and have your data destroyed by contacting me up until data analysis begins in February 2019. Data will be stored for a minimum of 7 years in an encrypted folder on my password-protected computer. Only authorized researchers, including my supervisors and myself, will have access to study data. All records are destroyed according to University of Waterloo Policy. I am happy to share some preliminary findings at an appropriate point during the study, as well as a copy of the final dissertation for your records.

This study has been reviewed and received ethics clearance through a University of Waterloo Research Ethics Committee (ORE#40001). If you have questions for the Committee contact the Office of Research Ethics, at 1-519-888-4567 ext. 36005 or ore-ceo@uwaterloo.ca.

If you are interested in participating in this study, please email me at <u>r2norman@uwaterloo.ca</u> or by phone at (416) 993-3017. I hope you will agree to be part of this project. In the meantime, if you have any questions about participation in this study, I would be pleased to answer any questions you might have and can provide you with additional information to assist you in reaching a decision about participation. Additionally, please feel free to contact my supervisors (Dr. Katie Misener and Dr. Heather Mair) with any questions or concerns. Their contact information is provided below.

I hope that the findings generated together through this process will be of benefit to those organizations directly involved in the study, as well as to the broader curling community. I very much look forward to speaking with you and thank you in advance for your involvement in this project.

Sincerely,

Richard Norman, Ph.D (c) Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo T: (416) 993-3017 E: r2norman@uwaterloo.ca



CONSENT FORM (for in-person interviews)

By signing this consent form, you are not waiving your legal rights or releasing the investigator(s) or involved institution(s) from their legal and professional responsibilities.

I have read the information presented in the information letter about a study being conducted by Richard Norman, Katie Misener, and Heather Mair of the Department of Recreation and Leisure Studies at the University of Waterloo. I have had the opportunity to ask any questions related to this study, to receive satisfactory answers to my questions, and any additional details I wanted.

I am aware that I have the option of allowing my interview to be audio recorded to ensure an accurate recording of my responses.

I am aware that excerpts from the interview may be included in presentations and/or publications to come from this research, with the understanding that the quotations will be anonymous.

I am also aware that I have the option of sharing personal photographs with the researcher during the interview. I understand that with my permission, these photographs may also be used in presentations and/or publications resulting from this research with the understanding that my name will not be used, but my face may be seen.

I was informed that I may withdraw my consent without penalty by advising the researcher.

This study has been reviewed and received ethics clearance through a University of Waterloo Research Ethics Committee (ORE#40001). I have been informed that if I have any questions, I may contact the Committee contact the Office of Research Ethics, at 1-519-888-4567 ext. 36005 or ore-ceo@uwaterloo.ca.



CONSENT FORM (continued)

With full knowledge of all foregoing, I agree, of my own free will, to participate in this study.

_YES _NO

I agree to have my interview audio recorded.

_YES _NO

I agree to the use of anonymous quotations in any thesis or publication that comes of this research.

_YES _NO

I agree to allow my personal photographs to be used in any thesis or publication that comes of this research with the understanding that I will not be identified by name, but that my face may be seen.

_YES _NO

Participant Name:	_ (Please print)
Participant Signature:	_
Witness Name:	_ (Please print)
Witness Signature:	



Appendix C: Consent Letter for Club President



Date:

INFORMATION LETTER TO PRESIDENT

Exploring Curling Culture Through Stories University of Waterloo

My name is Richard Norman and I am a PhD student at the University of Waterloo, in the Recreation and Leisure Program under the supervision of Dr. Katie Misener and Dr. Heather Mair. I am writing to you as President of [name of club]. I would like to invite your club to participate in a study about curling club culture and the experiences of people who curl. This letter contains information about the nature of the study and what your involvement would entail if you decide to take part.

The purpose of the study is to better understand peoples' experiences of curling club culture. Curling offers a unique environment that invites people to connect and socialize through the power of play and sport. As Canadian society becomes more diverse, curling clubs are responding with new programs and initiatives to serve their communities and widen their membership base. The study will help us understand how club culture may influence sport participation for all curlers as well as newcomers entering the sport. The intent of this study is not to evaluate or critically appraise your club, activities, or members. Rather, the intent of the research is to gather new insights to benefit the sport of curling as it faces contemporary challenges.

The study involves interviews with curlers as well as observations of club activities as described below. I am seeking your permission as Club President for the [club name] to participate as a research site. I would ask that you forward the attached information letter via email to your club membership and inform them that I will be observing club activities. Additionally, I will be looking for members to participate in more in-depth interviews. Anyone interested in participating in the study are asked to contact me directly through the details provided.

A major part of the study involves observing curling activities at the club and speaking to members. I would like to come to your curling club to gain first hand experience of the social interactions that occur in the club. I would like to spend some time observing your regular activities and curling events to get a sense of the 'curling life', the club, and the community. I would like to invite anyone who wishes to speak informally with me about the activities that are occurring to gain perspective about the curling community, the curling club environment and its activities. While I will not be audio-recording these informal conversations, I will be making notes about these discussions in general with no specific details about the individuals themselves.

I would also like to invite approximately 15 club members to participate in one-on-one interviews about their experiences at the curling club. If they choose to be involved, participants would be asked to select two or three photographs that represent his or her connections in curling for the interviews. The photos serve as discussion points for the interview. Each interview will last approximately 45 minutes and will be audio recorded for accuracy. Participation is voluntary. The interviews will help me to understand personal motivations and insights about curling's importance in their lives. In appreciation of their time, interview participants will receive a \$10 gift card for Tim Horton's. There are no known or anticipated risks associated with participation in this study.



Participants are not obligated to answer any questions (informally or during interviews) and may decline to answer for any reason. Participants can end the conversations or interviews at their request. All references to participant identity information will be considered confidential. All information that may identify participants will be removed and stored separately. If participant photos are used, no names will be attributed to them. As members' faces may be seen, participant confidentiality cannot be guaranteed. Photos that contain people other than the participant will have those faces blurred or cropped to remove them completely from view. Anonymous quotations and photos will only be used with consent of the participant. Data will be stored for a minimum of 7 years in an encrypted folder on my password-protected computer. Only authorized researchers, including my supervisors and myself, will have access to study data. All records are destroyed according to University of Waterloo Policy. Neither the names of the club nor participants will appear in any presentation or publication resulting from this study. I am happy to share preliminary findings at an appropriate point during the study, as well as a copy of the final dissertation for your records.

This study has been reviewed and received ethics clearance through a University of Waterloo Research Ethics Committee (ORE#40001). If you have questions for the Committee contact the Office of Research Ethics, at 1-519-888-4567 ext. 36005 or ore-ceo@uwaterloo.ca.

If you are interested in participating in this study, please reply to this email or contact Richard Norman at r2norman@uwaterloo.ca or (416) 993-3017. I hope you will agree to be part of this project. In the meantime, if you have any questions about participation in this study, I would be pleased to answer any questions you might have and can provide you with additional information to assist you in reaching a decision about participation. Additionally, please feel free to contact my supervisors (Dr. Katie Misener and Dr. Heather Mair) with any questions or concerns. Their contact information is provided below. If you are interested in having your club participate, I will coordinate with you concerning timing and potential events that might be suitable for me to attend.

I hope that the findings generated together through this process will be of benefit to those organizations directly involved in the study, as well as to the broader curling community. I very much look forward to speaking with you and thank you in advance for your involvement in this project.

Sincerely,

Richard Norman, Ph.D (c) Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo T: (416) 993-3017 E: r2norman@uwaterloo.ca

Katie E. Misener, PhD Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo T: 519-888-4567 ext. 37098 E: k.misener@uwaterloo.ca Heather Mair, PhD Recreation and Leisure Studies University of Waterloo T: 519-888-4567 ext. 35917 E: hmair@uwaterloo.ca



CONSENT FORM (for access to club activities and membership)

By signing this consent form, you are not waiving your legal rights or releasing the investigator(s) or involved institution(s) from their legal and professional responsibilities.

I have read the information presented in the information letter about a study being conducted by Richard Norman, Katie Misener, and Heather Mair of the Department of Recreation and Leisure Studies at the University of Waterloo. I have had the opportunity to ask any questions related to this study, to receive satisfactory answers to my questions, and any additional details I wanted.

I am aware that observations of club activities will be conducted as part of the study and that informal conversations may occur with club members related to the activities that are being observed. I am also aware that participants will be invited to participate in in-depth one-on-one interviews.

I was informed that I may withdraw my consent/approval without penalty by advising the researcher.

This study has been reviewed and received ethics clearance through a University of Waterloo Research Ethics Committee (ORE#40001). I was informed that if I have any questions for the Committee, I may contact the Office of Research Ethics, at 1-519-888-4567 ext. 36005 or ore-ceo@uwaterloo.ca.

With full knowledge of all foregoing, I agree, of my own free will, to participate in this study and give approval for access to [the club name] for the researchers involved in the study.

_YES _NO

Club President:	_ (Please print)
Signature:	
Witness Name:	(Please print)
Witness Signature:	



Appendix D: Interview Guide

Interview Guide

Photo Selection:

- 1. Tell me about how you decided on these particular photos?
- 2. What was important for you to include when you selected your photos?

Photo Content:

- 3. Can you describe what is happening in the photo?
- 4. When you look back at this photo today, can you talk about what you felt looking at it again?
- 5. In the photo there is [an object, setting], when you see that [object or setting] today, what thoughts come to mind?
- 6. How does this photo capture your feelings about curling?
- 7. Can you tell me a little bit about where this photo is taking place?
 - a. [If it is a curling club] How do you feel about your curling club?
 - b. [If it is not a curling club] What does this location mean to you?

Curling Related:

- 8. Does this [photo/content] remind you of anything or anyone?
- 9. How did you get involved in curling?
- 10. What is your favourite part of curling? Can you give me an example?
- 11. What is your least favourite part of curling? Can you give me an example?
- 12. Do you think curling is an example of a Canadian sport? Why or why not?

